Target Monitoring and Non-target Discovery of Halogenated Contaminants in Water, Wildlife and Humans

by

Yanna Liu

A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

Medical Sciences - Laboratory Medicine and Pathology University of Alberta

© Yanna Liu, 2018

Abstract

Poly- and per-fluoroalkyl substances (PFASs) are a vast group of environmental contaminants that have been used for almost 70 years and are now ubiquitously distributed around the world. The perfluoroalkyl chain imparts environmental persistence, and long-chain perfluorinated acids are of special concerns due to their high bioaccumulation potentials and associated toxicities. Since the year 2000, there has been a global trend towards restricting long-chain perfluorinated acids and their precursors while shifting to alternative fluorinated chemicals, thus humans and wildlife are now exposed to traditional PFASs and a growing list of alternative PFASs. This thesis addresses questions of current and future PFAS exposure by investigating: (1) how is human exposure to perfluoroctanesulfonate (PFOS) changing over time, and what is the relative contribution from PFOS precursors (PreFOS), and (2) what unknown legacy or alternative PFASs are also emitted to the environment, and can any of these accumulate in organisms?

PFOS is among the most prominent PFAS in the environment and is the dominant PFAS in human serum. **Chapter 2** explored the temporal trends of PFOS concentrations in human serum (U.S. and Sweden), and included a close examination of its isomer and enantiomer profiles which were hypothesized to serve as biomarkers of exposure to PreFOS. Despite decreasing PFOS concentrations, isomer and enantiomer profiles suggest that the relative importance of PreFOS exposure is increasing for the Swedish population. In the U.S., the profiles further suggest that males and older people have relatively more PreFOS exposure than females and younger people. This study highlights many unknowns about the pathways leading to PFOS exposure, and suggests that unknown PreFOS molecules are important contributors to human body burdens.

In Chapter 3, I developed and applied a powerful method for discovery of unknown PFASs in water. Using a wastewater sample collected from a fluorochemical industrial park in China, a sensitive and fast non-target PFAS discovery method featuring "in-source fragmentation flagging" was developed on an HPLC-Orbitrap MS system. The non-target method revealed 5 new homologous classes of PFASs in the wastewater (Chapter 3), and 10 new classes in pooled fish samples from two locations in China (Chapter 4). Most discovered PFASs were long chain (i.e. with 8-17 carbon atoms) poly/perfluoroalkyl sulfonates with hydrogen substitution, or with ether, double bond or carbonyl structures, probably reflecting the major alternative structures that are being produced today in China; now one of the major PFAS manufacturing centers in the world. Additionally, 3 classes of chlorine-substituted poly/perfluoroalkyl acids and 2 classes of poly/perfluoroalkyl amines were discovered (Chapter 3 and Chapter 4). Chlorine substitution of the perfluoroalkyl chain likely increases the bioaccumulation potential, and amines are a general concern due to their genotoxicity. It is unclear whether these new substances are historically emitted PFASs, or contemporary alternatives still in production, but larger-scale monitoring studies and relevant toxicological tests should be followed for these newly discovered PFASs to better understand their risks.

In **Chapter 5**, I extended the non-target methodology to analysis of polar bear serum for fluorinated and chlorinated contaminants by introduction of a sample preparation step based on stir-bar sorptive extraction. The purpose was to increase sensitivity for organohalogen discovery while minimizing endogenous interferences, and the method performed well for a range of polar and ionic analytes. In pooled polar bear serum (Beaufort Sea and Western Hudson Bay), I discovered a wide variety of polar chlorinated contaminants and four homologous classes of poly/perfluorinated sulfonates. Among the discoveries were 7 classes of polychlorinated biphenyl (PCB metabolites), 2 of which are entirely novel, and 5 of which are reported for the first time in polar bears. These discoveries may explain missing "mass balances" in previous effects-directed analyses of polar bear serum contamination, and demonstrate the power of non-target analytical chemistry for improving characterization of exposomes and of the environmental fate of chemicals.

Preface

Chapter 2 research involved human specimens and received research ethics approval from the University of Alberta Research Ethics Board: "Temporal trends of human exposure pathways to perfluorooctanesulfonate (PFOS)", No. Pro00030128, May 24, 2012. **Chapter 2** was an international research collaboration initiated by Dr. R. Vestergren (Norwegian Institute for Air Research) and led by my supervisor, Professor J.W. Martin (University of Alberta) with Professor U. Berger (Stockholm University), Dr. A. Glynn (Swedish National Food Agency) and Dr. G.W. Olsen (3M Company). I was responsible for the study design, sample preparation, instrumental analysis, data collection and processing as well as manuscript composition. Dr. Martin and Dr. A.S. Pereira assisted with study design and instrumental analysis, respectively. Dr. S. Beesoon helped with my sample preparation skill training. Drs. Berger, Glynn and Olsen provided the Swedish and U.S. human serum samples, respectively, and they, together with Dr. Vestergren, all contributed to manuscript editing and revision. Dr. Martin was the senior/corresponding author and was involved in concept formation, study design, international collaboration establishment and manuscript composition. **Chapter 2** has been published as:

Yanna Liu, Alberto S. Pereira, Sanjay Beesoon, Robin Vestergren, Urs Berger, Geary
W. Olsen, Anders Glynn, Jonathan W. Martin. Temporal Trends of
Perfluorooctanesulfonate Isomer and Enantiomer Patterns in Archived Swedish and
American Serum Samples. *Environ Int*, 2015, 75, 215-22.

For **Chapter 3**, I conducted sample preparation, instrumental analysis, data collection and processing, and manuscript composition. Dr. Pereira contributed to the establishment of the instrumental method. Dr. Martin was the senior/corresponding author and was involved in conceptualizing of the approach and manuscript composition. **Chapter 3** was published as:

Yanna Liu, Alberto S. Pereira, Jonathan W. Martin. Discovery of C₅–C₁₇ Poly- and Perfluoroalkyl Substances in Water by In-Line SPE-HPLC-Orbitrap with In-Source Fragmentation Flagging. *Anal Chem*, 2015, 87, (8), 4260-8. **Chapter 4** of this thesis has been submitted for publication. I conceptualized and designed the study, conducted sample preparation, instrumental analysis, data collection and analysis, and manuscript composition. Dr. Martin was the senior/corresponding author and was involved in manuscript composition.

Chapter 5 was an international collaboration led by my supervisor, Professor J.W. Martin (University of Alberta) and me, with Dr. E. Richardson (Environment and Climate Change Canada) and Professor H.J. Lehmler (University of Iowa) as lead collaborators. I designed the study, conducted method development, instrumental analysis, data collection and analysis and manuscript composition. Drs. E. Richardson, A.E. Derocher (University of Alberta) and N.J. Lunn (Environment and Climate Change Canada) provided polar bear serum samples from their archives. Drs. Lehmler, L.W. Robertson (University of Iowa) and X. Li (University of Iowa) provided some native PCB metabolite standards used in the study. **Chapter 5** is now under peerreview. All co-authors participated in manuscript editing and revision. Dr. Martin was the senior/corresponding author and was involved with conceptualization of method development for stir-bar sorptive extraction, international collaboration establishment, data interpretation and manuscript composition.

To my parents

Acknowledgments

My enormous gratitude is due to Dr. Jonathan Martin, who has been my supervisor for the past six years. His passion for research, and his guidance, encouragement and trust have helped to shape me and also helped me to grow as a young scientist. He gives me enough freedom to develop my own thoughts and intervenes at the right time to keep me from deviating from the right course. He allows any question to be asked, and is always there for help. It has been a great pleasure to be his student.

My sincere thanks go to Dr. X. Chris Le and Dr. Vincent St. Louis for serving as my supervisory committee members, and their constructive feedback, erudite input and excellent guidance. Special note of thanks to Dr. Eric Reiner for accepting to be my external examiner despite his innumerable commitments.

I would like to extend my thanks to all the lab mates (with special thanks to the Martin Group) in the Analytical and Environmental Toxicology Division. Drs. Alberto S. Pereira, Sanjay Beesoon, Matthew S. Ross, Chenxing Sun, Kun Zhang, Yifeng Zhang, Mss. Jiaying Liu and Evelyn Asiedu, and Messrs. Anthony Reardon, Ian Gault and Nikolas Zetouni are thanked for their help and suggestions on my research. I also thank faculty members Dr. Monika Keelan and Dr. Xing-Fang Li, and administrative staff Ms. Katerina Carastathis, Ms. Dianne Sergy and Ms. Cheryl Titus in the Department of Laboratory Medicine and Pathology for all their help and support. In particular, I would like to offer my heartfelt thanks to Katerina, for her extreme patience and tremendous help in my daily lab work, my research and some of my personal life work, and to Monika and Cheryl, for their help in my professional development.

A big "thank you" to all my friends here in Edmonton for having made my life here energetic and colorful, and to my friends back in China for limitless help and support.

I owe my deepest gratitude to my family, and there is no way I could have been able to get to this stage without them. Mom and Dad, I cannot thank you enough for all your love and support, and putting me through the best education possible. By setting an excellent example you have taught me invaluable lessons about life, and cultivated me into who I am today. Dearest Qiaoling and Yanling, you are the best sisters who always care for me and help me to steer in the right direction during rough times; you are also the best friends with whom I can share my secrets and get advice. Liang, thank you for unconditional understanding, love and support. You know my highest happiness and you understand my deepest sorrow, and thank you for still being there after over six years' long distance relationship. I would also like to quote a line of poem "秋天该很好 你若尚在场" here, in memory of my beloved grandparents, uncle and cousin. Memories will always be cherished and will never fade.

I am most grateful for financial support from the China Scholarship Council (2011.9.1-2015.8.31) and from the Killam Trust (2015.5.1-2017.4.30), as well as other scholarships and awards from the University of Alberta, including the Andrew Stewart Memorial Graduate Prize.

Table of Contents

Chapter 1. Introduction	1
1.1 Poly- and Per-Fluoroalkyl Substances (PFASs)	1
1.1.1 PFASs and their Applications	1
1.1.2 Ubiquitous Global Distribution of PFASs	1
1.1.3 The Hazardous Long-Chain PFAAs	2
1.1.4 Regulatory Actions and Interventions for Long-Chain PFAAs	3
1.1.5 PFASs Production and Use Today	4
1.1.6 Concerns Over the Status Quo of PFAS Production and Use	7
1.1.7 Future Human PFAS Exposure and Key Question1	1
1.2 How Will Future Human PFOS and PreFOS Exposure Change? 1	2
1.3 Unknown PFAS Identification1	2
1.3.1 Target vs Non-Target Analysis1	3
1.3.2 Non-Target Analysis Workflow1	5
1.3.3 Non-Target Techniques for Differentiating PFAS Signals from Matri Background	x 5
1.3.4 More Efficient PFAS Signal Discrimination Techniques Needed1	7
1.4 Research Questions and Proposed Studies 1	8
1.5 Figures and Table	0
1.5.1 Figures	.0
1.5.2 Tables	.1
1.6 Literature Cited	3
Chapter 2. Temporal Trends of PFOS Isomer and Enantiomer Profiles in Two	
Populations	4
2.1 Introduction	4
2.2. Experimental Section	6
2.2.1 Nomenclature	7

	27
2.2.2 Chemical and Reagents	
2.2.3 Human Serum Sample Sources	
2.2.3 Extraction of American Human Samples.	
2.2.4 Instrumental Analysis	
2.2.5 Quality Control (QC)	
2.2.6 Racemic range of 1 <i>m</i> -PFOS Enantiomer Fractions (EFs)	
2.2.7 Statistical analysis	
2.3 Results and Discussion	
2.3.1 Temporal trends of Σ PFOS	
2.3.2 Temporal trends of %br-PFOS	
2.3.3 Temporal Trends of 1 <i>m</i> -PFOS EFs	
2.3.4 Comparing %br-PFOS and 1 <i>m</i> -PFOS EF	
2.4 Figures and Tables	
2.4.1 Figures	
2.4.2 Tables	55
2.5 Literature Cited	
Chapter 3. Discovery of C5-C17 PFASs in Water by In-Line SPE-HPL(C-Orbitrap
with In-Source Fragmentation Flagging	69
3.1 Introduction	69
3.2 Experimental Section	
3.2.1 Chemical and Reagents	71
3.2.2 Sample Collection and Preparation	
3.2.3 HPLC-LTQ-Orbitrap-MS	
3.2.4 Unknown PFAS Discovery and Characterization Workflow	
3.2.5 Quality Control	
3.3 Results and Discussion	
3.3.1 Method Performance	
3.3.2 Unknown PFAS Discovery	
3.4 Significance	

3.5 Figures and Tables	85
3.5.1 Figures	
3.5.2 Tables	
3.6 Literature Cited	102
Chapter 4. Non-Target Mass Spectrometry Reveals New Classes of Pe	erfluoroalkyl
Substances in Fish from the Yangtze River and Tangxun Lake, China	104
4.1 Introduction	104
4.2 Material and Methods	106
4.2.1 Chemical and Reagents	
4.2.2 Sample Collection	
4.2.3 Sample Preparation	
4.2.4 Instrumental Analysis	
4.2.5. Data Presentation	
4.3 Results and Discussion	109
4.3.1 Legacy PFASs	109
4.3.2 Newly Discovered Non-Target PFASs	
4.4 Significance	122
4.5 Figures and Tables	125
4.5.1 Figures	
4.5.2 Tables	
4.6 Literature Cited	165
Chapter 5. Non-target Mass Spectrometry Reveals Hundreds of Previ	ously
Unrecognized Organohalogen Compounds in Polar Bear Serum	170
5.1 Introduction	170
5.2 Experimental Section	
5.2.1 Nomenclature	
5.2.2 Chemicals and Reagents	

5.2.3 Polar Bear Serum Collection and Pooling	173
5.2.4 Sample Extraction by SBSE	
5.2.5 HPLC-LTQ-Orbitrap-MS	175
5.2.6 Data Presentation	176
5.2.7 Quantitative Method Performance	176
5.2.8 Quantitative Structure Activity Relationships (QSARs)	177
5.3 Results and Discussion	177
5.3.1 Method Performance	177
5.3.2 Organochlorine and Organofluorine Contaminant Discovery	
5.3.3 Group 1. PCB Metabolites	
5.3.4 Group 2. Other Polychlorinated Compounds	
5.3.5 Group 3. Perfluoroalkyl Sulfonates (PFSAs)	
5.4 Summary and Significance	191
5.4.1 Summary of Discoveries	191
5.4.2 Concentration Estimation	191
5.4.3 Toxicological Implications	192
5.4.4 PCB Biotransformation Pathways	194
5.4.5 Future Studies	195
5.5 Figures and Tables	197
5.5.1 Figures	197
5.5.2 Tables	234
5.6 Literature Cited	250
Chapter 6. Summary, Conclusions and Future Work	258
6.1 Summary and Conclusions	
6.1.1 Background and Problems	
6.1.2 Thesis Scope	259
6.1.3 How We Are and Will Be Exposed to PFOS	259
6.1.4 What Other PFASs May Be Entering the Environment?	
6.2 Future Work	

6.3 Literature Cited	266
Bibliography	269

List of Tables

Table 1. Temporal trends of PFASs in humans since time of the 3M Co. phase-out in year 2000.

 Table 2-1. Comparison of Swedish and the U.S. human serum samples.

Table 2-2. MRM transitions, MDLs, MQLs, recoveries and matrix effects of individual PFOS isomer in PFOS isomer analysis.

Table 2-3. Review previous PFOS isomer studies.

Table 2-4. Spearman correlation coefficients and significant levels among #-PFOS (#=total, total branched, 1m-, 3m +5m-, 4m-, iso-, m_2 -, n-) and %#-PFOS in Swedish pooled serum samples

Table 2-5. Spearman correlation coefficients and significant levels among #-PFOS (x=1m-, 3m

+5m-, 4m-, iso-, m₂-, n-) and %#-PFOS in American serum/plasma samples

Table 3-1. Model PFASs used in the current study.

Table 3-2. Mobile phase program of the in-line SPE-HPLC-Orbitrap MS method.

Table 3-3. Method detection limits (MDLs) of model mass-labelled PFASs in the in-line SPE-HPLC-Orbitrap MS method.

Table 3-4. Summary of the identified new PFASs in the wastewater sample from a fluorochemical manufacturing park in China.

Table 4-1. Sample weight data and ratio of liver dry/wet weight for each individual fish.

Table 4-2. Legacy PFASs concentrations (ng/g w.w.) in pooled fish liver samples.

Table 4-3. Semi-quantification of newly discovered PFASs (ng/g w.w.) in pooled fish liver samples.

Table 4-4. Non-target PFASs detected in pooled fish liver samples from the Yangtze River and

 Tangxun Lake.

Table 5-1. OH-PCB, DiOH-PCB, SO₄-PCB and triclosan standards used in the current study.

 Table 5-2. PFAS standards used in the current study.

 Table 5-3. Demographic information of pooled polar bear serum samples.

Table 5-4. Instrument detection limits (IDL, ng/mL) of the HPLC-Orbitrap method, and method detection limits (MDLs, ng/mL) of the SBSE-HPLC-Orbitrap method.

Table 5-5. Predicated 96-hour fathead minnow LC₅₀ values and developmental toxicities for representative PCB metabolites and other polychlorinated aromatic compounds.

Table 5-6. Non-target PFSAs and chlorinated compounds detected in polar bear serum samples.

Table 5-7. Quantified legacy PFASs and semi-quantified non-target PFSAs and chlorinatedcompounds discovered in pooled polar bear serum samples from Hudson Bay and Beaufort Sea.

List of Figures and Schemes

Figure 1. General classification of PFAS.

Figure 2-1. Summary schematic for three primary PFOS exposure pathways.

Figure 2-4. Temporal trends of log-transformed log-∑PFOS in pooled Swedish serum samples from primiparous women and in individual American adult serum/plasma samples.

Figure 2-2. Typical PFOS isomer chromatograms.

Figure 2-3. Typical 1*m*-PFOS enantiomer chromatograms for 1*m*-PFOS standard (blue) and for a pooled Swedish serum sample (red).

Figure 2-5. Temporal trends of %br-PFOS in pooled Swedish serum samples from primiparous women and in individual American adult serum/plasma samples.

Figure 2-6. Temporal trends of 1*m*-PFOS EFs in pooled Swedish serum samples from primiparous women and in individual American adult serum/plasma samples.

Figure 2-7. Plots of %br-PFOS *vs* 1*m*-PFOS EFs in pooled Swedish serum samples from primiparous women and in individual American adult serum/plasma samples.

Figure 3-1. Adjusted Kendrick mass defect plot (AKMDP) of model PFASs.

Figure 3-2. Procedural recoveries of model native PFASs for the in-line SPE method.

Figure 3-3. Full-scan chromatogram of the industrial wastewater on C_{18} column (A), and its mass spectrum (B) and zoomed-in mass spectrum over a range of 0.5 m/z units (C).

Figure 3-4. CF₂ normalized adjusted Kendrick mass defect plots of all ions detected in the wastewater sample that were $\geq 5 \times 10^3$ in intensity (**A**), and of ions within the characteristic PFAS adjusted Kendrick mass defect (AKMDP) range of 0.90-1.10 (**B**).

Figure 3-5. Mass spectra and measured RP values in full-scan (**A**) and in-source fragmentation flagging scan (**B**) of the industrial wastewater sample.

Figure 3-6. Extracted ion chromatograms $[C_2F_5]^-$, $[C_3F_7]^-$, $[C_3F_5]^-$, $[C_4F_7]^-$, $[SO_3F]^-$ and $[SO_4H]^-$ in-source fragments (A) and all **Class 1**, **3** and **4** homologous PFASs detected in the industrial wastewater sample (B).

Figure 3-7. Extracted ion chromatograms of a Class 1 homologue with m/z = 494.969 (C₁₀F₁₈HO₂⁻) and its in-source fragment with m/z = 430.974 (C₉F₁₇⁻) (A), and MS/MS spectra (B). Figure 3-8. Extracted ion chromatograms of all Class 1 homologous PFASs in procedural blank, field blank and the industrial wastewater sample.

Figure 3-9. Extracted ion chromatograms of selected **Class 1** homologous PFASs when running the method program twice without any injection.

Figure 3-10. Extracted ion chromatograms of in-source $[^{35}Cl]^-$ and $[^{37}Cl]^-$ fragments (A), and all **Class 2** and **Class 5** homologous PFASs (B) detected in the industrial wastewater sample.

Figure 3-11. Extracted ion chromatograms and mass spectra of a Class 2 homologue with

m/z=428.937 (ClC₈F₁₆O₂⁻) and its in-source fragment with m/z=384.947 (ClC₇F₁₆⁻) (A), and MS/MS spectra of another Class 2 homologue with m/z=528.931(B).

Figure 3-12. MS/MS spectra of a Class 3 homologue with m/z=483.988 (C₉F₁₂H₇SO₄⁻).

Figure 3-13. MS/MS spectra of PFOS ($C_8F_{17}SO_3^-$) and F-53B standards ($ClC_8F_{16}SO_3^-$).

Figure 3-14. MS/MS spectra of a Class 4 homologue with m/z 428.978 (C₉F₁₆HO⁻).

Figure 3-15. MS/MS spectra of a Class 5 homologue with m/z 412.942 (ClC₈F₁₄O⁻).

Figure 4-1. Fish collection sites at two locations in China: Yangtze River in Changshu, Jiangsu, and Tangxun Lake in Wuhan, Hubei.

Figure 4-2. Total concentration of each PFAS class detected in pooled fish livers from the Yangtze River and Tangxun Lake.

Figure 4-3.1. Extracted ion chromatograms of $[C1]^-$ in-source fragments and **Class 1** Cl-PFCA ($ClC_{n-1}F_{2n-2}CO_2^-$) molecular ions detected in pooled common carp liver from the Yangtze River. **Figure 4-3.2**. MS² spectrum of C₉-Cl-PFCA (**Class 1**, ClC₉F₁₈CO₂⁻) in pooled common carp liver from the Yangtze River.

Figure 4-4.1. Extracted ion chromatograms of $[C1]^-$, $[SO_2F]^-$, $[COF_3]^-$ and $[SO_3F]^-$ in-source fragments, and **Class 2** x:2 Cl-PFAES (ClC_{n-2}F_{2n-4}OC₂F₄SO₃⁻) molecular ions detected in pooled common carp liver from the Yangtze River, and of x:2 Cl-PFAESs in F-53B industrial standard. **Figure 4-4.2**. MS² spectra of C₈ (ClC₈F₁₆SO₄⁻) and C₁₀ x:2 Cl-PFAESs (ClC₁₀F₂₀SO₄⁻, **Class 2**) in pooled common carp liver from Yangtze River, and in F-53B industrial standard.

Figure 4-5.1. Extracted ion chromatograms of $[SO_3]^-$ and $[SO_3F]^-$ in-source fragments and **Class 3** cyclic or unsaturated PFSA ($C_nF_{2n-1}SO_3^-$) molecular ions detected in pooled bream liver from Tangxun Lake.

Figure 4-5.2. MS^2 spectra of C₈- cyclic or unsaturated PFSA isomers (C₈F₁₅SO₃⁻, **Class 3**) in pooled bream fish liver from Tangxun Lake.

Figure 4-5.3. Extracted ion chromatogram and MS² spectra of isomers detected in 4-PFECHS standard (**a**), and MS² spectra of different PFOS isomer standards (**b**).

Figure 4-6.1. Extracted ion chromatograms of $[SO_3]^-$, $[SO_2F]^-$, $[SO_3F]^-$, $[C_3F_7]^-$ and $[C_4F_9O]^-$ insource fragments, and **Class 4** monoether-PFSA ($C_nF_{2n+1}SO_4^-$) molecular ions detected in pooled bighead carp liver from Tangxun Lake.

Figure 4-6.2. MS² spectra of all C₈-monoether-PFSA isomers ($C_8F_{17}SO_4^-$, **Class 4**) in pooled bighead fish liver from Tangxun Lake.

Figure 4-7.1. Extracted ion chromatograms of $[C_2F_5O]^-$ in-source fragments and **Class 5** diether-PFSA ($C_nF_{2n+1}SO_5^-$) molecular ions detected in pooled bream fish liver from Tangxun Lake. **Figure 4-7.2**. MS² spectra of selected C₈-diether-PFSA isomers ($C_8F_{17}SO_5^-$, **Class 5**) in pooled bream fish liver from Tangxun Lake.

Figure 4-8.1. Extracted ion chromatograms of $[SO_3]^-$, $[SO_3F]^-$, $[C_3F_5]^-$ and $[C_4F_7]^-$ in-source fragments, and **Class 6** enol ether-, cyclic ether- or carbonyl-PFSA ($C_nF_{2n-1}SO_4^-$) molecular ions detected in pooled bream liver from Tangxun Lake.

Figure 4-8.2. MS^2 spectra of all C₈- enol ether-, cyclic ether- or carbonyl-PFSA isomers (C₈F₁₅SO₄⁻, **Class 6**) in pooled bream fish liver from Tangxun Lake.

Figure 4-9.1. Extracted ion chromatograms of $[C_2F_5]^-$, $[C_2F_5O]^-$, $[C_3F_5O_2]^-$, $[SO_3]^-$ and $[SO_3F]^-$ in-source fragments, and **Class 7** diether-unsaturated-, cyclic-ether- or carbonyl-ether-PFSA $(C_nF_{2n-1}SO_5^-)$ molecular ions detected in pooled bream fish liver from Tangxun Lake.

Figure 4-9.2. MS² spectra of all C_{10} diether-unsaturated-, cyclic-ether- or carbonyl-ether-PFSA isomers ($C_{10}F_{19}SO_5^-$, **Class 7**) in pooled silver carp liver from Tangxun Lake.

Figure 4-10.1. Extracted ion chromatograms of $[C_3F_7]^-$ in-source fragments, and perfluoroalkyl amine fragments ($C_nF_{2n+2}N^-$) detected in pooled bream fish liver from Tangxun Lake.

Figure 4-10.2. MS² spectra of a C₅ isomer (C₅F₁₂N⁻) and all C₈ isomers (C₈F₁₈N⁻) of perfluoroalkyl amine fragments in bream liver from Tangxun Lake.

Figure 4-10.3. Extracted ion chromatograms of $[C_3F_7]^-$ in-source fragments, and perfluoroalkyl amine carboxylate or carboxyl ester fragments ($C_nF_{2n}O_2N^-$) detected in pooled bream fish liver from Tangxun Lake.

Figure 4-10.4. MS^2 spectra of all C_{12} isomers ($C_{12}F_{24}O_2N^-$, **a**), and the major C_{10} - C_{13} isomer (**b**) of perfluoroalkyl amine carboxylate or carboxyl ester fragments in bream fish liver from Tangxun Lake.

Figure 4-10.5. Extracted ion chromatograms of perfluoroalkyl amine carboxylate or carboxyl ester fragments ($C_nF_{2n-2}H_2O_5N^-$) detected in pooled bream fish liver from Tangxun Lake.

Figure 4-10.6. Extracted ion chromatograms of **Class 8** perfluoroalkyl amine carboxyl ester $(C_nF_{2n-6}H_6O_6N^-)$ molecular ions detected in pooled bream fish liver from Tangxun Lake.

Figure 4-10.7. Extracted ion chromatograms of a C15 perfluoroalkyl amine carboxyl ester

 $(C_{15}F_{24}H_6O_6N^-, Class 8)$ and its sequential fragments $[C_{13}F_{24}H_2O_5N]^-, [C_{12}F_{24}O_2N]^-$ and $[C_8F_{18}N]^-$ eluting at 24.37min in pooled bream liver from Tangxun Lake.

Figure 4-11.1 Extracted ion chromatograms of $[C_3F_5]^-$ in-source fragments and unsaturated perfluoroalkyl amine fragments ($C_nF_{2n}N^-$) detected in pooled bream liver from Tangxun Lake. **Figure 4-11.2** MS² spectra of selected isomers of C₈ unsaturated perfluoroalkyl amine fragments ($C_8F_{16}N^-$) in bream fish liver from Tangxun Lake.

Figure 4-11.3. Extracted ion chromatograms of **Class 9** unsaturated perfluoroalkyl amine carboxylate or carboxyl ester molecular ions ($C_nF_{2n-2}NO_2^-$) detected in pooled bream fish liver from Tangxun Lake.

Figure 4-11.4. MS^2 spectra of selected C_{12} isomers of unsaturated perfluoroalkyl amine carboxylates or carboxyl esters ($C_{12}F_{22}O_2N^2$, Class 9).

Figure 4-12.1 Extracted ion chromatograms of $[C_3F_5O]^-$ in-source fragments and **Class 10** perfluorinated pyrrole or imidazole ($C_nF_{2n-3}N_2O^-$) molecular ions detected in pooled bream fish liver from Tangxun Lake.

Figure 4-12.2. MS^2 , MS^3 and MS^4 spectra of the major C₉ perfluorinated pyrrole or imidazole isomer eluting at 11.01min (C₉F₁₅N₂O⁻, **Class 10**, **a**) and proposed fragmentation pathways for both pyrrole and imidazole structures (**b**).

Figure 4-12.3 Chromatograms and MS^2 spectra of all C_{12} perfluorinated pyrrole or imidazole isomers ($C_{12}F_{21}N_2O^2$, **Class 10**) in bream fish liver from Tangxun Lake.

Figure 5-1. Recovery, matrix effect and total extraction efficiency of the SBSE-HPLC-Orbitrap method.

Figure 5-2. Fluorine-containing fragments and [C1]⁻ fragments detected in in-source

fragmentation flagging scans in pooled polar bear serum samples from Western Hudson Bay and Beaufort Sea.

Figure 5-3.1. Extracted ion chromatograms of OH-PCB congeners $(C_{12}OCl_nH_{9-n})$ in the Hudson Bay pooled polar bear serum.

Figure 5-3.2. MS² spectra of all Cl₆-OH-PCB ($C_{12}OH_3Cl_6$, **a**) and Cl₉-OH-PCB congeners ($C_{12}OCl_9$, **b**) in the Hudson Bay pooled polar bear serum.

Figure 5-3.3. MS^2 spectra of four authentic Cl₆-OH-PCB standards (C₁₂OH₄Cl₆, **a**) and of three Cl₇-OH-PCB standards (C₁₂OH₃Cl₇, **b**).

Figure 5-4.1 Extracted ion chromatograms of DiOH-PCB congeners $(C_{12}O_2Cl_nH_{9-n})$ in the Hudson Bay pooled polar bear serum.

Figure 5-4.2. MS² spectra of selected Cl₅-DiOH-PCB ($C_{12}H_4Cl_5O_2^-$, **a**) and Cl₈-DiOH-PCB congeners ($C_{12}HCl_8O_2^-$, **b**) in the Hudson Bay pooled polar bear serum.

Figure 5-4.3. Extracted ion chromatograms and MS² spectra of 3', 4'-DiOH PCB 3 and of 2', 3'-DiOH PCB 3 standards (C₁₂H₈O₂Cl⁻).

Figure 5-4.4. Extracted ion chromatograms of triclosan ($C_{12}O_2H_6Cl_3$) in full scan and its fragments in in-source fragmentation scan.

Figure 5-5.1. Extracted ion chromatograms of SO₄-PCB congeners ($C_{12}SO_4Cl_nH_{9-n}$) in the Hudson Bay pooled polar bear serum.

Figure 5-5.2. MS^2 spectra of selected Cl₄-SO₄-PCB (C₁₂H₅Cl₄SO₄⁻, **a**) and Cl₇-SO₄-PCB congeners (C₁₂H₂Cl₇SO₄⁻, **b**) in the Hudson Bay pooled polar bear serum.

Figure 5-5.3. MS^2 spectra of selected Cl-SO₄-PCB through Cl₄-SO₄-PCB standards (C₁₂SO₄ClH₈⁻, C₁₂SO₄Cl₂H₇⁻, C₁₂SO₄Cl₃H₆⁻ and C₁₂SO₄Cl₄H₅⁻).

Figure 5-6.1. Extracted ion chromatograms of OH-SO₄-PCB congeners $(C_{12}SO_5Cl_nH_{9-n})$ in the Hudson Bay pooled polar bear serum.

Figure 5-6.2. MS^2 spectra of selected Cl₅-OH-SO₄-PCB congeners (C₁₂H₄Cl₅SO₅⁻) in the Hudson Bay pooled polar bear serum.

Figure 5-7.1. Extracted ion chromatograms of OH-MeSO₂CH₃-PCB congeners ($C_{13}SO_3Cl_nH_{11-n}$) in the Hudson Bay pooled polar bear serum.

Figure 5-7.2. MS^2 spectra of selected Cl₆-OH-MeSO₂-PCB congeners (C₁₃Cl₆H₅SO₃⁻) in the Hudson Bay pooled polar bear serum.

Figure 5-8.1. Extracted ion chromatograms of DiOH-MeSO₂-PCB congeners ($C_{13}SO_4Cl_nH_{11-n}$) in the Hudson Bay pooled polar bear serum.

Figure 5-8.2. MS^2 spectra of selected Cl₄-DiOH-MeSO₂-PCB (C₁₃Cl₄H₇SO₄⁻, **a**) and Cl₆-DiOH-MeSO₂-PCB congeners (C₁₃Cl₆H₅SO₄⁻, **b**) in the Hudson Bay pooled polar bear serum.

Figure 5-9.1. Extracted ion chromatograms of SO₃-PCB congeners ($C_{12}Cl_nH_{9-n}SO_3^-$) in the Hudson Bay pooled polar bear serum.

Figure 5-9.2. MS² spectra of all Cl₄-SO₃-PCB congeners (C₁₂H₅Cl₄SO₃⁻) in the Hudson Bay

pooled polar bear serum.

Figure 5-10. Extracted ion chromatograms and MS^2 spectra of chlorinated aromatic compounds $(C_8Cl_nH_{7-n}O^-)$ in the Hudson Bay pooled polar bear serum.

Figure 5-11. Extracted ion chromatograms and MS^2 spectra of chlorinated (iso)quinoline sulfonates (C₉Cl_nH_{6-n}NSO₃⁻) in the Hudson Bay pooled polar bear serum.

Figure 5-12. Extracted ion chromatogram, and MS^2 and MS^3 spectra of tetrachlorinated aromatic sulfate (C₁₄Cl₄H₇SO₄⁻) in the Hudson Bay pooled polar bear serum.

Figure 5-13. Extracted ion chromatograms and MS^2 spectra of heptachlorinated hydroxylated nitroaromatic compounds (C₁₄Cl₇H₅NO₆⁻, **a**; and C₁₄Cl₇H₇NO₆⁻, **b**) in the Hudson Bay pooled polar bear serum.

Figure 5-14. Extracted ion chromatograms and MS^2 spectra of hexachlorinated compounds (C₁₅Cl₆H₁₃O₅⁻, **a**; and C₁₅Cl₆H₁₅O₃⁻; **b**) in the Hudson Bay pooled polar bear serum.

Figure 5-15.1. Extracted ion chromatograms of $[SO_3]^-$ and $[SO_3F]^-$ in-source fragments, and cyclic and/or unsaturated PFSA homologues ($C_nF_{2n-1}SO_3^-$) detected in the Hudson Bay pooled polar bear serum, and in the 3M-PFOS industrial standard (dashed line).

Figure 5-15.2. MS^2 spectra of all C₈- cyclic or unsaturated PFSA isomers (C₈F₁₅SO₃⁻) in the Hudson Bay pooled polar bear serum.

Figure 5-15.3. Extracted ion chromatogram and MS² spectra of 4-PFECHS and byproduct isomers in 4-PFECHS standard (**a**), and MS² spectra of different PFOS isomer standards (**b**).

Figure 5-16.1. Extracted ion chromatograms of $[SO_3]^-$, $[SO_3F]^-$ and $[C_2F_5O]^-$ in-source fragments, and ether-PFSA homologues ($C_nF_{2n+1}SO_4^-$) detected in the Hudson Bay pooled polar bear serum (solid line), and in the 3M-PFOS industrial standard (dashed line).

Figure 5-16.2. MS^2 spectra of all C₇-ether-PFSA isomers (C₇F₁₅SO₄⁻) in the Hudson Bay pooled polar bear serum.

Figure 5-17.1. Extracted ion chromatograms of $[SO_3F]^-$, $[C_3F_5]^-$ and $[C_4F_7]^-$ in-source fragments, and enol-ether-, cyclic-ether- or carbonyl-PFSA homologues ($C_nF_{2n-1}SO_4^-$) detected in the Hudson Bay pooled polar bear serum (solid line), and in the 3M-PFOS industrial standard (dashed line).

Figure 5-17.2. MS² spectra of all C₈- enol-ether-, cyclic-ether- or carbonyl-PFSA isomers $(C_8F_{15}SO_4^{-})$ in the Hudson Bay pooled polar bear serum.

Figure 5-18.1 Extracted ion chromatograms of [³⁵Cl]⁻ and [³⁷Cl]⁻ in-source fragments, and x:2

Cl-PFAES homologues (ClC_nF_{2n}O₄⁻) detected in the Hudson Bay pooled polar bear serum (n=8), in Beaufort Sea pooled polar bear serum (n=6-8), and in F-53B industrial standard (n=6-10). **Figure 5-18.2** MS² spectra of C₈- x:2 Cl-PFAES in Beaufort Sea pooled polar bear serum, and in

Figure 3-10.2 IVIS spectra of C8- x:2 CI-FFAES in Beautort Sea pooled polar bear ser F-53B industrial standard.

Figure 5-19. Total concentration of each class of halogenated compounds detected in pooled polar bear serum samples from Hudson Bay and Beaufort Sea.

Figure 5-20. Proposed metabolic scheme for a representative Cl₆-PCB congener and percentage bar graphs for all the 7 classes of PCB metabolite detected in pooled polar bear serum samples from both the Hudson Bay and Beaufort Sea.

List of Abbreviations

CID	collision induced dissociation
ESI	electrospray ionization
FTICR	Fourier-transform ion cyclotron resonance
HCD	higher collisional dissociation
HPLC-MS	high performance liquid chromatography coupled with mass spectrometry
MDL	method detection limit
MQL	method quantification limit
PFAAs	poly/perfluoroalkyl acids and their salts
PFASs	poly/perfluoroalkyl substances
PCBs	polychlorinated biphenyls
PFCAs	poly/perfluoroalkyl carboxylic acids and their salts
PreFOS	precursors of perfluorooctane sulfonic acid and sulfonates
PFOA	perfluorooctanoic acids and its salts
POPs	persistent organic pollutants
PFOS	perfluorooctane sulfonic acid and sulfonates
PFSAs	poly/perfluoroalkyl sulfonic acids and their salts
qTOF	quadrupole time-of-flight
RP	resolving power
SBSE	stir bar sportive extraction
SID	source induced dissociation
SPE	solid phase extraction
(u)HRMS	(ultra)high resolving power mass spectrometry

Chapter 1. Introduction

1.1 Poly- and Per-Fluoroalkyl Substances (PFASs)

1.1.1 PFASs and their Applications

PFASs are a wide range of manufactured organic chemicals whereby several (i.e. polyfluoro-) or all (i.e. perfluoro-) hydrogens that would normally be attached to carbon atoms have been replaced by fluorine atoms.¹ Highly fluorinated alkyl chains have unique physicochemical properties such as excellent oil, water and stain repellency, high thermal and chemical stability, and can reduce surface tension of aqueous solutions at low concentrations. PFASs have been extensively used in an array of industrial, commercial and consumer products since the 1950s,^{2, 3} including for hydraulic fluid, carpet and fabric stain repellents, non-stick cookware manufacturing, polishes, aqueous film-forming foams (AFFFs), in semiconductor devices, paints and in electronics.

PFASs include a vast array of different structural compound classes (**Figure 1**). They may be used in products as small molecules (e.g. perfluorooctanesulfonate in FluoradTM branded carpet spot cleaner), incorporated into polymers (e.g. fluoropolymers or perfluoropolyethers) where the polymeric backbone itself is fluorinated (e.g. Teflon PTFE), or into side chain polymers, which have a non-fluorinated polymeric backbone with repeating fluorinated side chains (e.g. ScotchgardTM carpet protector).² The most common historic classes of PFASs that were used directly were the perfluoroalkyl acids (PFAAs), including but not limited to perfluoroalkyl carboxylates (PFCAs, COO⁻) and sulfonates (PFSAs, SO₃⁻). A wide variety of PFAA precursors also exist, including many poly/perfluoroalkyl alcohols and/or sulfonamides which were used directly or incorporated to side-chain polymers.¹ Such precursors can degrade to PFAAs, making it difficult to know the ultimate source of PFAAs measured in people or the environment.

1.1.2 Ubiquitous Global Distribution of PFASs

Organic forms of fluorine were first reported in human serum in 1968.⁴ In 1976, Taves *et al.*,⁵ by using nuclear magnetic resonance (NMR), tentatively identified perfluorooctanoic acid (PFOA, C₈-PFCA, C₇F₁₅COO⁻) in pooled U.S. human plasma. In the next 30 years, the organic

fluorine monitoring has mostly been performed in occupationally exposed workers,⁶ because the analytical methods available then (e.g. ashing) had very high detection limits (μ g/mL). It was not until the late 1990s, when liquid chromatography coupled with mass spectrometry was commonly available, that detection of background PFASs in environmental or biological samples first became possible. In a seminal report by the 3M Company (3M Co.) in 2001, PFOA, perfluorooctanesulfonate (PFOS, C₈-PFSA, C₈F₁₇SO₃⁻), perfluorooctanesulfonamide (PFOSA, a PFOS precursor, C₈F₁₇SO₂NH₂) and perfluorohexanesulfonate (PFHxS, C₆-PFSA, C₆F₁₃SO₃⁻) were identified in human serum from the general population of the United States.⁷ Since then, a series of PFAAs ranging from C₄-C₁₄ have been detected in human,^{8, 9} wildlife^{8, 10-12} and environmental samples.^{8, 13}

The strong C-F bond contributes to PFAS environmental persistence.^{14, 15} PFOS has not been shown to degrade under environmental conditions,¹⁶ and it resists biological¹⁷ and microbial biotransformation.¹⁷⁻¹⁹ No degradation of perfluorobutanesulfonate (PFBS, C₄-PFSA), PFOS or 6:2 fluorotelomer sulfonate (C₆F₁₃C₂H₄SO₃⁻) was detected after 2 - 3.4 years of anaerobic incubation with three different sludge.¹⁸ The high stability and moderate water solubility of PFAAs allows them to travel long-distances via ocean currents.²⁰⁻²³ Moreover, wide distribution of semi-volatile PFAA precursors in air (e.g. 6:2 fluorotelomer alcohol, 6:2 FTOH, C₆F₁₃C₂H₄OH), and their atmospheric oxidation, also contributes to the global dissemination of PFAAs, including in the Arctic.^{12, 17}

1.1.3 The Hazardous Long-Chain PFAAs

Among all PFASs in the environment, PFSAs with ≥ 6 carbons and PFCAs with ≥ 7 carbons are of particular concern for wildlife and humans due to their combination of hazardous properties.² Here we refer to this group of compounds as long-chain PFAAs. In addition to their environmental persistence as discussed above, long-chain PFAAs show a tendency to bioaccumulate in wildlife and are very difficult for humans to excrete. This group of substances binds to serum protein, including albumin (>99% of PFOS and >95% of PFOA is bound to albumin),²⁴⁻²⁶ β -lipoprotein,^{27, 28} and liver fatty acid-binding protein²⁹⁻³¹ which contributes to their bioaccumulation and the bioaccumulation potential generally increases with increasing perfluoroalkyl chain length.³²⁻³⁵ The human serum elimination half-life for a short-chain PFAA such as PFBS in only 1 month,³⁶ but for PFOS is 5 years.³⁷ Similarly, the bioaccumulation

factor (log BAF) in lake trout was 4.1 for PFOS and 3.2 for PFOA,³⁸ whereas PFBS^{32, 39} and PFCAs with $\leq C_6$ are considered "not bio-accumulative".^{34, 40}

The long-chain PFAAs are also associated with multiple toxicities,⁴¹⁻⁴⁴ and can bind to various hormone receptors or carrier proteins, including estrogen receptor,^{45, 46} androgen receptor,^{45, 47} and transthyretin.^{28, 45, 46} Both PFOS and PFOA are developmental toxicants,⁴⁸⁻⁵⁰ peroxisome proliferators⁵¹ and endocrine disruptors⁵²⁻⁵⁸ in animals and humans. Long-chain PFAAs also have been associated with alteration of cell membrane properties,^{59, 60} causing adverse effects on immune systems, and can induce reproductive toxicity,⁶¹ neurotoxicity,^{62, 63} hepatotoxicity^{64, 65} and renal toxicity.⁶⁶ Developmental toxicity is one of the most sensitive endpoints,^{54, 67} as fetuses/neonates are vulnerable, and long-chain PFASs pass placental barriers^{68, 69} and can be excreted into milk. ⁶⁸⁻⁷⁰

1.1.4 Regulatory Actions and Interventions for Long-Chain PFAAs

With concern about the health risks of long-chain PFAA exposure, regional, national and international regulatory agencies have enacted some rules and regulations,⁷¹ while PFAS manufacturers also implemented certain voluntary actions with the aim to reduce emissions and minimize future environmental and human exposure. Given that exposure of animals and humans to long-chain PFAAs may come from a combination of direct exposure, originating from industrial use and release as well as consumer product application and disposal, and indirect exposure from various precursors, which degrade in the environment or are metabolized in organisms,¹⁷ most regulations and industrial phase-outs have included both PFAAs and their many precursors.

PFOS and PFOA were the first PFASs to be addressed, shortly after their discovery in humans and wildlife. Between 2000 and 2002, the 3M Co., which was the world's largest PFOS producer covering 80% of the global market at that time,⁷² phased out its PFOS and PFOS precursor (PreFOS) as well as its PFOA and PFOA precursor production in the U.S., Western Europe and Japan.⁷³ In 2002, the U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (U.S. EPA) published a *Significant New Use Rule (SNUR)*, requiring manufacturers or importers to notify EPA before commencing the manufacture or import of PFOS and PreFOS.⁷⁴ In 2006, a *Stewardship Agreement*⁷⁵ between eight leading companies, including 3M Co., DuPont and Arkema, and the U.S. EPA was enacted which aimed for a 95% PFOA and PFOA precursor emission reduction in

each company (measured from the year 2000 baseline) by 2010, and virtual elimination by year 2015. According to the annual progress reports,⁷⁶ all participating companies claimed to have been fulfilling their goals in each year. The European Union (EU) began to restrict PFOS and PFOA related production and use in 2006 under the *European Union Marketing and Use* Directive,⁷⁷ and under the *Registration, Evaluation, Authorization and Restriction of Chemicals* (REACH) program since 2013.⁷⁸ In 2009, PFOS and PreFOS were categorized as Persistent Organic Pollutants (POPs) under *Annex B* of the international *Stockholm Convention*.⁷⁹ As of June 1, 2014, Norway became the first country which bans PFOA use in solid and liquid consumer products as well as in textiles and carpets;⁸⁰ the ban was extended to semiconductors and photographic coatings on January 1, 2016.⁸⁰

Emission controls on a broader range of long-chain PFCAs have also been enacted gradually. For example, 5 PFAS companies in Canada signed the *5-Year Voluntary Environmental Performance Agreement*⁸¹ in 2010, and met the goal of eliminating C₈-C₂₀ PFCAs and their precursors in Canadian commerce by 2015. In 2016, the Canadian environmental and health authorities published *Regulations Amending the Prohibition of Certain Toxic Substances Regulations 2012 (RA-PTSR)*,⁸² prohibiting the use of long-chain PFCAs (and PFOS) in commercial products. The U.S. EPA issued additional *SNURs* in 2015,⁸³ requiring manufacturers, importers and processors of long-chain PFCAs to submit notifications before commercializing their products. Similarly, the EU listed C₈-C₁₄ PFCAs as substances of very high concern under REACH in 2013, requiring "registration, notification, and duty to communicate" on products containing these substances.⁸⁴

1.1.5 PFASs Production and Use Today

In this section, current trends in worldwide PFAS production and use are discussed, following the series of regulatory and industrial control actions discussed above.

1.1.5.1 Transitioning to Alternative Chemistries

Regulations on existing long-chain PFAAs have driven PFAS manufacturers to develop alternatives. According to very limited publicly available information, four categories of replacements are likely being produced.^{2, 85} Two of these categories are alternative PFASs and are discussed below, while the other two categories are non-fluorinated chemicals, and non-

chemical alternatives. However, examples of these last two categories are scarce due to the unique nature of PFASs. Some tested candidates do not meet the requirements, particularly that of imparting extremely low surface tension.^{2, 86} Hydrocarbon surfactants have been proposed as a good substitute in some photographic industries² and in firefighting foams,⁸⁷ but no commercialization has yet been reported to our knowledge.

Short-chain PFASs, including PFSAs with $<C_6$ and PFCAs with $<C_7$ and their precursors,² are likely the major alternatives being used today. One major transition has been from $\ge C_6$ -based PFSAs to C₄-based PFSAs. The 3M Co. commercialized PFBS based surface treatment products in 2003,⁸⁸ and tetraethylammonium PFBS was registered under REACH in 2013 for metal plating.⁸⁹ Other manufacturers have transitioned from $\ge C_8$ -PFCAs to C₆-PFCAs,⁸⁶ and from 8:2 based fluorotelomers (e.g. 8:2 FTOHs, C₈F₁₇C₂H₄OH) to 6:2 FTOHs. For example, DuPont marketed its 6:2 FTOH AFFFs (e.g. C₆F₁₃C₂H₄SO₂NHC₃H₆N⁺(CH₃)₂CH₂COO⁻) beginning in 2008.⁹⁰ Some manufacturers in China and Italy were reported to use C₆-PFSA based-substitutes (e.g. PFHxS) for historical C₈-PFSA based-applications, instead the shorter C₄-based chemistries;^{16,17} PFHxS is actually defined as long-chain PFSA, and is more persistent in humans than PFOS (half-life 7.5 years vs 5 years).^{2, 37} Nevertheless, this general transition to short-chain PFASs is due to their structural, physical and chemical similarities to long-chain PFASs (e.g. amphiphobic, stable and surface-active), while generally being easier to excrete,^{91, 92} less bioaccumulative,³⁴ and as claimed by manufacturers "less toxic" compared to longer-chain PFASs.⁹³

The second type of replacement is structurally modified PFASs. By inserting functionalities or atoms that are expected to aid degradation or metabolism¹ (e.g. ethers, hydrocarbons and ketones) into perfluoroalkyl chains, the resulting new PFASs are assumed to be less persistent and less accumulative. In fluoropolymer manufacture, perfluoropolyethers (PFEs) were reported to have replaced traditional PFOA salts as new processing aids,⁸⁵ such as Co.,⁹⁴ ADONA $(CF_3OCF_2CF_2CF_2OCHFCOO^-NH_4^+)$ from the 3M GenX $(CF_3CF_2CF_2OCF(CF_3)COO^{-}NH_4^{+})$ from Dupont, ⁹⁵ cyclic (e.g. dioxane based structure)⁹⁶ or polymeric functionalized PFEs (e.g. ClC₃F₆O-[CF₂CF(CF₃)O]_m-[CF(CF₃)O]_nCF₂COOH, m = 1-4, n = 0-2) from Solvay,⁹⁷ and 6:2 fluorotelomer carboxylic acid (6:2 FTCA, $C_6F_{13}CH_2COO^{-1}$) from a Chinese company.98 In surface treatment of food contact materials, Solvay used polyfluoropolyether (HO)₂P(O)O(OCH₂CH₂)_nCF₂CH₂(CF₂O)_pphosphate (e.g.

 $(OCF_2CF_2)_qOCF_2CH_2-(OCH_2CH_2)_n-OP(O)(HO)_2$, n=1-2, p/q=1-3) to replace PFOS/PreFOSphosphates (e.g. $[C_8F_{17}SO_2N(C_2H_5)C_2H_4O]_2PO_2H$).⁹⁹ In AFFFs, the 3M Co. developed a perfluoroalkyl ketone based fire suppression agent (i.e. $CF_3CF_2C(O)CF(CF_3)_2$)¹⁰⁰ after its PFOSrelated production was ceased.

1.1.5.2 Continued Long-Chain PFAS Production and Use

Given the difficulty to find appropriate chemical substitutes having high performance similar to traditional long-chain PFASs, continued use of long-chain PFASs is known. In fact, most or all of the regulations discussed above were issued with affiliated "exemption" files which specify acceptable purposes for continued use. For example, the *Stockholm Convention* allows continued PFOS and PreFOS use in aviation applications, in AFFFs, in surface treatments, in paper packaging and in semiconductors applications.⁷⁹ The Canadian *RA-PTSR* does not prohibit long-chain PFCAs when they are present in manufactured items,⁸² and Norway still allows continued PFOA use in food packaging, food contact materials and medical devices⁸⁰ despite being the first country to ban PFOA in consumer products.

1.1.5.3 PFAS Manufacturing in Developing Countries

Since around the year 2000, and as domestic regulatory scrutiny and public concern over PFAS-related health risks grew, most of the major historical PFAS manufacturers have started up new manufacturing plants in developing countries, mainly in continental Asia (e.g. China and India)¹⁰¹ where economic growth is preferable and few regulations have been enacted to control PFASs. For example, in 2001, a High-Tech Fluorine Chemical Industrial Park was built in Changshu, Jiangsu, and more than 40 fluorochemical manufacturing companies have built plants in it, including 3M and DuPont from the U.S., Arkema from France, Solvay from Belgium and Daikin from Japan.^{102, 103} With time, more plants have been built in other cities in China, including but not limited to Shanghai (3M,¹⁰⁴ DuPont,¹⁰⁵ Daikin¹⁰⁶), Zhangqiu (3M¹⁰⁴), Ulanqab (3M¹⁰⁴), Shenzhen (DuPont¹⁰⁵), Suzhou (Daikin¹⁰⁶) and Quzhou (Solvay¹⁰⁷). At the same time, as major historical manufacturers reduce or discontinue their long-chain PFAS production, new manufacturers in developing countries have stepped forward to begin large scale PFAS production, including of traditional long-chain PFASs to fill the growing market gap for these substances.¹⁰⁸ Built in 2001, the Dongyue fluoro-silicon industrial park has mostly Chinese companies in it. It is now the world's largest PTFE manufacturing center, and is the primary

supplier of big companies including DuPont and Daikin.¹⁰⁹ More local companies have emerged with the continued build-up of fluorochemical industrial parks in more Chinese cities, such as in Zhangqiu in Shandong Province, Taicang and Taizhou in Jiangsu Province, Quzhou in Zhejiang Province, Ulanqab in Inner Mongolia Province, Fuxin in Liaoning Province and in Sanming in Fujian Province.¹¹⁰

1.1.6 Concerns Over the Status Quo of PFAS Production and Use

Likely due to efforts from both industry and regulatory bodies over the last 17 years, PFOS, PFOA and some of their precursors have shown worldwide decreasing trends in various samples since around 2000.¹¹¹ Meanwhile, short-chain PFASs (e.g. PFBS)^{112, 113} and some structurally modified alternative PFASs have started to increase. Human PFAS temporal trends are summarized in **Table 1**. Canada, benefiting from its domestic controls for long-chain PFCAs,^{81, 82} has shown background levels of C₈-C₁₁ PFCAs in its large-scale 2009-2011 Canadian Health Measures Surveys (mean 2.3, 0.8, 0.2 and 0.1 ng/mL, respectively).¹¹⁴ While these are indeed encouraging results, current PFAS production and use globally remains concerning, and future human PFAS exposure problems are far from resolved. Members of the scientific community have, in fact, called for an outright PFAS phase-out by encouraging significant innovations to develop fluorine-free alternative chemicals.^{115, 116}

1.1.6.1 Continued Long-Chain PFAS Production and Unknown Precursors

Contrary to the decreasing trends discussed above at many global locations, PFOS and PFOA in some Chinese people has surged by $13 \times$ and $6 \times$ times, respectively, from 1999 to 2002.¹¹⁷ Moreover, long-chain PFCAs (mostly C₉-C₁₂ PFCAs) have shown consistent upward trends (or sometimes levelling-off) in people from almost all countries (**Table 1**, no human data from China, but increasing C₇ and C9 PFCAs were seen in dolphins¹¹²). Despite the decreasing PFOS and PFOA trends in almost all developed countries, rates of decrease are usually much slower than the intrinsic biological elimination rates known from monitoring of retired PFAS industry employees.³⁷ Reported rates of decrease are summarized in **Table 1**. Taking PFOS as an example, which has an intrinsic half-life of 5 years,³⁷ PFOS should therefore decline at a rate of -14%/yr, and 50%, 75%, 88% and 94% of PFOS should be eliminated after 5, 10, 15 and 20 years, respectively. This slower apparent elimination likely implies continuing PFOS exposure in the

real world.

PFAS manufacturing is now mainly conducted in developing countries where few or no regulations have yet been enacted. No PFAS regulations are noted in India.⁷¹ China has begun to restrict new installations of PFOS and PFOA production facilities since 2011,¹¹⁸ and to ban PFOS uses in some applications since 2014.¹¹⁹ Little data is available on the production volumes of PFASs in these countries, but according to some estimations China's annual PFOS and PreFOS production surged from <50 tonnes (t) to >200 t between 2004-2006,¹²⁰ followed by a decrease to 100 t in 2008.¹²¹ According to a survey conducted by the China Association of Fluorine and Silicone Industry in 2013, the annual PFOS and PreFOS production in China was 100 - 160 t between 2009-2012, with one-quarter to one-third being exported.¹⁰⁸ By 2015, at least 12 local companies, 9 in Hubei province and 3 in Fujian province, were known to still be producing PFOS and PreFOS.¹⁰⁸ PFOA is widely used as processing aid in the production polymers (e.g. PTFE).² The Donyue fluoro-silicon industrial park in China ranks first in the world's PTFE production^{102, 123, 124} (e.g. 34,000 t in 2015¹²²), which covers only 30% of domestic PTFE production. With a cumulative emission of 250 t PFOA between 2007 and 2012,^{125, 126} China has rapidly become the world's largest PFOA emitter. India's PFOA production has likely increased dramatically since 2010 as its PTFE production increased more than 3× between 2010 and 2011. The total C₄-C₁₄ PFCA (but mainly long-chain PFCAs) emission from fluoropolymer production sites in China, India, Russia and Poland combined were estimated to have increased from ~50 to ~200 t/year from 2000 to 2010,¹²⁷ in contrast to the trend in the U.S., Western Europe and Japan where combined emissions decreased from ~150 t/year to almost zero over the same time period. Therefore, large scale long-chain PFAS production has been occurring in these emerging economies, and local emissions will likely affect the rest of the world due to intensified global trading activities (e.g. half of China's PFOS/PreFOS production was designated for export in 2006¹²⁰) and the long-range transport potential of PFASs.

Historical long-chain PFAS applications have been continuing lawfully in certain countries, allowed by the exemptions listed in almost all regulations. As discussed in *Section 1.1.5.2*, PFOS and hundreds of PreFOS molecules were exempted under the *Stockholm Convention* for continued use in AFFFs, surface treatments, paper packaging and metal plating applications, despite that these are their major historical applications. For long-chain PFCAs, the U.S.⁸³ and the EU⁸⁴ only began an "importing notification" requirement 2-5 years ago, and no associated

regulations exist in developing countries where large-scale production, import, sale and use of these chemicals is continuing today.

Another concern over long-chain PFASs is related to their precursors, a vast array of polyfluoroalkyl substances which can degrade or be metabolized to persistent PFAAs. These pose human and environmental health risks due to their decomposition to PFAAs, but also pose (mostly) unknown toxicological risks when living organisms are exposed to these various substances. Despite their long history of use, there are still large unknowns in their chemical identities, including residual impurities in their formulations, their environmental distribution, human exposure, transformation rates/efficiencies and toxicities. For example, it was not until the year 2010 that diester polyfluoroalkyl phosphates¹²⁸ and N-methyl-/N-ethylperfluorooctanamides¹²⁹ were discovered as precursors to PFCAs, in addition to the FTOHs which were shown to be metabolized to PFCAs in the 1980s.¹³⁰ More than 100 PreFOS molecules were listed in the Stockholm Convention,⁷⁹ but fewer than 10 of these (e.g. PFOSA, perfluorooctane-sulfonamidoacetates, perfluorooctanesulfonamidoethanols, and their Nmethyl/N-ethyl derivatives) have ever been directly monitored in the environment.¹⁷ Hindered by unknown identities or lack of authentic standards, the downstream studies (e.g. human exposure and toxicities) remain scarce, and continuing uncertainty remains for predicting human longchain PFCA and PFSA exposure.

1.1.6.2 Problematic Alternative PFASs and Large Unknowns in Their Identities

Corresponding to the industrial transition to alternative PFASs, increasing C₄- and C₆-PFSA (i.e. PFBS and PFHxS) concentrations have recently been observed^{112, 113, 131} (**Table 1**). Moreover, perfluorobutanesulfonamide (PFBSA), which is a short-chain precursor to PFBS was recently reported in fish from the Netherlands, Canada and the U.S.,¹³² and pioneering studies have revealed structurally modified alternative PFASs (e.g. PFECAs) in water samples downstream of a fluorochemical facility.^{133, 134} Although more studies are certainly required to evaluate the safety of these new substances as alternatives, some of the few existing studies have already suggested that these poly-/per- fluorinated alternatives may not be as safe as expected.

First, the alternative PFASs are often still persistent, and maybe as persistent as traditional PFAAs. Trifluoroacetic acid, PFBS, and 6:2 fluorotelomer sulfonic acid (6:2 FTSA, $C_6F_{13}CH_2CH_2SO_3^{-}$) were similarly resistant to microbial degradation as PFOS, showing no

degradation after 32 weeks of incubation under aerobic conditions;^{18, 135} and perfluoroether chains were shown to be as resistant to abiotic and biotic degradation as perfluoroalkyl chains.¹³⁶ Even if the structurally modified PFASs do break at the modified bonds (e.g. ether bonds), the resulting degradation products may still be persistent.^{115, 116}

Second, the alternative PFASs do not necessarily have lower bioaccumulation potentials than traditional long-chain PFAAs. PFHxS has a slower urinary excretion¹³⁷ and a longer elimination half-life (7.5 years vs 5.0 years) than PFOS in humans,^{42, 137, 138} and is therefore more bioaccumulative. C₄-PFCA (perfluorobutyric acid, PFBA) also had a slower renal clearance rate than C₆-PFHxA (perfluorohexanoic acid, PFHxA).⁹² Only one elimination study with structurally modified PFASs has been reported,¹³⁹ whereby CF₃OC₃F₆OCHFCF₂COO⁻ (a PFECA molecule) had a faster serum elimination than PFOA in humans, but a much slower elimination in rats. Of further considerations is that despite lower nominal bioaccumulation potentials (measured or assumed), this may be negated by higher exposure due to a greater amount being required in products to achieve equal performance to legacy PFAAs.^{116, 140}

Third, these alternative PFASs are not necessarily less toxic. PFHxS was shown to be more hepato-toxic than PFOS in rats,¹⁴¹ and PFHxA was more acutely toxic than PFOA to aquatic life.¹⁴² Without any traditional long-chain PFAS being tested as a reference, two PFECAs were found to be associated with hepatotoxicity, genotoxicity and developmental toxicity.⁹⁴ Moreover, the alternatives may exert very different toxicities than traditional long-chain PFASs due to different distributions in the body.⁴³ For example, PFBA is predominately distributed to human lungs, kidneys and brain, whereas PFOS accumulates preferentially in the livers and bones.¹⁴³

A final concern over alternative PFASs is the large unknown in their chemical identities. The currently available information on alternatives is only "a small selection of alternatives",¹⁰¹ while many still remain unknown. In some countries (e.g. the U.S¹⁴⁴), manufacturers and importers are required to submit compound information for regulatory review before any alternative can be introduced. These data, however, remain publicly inaccessible due to confidentiality or trade secret concerns. In developing countries, few regulatory requirements have been made for manufacturing new chemicals for industrial or commercial purposes.¹⁰¹ It is therefore difficult to know what alternatives we are and will be exposed to, what chemicals to monitor for in the ambient environment or in goods exported around the globe, and what the associated risks may be. This causes concerns as overall PFAS production in developing

countries has been increasing.

1.1.7 Future Human PFAS Exposure and Key Question.

Collectively, continued long-chain PFAS production in certain exempted applications, and substitutions by problematic known and unknown alternative PFASs will not likely mitigate future human or environmental health risks. For better actions to be taken in the future, the following questions should be answered:

The core question for long-chain PFAS exposure is **how are we exposed today, and how will we be exposed in future?** Even if all long-chain PFAS production was to stop immediately, human long-chain PFAS exposure would continue into the future due to the time-lag of products' life-cycles (from chemical application to emission from current-use products and from disposed waste), and, maybe more importantly, due to the likely slow environmental degradation of known and unknown precursors which enter landfills. For example, the incorporation of PFAA precursors into side-chain polymers, and the time frame for hydrolysis of these side-chains remains highly uncertain.¹⁴⁵⁻¹⁴⁷ Based on current-use and discarded products containing 8:2 FTOH side-chain polymers, a modelling study suggested that global annual FTOH emission will likely continue to increase until after 2040.¹⁴⁸ Both the long-chain PFAAs and their precursors pose health risks and contribute to human and environmental exposure of PFAAs, thus it is important to figure out how the relative extent of direct and indirect exposure will change in the long term. Knowing this will help to elucidate the major human exposure sources, thus facilitating sound emission control actions to minimize future exposures.

The ultimate question for alternative PFASs is their safety. There are several historical examples of structurally similar chemicals being used as substitutes for the banned or restricted chemical substances, and these all turned out to be less than successful. For example, chlorofluorocarbons were replaced by hydrochlorofluorocarbons,¹⁴⁹ and polybrominated diphenyl ethers were replaced by various halogenated flame retardants.¹⁵⁰ To address the concern that we may be making the same mistakes again requires immediate and systematic risk characterization for these alternatives. However, before any evaluation can be performed, the first question is **what are the chemical identities of current alternative PFASs**? Except for the short-chain PFASs, there are large uncertainties in the chemical identities of short-chain precursors and of structurally modified PFASs. Early discovery of these chemicals would enable

safety evaluation studies and regulatory actions if deemed necessary.

1.2 How Will Future Human PFOS and PreFOS Exposure Change?

PFOS remains today as the dominant PFAS in human serum. Its exposure sources are not well known but thought to include direct PFOS exposure, direct exposure to PreFOS, as well as direct exposure to PFOS which was emitted to the environment as PreFOS.¹⁷ Due to large unknowns in PreFOS identities, it is not feasible to perform top-down monitoring studies where all PreFOS molecules are quantified in human biofluids or environmental media. It is preferable to employ a bottom-up method in which direct PreFOS monitoring could be avoided.

PFOS isomer profiles¹⁵¹ and enantiomer profiles¹⁵² were proposed as biomarkers of PreFOS exposure in people, specifically as a means for evaluating the relative extent that PreFOS has contributed to the body-burden of PFOS. This theory is based on the fact that commercially relevant PFOS and PreFOS have branched isomer contents of 30% (i.e. 70% linear)^{153, 154} and for chiral branched isomers of PFOS the starting enantiomer fraction should be 0.5 (i.e. equal amount of both enantiomers)¹⁵⁵ and an assumption that only biological biotransformation (i.e. of PreFOS to PFOS) would change these profiles appreciably. Proof-ofprinciple studies have demonstrated these assumptions for branched PreFOS isomers^{156, 157} and for enantiomers of 1m-PFOS.¹⁵² Therefore, measuring PFOS isomer and/or enantiomer profiles in humans may be an indirect bottom-up method to estimate the relative contribution from indirect PreFOS exposure. A temporal trend study of these biomarkers, as described in **Chapter 2**, would allow prediction of future human exposure scenarios.

1.3 Unknown PFAS Identification

As discussed in Section 1.1.6.1 and 1.1.7, there are large unknowns in the chemical identities of historically emitted PFAA precursors and alternative PFASs. In mass balance studies of total organic fluorine, significant proportions of unidentifiable organic fluorine are frequently reported in environmental (50 to $\geq 99\%^{158, 159}$) and biological samples (15 to $\geq 99\%^{39, 160-162}$ Among the PFAAs (e.g. C4-C₁₄ PFCAs and C4-C₈ PFSAs) that increase in effluent after municipal wastewater treatment, ¹⁶³⁻¹⁶⁵ aerobic biotransformation¹⁶⁶ and/or chemical oxidization (e.g. by persulfate) processes, ¹⁶⁷⁻¹⁷² only about half of the mass balance can be attributed to known precursors, confirming the existence of unidentified precursors in relevant environmental
media. Recently, a perfluorooctanesulfonamido ethanol-based phosphate diester was discovered in marine sediments¹⁷³ and human sera,¹⁷⁴ thus exposing a fraction of the unknown organic fluorine content. Similarly, recent discoveries of PFECAs and PFESAs in water demonstrates that unknown alternative PFASs are currently present in our environment.^{133, 134}

Unknown PFASs contribute to a substantial proportion of unknown organic fluorine in the environment, thereby representing a great source of uncertainty for environmental and human health risks. Developing analytical methods capable of discovering and characterizing identities of these unknown PFASs will facilitate this knowledge through enabling important studies on the persistence, bioaccumulation and toxicity of new substances.

1.3.1 Target vs Non-Target Analysis

High performance liquid chromatography coupled to mass spectrometry (HPLC-MS) is what first enabled the discovery of PFASs in humans and in the environment,^{7, 9} and such instruments have gained popularity for trace environmental contaminant analysis for a broad range of polar and ionic chemicals. Quadrupole, triple quadrupole, and quadrupole ion traps are the workhorse mass analyzers for highly sensitive detection of targeted analytes today. For a comprehensive target analysis, the detection of any specific compound in a sample with these instruments has traditionally depended on the availability of authentic chemical standards, which provides characteristic information such as chromatographic retention time and MS/MS spectral information. The standards also allow exquisitely sensitive and quantitative sample extraction methods to be developed, by enhancing recovery for the targeted molecule while simultaneously removing interferences. Such targeted approaches are usually of high selectivity and high sensitivity (e.g. femto- to picogram in absolute mass¹⁷⁵). They, however, are only able to study a small number of compounds, and are highly dependent on the availability of commercially available authentic standards or *de novo* synthesis. With increasing numbers of chemicals being produced each year,¹⁷⁶ it is getting more expensive and impossible to analyze a long list of chemicals of potential environmental relevance. Besides, these mass spectrometers only provide unit resolution (i.e. ± 0.5 amu), even when operating in multiple reaction monitoring (MRM) mode, the possibility of generating false positive results increases as the sample matrix becomes increasingly complex.

A paradigm shift in the way that environmental contaminants are discovered and

monitored is called "non-target" analysis, enabled by modern advances in full-scan high resolution mass spectrometry (HRMS), and in fact ultra-HRMS (uHRMS). Non-target analysis makes it possible to discover and detect a broad range of compounds in a single run, without any *a priori* information or authentic standard available. This is based on the combination of the high resolving power (RP) or resolution, which reduces interferences, high mass accuracy, which allows for assignment of plausible molecular formulae for unknown spectral peaks, high scan rates, which allow for coupling with various types of chromatography, and high sensitivity in full-scan acquisition, which makes the detection of subtle contaminants possible in complex sample matrices. Mass spectral RP, or resolution, is the ability of an instrument to resolve two peaks of very close mass-to-charge ratios [m/z], defined at a specified m/z (usually at m/z 200-400) by the full width at half maximum peak height $(m/m_{1/2})$. Mass accuracy is the difference between the measured and the true m/z of an ion, defined as the ratio of mass difference (m_{1/2}) to the true m/z (typically expressed as parts-per-million, ppm). Commercially available HRMS instruments include various quadrupole time-of-flight instruments (qTOF, RP≥30,000, mass accuracy ≤5 ppm, scan rate 1-10 Hz, sensitivity picogram absolute mass in full-scan),^{133, 177-179} and uHRMS instruments include Orbitrap (Orbitrap-MS, RP≥120,000, mass accuracy ≤3 ppm, scan rate 1-2 Hz, sensitivity femto- to picogram absolute mass in full-scan)^{175, 180} and Fouriertransform ion cyclotron resonance (FTICR-MS, RP \geq 1,000,000, mass accuracy \leq 2 ppm, scan rate 0.3-1 Hz, sensitivity picogram absolute mass in full-scan).¹⁷⁹ Furthermore, unlike previous generations of HRMS, such as magnetic sectors, todays' HRMS and uHRMS instruments are capable of full scan without appreciable loss of sensitivity, RP, or mass accuracy.

Non-target analysis has commonly been applied in molecular life sciences^{181, 182} and is gaining popularity in environmental analytical chemistry. As a general guideline, RP \geq 60,000 is recommended for reliable empirical formula assignment of compounds in mixtures composed of C, H, O, N, F and P.¹⁷⁵ In the most complex samples such as petroleum, uHRMS (i.e. RP \geq 100,000) is required to resolve isobars containing S¹⁸³ (e.g. to differentiate C₃ vs H₄S, Δ m =3.37 mDa¹⁸⁴). MS/MS or MSⁿ may help to elucidate the structure of an unknown molecule after molecular formula assignment, but in practice authentic standards are still required to conclusively confirm the presence of a molecule after it is detected. Moreover, although non-target mass spectrometry does not require any *a priori* information, specific compounds or long-lists of compounds may be screened using "suspect-screening" approaches,^{185, 186} or classes of

substances could be targeted based on common mass spectral behavior.^{187, 188}

1.3.2 Non-Target Analysis Workflow

A general workflow for unknown environmental contaminant discovery by HPLC-HRMS is: (1) producing highly resolved full-scan spectra to reveal all ions in the sample; (2) "picking out" potential environmental contaminant ions from complex background signals; (3) assigning plausible molecular formulae for candidate ions; (4) MSⁿ fragmenting candidate ions for structural characterization, and (5) structure confirmation based on spectral databases or authentic standards. Among these, step 2 is perhaps most difficult and critical, as the likely challenge is to distinguish trace signals of environmental contaminants from a complex mixture of major and minor natural/endogenous compounds; akin to finding the proverbial needle(s) in the haystack.

1.3.3 Non-Target Techniques for Differentiating PFAS Signals from Matrix Background

When no *a priori* information is available, techniques are required to distinguish analyte ions of interest the complex matrix. Ion distinguishing techniques will vary for different compound classes (e.g. isotopic patterns for brominated compound discovery¹⁸⁹), and some have previously been developed or proposed for filtering PFAS ions from non-fluorinated background signals, including both post- and pre-HRMS-analysis filtering techniques. The four post-HRMS-analysis data filtering techniques are:

- 1) Negative mass defects. Mass defects $(\Delta m/z)$ are defined as the difference between the nominal and exact mass of an atom or molecule. Fluorine atoms have a negative mass defect ($\Delta m/z$ -0.0016), hydrogen atoms have a positive mass defect (m/z +0.0079), while carbon has zero mass defect. Therefore, compared to hydrocarbons which have positive mass defects, PFASs will tend to have low or negative mass defects. However, this can be affected by other negative mass defect elements, including oxygen ($\Delta m/z$ -0.0051), sulfur ($\Delta m/z$ -0.0279) and phosphorus ($\Delta m/z$ -0.0262), and therefore should be used together with other techniques.^{99, 177, 178}
- 2) *Homologous series*. PFASs are often manufactured as a series of chain-length homologues, and the m/z spacing is either ±49.997 (i.e. -CF₂-) or ±99.994 (i.e. -CF₂CF₂-),

depending on whether electrochemical fluorination or telomerization was used in their manufacturing. This technique can be used with either low-resolution MS (e.g. fast atom bombardment MS, FAB-MS¹⁷⁷) or HRMS (e.g. qTOF^{134, 190} and FT-ICR¹⁷⁹) but has greater diagnostic potential in the case of HRMS.

- 3) Kendrick Mass Defect Plot (KMDP). The KMDP is a quick data screening technique for visualizing all analytes in a sample, and for homologous series discovery.¹⁹¹ Homologous compounds share the same general formula and only differ by chain lengths. For homologous hydrocarbons with repeating CH_2 units, the absolute molecular or ion masses among homologues differ by $n \times 14.01565$ Da, where n is an integer, representing the difference in numbers of total CH₂ units. Therefore, by multiplying by 14/14.01565 (i.e. normalizing the mass of CH₂ from 14.01565 to exactly 14.00000), all homologues' masses will be re-scaled to the Kendrick mass,192 and produce identical Kendrick mass defects (i.e. difference between nominal Kendrick mass and exact Kendrick mass). Further, by plotting the resultant Kendrick mass defects vs nominal masses (i.e. KMDP), all homologues will display in horizontal lines, making the entire homologous class stand out from other chemicals and background signals. Thus, by applying different parameters in mass re-scaling, the KMDP can be used to discover different classes of homologues, such as -O₂- series (multiply by 32/31.989830), -SO₂- series (multiply by 64/63.961902),^{193, 194} and -CF₂- series (i.e. PFASs, multiply by 50/49.996806).^{133, 177-179,} 195
- 4) Case-control study design. As frequently used in metabolomics studies,¹⁹⁶ the comparison of spectra belonging to a control group can be statistically compared to spectra of experimental or treatment groups to highlight those ions significantly affected by the treatment.^{133, 195, 197, 198} Analogies to this approach have found application for environmental contaminant discovery, for example the comparison of samples from upstream and downstream of a fluorochemical industry have revealed certain PFASs discharged into natural water.¹³³ However, "control" samples are not always feasible, especially when considering the ubiquitous distribution of PFASs in the environment. Furthermore, this technique usually requires repeated sample injections to accommodate the statistical treatment of the data.

The above post-HRMS-analysis techniques are often used together to narrow down

candidate PFAS ion lists, for example by focusing on homologous ions with negative mass defects.^{177, 198} To further accelerate or simplify prospective PFAS ion filtering, some researchers also explored pre-HRMS-analysis techniques. Two examples of this are noted for PFASs. Before the HRMS analysis, D'Agostino *et al.*¹⁷⁹ fractionated the AFFF sample into four fractions with two different types of solid phase extraction cartridges, and subjected each fraction to combustion ion chromatography. Then, only fraction(s) with high fluorine signals were proceeded for HRMS analysis. Qin *et al.*,¹⁹⁹ as a proof-of-principle, analyzed PFAS-spiked samples by HPLC coupled to continuum source molecular absorption spectrometry for flagging retention times of the spiked PFAS. Subsequent HRMS analysis could then be focused on the portion eluting during that time period. The success of these two approaches for analysis of environmental samples may be limited by the high detection limits of combustion ion chromatography (2-10 ng F/mL,^{161, 179} 3-15 ng/mL PFOS equivalent).

1.3.4 More Efficient PFAS Signal Discrimination Techniques Needed

Despite availability of the above multiple signal filtering techniques, non-target PFAS discovery by mass spectrometry only began in 2010, and to date has predominately been focused on identification of active PFAS ingredients or impurities in industrial formulations⁹⁹ or commercial products, including food contact materials.^{177, 179, 200, 201} In these cases, PFASs are present at relatively high levels and there is little background interference, compared to environmental samples. The only attempts at non-target PFAS discovery in environmental or human samples also used samples with high PFASs: water from downstream of a fluorochemical industry,¹³³ and serum samples from AFFF-exposed firefighters.¹⁹⁸ The slow progression to background environmental and biological samples, where PFASs may be present at trace levels may be attributable to insufficient capability of the available filtering techniques to distinguish subtle PFAS signals in super-complex mass spectra.

We are therefore interested to explore, in addition to the above pre- and post-HRMSanalysis mass filtering techniques, whether an "in-HRMS-analysis" technique could be developed to further facilitate PFAS signal discrimination from massive background signals. Although reported after completion of work in this thesis, a data-independent precursor isolation and characteristic fragment method for brominated compound discovery is noted,^{202, 203} where fragmentation spectra of all detectable ions were produced in a Q-Exactive Obitrap MS, and only ions with characteristic ⁷⁸Br and ⁸¹Br fragments were targeted for further elucidation. Such methods have the advantage of incorporating signal filtering, empirical formula confirmation, and MS/MS structural characterization into a single step, and can potentially be run with the commonly available qTOF-MS. However, the method requires many injections (>10 injections in the study) and produces high numbers of spectra for analysis.^{202, 203} It is therefore worthwhile exploring a fast and simple in-HRMS-analysis technique that can be used for large-scale PFAS discovery in the future.

1.4 Research Questions and Proposed Studies

Due to the changing PFAS environmental and human exposure and associated uncertain human health risks, it is important now to better understand the extent of human PFAA precursor exposure, and to identify what unknown alternative PFASs the environment may be exposed to in future. To this end, I undertook the following four projects:

- To explore the temporal trends of PFOS isomer and enantiomer profiles in human serum, biomarkers of PreFOS exposure: Human serum samples were analyzed from the U.S., where large-scale and long-term PFOS/PreFOS production once took place, and from Sweden, which had no known historical PFOS/PreFOS production. This study was designed to provide information on how the PreFOS exposure may have changed over 2-3 decades in the two countries and is expected to give hints to predict exposure sources in the future.
- 2. To develop a fast and simple non-target PFAS discovery method for complex sample matrices with a new in-HRMS-analysis PFAS signal filtering technique. A wastewater sample discharged from a Chinese fluorochemical manufacturing park was used for method development and validation.
- 3. To apply the developed non-target PFAS discovery method to fish. Fish livers from two natural water systems in China were tested, and this is expected to provide information on what PFASs that have been or are currently being released in China may bioaccumulate in fish bound for market.
- To extend the developed non-target method for organohalogen discovery in polar bears. Polar bears have long been recognized as highly exposed to halogenated

environmental contaminants.^{11, 204-206} Serum samples from polar bears in two Canadian Arctic regions were examined with the possibility of identifying new contaminants which might explain a toxicologically relevant unknown fraction in previous effects-directed analysis work.²⁰⁷

The results of the thesis are expected to provide information on how future human PFAS exposure may change, what new PFASs may be emitted today in new source regions that could be regulated before they are global contaminants, and what new PFASs can bioaccumulate in animals. The results may furthermore enable others to conduct risk characterization or risk assessment on these halogenated contaminants, with the goal of minimizing future environmental and human health risks.

1.5 Figures and Table

1.5.1 Figures



Figure 1. General classification of PFASs.

1.5.2 Tables

Table 1. Temporal trends of PFASs in humans since time of the 3M Co. phase-out in year 2000. Rates of change are expressed as positive (+) or negative (-) percentage changes per year, or over the period shown.

	the U.S.	Canada	Sweden	Norway	Germany	Australia	P.R. China
PFOS	-9%/yr 03-13 ²⁰⁸ -88% 00-15 ²⁰⁹ -55% 99-08 ²¹⁰ -83% 99-14 ²¹¹	-22% from 07-09 to 09-11; ^{114,212} decrease 92-04 in Nunavik mothers ^{c,213}	-8%/yr 96-10 ¹¹³ -8%/yr 97-12 ²¹⁴ -6%/yr 08-15 ²¹⁵	decrease 98-06 ²¹⁶	decrease 00-10 ¹⁷⁴	-66% 02-11 ²¹⁷ -17%/yr 02- 13 ²¹⁸	+1300% 99- 02 ¹¹⁷ stable 08-12 ²¹⁹
PFOSA ^a	decrease 99-08 ²¹¹		-22%/yr 96-10 ¹¹³ -21%/yr 97-12 ²¹⁴				
FOSAA ^a			-20%/yr 97-12 ²¹⁴		decrease 00-10174		
MeFOSAAª	increase00-06 ²⁰⁹ decrease 06-15 ²⁰⁹ -89% 99-12 ²¹¹		-20%/yr 97-12 ²¹⁴		decrease 00-10 ¹⁷⁴		
EtFOSAAª			-39%/yr 97-12 ²¹⁴		decrease 00-10174		
Di-SAmPAP ^a					stable 95-10 ¹⁷⁴		
PFOA	-5%/yr 03-13 ²⁰⁸ -77% 00-15 ²⁰⁹ stable 03-08 ²¹⁰ -51% 99-14 ²¹¹	stable from 07-09 to 09-11 ^{114, 212}	-3%/yr 96-10 ¹¹³ -7%/yr 08-15 ²¹⁵	decrease 98-06 ²¹⁶	-5%~-9%/yr 95-10 ²²⁰	-66% 02-11 ²¹⁷ -13%/yr 02- 13 ²¹⁸	+600% 99-02 ¹¹⁷ stable 08-12 ²¹⁹
8:2 FTSA ^b						-13%/yr 02- 13 ²¹⁸	
6:2/6:2DiPAP ^b					stable 95-10 ²²⁰		
6:2/8:2DiPAP ^b			increase 97-12 ²¹⁴				
8:2/8:2DiPAP ^b			increase 97-12 ²¹⁴				

Table 1. Continued:

	the U.S.	Canada	Sweden	Norway	Germany	Australia	P.R. China
C ₆ -PFSA	-6%/yr 03-13 ²⁰⁸ -61% 00-15 ²⁰⁹ stable 99-08 ^{210, 211} -17% 09-14 ²¹¹	-26% from 07-09 to 09-11 ^{114, 212}	+8%/yr 96-10 ¹¹³ +8%/yr 08-15 ²¹⁵		stable 95-10 ¹⁷⁴	-15%/yr 02-11 ²¹⁸	
C7-PFSA						-13%/yr 02-11 ²¹⁸	
C ₁₀ -PFSA			-10%/yr 96-10 ¹¹³			decrease 02-11 ²¹⁸	
C7-PFCA			-8%/yr 08-15 ²¹⁵	stable 98-06 ²¹⁶		stable 02-04 ²¹⁸ decrease 04-11 ²¹⁸	
C9-PFCA	-2%/yr 03-13 ²⁰⁸ increase00-06 ²⁰⁹ decrease 06-15 ²⁰⁹ +250% 99-08 ²¹⁰ +210% 99-10 ²¹¹ stable 11-14 ²¹¹		+4%/yr 96-10 ¹¹³ stable 08-15 ²¹⁵	increase 76-06 ²¹⁶	increase 95- 10 ²²⁰	increase 02-06 ⁴ decrease 06-11 ²¹⁸	
C ₁₀ -PFCA	-1%/yr 03-13 ²⁰⁸ increase00-06 ²⁰⁹ decrease 06-15 ²⁰⁹ increase 99-04 ²¹¹ stable 04-10 ²¹¹ increase 11-14 ²¹¹		+4%/yr 96-10 ¹¹³ -4%/yr 08-15 ²¹⁵	increase 76-06 ²¹⁶	increase 95- 10 ²²⁰	increase 02-04 ²¹⁸ stable 04-13 ²¹⁸	
C ₁₁ -PFCA	-3%/yr 03-13 ²⁰⁸ +600% 09-12 ²¹¹		+3%/yr 08-15 ²¹⁵		increase 95- 10 ²²⁰	increase 02-04 ²¹⁸ stable 04-13 ²¹⁸	
C ₁₂ -PFCA				stable 98-06 ²¹⁶		+130% 02-13 ²¹⁸	
C ₄ -PFSA			+11%/yr 96-10 ¹¹³	stable 98-06 ²¹⁶			
Total PFASs		+2.6%/yr 06-10 Nunavik preschoolers ^{c,221}					

^a PFOSA (perfluorooctanesulfonamide), PFOSAA (perfluorooctanesulfonamidoacetate), MeFOSAA (N-methyl perfluorooctanesulfonamidoacetate), EtFOSAA (N-ethyl perfluorooctanesulfonamidoacetate) and Di-SAmPAP (diethyl perfluorooctanesulfonamidoethanol-based polyfluoroalkyl phosphate ester) are PFOS precursors

^b 8:2FTSA (8:2 fluorotelomer sulfonic acid), 6:2/6:2 DiPAP, 6:2/8:2 DiPAP and 8:2 DiAP (polyfluoroalkyl phosphoric acid diesters) are PFCA precursors

1.6 Literature Cited

- Buck, R. C.; Franklin, J.; Berger, U.; Conder, J. M.; Cousins, I. T.; de Voogt, P., Perfluoroalkyl and polyfluoroalkyl substances in the environment: terminology, classification, and origins. *Integr Environ Assess Manag* 2011, 7.
- 2. OECD. Synthesis Paper on Per- and Polyfluorinated Chemicals (PFCs); Organisation for Economic Cooperation and Development (OECD): Paris, France, 2013.
- 3. 3M., Fluorochemical use, distribution and release overview. 3M Conpany (3M). USEPA Administrative Record AR226-0550. EPA-HQ-OPPT-2002-0051-0003. 1999.
- 4. Taves, D. R., Evidence that there are two forms of fluoride in human serum. Nature 1968, 217, (5133), 1050-1051.
- Taves, D. R.; Grey, W. S.; Brey, W. S., Organic fluoride in human plasma: its distribution and partial identification in *Abstracts of papers for the Fifteenth Annual Meeting of the Society of Toxicology, Atlanta, Georgia March 14–18, 1976. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol* 1976, 37, (1), 120-121.
- 6. 3M. Perfluorooctane Sulfonate: Current Summary of Human Sera, Health and Toxicology Data; US EPA Administrative Record, AR226-0548. 3M Company (3M), St. Paul, MN, USA, 1999.
- 7. Hansen, K. J.; Clemen, L. A.; Ellefson, M. E.; Johnson, H. O., Compound-specific, quantitative characterization of organic fluorochemicals in biological matrices. *Environ Sci Technol* **2001**, *35*, (4), 766-70.
- 8. Giesy, J. P.; Kannan, K., Perfluorochemical surfactants in the environment. *Environ Sci Technol* **2002**, *36*, (7), 146A-152A.
- Kannan, K.; Corsolini, S.; Falandysz, J.; Fillmann, G.; Kumar, K. S.; Loganathan, B. G.; Mohd, M. A.; Olivero, J.; Van Wouwe, N.; Yang, J. H.; Aldoust, K. M., Perfluorooctanesulfonate and related fluorochemicals in human blood from several countries. *Environ Sci Technol* 2004, *38*, (17), 4489-95.
- 10. Houde, M.; De Silva, A. O.; Muir, D. C. G.; Letcher, R. J., Monitoring of perfluorinated compounds in aquatic biota: an updated review PFCs in aquatic biota. *Environ Sci Technol* **2011**, *45*.
- 11. Giesy, J. P.; Kannan, K., Global distribution of perfluorooctane sulfonate in wildlife. *Environ Sci Technol* 2001, *35*, (7), 1339-42.
- 12. Houde, M.; Martin, J. W.; Letcher, R. J.; Solomon, K. R.; Muir, D. C., Biological monitoring of polyfluoroalkyl substances: A review. *Environ Sci Technol* **2006**, *40*, (11), 3463-73.
- 13. Yamashita, N.; Kannan, K.; Taniyasu, S.; Horii, Y.; Petrick, G.; Gamo, T., A global survey of perfluorinated acids in oceans. *Mar Pollut Bull* 2005, *51*.
- 14. NICNAC. Environment Tier II Assessment for Direct precursors to perfluorooctanesulfonate (PFOS); National Industrial Chemicals Notification and Assessment Scheme (NICNAS): Sydney, Australia., 2015.
- 15. NICNAC. Environment Tier II Assessment of Perfluorooctanoic Acid (PFOA) and Its Direct Precursors; National Industrial Chemicals Notification and Assessment Scheme (NICNAS): Sydney, Australia, 2015.
- Boudreau, T. M.; Wilson, C. J.; Cheong, W. J.; Sibley, P. K.; Mabury, S. A.; Muir, D. C.; Solomon, K. R., Response of the zooplankton community and environmental fate of perfluorooctane sulfonic acid in aquatic microcosms. *Environ Toxicol Chem* 2003, *22*, (11), 2739-45.
- Martin, J. W.; Asher, B. J.; Beesoon, S.; Benskin, J. P.; Ross, M. S., PFOS or PreFOS? Are perfluorooctane sulfonate precursors (PreFOS) important determinants of human and environmental perfluorooctane sulfonate (PFOS) exposure? *J Environ Monit* 2010, *12*, (11), 1979-2004.
- Ochoa-Herrera, V.; Field, J. A.; Luna-Velasco, A.; Sierra-Alvarez, R., Microbial toxicity and biodegradability of perfluorooctane sulfonate (PFOS) and shorter chain perfluoroalkyl and polyfluoroalkyl substances (PFASs). *Environ Sci Process Impacts* 2016, 18, (9), 1236-1246.
- 19. Saez, M.; de Voogt, P.; Parsons, J. R., Persistence of perfluoroalkylated substances in closed bottle tests with municipal sewage sludge. *Environ Sci Pollut Res Int* **2008**, *15*, (6), 472-7.
- Armitage, J. M.; Schenker, U.; Scheringer, M.; Martin, J. W.; Macleod, M.; Cousins, I. T., Modeling the global fate and transport of perfluorooctane sulfonate (PFOS) and precursor compounds in relation to temporal trends in wildlife exposure. *Environ Sci Technol* 2009, 43, (24), 9274-80.
- 21. Prevedouros, K.; Cousins, I. T.; Buck, R. C.; Korzeniowski, S. H., Sources, fate and transport of

perfluorocarboxylates. Environ Sci Technol 2006, 40, (1), 32-44.

- 22. Wania, F., A global mass balance analysis of the source of perfluorocarboxylic acids in the Arctic Ocean. *Environ Sci Technol* **2007**, *41*, (13), 4529-35.
- Vorkamp, K.; Riget, F. F., A review of new and current-use contaminants in the Arctic environment: evidence of long-range transport and indications of bioaccumulation. *Chemosphere* 2014, 111, 379-95.
- 24. Jones, P. D.; Hu, W.; De Coen, W.; Newsted, J. L.; Giesy, J. P., Binding of perfluorinated fatty acids to serum proteins. *Environ Toxicol Chem* **2003**, *22*, (11), 2639-49.
- 25. Beesoon, S.; Martin, J. W., Isomer-specific binding affinity of perfluorooctanesulfonate (PFOS) and perfluorooctanoate (PFOA) to serum proteins. *Environ Sci Technol* **2015**, *49*, (9), 5722-31.
- 26. Zhang, X.; Chen, L.; Fei, X. C.; Ma, Y. S.; Gao, H. W., Binding of PFOS to serum albumin and DNA: insight into the molecular toxicity of perfluorochemicals. *BMC Mol Biol* **2009**, *10*, 16.
- 27. Kerstner-Wood, C.; Coward, L.; Gorman, G.; Washington, D. Protein Binding of Perfluorohexane Sulfonate, Perfluorooctane Sulfonate and Perfluorooctanoate to Plasma (Human, Rat, and Monkey), and Various Human-Derived Plasma Protein Fractions; Southern Research Institute: 2003.
- Weiss, J. M.; Andersson, P. L.; Lamoree, M. H.; Leonards, P. E.; van Leeuwen, S. P.; Hamers, T., Competitive binding of poly- and perfluorinated compounds to the thyroid hormone transport protein transthyretin. *Toxicol Sci* 2009, *109*, (2), 206-16.
- 29. Luebker, D. J.; Hansen, K. J.; Bass, N. M.; Butenhoff, J. L.; Seacat, A. M., Interactions of flurochemicals with rat liver fatty acid-binding protein. *Toxicology* **2002**, *176*, (3), 175-185.
- 30. Sheng, N.; Li, J.; Liu, H.; Zhang, A.; Dai, J., Interaction of perfluoroalkyl acids with human liver fatty acidbinding protein. *Arch Toxicol* **2016**, *90*, (1), 217-27.
- 31. Zhang, L. Y.; Ren, X. M.; Guo, L. H., Structure-based Investigation on the interaction of perfluorinated compounds with human liver fatty acid binding protein. *Environ Sci Technol* **2013**, *47*, (19), 11293-11301.
- Martin, J. W.; Mabury, S. A.; Solomon, K. R.; Muir, D. C. G., Bioconcentration and tissue distribution of perfluorinated acids in rainbow trout (*oncorhynchus mykiss*). *Environ Toxicol Chem* 2003, 22, (1), 196-204.
- 33. Martin, J. W.; Mabury, S. A.; Solomon, K. R.; Muir, D. C. G., Dietary accumulation of perfluorinated acids in juvenile rainbow trout (*oncorhynchus mykiss*). *Environ Toxicol Chem* **2003**, *22*.
- Conder, J. M.; Hoke, R. A.; De Wolf, W.; Russell, M. H.; Buck, R. C., Are PFCAs bioaccumulative? A critical review and comparison with regulatory criteria and persistent lipophilic compounds. *Environ Sci Technol* 2008, 42, (4), 995-1003.
- 35. USEPA. Long-Chain Perfluorinated Chemicals Action Plan; United States Environmental Protection Agncy (USEPA): 2009.
- 36. Olsen GW; Mair D; Reagen W; Ellefson ME; Ehresman DJ; Butenhoff JL; L., Z. Pilot Study to Assess Serum Fluorochemical Concentrations in American Red Cross Blood Donors, 2006 Final Report; 3M Medical Department: 2006.
- 37. Olsen, G. W.; Burris, J. M.; Ehresman, D. J.; Froehlich, J. W.; Seacat, A. M.; Butenhoff, J. L.; Zobel, L. R., Half-life of serum elimination of perfluorooctanesulfonate, perfluorohexanesulfonate and perfluorooctanoate in retired fluorochemical production workers. *Environ Health Perspect* 2007, *115*, (9), 1298-1305.
- Furdui, V. I.; Stock, N. L.; Ellis, D. A.; Butt, C. M.; Whittle, D. M.; Crozier, P. W.; Reiner, E. J.; Muir, D. C.; Mabury, S. A., Spatial distribution of perfluoroalkyl contaminants in lake trout from the Great Lakes. *Environ Sci Technol* 2007, *41*, (5), 1554-9.
- Loi, E. I. H.; Yeung, L. W. Y.; Taniyasu, S.; Lam, P. K. S.; Kannan, K.; Yamashita, N., Trophic magnification of poly- and perfluorinated compounds in a subtropical food web. *Environ Sci Technol* 2011, 45.
- Gutzkow, K. B.; Haug, L. S.; Thomsen, C.; Sabaredzovic, A.; Becher, G.; Brunborg, G., Placental transfer of perfluorinated compounds is selective - a Norwegian mother and child sub-cohort study. *Int J Hyg Envir Heal* 2012, 215, (2), 216-219.
- 41. USEPA. Draft Risk Assessment of the Potential Human Health Effects Associated with Exposure to Perflouroctanoic Acids and Its Salts; U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (USEPA): 2005.
- 42. Lau, C.; Anitole, K.; Hodes, C.; Lai, D.; Pfahles-Hutchens, A.; Seed, J., Perfluoroalkyl acids: a review of monitoring and toxicological findings. *Toxicol Sci* 2007, *99*, (2), 366-94.
- 43. Lau, C., Perfluorinated Compounds: An Overview. In Toxicological Effects of Perfluoroalkyl and

Polyfluoroalkyl Substances, DeWitt, J. C., Ed. Springer International Publishing: Cham, 2015; pp 1-21.

- 44. Bull, S.; Burnett, K.; Vassaux, K.; Ashdown, L.; Brown, T.; Rushton, L., Extensive literature search and provision of summaries of studies related to the oral toxicity of perfluoroalkylated substances (PFASs), their precursors and potential replacements in experimental animals and humans. Area 1: Data on toxicokinetics (absorption, distribution, metabolism, excretion) in in vitro studies, experimental animals and humans. Area 2: Data on toxicity in experimental animals. Area 3: Data on observations in humans. *EFSA Supporting Publications* 2014, 11, (4), 572E.
- 45. Cheng, Y.; Chen, H.; Yu, W.; Cui, Y.; Zhou, L.; Li, H.; Song, N.; Li, L.; Li, X.; Zhang, J.; Ma, P.; Sun, X.; Wang, Z.; Han, L., The endocrine disrupting effect of perfluorooctanoic acid (PFOA) on human estrogen, androgen and thyroid receptors. In *Conference on Environmental Pollution and Public Health*, Chengdu, China, 2010; Vol. 1-2, pp 214-216.
- 46. Du, G. Z.; Hu, J. L.; Huang, H. Y.; Qin, Y. F.; Han, X. M.; Wu, D.; Song, L.; Xia, Y. K.; Wang, X. R., Perfluorooctane sulfonate (PFOS) affects hormone receptor activity, steroidogenesis, and expression of endocrine-related genes in vitro and in vivo. *Environ Toxicol Chem* **2013**, *32*, (2), 353-360.
- 47. Priestly, B. Literature Review and Report on the Potential Health Effects of Perfluoroalkyl Compounds, Mainly Perfluorooctane Sulfonate (PFOS): An Update of A Review Initially Prepared in 2010 and 2015; Monash University: Melbourne, Australia, 2016.
- 48. Lau, C.; Thibodeaux, J. R.; Hanson, R. G.; Narotsky, M. G.; Rogers, J. M.; Lindstrom, A. B.; Strynar, M. J., Effects of perfluorooctanoic acid exposure during pregnancy in the mouse. *Toxicol Sci* **2006**, *90*, (2), 510-518.
- 49. Lau, C.; Thibodeaux, J. R.; Hanson, R. G.; Rogers, J. M.; Grey, B. E.; Stanton, M. E.; Butenhoff, J. L.; Stevenson, L. A., Exposure to perfluorooctane sulfonate during pregnancy in rat and mouse. II: postnatal evaluation. *Toxicol Sci* **2003**, *74*, (2), 382-92.
- 50. Olsen, G. W.; Butenhoff, J. L.; Zobel, L. R., Perfluoroalkyl chemicals and human fetal development: an epidemiologic review with clinical and toxicological perspectives. *Reprod Toxicol* 2009, 27, (3-4), 212-30.
- Berthiaume, J.; Wallace, K. B., Perfluorooctanoate, perfluorooctanesulfonate, and N-ethyl perfluorooctanesulfonamido ethanol; peroxisome proliferation and mitochondrial biogenesis. *Toxicol Lett* 2002, *129*, (1-2), 23-32.
- 52. De Coster, S.; van Larebeke, N., Endocrine-disrupting chemicals: associated disorders and mechanisms of action. *J Environ Public Health* **2012**, *2012*, 52.
- 53. USEPA. *Health Effects Document for Perfluorooctane Sulfonate (PFOS)*; United States Environmental Protection Agency (USEPA): Washington, DC, USA, 2014.
- 54. White, S. S.; Fenton, S. E.; Hines, E. P., Endocrine disrupting properties of perfluorooctanoic acid. *J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol* 2011, *127*, (1-2), 16-26.
- 55. USEPA. *Health Effects Documet for Perfluorooctanoic Acid (PFOA)*; United States Environmental Protection Agency (USEPA): Washington, DC, USA, 2014; pp 83-89.
- 56. USEPA. *Health Effects Support Document for Perfluorooctane Sulfonate (PFOS)*; United States Environmental Protection Agency (USEPA): Washington, DC, USA, 2016; pp 3-13.
- 57. Hatch, E. E.; Nelson, J. W.; Stahlhut, R. W.; Webster, T. F., Association of endocrine disruptors and obesity: perspectives from epidemiological studies. *Int J Androl* **2010**, *33*, (2), 324-32.
- Lopez-Espinosa, M. J.; Mondal, D.; Armstrong, B. G.; Eskenazi, B.; Fletcher, T., Perfluoroalkyl substances, sex hormones, and insulin-like growth factor-1 at 6-9 years of age: a cross-sectional analysis within the C8 health project. *Environ Health Perspect* 2016, *124*, (8), 1269-75.
- Hu, W.; Jones, P. D.; DeCoen, W.; King, L.; Fraker, P.; Newsted, J.; Giesy, J. P., Alterations in cell membrane properties caused by perfluorinated compounds. *Comp Biochem Physiol C Toxicol Pharmacol* 2003, *135*, (1), 77-88.
- 60. Hu, W.; Jones, P. D.; Upham, B. L.; Trosko, J. E.; Lau, C.; Giesy, J. P., Inhibition of gap junctional intercellular communication by perfluorinated compounds in rat liver and dolphin kidney epithelial cell lines in vitro and Sprague-Dawley rats in vivo. *Toxicol Sci* **2002**, *68*, (2), 429-36.
- 61. Thibodeaux, J. R.; Hanson, R. G.; Rogers, J. M.; Grey, B. E.; Barbee, B. D.; Richards, J. H.; Butenhoff, J. L.; Stevenson, L. A.; Lau, C., Exposure to perfluorooctane sulfonate during pregnancy in rat and mouse. I: maternal and prenatal evaluations. *Toxicol Sci* **2003**, *74*, (2), 369-81.

- 62. Chen, N.; Li, J.; Li, D.; Yang, Y. S.; He, D. F., Chronic exposure to perfluorooctane sulfonate induces behavior defects and neurotoxicity through oxidative damages, in vivo and in vitro. *PLOS One* **2014**, *9*, (11).
- 63. Sato, I.; Kawamoto, K.; Nishikawa, Y.; Tsuda, S.; Yoshida, M.; Yaegashi, K.; Saito, N.; Liu, W.; Jin, Y. H., Neurotoxicity of perfluorooctane sulfonate (PFOS) in rats and mice after single oral exposure. *J Toxicol Sci* 2009, *34*, (5), 569-574.
- 64. Cheng, J. F.; Lv, S. P.; Nie, S. F.; Liu, J.; Tong, S. F.; Kang, N.; Xiao, Y. Y.; Dong, Q. X.; Huang, C. J.; Yang, D. R., Chronic perfluorooctane sulfonate (PFOS) exposure induces hepatic steatosis in zebrafish. *Aquat Toxicol* 2016, *176*, 45-52.
- 65. Perkins, R. G.; Butenhoff, J. L.; Kennedy, G. L.; Palazzolo, M. J., 13-week dietary toxicity study of ammonium perfluorooctanoate (APFO) in male rats. *Drug Chem Toxicol* **2004**, *27*, (4), 361-378.
- 66. Shankar, A.; Xiao, J.; Ducatman, A., Perfluoroalkyl chemicals and chronic kidney disease in US adults. *Am J Epidemiol* **2011**, *174*, (8), 893-900.
- 67. USEPA. Drinking Water Health Advisory for Perfluorooctanoic Acid (PFOA); U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (USEPA): Washington, DC, USA, 2016.
- 68. Kim, S.; Choi, K.; Ji, K.; Seo, J.; Kho, Y.; Park, J.; Kim, S.; Park, S.; Hwang, I.; Jeon, J.; Yang, H.; Giesy, J. P., Trans-placental transfer of thirteen perfluorinated compounds and relations with fetal thyroid hormones. *Environ Sci Technol* 2011, 45, (17), 7465-72.
- 69. Liu, J.; Li, J.; Liu, Y.; Chan, H. M.; Zhao, Y.; Cai, Z.; Wu, Y., Comparison on gestation and lactation exposure of perfluorinated compounds for newborns. *Environ Int* **2011**, *37*, (7), 1206-12.
- 70. Kim, S. K.; Lee, K. T.; Kang, C. S.; Tao, L.; Kannan, K.; Kim, K. R.; Kim, C. K.; Lee, J. S.; Park, P. S.; Yoo, Y. W.; Ha, J. Y.; Shin, Y. S.; Lee, J. H., Distribution of perfluorochemicals between sera and milk from the same mothers and implications for prenatal and postnatal exposures. *Environ Pollut* **2011**, *159*, (1), 169-74.
- 71. OECD. Risk Reduction Approaches for PFASs: A Cross-Country Analysis; The Organisation for Economic Cooperation and Development (OECD): Paris, France., 2015.
- 72. Land, M.; de Wit, C. A.; Cousins, I. T.; Herzke, D.; Johansson, J.; Martin, J. W., What is the effect of phasing out long-chain per- and polyfluoroalkyl substances on the concentrations of perfluoroalkyl acids and their precursors in the environment? A systematic review protocol. *Environ Evid* **2015**, *4*, (1), 3.
- 73. USEPA. EPA and 3M Announce Phase-out of PFOS. United States Environmental Protection Agency (USEPA), URL: <u>https://yosemite.epa.gov/opa/admpress.nsf/0/33aa946e6cb11f35852568e1005246b4</u> (Accessed: May 13, 2016).
- 74. USEPA. Perfluoroalkyl Sulfonates: Significant New Use Rule. United States Environmental Protection Agency (USEPA), URL: <u>https://www.gpo.gov/fdsys/pkg/FR-2002-12-09/pdf/02-31011.pdf</u> (Accessed: May 20, 2017).
- 75. USEPA. 2010/2015 PFOA Stewardship Program. United States Environmental Protection Agency, URL: <u>https://www.epa.gov/assessing-and-managing-chemicals-under-tsca/fact-sheet-20102015-pfoa-stewardship-program</u> (Accessed: September 10, 2015).
- 76. USEPA. 2010/2015 PFOA Stewardship Program 2014 Annual Progress Reports. United States Environmental Protection Agency (USEPA), URL: <u>https://www.epa.gov/assessing-and-managing-chemicals-under-tsca/20102015-pfoa-stewardship-program-2014-annual-progress</u> (Accessed: May 20, 2017).
- 77. EU. Amending for the 30th Time Council Directive 76/769/EEC on the Approximation of the Laws, Regulations and Administrative Provisions of the Member States Relating to Restrictions on the Marketing and Use of Certain Dangerous Substances and Preparations: Perfluorooctane Sulfonates; European Parliament and the Council of the European Union (EU): 2006; pp 372-34.
- 78. ECHA. Pentadecafluorooctanoic Acid (PFOA) as A Substances of Very High Concern Because of Its CMR and PBT Problems; European Chemicals Agency (ECHA): 2013.
- 79. Stockholm Convention. *The Nine New POPs: An Introduction to the Nine Chemicals Added to the Stockholm Convention by the Conference of the Parties at its Fourth Meeting*; Stockholm Convention: Geneva, Switzerland, 2009.
- NEPA. Forbidding PFOA in Nrowegian Consumer Products. Norwegian Environmental Protection Agency (NEPA), URL: <u>http://www.miljodirektoratet.no/no/Nyheter/Nyheter/Old-klif/2013/juni-2013/Forbyr-PFOA-i-norske-forbrukerprodukter/</u> (Accessed: July 25, 2016).
- 81. ECCC. 5-year Environmental Performance Agreement. Environment and Climae Change Canada (ECCC), URL:

http://ec.gc.ca/epe-epa/default.asp?lang=En&n=AE06B51E-1 (Septermber, 23, 2016).

- 82. ECCC. Regulations Amending the Prohibition of Certain Toxic Substances Regulations, 2012. Environmet and Climate Change Canada (ECCC), URL: <u>http://www.ec.gc.ca/lcpe-cepa/eng/regulations/detailReg.cfm?intReg=226</u>
- 83. USEPA. Significant New Use Rules: Long-Chain Perfluoroalkyl Carboxylate and Perfluoroalkyl Sulfonate Chemical Substances. United States Environmental Protection Agency (USEPA). URL: <u>https://www.regulations.gov/document?D=EPA-HQ-OPPT-2013-0225-0001</u> (Accessed: May 25, 2017).
- 84. ECHA. Candidate List of Substances of Very High Concern for Authorisation. European Chemical Agency (ECHA), URL: <u>https://echa.europa.eu/candidate-list-table</u> (Accessed: June 2, 2017).
- Wang, Z.; Cousins, I. T.; Scheringer, M.; Hungerbuhler, K., Fluorinated alternatives to long-chain perfluoroalkyl carboxylic acids (PFCAs), perfluoroalkane sulfonic acids (PFSAs) and their potential precursors. *Environ Int* 2013, *60*, 242-8.
- 86. Holt, R. Alternatives to Long-chains. FluoroCouncil: The Global Industry Council for FluoroTechnology. DuPont URL: <u>https://www.oecd.org/env/ehs/risk-management/47651662.pdf</u>
- 87. USEPA. Presidential Green Chemistry Challenge: 2014 Designing Greener Chemicals Award. United States Environmental Protection Agency (USEPA), URL: <u>https://www.epa.gov/greenchemistry/presidential-green-chemistry-challenge-2014-designing-greener-chemicals-award</u> (Accessed: September 29, 2016).
- 88. Renner, R., The long and the short of perfluorinated replacements. Environ Sci Technol 2006, 40, (1), 12-3.
- 89. ECHA. European Chemicals Agency (ECHA) Registered substances. URL: <u>http://echa.europa.eu/information-on-chemicals/registered-substances</u> (April 15, 2017).
- 90. Moe, M. K.; Huber, S.; Svenson, J.; Hagenaars, A.; Pabon, M.; Trumper, M.; Berger, U.; Knapen, D.; Herzke, D., The structure of the fire fighting foam surfactant Forafac(R)1157 and its biological and photolytic transformation products. *Chemosphere* 2012, *89*, (7), 869-75.
- 91. ENVIRON. Assessment of POP Criteria for Specific Short-Chain Perfluorinated Alkyl Substances: Prepared for FluoroCouncil; ENVIRON International Corporation: Arlington, Virginia, USA, 2014.
- 92. Han, X.; Nabb, D. L.; Russell, M. H.; Kennedy, G. L.; Rickard, R. W., Renal elimination of perfluorocarboxylates (PFCAs). *Chem Res Toxicol* **2012**, *25*, (1), 35-46.
- 93. Bowman, J. S., Fluorotechnology is critical to modern life: the FluoroCouncil counterpoint to the Madrid Statement. *Environ Health Perspect* **2015**, *123*, (5), A112-3.
- 94. Gordon, S. C., Toxicological evaluation of ammonium 4,8-dioxa-3H-perfluorononanoate, a new emulsifier to replace ammonium perfluorooctanoate in fluoropolymer manufacturing. *Regul Toxicol Pharmacol* **2011**, *59*, (1), 64-80.
- 95. DuPont. DuPontTM GenX Processing Aid forMaking Fluoropolymer Resins. URL: <u>http://www2.dupont.com/Industrial_Bakery_Solutions/en_GB/assets/downloads/DuPont_GenX_Brochure_Final_07July2010.pdf</u> (May 23, 2017).
- 96. Spada, F.; Kent, B. L., Process for manufacturing a dispersion of a vinylidene fluoride polymer. In Google Patents: 2012.
- 97. ESFA., Scientific Opinion on the safety evaluation of the substance perfluoro acetic acid, α-substituted with the copolymer of perfluoro-1, 2-propylene glycol and perfluoro-1, 1-ethylene glycol, terminated with chlorohexafluoropropyloxy groups, CAS No. 329238–24-6 for use in food contact materials. European Food Safety Authority (ESFA). *ESFA J* **2010**, *8*, (2), 1519-30.
- 98. Xu, Y.; Zhao, M.; Li, H.; Lu, W.; Su, X.; Han, Z., A novel fluorocarbon surfactant: synthesis and application in emulsion polymerization of perfluoroalkyl methacrylates. *Paint Coat Ind* **2011**, *8*, (41), 17-21.
- 99. Trier, X.; Granby, K.; Christensen, J. H., Polyfluorinated surfactants (PFS) in paper and board coatings for food packaging. *Environ Sci Pollut Res Int* **2011**, *18*, (7), 1108-20.
- 100. UNEP. Technical Paper On the Identification and Assessment of Alternatives To the Use of Perfluorooctane Sulfonic Acid in Open Applications; United Nations Environment Programme (UNEP): 2012.
- 101. OECD. Working Towards A Global Emission Inventory of PFASs: Status Quo and the Way Forward; Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development (OECD): Paris, France, 2015.
- 102. Lerner, S. Under Dupont Bridge: The Teflon Toxin Goes to China. URL: <u>https://theintercept.com/2016/09/15/the-teflon-toxin-goes-to-china/</u> (Accessed: November 1, 2017).

- 103. AMIP. Jiangsu Advanced Materials Industrial Park. URL: http://www.amip.org.cn/ (May, 20, 2017).
- 104. 3M. About US. URL: http://www.sh3f.com/en_about.asp (November 1, 2017).
- 105. DuPont. Applied Chemistry and Fluoro-Products. DuPont, URL: <u>http://www.dupont.cn/corporate-functions/our-company/businesses/chemicals-and-fluoroproducts.html</u> (November 1, 2017).
- 106. Daikin. Our Products. URL: http://www.daikin.com/chm/ (November 1, 2017).
- 107. Solvay. Plant Locations. Solvay, URL: https://www.solvay.cn/en/locations/index.html (November 1, 2017).
- 108. Huang, J.; Yu, G.; Mei, S. In PFOS in China: Production, Application and Altrnatives, Fluoros2015: An
- International Symposium on Fluorinated Organics in the Environment, Golden, CO, USA, July 13, 2015, 2015. 109. Dongyue. Dongyue Polymer Materilas. Dongyue Federation, URL:

http://www.dongyuechem.com/en/About.aspx?ID=243&Category=Company (October 20, 2017).

- 110. ChinaIOL. Major Fluoro-Industrial Parks in China ChinaIOL, URL: http://www.chinaiol.com/fc/n/0626/98110650.html (November 1, 2017).
- 111. Kato, K., PFASs in the general population. In *Toxicological Effects of Perfluoroalkyl and Polyfluoroalkyl Substances*, DeWitt, J. C., Ed. Humana Press: 2015.
- 112. Lam, J. C.; Lyu, J.; Kwok, K. Y.; Lam, P. K., Perfluoroalkyl substances (PFASs) in marine mammals from the South China Sea and their temporal changes 2002-2014: concern for alternatives of PFOS? *Environ Sci Technol* 2016, *50*, (13), 6728-36.
- 113. Glynn, A.; Berger, U.; Bignert, A.; Ullah, S.; Aune, M.; Lignell, S., Perfluorinated alkyl acids in blood serum from primiparous women in Sweden: serial sampling during pregnancy and nursing, and temporal trends 1996– 2010. *Environ Sci Technol* **2012**, *46*, (16), 9071-9.
- 114. Health Canada. Second Report on Human Biomonitoring of Environmental Chemicals in Canada-Results of the Canadian Health Measures Survey Cycle 2 (2009-2011); Minister of Health: Ottawa, ON, Canada, 2013.
- 115. Scheringer, M.; Trier, X.; Cousins, I. T.; de Voogt, P.; Fletcher, T.; Wang, Z.; Webster, T. F., Helsingor statement on poly- and perfluorinated alkyl substances (PFASs). *Chemosphere* **2014**, *114*, 337-9.
- 116. Blum, A.; Balan, S. A.; Scheringer, M.; Trier, X.; Goldenman, G.; Cousins, I. T.; Diamond, M.; Fletcher, T.; Higgins, C.; Lindeman, A. E.; Peaslee, G.; de Voogt, P.; Wang, Z.; Weber, R., The Madrid Statement on polyand perfluoroalkyl substances (PFASs). *Environ Health Perspect* 2015, *123*, (5), A107-11.
- 117. Jin, Y.; Saito, N.; Harada, K. H.; Inoue, K.; Koizumi, A., Historical trends in human serum levels of perfluorooctanoate and perfluorooctane sulfonate in Shenyang, China. *Tohoku J Exp Med* 2007, 212, (1), 63-70.
- 118. NDRC., Catalogue for the Guidance of Industrial Structure Adjustment In National Development and Reform Commission of China (NDRC): 2011.
- 119. CMEP., No. [2014] 21 Announcement. In the Chinese Minister of Environmental Protection (CMEP): 2014.
- 120. POPRC. In *Consideration of New Information on Perfluorooctane Sulfonate (PFOS)*, UNEP/POPS/POPRC.4/INF/17; Stockholm Convention on Persistent Organic Pollutants, 2008.
- 121. Lim, T. C.; Wang, B.; Huang, J.; Deng, S.; Yu, G., Emission inventory for PFOS in China: review of past methodologies and suggestions. *Sci World J* **2011**, *11*, 1963-80.
- 122. GS. Reports about Shandong Dongyue Federation; Guolian Securities (GS): December, 20, 2015, 2015.
- 123. BF. Shandong Huantai Dongyue Fluoro-silicone Material Industrial Park. Business Facilities (BF). URL: <u>https://businessfacilities.com/city-of-zibo/00370/shandong-huantai-dongyue-fluoro-silicone-material-industrial-park/</u> (June 3, 2017).
- Dongyue. Our Products. Dongyue Federation, URL: <u>http://www.dongyuechem.com/en/Pro.aspx</u> (November 1, 2017).
- 125. Li, L.; Zhai, Z.; Liu, J.; Hu, J., Estimating industrial and domestic environmental releases of perfluorooctanoic acid and its salts in China from 2004 to 2012. *Chemosphere* **2015**, *129*, 100-9.
- 126. Wang, P.; Lu, Y.; Wang, T.; Meng, J.; Li, Q.; Zhu, Z.; Sun, Y.; Wang, R.; Giesy, J. P., Shifts in production of perfluoroalkyl acids affect emissions and concentrations in the environment of the Xiaoqing River Basin, China. *J Hazard Mater* 2016, 307, 55-63.
- 127. Wang, Z.; Cousins, I. T.; Scheringer, M.; Buck, R. C.; Hungerbühler, K., Global emission inventories for C4– C14 perfluoroalkyl carboxylic acid (PFCA) homologues from 1951 to 2030, Part I: production and emissions from quantifiable sources. *Environ Int* 2014, 70.
- 128. Lee, H.; D'Eon, J.; Mabury, S. A., Biodegradation of polyfluoroalkyl phosphates as a source of perfluorinated

acids to the environment. Environ Sci Technol 2010, 44, (9), 3305-10.

- 129. Jackson, D. A.; Mabury, S. A., Polyfluorinated amides as a historical PFCA source by electrochemical fluorination of alkyl sulfonyl fluorides. *Environ Sci Technol* **2013**, *47*, (1), 382-9.
- 130. Hagen, D. F.; Belisle, J.; Johnson, J. D.; Venkateswarlu, P., Characterization of fluorinated metabolites by a gas chromatographic-helium microwave plasma detector-the biotransformation of 1H, 1H, 2H, 2H-perfluorodecanol to perfluorooctanoate. *Anal Biochem* **1981**, *118*, (2), 336-43.
- 131. Zhao, P.; Xia, X.; Dong, J.; Xia, N.; Jiang, X.; Li, Y.; Zhu, Y., Short- and long-chain perfluoroalkyl substances in the water, suspended particulate matter, and surface sediment of a turbid river. *Sci Total Environ* **2016**, *568*, 57-65.
- 132. Chu, S.; Letcher, R. J.; McGoldrick, D. J.; Backus, S. M., A New fluorinated surfactant contaminant in biota: perfluorobutane sulfonamide in several fish species. *Environ Sci Technol* **2016**, *50*, (2), 669-75.
- 133. Newton, S.; McMahen, R.; Stoeckel, J. A.; Chislock, M.; Lindstrom, A.; Strynar, M., Novel polyfluorinated compounds identified using high resolution mass spectrometry downstream of manufacturing facilities near Decatur, Alabama. *Environ Sci Technol* 2017, 51, (3), 1544-1552.
- 134. Strynar, M.; Dagnino, S.; McMahen, R.; Liang, S.; Lindstrom, A.; Andersen, E.; McMillan, L.; Thurman, M.; Ferrer, I.; Ball, C., Identification of novel perfluoroalkyl ether carboxylic acids (PFECAs) and sulfonic Acids (PFESAs) in natural waters using accurate mass time-of-flight mass spectrometry (TOFMS). *Environ Sci Technol* 2015, 49, (19), 11622-30.
- 135. Sibley, P. K.; Ellis, D. A.; Fineberg, N. A.; Mabury, S. A.; Solomon, K. R.; Muir, D. C. G.; Hanson, M. L.; Shahid, T., The fate and persistence of trifluoroacetic and chloroacetic acids in pond waters. *Chemosphere* 2001, 42, (3), 309.
- 136. Wang, Z.; Cousins, I. T.; Scheringer, M.; Hungerbuehler, K., Hazard assessment of fluorinated alternatives to long-chain perfluoroalkyl acids (PFAAs) and their precursors: status quo, ongoing challenges and possible solutions. *Environ Int* 2015, 75, 172-9.
- 137. Zhang, Y.; Beesoon, S.; Zhu, L.; Martin, J. W., Biomonitoring of perfluoroalkyl acids in human urine and estimates of biological half-life. *Environ Sci Technol* **2013**, *47*, (18), 10619-27.
- 138. Olsen, G. W.; Burris, J. M.; Ehresman, D. J.; Froehlich, J. W.; Seacat, A. M.; Butenhoff, J. L., Half-life of serum elimination of perfluorooctanesulfonate, perfluorohexanesulfonate, and perfluorooctanoate in retired fluorochemical production workers. *Environ Health Perspect* 2007, 115.
- 139. EFSA., Scientific opinion on the safety evaluation of the substance, perfluoro[(2-ethyloxy-ethoxy)acetic acid], ammonium salt, CAS No. 908020-52-0, for use in food contact materials. *ESFA J* **2011**, *9*, (6), 11.
- 140. Archroma. Regulatory Affairs: the Challenge PFOA Free. URL: <u>https://www.performancedays.eu/regulatory-affairs-the-challenge-pfoa-free.html</u> (Accessed: September 25, 2016).
- 141. DME. Short-chain Polyfluoroalkyl Substances (PFAS): A Literature Review of Information on Human Health Effects and Environmental and Fate and Effect Aspects of Short-Chain PFAS Danish Ministry of Environment (DME): 2015.
- 142. Asahi. In Non-ECA PFOA Information Forum, PFOA Information Forum June 8, 2006; Asahi Glass Co Ltd.
- 143. Perez, F.; Nadal, M.; Navarro-Ortega, A.; Fabrega, F.; Domingo, J. L.; Barcelo, D.; Farre, M., Accumulation of perfluoroalkyl substances in human tissues. *Environ Int* **2013**, *59*, 354-62.
- 144. USEPA. New Chemicals Program Review of Alternatives for PFOA and Related Chemicals. URL: <u>https://www.epa.gov/assessing-and-managing-chemicals-under-tsca/new-chemicals-program-review-alternatives-pfoa-and</u> (Accessed: March 3, 2017).
- 145. Rayne, S.; Forest, K., Modeling the hydrolysis of perfluorinated compounds containing carboxylic and phosphoric acid ester functions and sulfonamide groups. *J. Environ. Sci. Health. A. Tox. Hazard. Subst. Environ. Eng.* **2010**, *45*, (4), 432-46.
- 146. Wolfenden, R.; Ridgway, C.; Young, G., Spontaneous Hydrolysis of Ionized Phosphate Monoesters and Diesters and the Proficiencies of Phosphatases and Phosphodiesterases as Catalysts. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1998, 120, (4).
- 147. Washington, J. W.; Ellington, J.; Jenkins, T. M.; Evans, J. J.; Yoo, H.; Hafner, S. C., Degradability of an acrylate-linked, fluorotelomer polymer in soil. *Environ Sci Technol* **2009**, *43*, (17), 6617-23.
- 148. Li, L.; Liu, J.; Hu, J.; Wania, F., Degradation of fluorotelomer-based polymers contributes to the global

occurrence of fluorotelomer alcohol and perfluoroalkyl carboxylates: a combined dynamic substance flow and environmental fate modeling analysis. *Environ Sci Technol* **2017**, *51*, (8), 4461-70.

- 149. UNEP. The Montreal Protocol on Substances that Deplete the Ozone Layer. United Nations Environment Programme (UNEP), URL; <u>http://ozone.unep.org/en/treaties-and-decisions/montreal-protocol-substances-deplete-ozone-layer?sec_id=5</u> (Accessed: May 2, 2017).
- 150. Birnbaum, L. S.; Staskal, D. F., Brominated flame retardants: cause for concern? *Environ Health Perspect* 2004, *112*, (1), 9-17.
- 151. Benskin, J. P.; De Silva, A. O.; Martin, J. W., Isomer profiling of perfluorinated substances as a tool for source tracking: a review of early findings and future applications. *Rev Environ Contam Toxicol* **2010**, *208*, 111-60.
- 152. Wang, Y.; Arsenault, G.; Riddell, N.; McCrindle, R.; McAlees, A.; Martin, J. W., Perfluorooctane sulfonate (PFOS) precursors can be metabolized enantioselectively: principle for a new PFOS source tracking tool. *Environ Sci Technol* **2009**, *43*, (21), 8283-9.
- 153. Korkowski, P.; Kestner, T., Chemical characterization of FOSA & PFOSA samples by 1H and 19F NMR spectroscopy. In 3M Company: 1999.
- 154. Reagen, W. K.; Jacoby, C. B.; Purcell, R. G.; Kestner, T. A.; pAYFER, r. m.; miller, j. w., in environmental characterization of 3M electrochemical fluorination derived perfluoroctanoate and perfluoroctanesulfonate. In 35th Annual Society of Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry, Milwaukee, USA, 2008.
- 155. Rayne, S.; Forest, K.; Friesen, K. J., Congener-specific numbering systems for the environmentally relevant C4 through C8 perfluorinated homologue groups of alkyl sulfonates, carboxylates, telomer alcohols, olefins, and acids, and their derivatives. *J Environ Sci Health Part A Toxic/Hazard Subst Environ Eng* 2008, 43, (12), 1391-401.
- 156. Benskin, J. P.; Holt, A.; Martin, J. W., Isomer-specific biotransformation rates of a perfluorooctane sulfonate (PFOS)-precursor by cytochrome P450 isozymes and human liver microsomes. *Environ Sci Technol* 2009, 43, (22), 8566-72.
- 157. Benskin, J. P.; De Silva, A. O.; Martin, L. J.; Arsenault, G.; McCrindle, R.; Riddell, N.; Mabury, S. A.; Martin, J. W., Disposition of perfluorinated acid isomers in Sprague-Dawley rats; part 1: single dose. *Environ Toxicol Chem* 2009, 28, (3), 542-54.
- 158. Tan, B.; Wang, T.; Wang, P.; Luo, W.; Lu, Y.; Romesh, K. Y.; Giesy, J. P., Perfluoroalkyl substances in soils around the Nepali Koshi River: levels, distribution, and mass balance. *Environ Sci Pollut Res Int* **2014**, *21*, (15), 9201-11.
- 159. Wang, P.; Wang, T.; Giesy, J. P.; Lu, Y., Perfluorinated compounds in soils from Liaodong Bay with concentrated fluorine industry parks in China. *Chemosphere* **2013**, *91*, (6), 751-7.
- 160. Taniyasu, S.; Senthilkumar, K.; Yamazaki, E.; Yeung, L. W.; Guruge, K. S.; Kannan, K.; Yamashita, N., Perfluoroalkyl substances in the blood of wild rats and mice from 47 prefectures in Japan: use of samples from nationwide specimen bank. *Arch Environ Contam Toxicol* 2013, 65, (1), 149-70.
- 161. Yeung, L. W.; Miyake, Y.; Taniyasu, S.; Wang, Y.; Yu, H.; So, M. K.; Jiang, G.; Wu, Y.; Li, J.; Giesy, J. P.; Yamashita, N.; Lam, P. K., Perfluorinated compounds and total and extractable organic fluorine in human blood samples from China. *Environ Sci Technol* **2008**, *42*, (21), 8140-5.
- 162. Shi, Y.; Vestergren, R.; Xu, L.; Zhou, Z.; Li, C.; Liang, Y.; Cai, Y., Human exposure and elimination kinetics of chlorinated polyfluoroalkyl ether sulfonic acids (Cl-PFESAs). *Environ Sci Technol* **2016**, *50*, (5), 2396-404.
- 163. Sinclair, E.; Kannan, K., Mass loading and fate of perfluoroalkyl surfactants in wastewater treatment plants. *Environ Sci Technol* **2006**, *40*, (5), 1408-14.
- 164. Becker, A. M.; Gerstmann, S.; Frank, H., Perfluorooctane surfactants in waste waters, the major source of river pollution. *Chemosphere* **2008**, *72*, (1), 115-121.
- 165. Hens, P. V. Analysis of the unknown pool of PFAS: total xxidizable precursors (TOP), PFOS precursor (PreFOS) and telomer degradation; Orebro University: 2017.
- 166. Harding-Marjanovic, K. C.; Houtz, E. F.; Yi, S.; Field, J. A.; Sedlak, D. L.; Alvarez-Cohen, L., Aerobic biotransformation of fluorotelomer thioether amido sulfonate (lodyne) in AFFF-amended microcosms. *Environ Sci Technol* 2015, 49, (13), 7666-74.
- 167. Houtz, E. F.; Sedlak, D. L., Oxidative conversion as a means of detecting precursors to perfluoroalkyl acids in urban runoff. *Environ Sci Technol* **2012**, *46*, (17), 9342-9.

- 168. Houtz, E. F.; Sutton, R.; Park, J. S.; Sedlak, M., Poly- and perfluoroalkyl substances in wastewater: Significance of unknown precursors, manufacturing shifts, and likely AFFF impacts. *Water Res* 2016, 95, 142-9.
- 169. Ye, F.; Tokumura, M.; Islam, M. S.; Zushi, Y.; Oh, J.; Masunaga, S., Spatial distribution and importance of potential perfluoroalkyl acid precursors in urban rivers and sewage treatment plant effluent--case study of Tama River, Japan. *Water Res* 2014, 67, 77-85.
- 170. Boiteux, V.; Dauchy, X.; Bach, C.; Colin, A.; Hemard, J.; Sagres, V.; Rosin, C.; Munoz, J. F., Concentrations and patterns of perfluoroalkyl and polyfluoroalkyl substances in a river and three drinking water treatment plants near and far from a major production source. *Sci Total Environ* **2017**, *583*, 393-400.
- 171. McGuire, M. E.; Schaefer, C.; Richards, T.; Backe, W. J.; Field, J. A.; Houtz, E.; Sedlak, D. L.; Guelfo, J. L.; Wunsch, A.; Higgins, C. P., Evidence of remediation-induced alteration of subsurface poly- and perfluoroalkyl substance distribution at a former firefighter training area. *Environ Sci Technol* **2014**, *48*, (12), 6644-52.
- 172. Houtz, E. F.; Higgins, C. P.; Field, J. A.; Sedlak, D. L., Persistence of perfluoroalkyl acid precursors in AFFFimpacted groundwater and soil. *Environ Sci Technol* **2013**, *47*, (15), 8187-95.
- 173. Benskin, J. P.; Ikonomou, M. G.; Gobas, F. A.; Woudneh, M. B.; Cosgrove, J. R., Observation of a novel PFOS-precursor, the perfluorooctane sulfonamido ethanol-based phosphate (SAmPAP) diester, in marine sediments. *Environ Sci Technol* 2012, 46, (12), 6505-14.
- 174. Yeung, L. W.; Robinson, S. J.; Koschorreck, J.; Mabury, S. A., Part II. A temporal study of PFOS and its precursors in human plasma from two German cities in 1982-2009. *Environ Sci Technol* **2013**, *47*, (8), 3875-82.
- 175. Krauss, M.; Singer, H.; Hollender, J., LC-high resolution MS in environmental analysis: from target screening to the identification of unknowns. *Anal Bioanal Chem* **2010**, *397*, (3), 943-51.
- 176. Schwarzenbach, R. P.; Escher, B. I.; Fenner, K.; Hofstetter, T. B.; Johnson, C. A.; von Gunten, U.; Wehrli, B., The challenge of micropollutants in aquatic systems. *Science* **2006**, *313*, (5790), 1072-7.
- 177. Place, B. J.; Field, J. A., Identification of novel fluorochemicals in aqueous film-forming foams used by the US military. *Environ Sci Technol* **2012**, *46*, (13), 7120-7.
- 178. Backe, W. J.; Day, T. C.; Field, J. A., Zwitterionic, cationic, and anionic fluorinated chemicals in aqueous film forming foam formulations and groundwater from U.S. military bases by nonaqueous large-volume injection HPLC-MS/MS. *Environ Sci Technol* **2013**, *47*, (10), 5226-34.
- 179. D'Agostino, L. A.; Mabury, S. A., Identification of novel fluorinated surfactants in aqueous film forming foams and commercial surfactant concentrates. *Environ Sci Technol* **2014**, *48*, (1), 121-9.
- 180. Mol, H. G.; Zomer, P.; de Koning, M., Qualitative aspects and validation of a screening method for pesticides in vegetables and fruits based on liquid chromatography coupled to full scan high resolution (Orbitrap) mass spectrometry. *Anal Bioanal Chem* **2012**, *403*, (10), 2891-908.
- 181. Mann, M.; Kelleher, N. L., Precision proteomics: the case for high resolution and high mass accuracy. Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A 2008, 105, (47), 18132-8.
- 182. Brown, S. C.; Kruppa, G.; Dasseux, J. L., Metabolomics applications of FT-ICR mass spectrometry. *Mass Spectrom Rev* 2005, 24, (2), 223-31.
- 183. Mao, Y. Application of FT-ICR mass spectrometry in study of proteomics, petroleomics and fragmentomics. PhD Thesis, The Florida State University 2013.
- 184. Klitzke, C. F.; Corilo, Y. E.; Siek, K.; Binkley, J.; Patrick, J.; Eberlin, M. N., Petroleomics by ultrahighresolution time-of-flight mass spectrometry. *Energy & Fuels* **2012**, *26*, (9), 5787-94.
- 185. Chiaia-Hernandez, A. C.; Schymanski, E. L.; Kumar, P.; Singer, H. P.; Hollender, J., Suspect and nontarget screening approaches to identify organic contaminant records in lake sediments. *Anal Bioanal Chem* 2014, 406, (28), 7323-35.
- 186. Schymanski, E. L.; Singer, H. P.; Longree, P.; Loos, M.; Ruff, M.; Stravs, M. A.; Ripolles Vidal, C.; Hollender, J., Strategies to characterize polar organic contamination in wastewater: exploring the capability of high resolution mass spectrometry. *Environ Sci Technol* 2014, 48, (3), 1811-8.
- 187. Shaul, N. J.; Dodder, N. G.; Aluwihare, L. I.; Mackintosh, S. A.; Maruya, K. A.; Chivers, S. J.; Danil, K.; Weller, D. W.; Hoh, E., Nontargeted biomonitoring of halogenated organic compounds in two ecotypes of bottlenose dolphins (Tursiops truncatus) from the Southern California Bight. *Environ Sci Technol* 2015, 49, (3), 1328-38.
- 188. Schollee, J. E.; Schymanski, E. L.; Avak, S. E.; Loos, M.; Hollender, J., Prioritizing Unknown Transformation

Products from Biologically-Treated Wastewater Using High-Resolution Mass Spectrometry, Multivariate Statistics, and Metabolic Logic. *Anal Chem* **2015**, *87*, (24), 12121-9.

- 189. Peng, H.; Chen, C.; Saunders, D. M.; Sun, J.; Tang, S.; Codling, G.; Hecker, M.; Wiseman, S.; Jones, P. D.; Li, A.; Rockne, K. J.; Giesy, J. P., Untargeted identification of organo-bromine compounds in lake sediments by ultrahigh-resolution mass spectrometry with the data-independent precursor isolation and characteristic fragment method. *Anal Chem* 2015, *87*, (20), 10237-46.
- 190. Barzen-Hanson, K. A.; Roberts, S. C.; Choyke, S.; Oetjen, K.; McAlees, A.; Riddell, N.; McCrindle, R.; Ferguson, P. L.; Higgins, C. P.; Field, J. A., Discovery of 40 classes of per- and polyfluoroalkyl substances in historical aqueous film-forming foams (AFFFs) and AFFF-impacted groundwater. *Environ Sci Technol* 2017, *51*, (4), 2047-2057.
- 191. Hughey, C. A.; Hendrickson, C. L.; Rodgers, R. P.; Marshall, A. G.; Qian, K., Kendrick mass defect spectrum: a compact visual analysis for ultrahigh-resolution broadband mass spectra. *Anal Chem* **2001**, *73*, (19), 4676-81.
- 192. Kendrick, E., A mass scale based on CH2 = 14.0000 for high resolution mass spectrometry of organic compounds. *Anal Chem* **1963**, *35*, (13), 2146-2154.
- 193. Wu, Z.; Rodgers, R. P.; Marshall, A. G., Two- and three-dimensional van krevelen diagrams: a graphical analysis complementary to the kendrick mass plot for sorting elemental compositions of complex organic mixtures based on ultrahigh-resolution broadband fourier transform ion cyclotron resonance mass measurements. *Anal Chem* 2004, 76, (9), 2511-6.
- 194. Byer, J. D.; Siek, K.; Jobst, K., Distinguishing the C₃ vs SH₄ mass split by comprehensive two-dimensional gas chromatography-high resolution time-of-flight mass spectrometry. *Anal Chem* **2016**, *88*, (12), 6101-4.
- 195. Myers, A. L.; Jobst, K. J.; Mabury, S. A.; Reiner, E. J., Using mass defect plots as a discovery tool to identify novel fluoropolymer thermal decomposition products. *J Mass Spectrom* **2014**, *49*, (4), 291-296.
- 196. Jacobs, P. L.; Ridder, L.; Ruijken, M.; Rosing, H.; Jager, N. G.; Beijnen, J. H.; Bas, R. R.; van Dongen, W. D., Identification of drug metabolites in human plasma or serum integrating metabolite prediction, LC-HRMS and untargeted data processing. *Bioanalysis* 2013, 5, (17), 2115-28.
- 197. Crimmins, B. S.; Xia, X.; Hopke, P. K.; Holsen, T. M., A targeted/non-targeted screening method for perfluoroalkyl carboxylic acids and sulfonates in whole fish using quadrupole time-of-flight mass spectrometry and MSe. *Anal Bioanal Chem* **2014**, *406*, (5), 1471-1480.
- 198. Rotander, A.; Karrman, A.; Toms, L. M.; Kay, M.; Mueller, J. F.; Gomez Ramos, M. J., Novel fluorinated surfactants tentatively identified in firefighters using liquid chromatography quadrupole time-of-flight tandem mass spectrometry and a case-control approach. *Environ Sci Technol* 2015, 49, (4), 2434-42.
- 199. Qin, Z.; McNee, D.; Gleisner, H.; Raab, A.; Kyeremeh, K.; Jaspars, M.; Krupp, E.; Deng, H.; Feldmann, J., Fluorine speciation analysis using reverse phase liquid chromatography coupled off-line to continuum source molecular absorption spectrometry (CS-MAS): identification and quantification of novel fluorinated organic compounds in environmental and biological samples. *Anal Chem* **2012**, *84*, (14), 6213-9.
- 200. Trier, X.; Nielsen, N. J.; Christensen, J. H., Structural isomers of polyfluorinated di- and tri-alkylated phosphate ester surfactants present in industrial blends and in microwave popcorn bags. *Environ Sci Pollut Res Int* 2011, 18, (8), 1422-32.
- 201. Myers, A. L.; Jobst, K. J.; Mabury, S. A.; Reiner, E. J., Using mass defect plots as a discovery tool to identify novel fluoropolymer thermal decomposition products. *J Mass Spectrom* **2014**, *49*, (4), 291-6.
- 202. Peng, H.; Chen, C.; Cantin, J.; Saunders, D. M.; Sun, J.; Tang, S.; Codling, G.; Hecker, M.; Wiseman, S.; Jones, P. D.; Li, A.; Rockne, K. J.; Sturchio, N. C.; Giesy, J. P., Untargeted screening and distribution of organo-bromine compounds in sediments of Lake Michigan. *Environ Sci Technol* **2016**, *50*, (1), 321-30.
- 203. Peng, H.; Saunders, D. M.; Sun, J.; Jones, P. D.; Wong, C. K.; Liu, H.; Giesy, J. P., Mutagenic azo dyes, rather than flame retardants, are the predominant brominated compounds in house dust. *Environ Sci Technol* 2016, 50, (23), 12669-12677.
- 204. Martin, J. W.; Smithwick, M. M.; Braune, B. M.; Hoekstra, P. F.; Muir, D. C.; Mabury, S. A., Identification of long-chain perfluorinated acids in biota from the Canadian Arctic. *Environ Sci Technol* **2004**, *38*, (2), 373-80.

205. Bowes, G. W.; Jonkel, C. J., Presence and distribution of polychlorinated biphenyls (PCB) in Arctic and Subarctic marine food chains. *J Fish Res Board Can* **1975**, *32*, (11), 2111-23.

206. Lentfer, J. W. Environmental Contaminants in Polar Bears; Job No. 5.5R; Alaska Department of Fish and

Game: Fairbanks: 1976; p 22.

- 207. Bytingsvik, J.; Simon, E.; Leonards, P. E.; Lamoree, M.; Lie, E.; Aars, J.; Derocher, A. E.; Wiig, O.; Jenssen, B. M.; Hamers, T., Transthyretin-binding activity of contaminants in blood from polar bear (*Ursus maritimus*) cubs. *Environ Sci Technol* 2013, 47, (9), 4778-86.
- 208. Gribble, M. O.; Bartell, S. M.; Kannan, K.; Wu, Q.; Fair, P. A.; Kamen, D. L., Longitudinal measures of perfluoroalkyl substances (PFAS) in serum of Gullah African Americans in South Carolina: 2003-2013. *Environ Res* 2015, 143, (Pt B), 82-8.
- 209. Olsen, G. W.; Mair, D. C.; Lange, C. C.; Harrington, L. M.; Church, T. R.; Goldberg, C. L.; Herron, R. M.; Hanna, H.; Nobiletti, J. B.; Rios, J. A.; Reagen, W. K.; Ley, C. A., Per- and polyfluoroalkyl substances (PFAS) in American Red Cross adult blood donors, 2000-2015. *Environ Res* 2017, 157, 87-95.
- 210. Kato, K.; Wong, L. Y.; Jia, L. T.; Kuklenyik, Z.; Calafat, A. M., Trends in exposure to polyfluoroalkyl chemicals in the U.S. Population: 1999-2008. *Environ Sci Technol* **2011**, *45*, (19), 8037-45.
- 211. CDC. the Fourth National Report on Human Exposure to Environmental Chemicals. Updated Tables: Volume One; Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC): Atlanta, GA, 2017; pp 332-369.
- 212. Health-Canada. Report on Human Biomonitoring of Environmental Chemicals in Canada-Results of the Canadian Health Measures Survey Cycle 1 (2007-2009); Minister of Health: Ottawa, ON, Canada, 2010.
- 213. Donaldson, S. G.; Van Oostdam, J.; Tikhonov, C.; Feeley, M.; Armstrong, B.; Ayotte, P.; Boucher, O.; Bowers, W.; Chan, L.; Dallaire, F.; Dallaire, R.; Dewailly, E.; Edwards, J.; Egeland, G. M.; Fontaine, J.; Furgal, C.; Leech, T.; Loring, E.; Muckle, G.; Nancarrow, T.; Pereg, D.; Plusquellec, P.; Potyrala, M.; Receveur, O.; Shearer, R. G., Environmental contaminants and human health in the Canadian Arctic. *Sci Total Environ* **2010**, *408*, (22), 5165-234.
- 214. Gebbink, W. A.; Glynn, A.; Berger, U., Temporal changes (1997-2012) of perfluoroalkyl acids and selected precursors (including isomers) in Swedish human serum. *Environ Pollut* **2015**, *199*, 166-73.
- 215. Gyllenhammar, I.; Benskin, J. P.; Lignell, S.; Karsrud, A.; Sandblom, O.; Glynn, A. Temporal Trends of Polyand Perfluoroalkyl Substances (PFASs) in Serum from Children at 4, 8, and 12 Years of Age, in Uppsala 2008-2015; Swedish Environmental Protection Agency: 2016.
- 216. Haug, L. S.; Thomsen, C.; Becher, G., Time trends and the influence of age and gender on serum concentrations of perfluorinated compounds in archived human samples. *Environ Sci Technol* 2009, 43, (6), 2131-6.
- 217. Toms, L. M.; Thompson, J.; Rotander, A.; Hobson, P.; Calafat, A. M.; Kato, K.; Ye, X.; Broomhall, S.; Harden, F.; Mueller, J. F., Decline in perfluorooctane sulfonate and perfluorooctanoate serum concentrations in an Australian population from 2002 to 2011. *Environ Int* **2014**, *71*, 74-80.
- 218. Eriksson, U.; Mueller, J. F.; Toms, L. L.; Hobson, P.; Karrman, A., Temporal trends of PFSAs, PFCAs and selected precursors in Australian serum from 2002 to 2013. *Environ Pollut* **2017**, *220*, (Pt A), 168-177.
- 219. Fu, J.; Gao, Y.; Cui, L.; Wang, T.; Liang, Y.; Qu, G.; Yuan, B.; Wang, Y.; Zhang, A.; Jiang, G., Occurrence, temporal trends, and half-lives of perfluoroalkyl acids (PFAAs) in occupational workers in China. *Sci Rep* 2016, 6, 38039.
- 220. Yeung, L. W.; Robinson, S. J.; Koschorreck, J.; Mabury, S. A., Part I. A temporal study of PFCAs and their precursors in human plasma from two German cities 1982-2009. *Environ Sci Technol* **2013**, *47*, (8), 3865-74.
- 221. O'Brien, H. T.; Gagne, D.; Blanchet, R.; Lauziere, J.; VEzina, C.; Ayotte, P. In *Temporal trends of legacy and emerging persistent organic pollutants in Inuit preschoolers from Nunavik, Quebec, Canada*, 2nd World Congress on New Technologies (NewTech 2016), Budapest, Hungary, August 18-19, 2016, 2016.

Chapter 2. Temporal Trends of PFOS Isomer and Enantiomer Profiles in Two Populations^{*}

2.1 Introduction

PFOS has been widely used in various products since 1946 for its oil and water repellency and high stability.¹ Its environmental² and biological persistence,³ and its bioaccumulation potential⁴ have made PFOS ubiquitously distributed in the environment, in wildlife, and in human populations.⁵⁻⁷ PFOS is eliminated slowly in humans, with a reported serum elimination t_{0.5} of approximately 4.8 years (95% confidence interval (CI), 4.0-5.8).³ Among PFOS rodent toxicity studies, many adverse effects have been noted at high concentrations, but developmental toxicity⁸⁻¹¹ is one of the most sensitive endpoints.

PFOS precursors include a variety of compounds that can potentially degrade to PFOS in the environment, or be metabolized to PFOS in organisms.⁵ PreFOS was used directly in some applications but was also covalently linked into large fluorinated side-chain polymers,⁵ and total historic emissions of PreFOS likely exceeded PFOS.^{12, 13} The long-term hydrolytic stability of covalently bound PreFOS in side chain polymers is an unresolved question,¹⁴⁻¹⁶ thus there are uncertainties in future emissions of PreFOS. Furthermore, PFOS and ~100 PreFOS compounds were recognized as POPs under the *Stockholm Convention* in 2009,¹⁷ but the agreement allowed their continued production in countries where there are no domestic restrictions (e.g. China), and little information is available on the specific uses of PreFOS today.

Except for a few PreFOS molecules (e.g. PFOSA, FOSAAs and FOSEs), many historically manufactured PreFOS molecules have never been analyzed in any samples. Total extractable organic fluorine analysis has shown a significant proportion of unknown organic fluorine in various samples (e.g. 60-90% in seawater,¹⁸ ~70% in dolphin livers¹⁹ and 15-67% in Chinese whole blood²⁰), raising the possibility that unidentified PreFOS may contribute to the unknown organic fluorine signal. Furthermore, new PreFOS molecules continue to be discovered, for

^{*} A version of this chapter has been published. Y. Liu, A.S. Pereira, S. Beesoon, R. Vestergren, U. Berger, G.W. Olsen, A. Glynn, J.W. Martin. *Environ Int*, 2015, 75, 215-22. Reprint with permission. Copyright 2014 Elsevier Ltd.

example a PreFOS-based phosphate diester was recently identified in marine sediment²¹ and in human serum²² for the first time.

In humans, PFOS body burdens are predicted to result from a combination of direct exposure to PFOS (**Figure 2-1**, pathway 1 and 3), and indirect exposure to PreFOS, which can be transformed to PFOS internally (**Figure 2-1**, pathway 2).^{5, 23} Using occurrence data for PFOS and PreFOS in various human exposure media, modeling studies estimated that direct PFOS exposure usually dominated general population exposure (e.g. 90%^{24, 25}). Even so, the relative contribution of PreFOS may be up to 60-80% in high exposure sub-populations (i.e. those individuals with high PFOS in serum) due to the large variability in PreFOS concentrations in the indoor environment.²⁵ Nevertheless, these modeled predictions may underestimate the true importance of PreFOS, because (i) they cannot account for PreFOS compounds that have never been monitored, and (ii) they do not take into account that some fraction of PreFOS (**Figure 2-1**, pathway 3; e.g. metabolism of PreFOS to PFOS in fish that people later ingest²⁶).

Following the phase-out of PFOS and PreFOS by the 3M in the U.S, Western Europe and Japan between 2000 and 2002,²⁷ decreasing PFOS temporal trends were detected in different populations from North America²⁸⁻³¹ and Europe.^{22, 32-34} However, how each of these trends were influenced by variations in PFOS and PreFOS exposure is unknown. Understanding the relative contribution of PreFOS to PFOS exposure may help to explain the observed trends, to elucidate major exposure sources, and also to predict future exposure.

Benskin *et al.*³⁵ proposed that PFOS branched isomer content >30% in human serum was possibly a biomarker of significant PreFOS exposure. This principle is supported by knowledge that historical commercially relevant batches of PFOS contained a consistent branched isomer composition of ~30% branched and ~70% linear,^{36, 37} and that all major branched PFOS isomers are excreted more efficiently than linear PFOS (*n*-PFOS) via human urine.³⁸ Therefore, if an individual's exposure is dominated by direct PFOS exposure, the branched isomer content in the body should be <30%, not >30% as is most commonly observed. Commercially relevant batches of PreFOS were also ~30% branched,^{36, 37} and studies have shown the preferential excretion of linear PreFOS (i.e. PFOSA) compared to branched PreFOS through urine in rodents³⁹ and in humans,³⁸ resulting in preferential retention of branched FOSA isomers that can then be biotransformed to branched PFOS. Moreover, branched PreFOS isomers are metabolized faster than linear PreFOS *in vitro* by human liver microsomes⁴⁰ and *in vivo* in rats.⁴¹ Thus, if an individual's exposure to PFOS is dominated by biotransformation of PreFOS, then it is at least feasible for the branched PFOS isomer content in the body to be >30%, as previously hypothesized by Martin *et al.*⁵

PFOS enantiomer profiles in serum were also proposed as a biomarker of human exposure to PreFOSs.⁴² This is because: (i) many branched PFOS and PreFOS isomers are chiral⁴³ and were manufactured as racemic mixtures (i.e. 50:50) of two non-superimposable enantiomers (i.e. mirror image molecules); (ii) *in vitro* biotransformation rates of 1*m*-PreFOSs (i.e. a α perfluoromethyl branched PreFOS isomer, see "Nomenclature" in 2.2.1) to 1*m*-PFOS differ for the two enantiomers,⁴² and (iii) from rat studies there is currently no evidence for differential absorption, distribution or excretion of 1*m*-PFOS enantiomers.⁴⁴ Thus, the detection of significantly non-racemic 1*m*-PFOS enantiomer fractions in humans (i.e. when the ratio of the two enantiomers is significantly different from 1:1) may point to the contribution of PreFOS (**Figure 2-1**, pathways 2 and 3), because direct PFOS exposure alone should always result in a racemic 1*m*-PFOS have already been reported in Canadians⁴⁴ and in aquatic organisms from Lake Ontario.⁴⁵

Martin *et al.*⁵ hypothesized that PFOS isomer profiles and 1m-PFOS enantiomer fractions could both be used as biomarkers of human exposure to PreFOS. Therefore, in the current study both biomarkers were analyzed in two sets of archived human samples to achieve two objectives: first, as a cross-validation exercise (i.e. if both biomarkers measure the same phenomenon, they should be correlated), and second, to evaluate how relative exposure to PFOS and PreFOS might have changed over time in two geographically distinct populations.

2.2. Experimental Section[†]

[†] Drs. Urs Berger and Anders Glynn, and Geary W. Olsen provided the Swedish archived human serum extracts, and the U.S. human serum/plasma samples, respectively. Dr. Alberto S. Pereira assisted in instrumental analysis.

2.2.1 Nomenclature

PFOS isomer nomenclature was adopted from Benskin *et al.*⁴⁶ Briefly, linear PFOS is termed *n*-PFOS, perfluoroisopropyl-PFOS is termed *iso*-PFOS, while the remaining monoperfluoromethyl isomers are abbreviated as #m-PFOS, where # indicates the carbon position of perfluoromethyl branching. Σ PFOS refers to the sum of all detected PFOS isomers.

2.2.2 Chemical and Reagents.

Standard br-PFOSK (>98%; a technical mixture of 78.8% *n*-PFOS, 10% *iso*-PFOS, 1.2% 1*m*-PFOS, 1.9% 3*m*-PFOS, 2.2% 4*m*-PFOS, 4.5% 5*m*-PFOS, 0.71% of *m*₂-PFOS), MPFAC-MXA (>98%; containing mass labeled *n*-¹³C₄-PFOS) and racemic 1*m*-PFOS (4.6mg/mL in methanol) were obtained from Wellington Laboratories (Guelph, ON, Canada). Sterile filtered calf serum was purchased from Lampire Biological Laboratories (Pilersville, PA, USA). Optima-grade tetrahydrofuran, formic acid (98%), glacial acetic acid (>99%), ammonium acetate and triethylamine were obtained from Sigma-Aldrich (St. Louis, MO, USA). Optima grade methanol and water were obtained from Fisher Scientific (Ottawa, ON, Canada).

2.2.3 Human Serum Sample Sources

Ethics approval was obtained from the Health Research Ethics Board of the University of Alberta to analyze archived human serum samples from Sweden and the U.S. Archived serum samples from Swedish primiparous women in Uppsala (**Table 2-1**) were originally collected and analyzed for the "Persistent Organic Pollutants (POPs) in Uppsala Primiparas" study.^{32, 47} Three extracts from pooled primiparous women's serum samples were obtained each year during 1996-2010 (except 2003 and 2005). Sample details and pooling scheme were can be found elsewhere⁴⁷ and were also detailed in **Table 2-1**. In total, 36 extracts of pooled serum, and 4 procedural blanks were shipped to the University of Alberta and stored at -20°C prior to analysis.

Archived American serum or plasma samples from 1974,⁴⁸ 1989,⁴⁸ 2000/2001,⁴⁸ 2006⁴⁹ and 2010²⁸ were previously collected from individuals residing in the Hagerstown, Maryland, U.S.A. (**Table 2-1**). The 1974 serum and 1989 plasma samples were originally obtained from an archived database of two large community-based cohorts,⁴⁸ and were analyzed for PFAS trends. Unlike the original analyses performed on these samples, the present study did not include paired

samples from the same individuals. The 2000/2001serum,⁴⁸ 2006 plasma⁴⁹ and 2010 plasma²⁸ samples were originally collected for a series of cross-sectional studies that were designed to measure PFASs in American Red Cross adult blood. For the current study, 12 samples from each year were randomly selected: 3 from young males (YM, 25-35yr); 3 from young females (YF, 25-35yr); 3 from older males (OM, >50yr) and 3 from older females (OF, >50yr) (**Table 2-1**). In total, 60 samples were shipped to the University of Alberta and stored at -20°C.

2.2.3 Extraction of American Human Samples.

The American samples along with procedural blanks were extracted with a modified SPE method developed by Kuklenyik et al.⁵⁰ Only polypropylene labware was used, and all of them were rinsed with optima-grade 50% methanol/50% water three times prior to use. Oasis HLB cartridges (Waters, 60 mg/3 mL) were pre-conditioned with 2 mL methanol followed by 2 mL 0.1 M formic acid. 0.5 mL serum/plasma sample, spiked with 10 µL of 100 ng/mL MPFAC-MXA, was acidified with 2 mL of 0.1 M formic acid. The sample mixture was thoroughly mixed on a vortex mixer followed by a 15-min sonication. Together with the solution obtained by rinsing the tube used to contain the sample with 0.5 mL 0.1 M formic acid three times, each sample was loaded and allowed to slowly pass the cartridge by gravity. After being washed with 2 mL of 0.1 M formic acid, 4 mL of 0.1 M formic acid/methanol (50%:50%) and 1 mL of 1% ammonium hydroxide in water successively, the cartridges were vented by air for 20 seconds. Analytes were eluted with 1mL of 1% ammonium hydroxide in methanol into 15 mL centrifuge tubes and evaporated to near-dryness under a gentle steam of high-purity nitrogen at 55 °C. The obtained extracts, after being reconstituted with the solution obtained by rinsing the 15 mL centrifuge tubes with mobile phase of initial composition, was transferred to 750 µL polypropylene vials (Supelco) with polyethylene caps (National Scientific).

Results for serum and plasma are known to be comparable,⁵¹ and thus no adjustments were made to the data. Biomonitoring of contaminants in individual samples usually results in log-normal distribution, whereas using pooled samples results in bell-shaped normal distributions.⁵² Pooled samples are better for detecting small annual changes in a temporal trend study⁵³ because of the smaller intra-year variation (e.g. arithmetic means and smaller variances,⁵⁴ whereas individual samples are better for identifying important determinants of exposure.

2.2.4 Instrumental Analysis

2.2.4.1 PFOS isomer profile analysis

PFOS isomer profile analysis was performed on a Schimadzu LC-20AD (Shimadzu Corporation, Tokyo, Japan) HPLC system coupled to an Applied Biosystems hybrid triplequadrupole linear ion trap API4000 mass spectrometer (MDS Sciex, Concord, ON, Canada). The isomer separation method used here was adopted from a previously published method.⁴⁶ Briefly, 20 µL of each extract were injected onto a FluoroSep RP Octyl HPLC column (100 Å pore size, 3 µm particle size, 2.1 mm i.d., 150 mm length, ES Industries, West Berlin, NJ, USA) heated to 40°C with a flow rate of 0.15 mL/min. An Eclipse XDB-C18 column (5 µm particle size, 4.6 mm i.d., 150 mm length, Agilent, Santa Clara, CA, USA) was connected upstream of the injector to trap the instrumental-sourced analytes,⁵⁵ thereby reducing the background signal. The mobile phase gradient started from 60%A (5 mM formic acid adjusted to pH=4 with ammonium hydroxide) and 40%B (methanol). The initial condition was held for 0.3 min before ramping to 64% B by 1.9 min, and then successively increased to 66% by 5.9 min, 70% by 7.9 min, 78% by 40 min, and finally reaching 100% by 42 min. After holding for 13 min, the percent of B rapidly returned to the initial condition by 66 min, and then equilibrated for 25 min prior to the next injection. The API4000 mass spectrometer was equipped with an electrospray interface operating at 450 °C in negative ion mode. MRM mode was used for data collection, and the specific tandem mass spectrometry transitions for each isomer can be found in Table 2-2. Typical isomer separations are presented in Figure 2-2, obtained from a pooled Swedish sample.

AnalystTM (v.1.5.1, ABSciex, ON, CA) was used to collect and process mass spectral data. As recommended by Riddell *et al.*,⁵⁶ each PFOS isomer was quantified against its own methanolbased calibration curve, except 3m- and 5m-PFOS, which were quantified together due to incomplete chromatographic resolution (**Figure 2-2**). Linear ¹³C₄-PFOS was used as the internal standard for all isomer quantification.

2.2.4.2 1*m*-PFOS Enantiomer Profile Analysis

1*m*-PFOS enantiomer profile analysis was achieved with a separate HPLC-MS/MS analysis of the same extracts used in the isomer analysis. Enantiomer separation was performed on an Agilent 1100 (Agilent Technologies, Palo Alto, CA) HPLC system, and the separation method developed by Wang *et al.*⁴⁴ was adopted. Briefly, two Chiralpak QN-AX HPLC columns

(5 μ m silica-gel, 2.1 mm i.d., 150 mm length, Chiral technologies Inc. PA) in tandem, following a C18 guard column (5 μ m particle size, 3.0 mm i.d., 4 mm length, Phenomenex, Torrance, CA) were used. Isocratic mobile phase of tetrahydrofuran (THF) : 0.2 M formic acid : water : triethylamine (70% : 20% : 10% : 0.05 by volume) was flowing through the system at 0.12 mL/min. 20 μ L of each extract (30-40 μ L for few samples with low 1*m*-PFOS concentration quantified in isomer profile analysis) were injected. An Applied Biosystems API5000 triple-quadrupole mass spectrometer was used for detection. It was equipped with a Turbo V ion spray interface (MDS Sciex, Concord, ON, Canada), which was operating at 500 °C in negative ion mode.

Analyst 1.5.1 was used for collecting and processing mass spectral data. Enantiomer fractions (EFs) were used to describe quantitatively the relative proportions of 1*m*-PFOS enantiomers, and were calculated by dividing the peak area of the 1st eluting enantiomer by the combined peak area of the two enantiomers⁵⁷ after deconvolution using Peakfit software (v4.6, Systat Software, San Jose, CA). A typical enantiomer separation for a pooled Swedish serum sample, and the resulting deconvoluted chromatograms are presented in **Figure 2-3**.

2.2.5 Quality Control (QC)

Instrumental methanol blanks were injected every 10 samples to monitor carry-over in both analyses. Standards of br-PFOS and 1m-PFOS were analyzed after every 10 samples in the isomer and enantiomer analyses, respectively, to monitor any instrumental drift. Procedural blanks were analyzed with human samples to monitor background PFOS contamination. Method detection limit (MDL) and method quantification limit (MQL) were defined as the concentration in the sample corresponding to a chromatographic peak with a signal-to-noise ratio of 3 and 10, respectively, when no response was detected for the analyte in procedural blanks. When the analyte was present in procedural blanks (i.e. *n*-PFOS), MDL and MQL were defined as the mean blank concentration plus 3 or 10 times the standard deviation, respectively. MDLs and MQLs for the isomer analysis are reported in **Table 2-2**. For the chiral 1*m*-PFOS EF analysis, MDL and MQL of racemic 1*m*-PFOS were 0.46 pg and 1.5 pg on-column, respectively.

Recoveries of both sample extraction methods (i.e. SPE and protein precipitation), and matrix effects of both analytical methods (i.e. isomer and enantiomer separations) were assessed by the method introduced by Marchi *et al.*⁵⁸ In isomer separation, triplicate pre-spiked and post-

spiked samples were prepared by spiking 20 ng/mL of br-PFOSK standard into calf serum before and after the extraction process, while the solvent-based one were prepared by dissolving br-PFOSK standard into mobile phase to produce a 20 ng/mL sample. Recovery and matrix effects were then calculated by dividing the concentration of post-spiked sample by that of pre-spiked one, and by dividing the concentration of solvent-based sample by post-spike one, respectively. Measured PFOS isomer recoveries for SPE and protein precipitation methods were comparable, as were any matrix effects (**Table 2-2**), and %br-PFOS calculations were not significantly affected by extraction technique or matrix effects.

2.2.6 Racemic range of 1*m*-PFOS Enantiomer Fractions (EFs)

A total of 15 racemic 1*m*-PFOS standard injections were made under the following solvent conditions: 5 in methanol, 5 in 50% acetonitrile/50% 4 mM ammonium acetate (to match the Swedish extracts), and 5 in 40% methanol/60% 5 mM ammonium acetate pH=4 (to match the American extracts). The determined EFs ranged from 0.482 to 0.496 (**Figure 2-3**), and no statistical difference (p>0.05) was observed among the arithmetic means of the three different solvent conditions. The effect of both SPE and protein precipitation extraction methods were tested by spiking 46 pg of racemic standard into calf serum before and after the extraction, respectively, and EFs were also in the range of 0.482-0.496, showing no measurable influence. Matrix effects were also examined by spiking 46 pg of racemic standard into 100 µL of two human extracts (one with a high native concentration, and the other with a low native concentration of 1*m*-PFOS) from each country. The determined EFs after background correction ranged from 0.481 to 0.500, showing only a subtle matrix effect for human serum. Thus, for purposes of this study, the racemic EF range was conservatively defined as 0.480-0.500, similar to what was used by Wang *et al.*⁴⁴ and Asher *et al.*⁴⁵

2.2.7 Statistical analysis

Temporal trends of $\sum PFOS$, %br-PFOS and 1*m*-PFOS EF were examined by piecewise regression in both Swedish and American populations, using the beginning of the phase-out (year 2000) as the breakpoint. Piecewise simple linear regression (PSLR, **Model 1**) was used for Swedish primiparous women's data, while piecewise multiple linear regression (PMLR, **Model 2**) was employed for American adult data to examine possible age and gender differences. $\sum PFOS$

data in Swedish and American samples were log-transformed prior to analysis because they did not meet the criterion for normality, as determined by the Shapiro-Wilk test. All %br-PFOS and 1*m*-PFOS EF data were normally distributed and did not require transformation.

Multiple linear regression (MLR) was used to determine the correlation between the two potential biomarkers, %br-PFOS and 1*m*-PFOS EF, to account for potential covariates (i.e. "year" in Swedish samples; and "year", "age" and "gender" in American samples). All statistical tests were performed with Stata (v8.0, StataCorp LP, Texas, USA), and p<0.05 was considered to be statistically significant.

Model 1 PSLR and Model 2 PMLR are shown below, where y is the relevant PFOS measurement, *year* is the time vector, d is a dummy variable (0, if *year*<2000 and 1, if *year*≥2000), and *age* and *gender* are vectors for the age and gender categories, respectively.

 $y = \beta_0 \cdot year + \beta_1 \cdot (year - 2000) \cdot d + \varepsilon$ (Model 1)

 $y = \beta_0 \cdot year + \beta_1 \cdot (year - 2000) \cdot d + \beta_a \cdot age + \beta_g \cdot gender + \beta_{ag} \cdot age \cdot gender + \varepsilon$ (Model 2)

2.3 Results and Discussion

2.3.1 Temporal trends of \sum PFOS

All analyzed PFOS isomers were >MQL (**Table 2-2**) in all samples from both countries. For Swedish samples,^{32, 47} the high homogeneity of the donors (all participants were primiparous women of nearly the same age from the same county, and all samples were collected three weeks after delivery), the large number of sampling years, and the pooling,^{32, 47, 59} together likely contributed to high statistical power for temporal trend detection.⁵³ PSLR on log- Σ PFOS showed no significant temporal trend up to 2000, but between 2000 and 2010 the downward trend was statistically significant (**Figure 2-4A**). This is consistent with the report by Glynn *et al.*,⁴⁷ who analyzed the same samples and stated that the decreasing trend only occurred after 2001, but did not analyze trends for the two separate periods. The trend detected here is broadly consistent with trends observed in Norwegians³³ and Germans,^{22, 60} whereby the PFOS concentration in serum was stable from the mid-1990s to 2000/2001, but declined afterwards.

The population halving time,^{22, 28} that is the amount of time required for a compound to fall to 50% of the amount at the beginning of a period in a population, was calculated by simple

linear regression (SLR) using only the data from 2000 onwards in both populations. The population halving time is appropriate when describing trends from cross-sectional data, and is not equivalent to the apparent human elimination half-life, nor the intrinsic half-life.⁶¹ For Swedish samples, population halving time was estimated to be 4.8 (95% CI, 3.8-6.6) years by SLR on log- Σ PFOS in the 2000-2010 period (p<0.001, R²=0.74). Glynn *et al.*³² formerly reported a longer population halving time [8.2 years (95% CI 6.3-12)] in the same Swedish samples, but this is because the whole dataset from 1996 to 2010 was used rather than only the 2000-2010 period. In fact, by treating the whole dataset together here, a longer population halving time of 7.1 (95%CI 5.9-9.0) years was obtained, demonstrating good agreement with Glynn *et al.*³² despite different isomer quantification methods used.

In American samples, temporal trend analysis by PMLR on $\log \sum PFOS$ showed no significant temporal trend from 1974 to 2000/2001, but in the 2000/2001-2010 period the downward trend was statistically significant (**Figure 2-4B**). Both of these observations were consistent with the study on the larger dataset from which the current samples were drawn.^{28, 48} Furthermore, the 2000/2001-2010 decline is broadly in line with two American NHANES studies.^{29, 62} It was confirmed in the analysis that neither age nor gender confounded the temporal trend analysis. The population halving time, based on the 2000/2001-2010 data, was 5.4 years (95% CI, 3.8-9.7), close to the 4.3 year estimate in the larger population from which this subset was drawn,²⁸ thus the subset of samples examined here was representative.

Taken together, the decline of PFOS between 2000 and 2010 in Swedes and Americans in this study mirrored each other, and corresponded with the time of the phase-out, suggesting significant exposure mitigation by the phase-out. Nevertheless, we understand very little about what pathways of exposure resulted in these declines, thus it is of interest to know the relative contribution that PFOS and PreFOS have played over time.

2.3.2 Temporal trends of %br-PFOS

Triplicate analyses of a relevant historic 3M electrochemical fluorination (ECF) PFOS standard in the current study revealed $30\pm2.7\%$ (mean \pm standard deviation (S.D.)) branched PFOS content (%br-PFOS). Taking this as the reference, only 3 Swedish pooled samples (2 from 1996, and 1 from 1999), and 1 American individual sample (from 1989), could be characterized

as having an "ECF-like" PFOS isomer signature. For all other samples, %br-PFOS was greater than 33% (**Figure 2-5**), except for one sample from an American young female which had an exceptionally low %br-PFOS of 27%. Such enrichment of branched isomers, relative to historic ECF PFOS, is consistent with other human monitoring studies (**Table 2-3A**).

Direct PSLR on %br-PFOS in pooled Swedish samples from primiparous women showed no significant trend in %br-PFOS between 1996 and 2000, but a significant upward trend between 2000 and 2010 (**Figure 2-5A**). The increase of %br-PFOS is consistent with the general trend noted by Glynn *et al.*³² for the same samples, and was confirmed here statistically. The slightly lower %br-PFOS values determined by Glynn *et al.* (mean values from 31% in 1996 to 39% in 2010) than in the current study (means from 32% in 1996 to 45% in 2010) is mostly likely attributable to the different calibration method used by Glynn *et al.*

As discussed, enriched branched PFOS isomer profiles (i.e. %br-PFOS >30%) might be explained by PreFOS exposure. If so, the increasing %br-PFOS temporal trend suggests that the relative importance of PreFOS exposure has been increasing compared to direct PFOS exposure. There are no convincing Swedish data suggesting that exposure to PreFOS has increased over time in an absolute sense, but the trend observed here could be explained if pathway 1 has diminished more rapidly than pathways 2 and 3 (**Figure 2-1**).

An alternative explanation that must be considered for the increasing %br-PFOS temporal trend is the potential for environmental or biological processes to affect PFOS isomer profiles in human exposure media. For instance, soils preferentially adsorb the more hydrophobic linear PFOS,^{63, 64} causing enriched branched PFOS isomer profiles in water (**Table 2-3B**). Conversely, it is known that fish excrete branched PFOS isomers more efficiently,⁶⁵ resulting in enriched linear PFOS isomer profiles in fish meat (**Table 2-3C**). For the general Swedish population, fish is an important dietary component.⁶⁶ However, almost all fish samples previously examined were enriched in *n*-PFOS (**Table 2-3C**). Furthermore, %br-PFOS in archived herring, an important commercial fish species landed in Swedish harbors, actually declined between 1991 (7% branched) and 2011 (<4% branched).⁶⁷ An estimation of different food categories in the general Swedish population suggested that the contribution of fish product to dietary PFOS has increased (i.e. ~40% in 1999, ~60% in 2005 and ~85% in 2010).⁶⁶ Thus, it is difficult to reconcile %br-PFOS isomer patterns and temporal trends in fish, with isomer patterns and trends in the current

Swedish serum samples.

In contrast to the Swedish samples, a temporal trend for %br-PFOS was not detected in American samples by PMLR (Figure 2-5B). This may be due to lower statistical power (e.g. the small sample size and the relatively large intra-year variability due to the use of individual samples), compared to the Swedish pooled serum data set, or may reflect the absence of a true temporal trend. Interestingly though, both gender and age were significant variables in the PMLR analysis. Older Americans had significantly higher (Δ =3.6) %br-PFOS than younger Americans, after adjusting for gender, and American males were significantly higher (Δ =4.7) in %br-PFOS than females, after adjusting for age. The latter is consistent with a report of significantly higher %br-PFOS in males (33%) than females (30%) in Norway⁶⁸ and a recent study in 50 Chinese young couples.⁶⁹ According to our hypothesis, the significantly lower %br-PFOS in American females could be a result of relatively lower PreFOS exposure compared to males. However, it might also be explained by isomer-selective placental transfer during pregnancy, which favors branched PFOS isomers and results in reduced %br-PFOS in maternal serum.^{70, 71} Scarce isomer specific studies exist on menstrual and lactation elimination of PFOS, however, the significantly higher %br-PFOS in the husband than their wives, none of which have had a baby,⁶⁹ may point to a preferential branched PFOS elimination in females. In another study a statistically unchanged PFOS isomer profile was determined in mothers across one year's lactation,⁷² suggesting that no isomer selection happened in lactation.

Interestingly, American males^{28, 48, 49, 73} and older adults⁴⁸ had higher \sum PFOS than females and younger adults, respectively, in the larger American study population from which this small subset of samples was drawn. This, together with the same age and gender differences detected here for %br-PFOS, shows a tendency that individuals with higher \sum PFOS concentrations may have higher %br-PFOS. This is in agreement with Zhang *et al.*,⁷⁴ who observed a significant positive correlation between \sum PFOS and %br-PFOS in a Chinese population.

To determine if all branched PFOS isomers were behaving similarly, we also examined correlations among the isomers, in terms of absolute concentration and percentage contribution to \sum PFOS in both populations. Spearman rank correlation was used here, because most data sets did not meet criteria for normality (**Table 2-4** and **Table 2-5**). In both populations, except for 1*m*-PFOS in Swedish samples, the individual branched PFOS isomer concentrations were always

positively correlated, indicating consistent temporal trends of the major PFOS isomers in both populations. With respect to percentage of each PFOS isomer, 1m-, (3+5)m- and 4m-PFOS, together comprised $63\pm0.69\%$ and $68\pm0.80\%$ of total branched PFOS in Swedes and Americans, respectively, and were always positively correlated with each other. This pattern, to some extent, suggests the similarity in environmental or biological disposition among the majority of branched PFOS isomers, or the similarity in the metabolism of the corresponding PreFOS isomers. *Iso*-PFOS, the single most prominent individual branched PFOS isomer in both populations ($36\pm4.1\%$ in Swedes and $31\pm6.2\%$ in Americans), did not correlate with any other PFOS isomer, suggesting a distinct behavior in either *iso*-PFOS disposition or *iso*-PreFOS metabolism. An analogous situation was reported by Zhang *et al.*,⁶⁹ who found that 1m-, (3+5)*m*and 4m-PFOS were enriched to a similar extent in humans when compared to the ECF PFOS, while *iso*-PFOS was enriched to a much lesser extent.

2.3.3 Temporal Trends of 1*m*-PFOS EFs

All samples from both countries showed non-racemic EFs for 1*m*-PFOS (i.e. outside the range of 0.480-0.500). Additionally, except for one American sample (EF=0.512, from 1989), all samples had EFs below 0.480. This general finding is in line with the directionality of non-racemic EFs previously measured in 8 Canadian pregnant women, and 7 members of a highly ScotchGardTM-exposed Canadian family,⁴⁴ suggesting a common 1*m*-PreFOS enantioselective metabolic preference in most people examined to date. PSLR gave a significant decreasing temporal trend in 1*m*-PFOS EFs between 1996 and 2000, but no significant trend between 2000 and 2010 in Swedish primiparous women (**Figure 2-6A**). No significant 1*m*-PFOS EF temporal trend was observed in Americans (**Figure 2-6B**), however, both age and gender were found to be significant predictors. Males had significantly lower (Δ =0.02) 1*m*-PFOS EFs than females after adjusting for age, and the elderly had significantly lower (Δ =0.03) 1*m*-PFOS EFs than the young after adjusting for gender.

As hypothesized by Martin *et al.*,⁵ non-racemic 1*m*-PFOS EFs may point to PreFOS exposure by pathways 2 and 3 (**Figure 2-1**). Based on the limited available evidence, the only known enantioselective process that can lead to non-racemic 1*m*-PFOS is the biotransformation of 1m-PreFOS.⁴² Therefore, the observed 1m-PFOS EF trend in Swedish population, and its age/gender difference in Americans, suggested an increased relative contribution of PreFOS

exposure in Swedes over time, and relatively higher PreFOS exposure in male or old Americans. However, there are other non-PreFOS-relevant processes that could cause non-racemic signatures of 1*m*-PFOS EFs. Certain environmental or biological processes may favor one specific 1*m*-PFOS enantiomer. For example, it is currently uncertain if human elimination of 1*m*-PFOS (e.g. urine³⁸ or feces⁷⁵) is enantioselective. In rats, there was no evidence for enantioselective urinary elimination or tissue distribution,⁴⁴ but species differences could exist. The observed age and sex differences could possibly explained by enantiospecific menses,⁷⁶ placental transfer^{70, 71} and lactation^{32, 70, 77} in young women, but enantioselective studies of these processes have not been done for PFOS, thus it is acknowledged that there remains some uncertainty in interpreting 1*m*-PFOS EF data.

2.3.4 Comparing %br-PFOS and 1*m*-PFOS EF

A close examination of individual data revealed that the American with the exceptionally high 1*m*-PFOS EF (0.512) was the same individual with the lowest %br-PFOS (27%). Furthermore, the 3 pooled Swedish samples having the highest 1m-PFOS EF (0.475, 0.462 and 0.446, respectively) also had the lowest %br-PFOS (30%, 32% and 33%, respectively). MLR analysis between %br-PFOS and 1*m*-PFOS EFs, after correcting for potential covariates (i.e. "year" in Swedish samples, and "year", "age" and "gender" in American samples), revealed significant correlations between the two biomarkers in American samples (Figure 2-7B), but not when using all the Swedish samples (Figure 2-7A). However, when categorizing the Swedish samples into two time periods (before and after the phase-out), a significant correlation between %br-PFOS and 1*m*-PFOS EF was observed in the 1996-2000 period (*p*=0.01) but not in the 2000-2010 period (p=0.36) (Figure 2-7A). The *a priori* hypothesis, proposed by Martin *et* al.,⁵ was that both measurements could be biomarkers of PreFOS exposure, and the current results offer some support to this theory. However, 1*m*-PFOS EFs only explain 40% of the variation in %br-PFOS (41% in Swedish samples for the 1996-2000 period, and 42% in American samples), indicating that the two biomarkers are not exactly equivalent. Further studies of PFOS isomer content in important human exposure media (e.g. in diet, to rule out a high %br-PFOS dietary intake), and comparison of the 1*m*-PFOS EF in paired serum and urine samples (to rule out enantioselective human excretion) are priorities for future research.

Both isomer and enantiomer biomarkers suggest an increase in the relative importance of

PreFOS exposure in this Swedish population since the late 1990s. If true, the apparent contradictions between (i) the low %br-PFOS in Swedish herring (and most other fish) and the high %br-PFOS in the current Swedish sera, and (ii) between the decreasing %br-PFOS in Swedish herring (from 7% in 1991 to <4% in 2011⁶⁷) and the increasing %br-PFOS in the current Swedish population over the same period, might suggest increasing relative significance of non-dietary PreFOS exposure pathways (e.g. consumer products⁷⁸). The American samples, however, showed no clear trend in PFOS isomer or enantiomer profiles, making the relative PFOS and PreFOS exposure trends unknown. Future studies on larger sample sets, with smaller gaps between sampling times, and in populations that are representative of the underlying general population would be of great help. Furthermore, longitudinal samples from the same people, rather than the cross-sectional samples as used in the current study, would be better for temporal trend studies, since factors such as age and birth-period⁷⁹ may have confounded the results here.
2.4 Figures and Tables

2.4.1 Figures



Figure 2-1. Summary schematic for three primary PFOS exposure pathways. As discussed by Martin *et al.*,⁵ (1) PFOS may be emitted directly to the environment and absorbed directly in humans (red arrow); (2) PreFOS may be emitted to the environment (directly, or degraded from copolymers (pink line)). The emitted PreFOS might first be transformed to other forms of PreFOS (biotic or abiotic), but some form of PreFOS is directly absorbed into the human body (green arrows), a fraction of which can then be metabolized to PFOS; and (3) PreFOS may be emitted to the environment and transformed to PFOS abiotically (e.g. fish, or microbes), and the resultant PFOS could then be absorbed directly in humans (blue arrows).



Figure 2-2. Typical PFOS isomer chromatograms. Numbers beside each chromatogram (i.e. "499/#") refer to tandem mass spectrometry transitions used to monitor and quantify different isomers.



Figure 2-3. Typical 1m-PFOS enantiomer chromatograms for 1m-PFOS standard (blue) and for a pooled Swedish serum sample (red). The black lines are deconvoluted traces processed by Peakfit.



Figure 2-4. Temporal trends of log-transformed total PFOS (log- Σ PFOS) in pooled Swedish serum samples from primiparous women (A, $p_{1996-2000}=0.47$, $p_{2000-2010}<0.001$) and in individual American adult serum/plasma samples (B, $p_{1974-2000}=0.50$, $p_{2000-2010}<0.001$). Black lines indicate piecewise linear regression (solid and dashed lines indicate statistically significant and insignificant regressions, respectively) over different time periods.



Figure 2-5. Temporal trends of percent branched PFOS isomers (%br-PFOS) in pooled Swedish serum samples from primiparous women (A, $p_{1996-2000}=0.30$, $p_{2000-2010}<0.001$) and in individual American adult serum/plasma samples (B, $p_{gender}=0.003$, $p_{age}=0.02$). The black lines indicate piecewise linear regression (solid and dashed lines indicate statistically significant and insignificant regressions, respectively, over different time periods). The four groups in American samples are young males ("YM"), young females ("YF"), old males ("OM") and old females ("OF").



Figure 2-6. Temporal trends of enantiomer fractions of 1*m*-PFOS (1*m*-PFOS EFs) in pooled Swedish serum samples from primiparous women (A, $p_{1996-2000}=0.016$, $p_{2000-2010}=0.49$) and in individual American adult serum/plasma samples (B, $p_{gender}=0.004$, $p_{age}<0.001$). The black lines indicate piecewise linear regression (solid and dashed lines indicate statistically significant and insignificant regressions, respectively, over different time periods). The four groups in American samples are young males ("YM"), young females ("YF"), old males ("OM") and old females ("OF").



Figure 2-7. Plots of percent branched PFOS isomers (%br-PFOS) *vs* enantiomer fractions of 1*m*-PFOS (1*m*-PFOS EF) in pooled Swedish serum samples from primiparous women (A, $p_{1996-2000}=0.01$) and in individual American adult serum/plasma samples (B, p<0.001).

2.4.2 Tables

	Swedish Samples ^{32, 47}	the U.S. Samples ^{28, 48, 49, 73}
Location	Uppsala, Sweden	Hagerstown, Maryland, USA
Participants	19-41year-old primiparous women 3 weeks after delivery	young males (25-35yrs); young females (25-35yrs) old males (>50yrs); old females (>50yrs)
Sampling year	1996, 1997, 1998, 1999, 2000/2001, 2002, 2004, 2006, 2007, 2008, 2009, 2010	1974, 1989, 2000/2001, 2006, 2010
Sample type	extracts of pooled serum (by protein precipitation method ¹)	individual serum (1974 ⁴⁸ and 2000/2001 ⁷³) individual plasma (1989 ⁴⁸ , 2006 ⁴⁹ , 2010 ²⁸)
Sample number/year	3 extracts of pooled serum/year (6-7, 20-21, 24-25, 5-6, 9-10, 10-11, 10-11, 10, 9- 10, 10, 10, 10 individual samples, respectively, in each pool from 1996-2010)	12 individual samples/year (3 individual samples for each subgroup)
Total sample number	36 extracts of pooled serum sample and 4 procedural blanks	60 individual samples

Table 2-1. Comparison of Swedish and the U.S. human serum samples

PFOS isomer	MRM transition	linear regression r ²	MDL ng/mL	MQL ng/mL	SPE for	the U.S. samples	Protein Precipitation for Swedish samples	
					Recovery $(\%)^{\alpha}$	Matrix Effects (%) ^α	$\begin{array}{c} \text{Recovery} \\ (\%)^{\alpha} \end{array}$	Matrix Effects (%) ^α
n-	499 → 80	0.9982	0.080	0.20	107±1	116±5	97±6	114±5
1 <i>m</i> -	499 → 419	0.9942	0.0030	0.0090	98±8	108±2	100±4	87±3
(3 <i>m</i> +5 <i>m</i>)-	499→130	0.9978	0.010	0.035	108±4	98±6	94±7	71±2
4 <i>m</i> -	499→330	0.9952	0.015	0.045	98±2	111±2	108±3	72±3
iso-	499 → 80	0.9970	0.015	0.050	105±1	119±4	95±8	95±6

Table 2-2. MRM transitions, MDLs, MQLs, recoveries and matrix effects of individual PFOS isomer in PFOS isomer analysis.

"Recovery and matrix effects were assessed by analyzing 20ng/mL br-PFOSK spiked calf serum samples (expressed here as Mean ± S.E.)

 Table 2-3. Review of previous PFOS isomer studies.

(A) In human samples

Author, Year	Samples description (determined %br-PFOS in samples)	%br-PFOS in ECF PFOS
Zhang <i>et al</i> . ⁶⁹ 2014	Adult serum (mean value 40.8%) from 50 Chinese couples in North China, 2012	~28%
Zhang et al., ⁷⁴ 2013	adult serum (51.9%, range 22.7-82.7%) from two cities in North China, 2010	29.7%
Beesoon <i>et al.</i> , ⁷⁰ 2011	Paired maternal serum (<u>36%, range 27-44%</u>), and cord serum (<u>46%, range 36-54%</u>) from Vancouver, Canada, 2007-2008	30±2.7%
Haug et al., ³³ 2009	Pooled serums samples from different county hospitals in Norway (<u>32, 36, 40, 43%</u> for 1976, 1987, 1998 and 2007, respectively)	/
Riddell <i>et al.</i> , ⁵⁶ 2009	Pooled serum samples from donors consumed fish caught around the Great Lakes, 2006; pooled serum from humans across U.S., 2006 (<u>30-50%</u> for both)	/
Karrman <i>et al.</i> , ⁸⁰ 2007	Plasma samples from Swedish adults 1997-2002 (<u>34%</u> , range <u>30-50%</u>); plasma samples from young adults in United Kingdom, 2003 (<u>40%</u>); human serum from Australia from 2002-2003 (<u>41%</u>)	21-34%
Rylander et al., ⁶⁸ 2009	Adult males (<u>33%</u> , range 0-51%) and females (<u>30%</u> , <u>0-44%</u>) from Andenes, Norway, 2005. The population is known to have a high consumption of various kinds of seafood (on average <u>31%</u> , range 0-51%)	/
Rylander et al., ⁸¹ 2009	Plasma samples from pregnant women in a coastal city and an inland district in the same province in south central Vietnam, 2005. Samples were taken within 3 hours after delivery (on average 19%, range 7-83%)	/

(B) In the environmental samples

Author, Year	Samples description (determined %br-PFOS in samples)	%br-PFOS in ECF PFOS
Karrman <i>et al.</i> , ⁶³ 2011	Soils around a AFFF-used training site in Flesland airport (average 21%, increased with the distance from the site); Water (39-42%), sediment (average: 21.5%) and fish liver (10-13%) from the lake the seepage water	37
Houde <i>et al.</i> , ⁶⁴ 2008	Bulk water (<u>44-57%</u>), sediment (<u>11-19%</u>) and invertebrates and fish (<u>$\leq 22\%$</u>) from Lake Ontario, Canada, sampled in 2002	23
Asher <i>et al.</i> , ⁴⁵ 2012	Bulk water (31.2%), sediment (3.7%) and aquatic species ($\leq=10\%$) from Lake Ontario, Canada, sampled in 2007-2008	/
Benskin <i>et al.</i> , ⁸² 2010	Coastal Asian seawater: Tomakomai Bay, Japan, 2003 ($31.4\%-38.7\%$); Tokyo Bay, Japan, 2008(35.4%); Sea of Japan, 2008 ($38.8-39.6\%$); Hangzhou, China, 2008 (30.7%); Shanghai, China 2008(29.2%) Mississippi river, 2009: water (51.9%); sediment ($11-19\%$); North Sea Canal Water from Netherland, 2005 ($\sim34\%$)	27.2%
Yu et al., ⁸³ 2013	Water samples from Huai River Basin (<u>32.4%, 29.0-35.0%</u>) and Taihu Lake (<u>45.1, 48.1-62.5%</u>), China, 2011	29.1% (21.8-34.7%)
Ullah <i>et al</i> ., ⁸⁴ 2011	Tap water from Stockholm University, Sweden (<u>32%</u>), Institute for Environment and Sustainability, Ispra, Italy (<u>26%</u>), University of Antwerp, Belgium (<u>38%</u>), University of Amsterdam, The Netherlands (<u>38%</u>), VU University, Amsterdam, The Netherlands (<u>42%</u>), Norwegian Institute for Air Research, Tromso Norway (<u>30%</u>) and Fraunhofer Institute, Schmallenberg, Germany (<u>29%</u>)	21.2%

(C) In wildlife samples

Author, Year	Samples description (determined %br-PFOS in samples)	%br-PFOS in ECF PFOS
Powley <i>et al.</i> , ⁸⁵ 2008	Cod (~50%), ringed and bearded seal blood (4%) from Western Canadian Arctic, 2004	26%
Gebbink <i>et al.</i> , ⁸⁶ 2010	Herring gull eggs (1.7-5%) from Great Lakes, North America (NA), 2007	21-35%
O'Brien <i>et al.</i> , ⁸⁷ 2011	Direct inject technical PFOS into the air cell of chicken eggs prior to incubation, and detected $\sim 16\%$ in liver of the embryonic chickens	37.3
Sharpe <i>et al.</i> , ⁶⁵ 2010	Enriched <i>n</i> -PFOS in laboratory exposed zebra fish and rainbow trout compared to the technical PFOS in food	/
Chu <i>et al.</i> , ⁸⁸ 2009	Herring gull eggs from Great Lakes, NA, 1989 (5.5%); Double crested cormorant eggs from Great Lakes, North America, 2003 (4.1%); Polar bear plasma from Norwegian Arctic, 2007 (17.6%); Polar bear livers from Nunavut, Canadian Arctic, 2007 (7.6%)	35
Kumar et al., ⁸⁹ 2009	Aquatic wildlife, including sharks, from Georgia coast, USA, 2006-2007 (11-23%)	/
Greaves et al.,90 2013	Blood (15%) and liver (7%) samples of polar bear from Greenland, 2006	21-35%
Rotander <i>et al.,⁹¹</i> 2012	Whale livers (5-7%) from Faroe Islands 1984-1989; ringed seal liver (9% in 1984 to 17% in 2006) from north West Greenland	/
Huber <i>et al.</i> , ⁹² 2012	Harbor porpoise liver samples from Baltic ($\sim 10\%$) and North Sea (<u>15%</u>) 1991-2008	/
Lloyd <i>et al.</i> , ⁹³ 2009	Whitebait (39%) , Roe deer (42%) , Cromer crab (14%) and Carp (11%)	~29%
Ullah <i>et al.</i> , ⁹⁴ 2012	10 duplicate food samples from individuals in southern part of Germany during Apr. to Oct.2005 (<u>15-36%</u>); Carp from Netherland (<u>22%</u>), pig livers from supermarkets in Norway, Belgium and Czech Republic (<u>23%</u>)	21.2%
Ullah <i>et al.</i> , ⁶⁷ 2014	Archived Herring muscle and liver samples during 1991-2011 ($\leq 10\%$ in all); fishes from Baltic Sea, Sweden, Lake Ijssel, Netherland and Amsterdam etc. (3% -18%)	/

Table 2-4. Spearman correlation coefficients (r value) and significant levels (p value) among #-PFOS (#=*total*, *total branched*, *1m*, (3+5)m, 4m, *iso*, m_2 , n-) and %#-PFOS in Swedish pooled serum samples. p values in red indicate statistically significant.

		total	%br-	%1 <i>m</i> -	%(3+5) <i>m</i> -	%4 <i>m</i> -	% <i>iso-</i>	%n-
total	r value	1.000						
totai	<i>p</i> value							
9/ h.v	r value	.951*	1.000					
70DI-	<i>p</i> value	.000						
0/ 1 rea	r value	.463*	.558*	1.000				
%01 <i>M</i> -	<i>p</i> value	.005	.000					
0/ (3 5) m	r value	.943*	$.989^{*}$.554*	1.000			
%(3+5) <i>m</i> -	<i>p</i> value	.000	.000	.000				
9/ 1 200	r value	.854*	.942*	.541*	$.927^{*}$	1.000		
704 <i>m</i> -	<i>p</i> value	.000	.000	.001	.000			
0/ iso	r value	.983*	$.980^{*}$.481*	.964*	$.898^{*}$	1.000	
%o <i>lSO</i> -	<i>p</i> value	.000	.000	.003	.000	.000		
0 (r value	$.986^{*}$.915*	.397*	.909*	.796*	.959*	1.000
~о <i>П-</i>	<i>p</i> value	.000	.000	.016	.000	.000	.000	

(A). Spearman correlation among PFOS isomer concentration in pooled Swedish serum samples (ng/g)

* p<0.05

		%br-	%1 <i>m</i> -	%(3+5) <i>m</i> -	%4 <i>m</i> -	%iso-	%o <i>n</i> -
9/ br	r value	1.000					
70DI-	<i>p</i> value						
0/ 1 m	r value	.771*	1.000				
701 <i>m</i> -	<i>p</i> value	.000					
0/(2+5)	r value	.939*	.753*	1.000			
%(3+5) <i>m</i> -	<i>p</i> value	.000	.000				
0/ 4	r value	$.800^{*}$.512*	$.660^{*}$	1.000		
704 <i>m</i> -	<i>p</i> value	.000	.001	.000			
0/ iso	r value	.194	278	.141	.155	1.000	
%o <i>lSO</i> -	<i>p</i> value	.258	.100	.413	.366		
%n-	r value	-1.000*	771*	939*	800*	194	1.000
	<i>p</i> value		.000	.000	.000	.258	

(B) Spearman correlation among Percent PFOS isomer in pooled Swedish serum samples (%#-PFOS)

* p<0.05

Table 2-5. Spearman correlation coefficients and significant levels (p value) among #-PFOS (#=1m, (3+5)m, 4m, iso, m_2 , n-) and %#-PFOS in American serum/plasma samples. p values in red indicate statistically significant.

		total	%br-	%1 <i>m</i> -	%(3+5) <i>m</i> -	%4 <i>m</i> -	%iso-	%n-
total	r value	1.000						
totai	<i>p</i> value							
9/ h.v	r value	.971*	1.000					
7001-	<i>p</i> value	.000						
0/1-	r value	.683*	.739*	1.000				
%01 <i>M</i> -	<i>p</i> value	.000	.000					
0((2)5)	r value	$.968^{*}$.995*	$.706^{*}$	1.000			
%(3+5) <i>m</i> -	<i>p</i> value	.000	.000	.000				
9/ 4	r value	$.960^{*}$.989*	.731*	.991*	1.000		
704 <i>m</i> -	<i>p</i> value	.000	.000	.000	.000			
9/ ico	r value	$.947^{*}$.948*	$.567^{*}$.950*	.924*	1.000	
%o <i>l</i> \$0-	<i>p</i> value	.000	.000	.000	.000	.000		
0./	r value	$.988^{*}$	$.937^{*}$.625*	.937*	.923*	.929*	1.000
~0 <i>I</i> I-	<i>p</i> value	.000	.000	.000	.000	.000	.000	

(A) Spearman correlation among PFOS isomer concentration in American serum/plasma samples (ng/mL)

*p<0.05

		%br-	%1 <i>m</i> -	%(3+5) <i>m</i> -	%4 <i>m</i> -	% <i>iso</i> -	%o <i>n</i> -
0/ h.v.	r value	1.000					
/001-	<i>p</i> value						
0/ 1	r value	.483*	1.000				
701 <i>m</i> -	<i>p</i> value	.000					
0/ (2 + 5)	r value	.864*	$.270^{*}$	1.000			
%0(3+5) <i>M</i> -	<i>p</i> value	.000	.037				
0/ 4	r value	.864*	.327*	.852*	1.000		
%04 <i>m</i> -	<i>p</i> value	.000	.011	.000			
0/ :	r value	.221	525*	.227	.096	1.000	
%o <i>lSO</i> -	<i>p</i> value	.090	.000	.081	.464		
⁰⁄₀ <i>n</i> -	r value	-1.000*	483*	864*	864*	221	1.000
	p value		.000	.000	.000	.090	

(B) Spearman correlation among Percent PFOS isomer in American serum/plasma samples (%#-PFOS)

* *p*<0.05

2.5 Literature Cited

- 1. 3M., Sulfonated Perfluorochemicals in the environment: sources, dispersion, fate and effects. In U.S. Environmental Protection Agency Public docket *AR226-0620*: 2000.
- Boudreau, T. M.; Wilson, C. J.; Cheong, W. J.; Sibley, P. K.; Mabury, S. A.; Muir, D. C.; Solomon, K. R., Response of the zooplankton community and environmental fate of perfluorooctane sulfonic acid in aquatic microcosms. *Environ Toxicol Chem* 2003, *22*, (11), 2739-45.
- Olsen, G. W.; Burris, J. M.; Ehresman, D. J.; Froehlich, J. W.; Seacat, A. M.; Butenhoff, J. L.; Zobel, L. R., Halflife of serum elimination of perfluorooctanesulfonate, perfluorohexanesulfonate and perfluorooctanoate in retired fluorochemical production workers. *Environ Health Perspect* 2007, *115*, (9), 1298-1305.
- 4. Suja, F.; Pramanik, B. K.; Zain, S. M., Contamination, bioaccumulation and toxic effects of perfluorinated chemicals (PFCs) in the water environment: a review paper. *Water Sci Technol* **2009**, *60*, (6), 1533-44.
- Martin, J. W.; Asher, B. J.; Beesoon, S.; Benskin, J. P.; Ross, M. S., PFOS or PreFOS? Are perfluorooctane sulfonate precursors (PreFOS) important determinants of human and environmental perfluorooctane sulfonate (PFOS) exposure? *J Environ Monit* 2010, *12*, (11), 1979-2004.
- 6. Houde, M.; Martin, J. W.; Letcher, R. J.; Solomon, K. R.; Muir, D. C., Biological monitoring of polyfluoroalkyl substances: A review. *Environ Sci Technol* **2006**, *40*, (11), 3463-73.
- Muller, C. E.; Spiess, N.; Gerecke, A. C.; Scheringer, M.; Hungerbuhler, K., Quantifying diffuse and point inputs of perfluoroalkyl acids in a nonindustrial river catchment. *Environ Sci Technol* 2011, 45, (23), 9901-9.
- Lau, C.; Thibodeaux, J. R.; Hanson, R. G.; Rogers, J. M.; Grey, B. E.; Stanton, M. E.; Butenhoff, J. L.; Stevenson, L. A., Exposure to perfluorooctane sulfonate during pregnancy in rat and mouse. II: postnatal evaluation. *Toxicol Sci* 2003, 74, (2), 382-92.
- Thibodeaux, J. R.; Hanson, R. G.; Rogers, J. M.; Grey, B. E.; Barbee, B. D.; Richards, J. H.; Butenhoff, J. L.; Stevenson, L. A.; Lau, C., Exposure to perfluorooctane sulfonate during pregnancy in rat and mouse. I: maternal and prenatal evaluations. *Toxicol Sci* 2003, 74, (2), 369-81.
- Luebker, D. J.; Case, M. T.; York, R. G.; Moore, J. A.; Hansen, K. J.; Butenhoff, J. L., Two-generation reproduction and cross-foster studies of perfluorooctanesulfonate (PFOS) in rats. *Toxicology* 2005, 215, (1-2), 126-148.
- Luebker, D. J.; York, R. G.; Hansen, K. J.; Moore, J. A.; Butenhoff, J. L., Neonatal mortality from in utero exposure to perfluorooctanesulfonate (PFOS) in Sprague-Dawley rats: dose-response, and biochemical and pharamacokinetic parameters. *Toxicology* 2005, *215*, (1-2), 149-69.
- Armitage, J. M.; Schenker, U.; Scheringer, M.; Martin, J. W.; Macleod, M.; Cousins, I. T., Modeling the global fate and transport of perfluorooctane sulfonate (PFOS) and precursor compounds in relation to temporal trends in wildlife exposure. *Environ Sci Technol* 2009, 43, (24), 9274-80.
- 13. Paul, A. G.; Jones, K. C.; Sweetman, A. J., A first global production, emission, and environmental inventory for perfluorooctane sulfonate. *Environ Sci Technol* **2009**, *43*, (2), 386-92.
- Rayne, S.; Forest, K., Modeling the hydrolysis of perfluorinated compounds containing carboxylic and phosphoric acid ester functions and sulfonamide groups. *J Environ Sci Health A Tox Hazard Subst Environ Eng* 2010, 45, (4), 432-46.
- Wolfenden, R.; Ridgway, C.; Young, G., Spontaneous hydrolysis of ionized phosphate monoesters and diesters and the proficiencies of phosphatases and phosphodiesterases as catalysts. *J Am Chem Soc* 1998, *120*, (4), 833-834.
- 16. Washington, J. W.; Ellington, J.; Jenkins, T. M.; Evans, J. J.; Yoo, H.; Hafner, S. C., Degradability of an acrylate-linked, fluorotelomer polymer in soil. *Environ Sci Technol* **2009**, *43*, (17), 6617-23.
- Stockholm-Convention. The Nine New POPs: An Introduction to the Nine Chemicals Added to the Stockholm Convention by the Conference of the Parties at its Fourth Meeting; Stockholm Convention: Geneva, Switzerland, 2009.
- 18. Miyake, Y.; Yamashita, N.; Rostkowski, P.; So, M. K.; Taniyasu, S.; Lam, P. K. S.; Kannan, K., Determination of trace levels of total fluorine in water using combustion ion chromatography for fluorine: A mass balance approach to determine individual perfluorinated chemicals in water. *J Chromatgr A* 2007, *1143*, (1), 98-104.

- Yeung, L. W.; Miyake, Y.; Wang, Y.; Taniyasu, S.; Yamashita, N.; Lam, P. K., Total fluorine, extractable organic fluorine, perfluorooctane sulfonate and other related fluorochemicals in liver of Indo-Pacific humpback dolphins (*Sousa chinensis*) and finless porpoises (*Neophocaena phocaenoides*) from South China. *Environ Pollut* 2009, 157, (1), 17-23.
- Yeung, L. W.; Miyake, Y.; Taniyasu, S.; Wang, Y.; Yu, H.; So, M. K.; Jiang, G.; Wu, Y.; Li, J.; Giesy, J. P.; Yamashita, N.; Lam, P. K., Perfluorinated compounds and total and extractable organic fluorine in human blood samples from China. *Environ Sci Technol* 2008, 42, (21), 8140-5.
- Benskin, J. P.; Ikonomou, M. G.; Gobas, F. A.; Woudneh, M. B.; Cosgrove, J. R., Observation of a novel PFOSprecursor, the perfluorooctane sulfonamido ethanol-based phosphate (SAmPAP) diester, in marine sediments. *Environ Sci Technol* 2012, 46, (12), 6505-14.
- 22. Yeung, L. W.; Robinson, S. J.; Koschorreck, J.; Mabury, S. A., Part II. A temporal study of PFOS and its precursors in human plasma from two German cities in 1982-2009. *Environ Sci Technol* **2013**, *47*, (8), 3875-82.
- 23. D'Eon J, C.; Mabury, S. A., Is indirect exposure a significant contributor to the burden of perfluorinated acids observed in humans? *Environ Sci Technol* **2011**, *45*, (19), 7974-84.
- Fromme, H.; Tittlemier, S. A.; Volkel, W.; Wilhelm, M.; Twardella, D., Perfluorinated compounds-exposure assessment for the general population in Western countries. *Int J Hyg Environ Health* 2009, 212, (3), 239-70.
- 25. Vestergren, R.; Cousins, I. T.; Trudel, D.; Wormuth, M.; Scheringer, M., Estimating the contribution of precursor compounds in consumer exposure to PFOS and PFOA. *Chemosphere* **2008**, *73*, (10), 1617-24.
- 26. Tomy, G. T.; Tittlemier, S. A.; Palace, V. P.; Budakowski, W. R.; Braekevelt, E.; Brinkworth, L.; Friesen, K., Biotransformation of N-ethyl perfluorooctanesulfonamide by rainbow trout (*Onchorhynchus mykiss*) liver microsomes. *Environ Sci Technol* 2004, *38*, (3), 758-62.
- 27. 3M. Environmental and Health Assessment of Perfluorooctane Sulfonic Acid and Its Salts; 3M Company (3M): 2003.
- Olsen, G. W.; Lange, C. C.; Ellefson, M. E.; Mair, D. C.; Church, T. R.; Goldberg, C. L.; Herron, R. M.; Medhdizadehkashi, Z.; Nobiletti, J. B.; Rios, J. A.; Reagen, W. K.; Zobel, L. R., Temporal trends of perfluoroalkyl concentrations in American Red Cross adult blood donors, 2000-2010. *Environ Sci Technol* 2012, 46, (11), 6330-8.
- Calafat, A. M.; Wong, L. Y.; Kuklenyik, Z.; Reidy, J. A.; Needham, L. L., Polyfluoroalkyl chemicals in the U.S. population: data from the National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey (NHANES) 2003-2004 and comparisons with NHANES 1999-2000. *Environ Health Perspect* 2007, *115*, (11), 1596-602.
- 30. Lee, H.; Mabury, S. A., A pilot survey of legacy and current commercial fluorinated chemicals in human sera from United States donors in 2009. *Environ Sci Technol* **2011**, *45*, (19), 8067-74.
- 31. Wang, M.; Park, J. S.; Petreas, M., Temporal changes in the levels of perfluorinated compounds in California women's serum over the past 50 years. *Environ Sci Technol* **2011**, *45*, (17), 7510-6.
- 32. Glynn, A.; Berger, U.; Bignert, A.; Ullah, S.; Aune, M.; Lignell, S., Perfluorinated alkyl acids in blood serum from primiparous women in Sweden: serial sampling during pregnancy and nursing, and temporal trends 1996– 2010. Environ Sci Technol 2012, 46, (16), 9071-9.
- 33. Haug, L. S.; Thomsen, C.; Becher, G., Time trends and the influence of age and gender on serum concentrations of perfluorinated compounds in archived human samples. *Environ Sci Technol* **2009**, *43*, (6), 2131-6.
- 34. Bao, J.; Kärrman, A.; van Bavel, B.; Jin, Y., Perfluoroalkyl substances in the blood samples from a male population of Sweden. *Chinese Science Bulletin* **2014**, *59*, (4), 388-395.
- 35. Benskin, J. P.; De Silva, A. O.; Martin, J. W., Isomer profiling of perfluorinated substances as a tool for source tracking: a review of early findings and future applications. *Rev Environ Contam Toxicol* **2010**, *208*, 111-60.
- 36. Korkowski, P.; Kestner, T. Chemical characterization of FOSA & PFOSA samples by 1H and 19F NMR spectroscopy; 3M Company (3M): 1999.
- 37. Reagen, W. K.; Jacob, C. B.; Purcell, R. G.; Kestner, T. A.; Payfer, R. M.; Miller, J. W. In *Environmental characterization of 3M electrochemical fluorination derived perfluoroctanoate and perfluoroctanesulfonate*, Society of Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry 28th Annual Meeting, Milwaukee, WI, USA, November 11-15 2007.
- 38. Zhang, Y.; Beesoon, S.; Zhu, L.; Martin, J. W., Biomonitoring of perfluoroalkyl acids in human urine and estimates of biological half-life. *Environ Sci Technol* **2013**, *47*, (18), 10619-27.

- 39. Ross, M. S.; Wong, C. S.; Martin, J. W., Isomer-specific biotransformation of perfluorooctane sulfonamide in Sprague-Dawley rats. *Environ Sci Technol* **2012**, *46*, (6), 3196-203.
- Benskin, J. P.; Holt, A.; Martin, J. W., Isomer-specific biotransformation rates of a perfluorooctane sulfonate (PFOS)-precursor by cytochrome P450 isozymes and human liver microsomes. *Environ Sci Technol* 2009, 43, (22), 8566-72.
- Benskin, J. P.; De Silva, A. O.; Martin, L. J.; Arsenault, G.; McCrindle, R.; Riddell, N.; Mabury, S. A.; Martin, J. W., Disposition of perfluorinated acid isomers in Sprague-Dawley rats; part 1: single dose. *Environ Toxicol Chem* 2009, 28, (3), 542-54.
- 42. Wang, Y.; Arsenault, G.; Riddell, N.; McCrindle, R.; McAlees, A.; Martin, J. W., Perfluorooctane sulfonate (PFOS) precursors can be metabolized enantioselectively: principle for a new PFOS source tracking tool. *Environ Sci Technol* **2009**, *43*, (21), 8283-8289.
- 43. Rayne, S.; Forest, K.; Friesen, K. J., Congener-specific numbering systems for the environmentally relevant C4 through C8 perfluorinated homologue groups of alkyl sulfonates, carboxylates, telomer alcohols, olefins, and acids, and their derivatives. *J Environ Sci Health Part A Toxic/Hazard Subst Environ Eng* **2008**, *43*, (12), 1391-401.
- 44. Wang, Y.; Beesoon, S.; Benskin, J. P.; De Silva, A. O.; Genuis, S. J.; Martin, J. W., Enantiomer fractions of chiral Perfluorooctanesulfonate (PFOS) in human sera. *Environ Sci Technol* **2011**, *45*, (20), 8907-14.
- 45. Asher, B. J.; Wang, Y.; De Silva, A. O.; Backus, S.; Muir, D. C.; Wong, C. S.; Martin, J. W., Enantiospecific perfluorooctane sulfonate (PFOS) analysis reveals evidence for the source contribution of PFOS-precursors to the Lake Ontario foodweb. *Environ Sci Technol* **2012**, *46*, (14), 7653-60.
- Benskin, J. P.; Bataineh, M.; Martin, J. W., Simultaneous characterization of perfluoroalkyl carboxylate, sulfonate, and sulfonamide isomers by liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry. *Anal Chem* 2007, 79, (17), 6455-64.
- Lignell, S.; Aune, M.; Darnerud, P. O.; Cnattingius, S.; Glynn, A., Persistent organochlorine and organobromine compounds in mother's milk from Sweden 1996-2006: compound-specific temporal trends. *Environ Res* 2009, 109, (6), 760-7.
- Olsen, G. W.; Huang, H. Y.; Helzlsouer, K. J.; Hansen, K. J.; Butenhoff, J. L.; Mandel, J. H., Historical comparison of perfluorooctanesulfonate, perfluorooctanoate, and other fluorochemicals in human blood. *Environ Health Perspect* 2005, *113*, (5), 539-45.
- 49. Olsen, G. W.; Mair, D. C.; Church, T. R.; Ellefson, M. E.; Reagen, W. K.; Boyd, T. M.; Herron, R. M.; Medhdizadehkashi, Z.; Nobiletti, J. B.; Rios, J. A.; Butenhoff, J. L.; Zobel, L. R., Decline in perfluorooctanesulfonate and other polyfluoroalkyl chemicals in American Red Cross adult blood donors, 2000-2006. *Environ Sci Technol* 2008, 42, (13), 4989-95.
- Kuklenyik, Z.; Reich, J. A.; Tully, J. S.; Needham, L. L.; Calafat, A. M., Automated solid-phase extraction and measurement of perfluorinated organic acids and amides in human serum and milk. *Environ Sci Technol* 2004, 38, (13), 3698-704.
- 51. Ehresman, D. J.; Froehlich, J. W.; Olsen, G. W.; Chang, S. C.; Butenhoff, J. L., Comparison of human whole blood, plasma, and serum matrices for the determination of perfluorooctanesulfonate (PFOS), perfluorooctanoate (PFOA), and other fluorochemicals. *Environ. Res.* 2007, 103, (2), 176-84.
- 52. Singh, A. K.; Singh, A.; Engelhardt, M., The lognormal distribution in environemental applications. In Office of Solid Waste and Emergency Response, the United States Environmental Protection Agency (the U.S. EPA): Washington, D.C., 1997.
- 53. Bignert, A.; Riget, F.; Braune, B.; Outridge, P.; Wilson, S., Recent temporal trend monitoring of mercury in Arctic biota-how powerful are the existing data sets? *J Environ Monit* **2004**, *6*, (4), 351-5.
- 54. Bignert, A. Some consequences using pooled samples versus individual samples and pooled samples with various relation between sampling error and uncertainty due to chemical analysis; Department of Contaminant Researc, Swedish Museum of Natural History: Stockholm, 2008.
- 55. Flaherty, J. M.; Connolly, P. D.; Decker, E. R.; Kennedy, S. M.; Ellefson, M. E.; Reagen, W. K.; Szostek, B., Quantitative determination of perfluorooctanoic acid in serum and plasma by liquid chromatography tandem mass spectrometry. *J Chromatogr B Analyt Technol Biomed Life Sci* 2005, *819*, (2), 329-38.
- 56. Riddell, N.; Arsenault, G.; Benskin, J. P.; Chittim, B.; Martin, J. W.; McAlees, A.; McCrindle, R., Branched

perfluorooctane sulfonate isomer quantification and characterization in blood serum samples by HPLC/ESI-MS(/MS). *Environ Sci Technol* **2009**, *43*, (20), 7902-8.

- 57. Harner, T.; Wiberg, K.; Norstrom, R., Enantiomer Fractions Are Preferred to Enantiomer Ratios for Describing Chiral Signatures in Environmental Analysis. *Environ Sci Technol* **2000**, *34*, (1), 218-220.
- 58. Marchi, I.; Viette, V.; Badoud, F.; Fathi, M.; Saugy, M.; Rudaz, S.; Veuthey, J. L., Characterization and classification of matrix effects in biological samples analyses. *J Chromatogr A* **2010**, *1217*, (25), 4071-4078.
- 59. Bignert, A.; Eriksson, U.; Nyberg, E.; Miller, A.; Danielsson, S., Consequences of using pooled versus individual samples for designing environmental monitoring sampling strategies. *Chemosphere* **2014**, *94*, 177-182.
- 60. Schroter-Kermani, C.; Muller, J.; Jurling, H.; Conrad, A.; Schulte, C., Retrospective monitoring of perfluorocarboxylates and perfluorosulfonates in human plasma archived by the German Environmental Specimen Bank. *Int J Hyg Environ Health* **2013**, *216*, (6), 633-40.
- 61. Ritter, R.; Scheringer, M.; MacLeod, M.; Moeckel, C.; Jones, K. C.; Hungerbuhler, K., Intrinsic human elimination half-lives of polychlorinated biphenyls derived from the temporal evolution of cross-sectional biomonitoring data from the United Kingdom. *Environ. Health Perspect.* **2011**, *119*, (2), 225-31.
- 62. Kato, K.; Wong, L. Y.; Jia, L. T.; Kuklenyik, Z.; Calafat, A. M., Trends in exposure to polyfluoroalkyl chemicals in the U.S. Population: 1999-2008. *Environ Sci Technol* 2011, 45, (19), 8037-45.
- Kärrman, A.; Elgh-Dalgren, K.; Lafossas, C.; Møskeland, T., Environmental levels and distribution of structural isomers of perfluoroalkyl acids after aqueous fire-fighting foam (AFFF) contamination. *Environ Chem* 2011, *8*, (4), 372-380.
- Houde, M.; Czub, G.; Small, J. M.; Backus, S.; Wang, X.; Alaee, M.; Muir, D. C., Fractionation and bioaccumulation of perfluorooctane sulfonate (PFOS) isomers in a Lake Ontario food web. *Environ Sci Technol* 2008, 42, (24), 9397-403.
- 65. Sharpe, R. L.; Benskin, J. P.; Laarman, A. H.; Macleod, S. L.; Martin, J. W.; Wong, C. S.; Goss, G. G., Perfluorooctane sulfonate toxicity, isomer-specific accumulation, and maternal transfer in zebrafish (Danio rerio) and rainbow trout (Oncorhynchus mykiss). *Environ Toxicol Chem* 2010, 29, (9), 1957-66.
- 66. Vestergren, R.; Berger, U.; Glynn, A.; Cousins, I. T., Dietary exposure to perfluoroalkyl acids for the Swedish population in 1999, 2005 and 2010. *Environ Int* **2012**, *49*, 120-7.
- 67. Ullah, S.; Huber, S.; Bignert, A.; Berger, U., Temporal trends of perfluoroalkane sulfonic acids and their sulfonamide-based precursors in herring from the Swedish west coast 1991-2011 including isomer-specific considerations. *Environ Int* **2014**, *65*, 63-72.
- Rylander, C.; Brustad, M.; Falk, H.; Sandanger, T. M., Dietary predictors and plasma concentrations of perfluorinated compounds in a coastal population from northern Norway. *J Environ Public Health* 2009, 2009, 268219-29.
- Chang, Y.; Jiang, W.; Fang, S.; Zhu, L.; Deng, J., Perfluoroalkyl acids and the isomers of perfluorooctanesulfonate and perfluorooctanoate in the sera of 50 new couples in Tianjin, China. *Environ Int* 2014, 68, 185-91.
- Beesoon, S.; Webster, G. M.; Shoeib, M.; Harner, T.; Benskin, J. P.; Martin, J. W., Isomer profiles of perfluorochemicals in matched maternal, cord, and house dust samples: manufacturing sources and transplacental transfer. *Environ Health Perspect* 2011, *119*, (11), 1659-64.
- Hanssen, L.; Rollin, H.; Odland, J. O.; Moe, M. K.; Sandanger, T. M., Perfluorinated compounds in maternal serum and cord blood from selected areas of South Africa: results of a pilot study. *J Environ Monit* 2010, *12*, (6), 1355-61.
- 72. Thomsen, C.; Haug, L. S.; Stigum, H.; Froshaug, M.; Broadwell, S. L.; Becher, G., Changes in concentrations of perfluorinated compounds, polybrominated diphenyl ethers, and polychlorinated biphenyls in Norwegian breastmilk during twelve months of lactation. *Environ Sci Technol* 2010, 44, (24), 9550-6.
- 73. Olsen, G. W.; Church, T. R.; Miller, J. P.; Burris, J. M.; Hansen, K. J.; Lundberg, J. K.; Armitage, J. B.; Herron, R. M.; Medhdizadehkashi, Z.; Nobiletti, J. B.; O'Neill, E. M.; Mandel, J. H.; Zobel, L. R., Perfluorooctanesulfonate and other fluorochemicals in the serum of American Red Cross adult blood donors. *Environ Health Perspect* 2003, *111*, (16), 1892-901.
- 74. Zhang, Y.; Beesoon, S.; Zhu, L.; Martin, J. W., Isomers of perfluorooctanesulfonate and perfluorooctanoate and total perfluoroalkyl acids in human serum from two cities in North China. *Environ Int* **2013**, *53*, 9-17.

- 75. Genuis, S. J.; Curtis, L.; Birkholz, D., Gastrointestinal Elimination of Perfluorinated Compounds Using Cholestyramine and Chlorella pyrenoidosa. *ISRN toxicology* **2013**, *2013*, 657849.
- 76. Knox, S. S.; Jackson, T.; Javins, B.; Frisbee, S. J.; Shankar, A.; Ducatman, A. M., Implications of early menopause in women exposed to perfluorocarbons. *J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab.* **2011**, *96*, (6), 1747-53.
- 77. Kärrman, A.; Ericson, I.; van Bavel, B.; Darnerud, P. O.; Aune, M.; Glynn, A.; Lignell, S.; Lindström, G., Exposure of perfluorinated chemicals through lactation: levels of matched human milk and serum and a temporal trend, 1996–2004, in Sweden. *Environ Health Perspect* 2007, 115, (2), 226-230.
- 78. BMI. Sulfonated perfluorochemicals: U.S. release estimation-1997 Part 1: Life-cycle waste stream estimates; Battelle Memorial Institute (BMI): Columbus, OH, 2000.
- 79. Nost, T. H.; Breivik, K.; Fuskevag, O. M.; Nieboer, E.; Odland, J. O.; Sandanger, T. M., Persistent organic pollutants in Norwegian men from 1979 to 2007: intraindividual changes, age-period-cohort effects, and model predictions. *Environ Health Perspect* **2013**, *121*, (11-12), 1292-8.
- 80. Karrman, A.; Langlois, I.; van Bavel, B.; Lindstrom, G.; Oehme, M., Identification and pattern of perfluorooctane sulfonate (PFOS) isomers in human serum and plasma. *Environ Int* **2007**, *33*, (6), 782-8.
- 81. Rylander, C.; Phi, D. T.; Odland, J. O.; Sandanger, T. M., Perfluorinated compounds in delivering women from south central Vietnam. *J Environ Monit* **2009**, *11*, (11), 2002-8.
- Benskin, J. P.; Yeung, L. W.; Yamashita, N.; Taniyasu, S.; Lam, P. K.; Martin, J. W., Perfluorinated acid isomer profiling in water and quantitative assessment of manufacturing source. *Environ Sci Technol* 2010, 44, (23), 9049-54.
- 83. Yu, N.; Shi, W.; Zhang, B.; Su, G.; Feng, J.; Zhang, X.; Wei, S.; Yu, H., Occurrence of perfluoroalkyl acids including perfluorooctane sulfonate isomers in Huai River Basin and Taihu Lake in Jiangsu Province, China. *Environ Sci Technol* 2013, 47, (2), 710-7.
- Ullah, S.; Alsberg, T.; Berger, U., Simultaneous determination of perfluoroalkyl phosphonates, carboxylates, and sulfonates in drinking water. *J Chromatogr A* 2011, *1218*, (37), 6388-95.
- 85. Powley, C. R.; George, S. W.; Russell, M. H.; Hoke, R. A.; Buck, R. C., Polyfluorinated chemicals in a spatially and temporally integrated food web in the Western Arctic. *Chemosphere* **2008**, *70*, (4), 664-72.
- 86. Gebbink, W. A.; Letcher, R. J., Linear and branched perfluorooctane sulfonate isomer patterns in herring gull eggs from colonial sites across the Laurentian Great Lakes. *Environ Sci Technol* **2010**, *44*, (10), 3739-45.
- O'Brien, J. M.; Kennedy, S. W.; Chu, S.; Letcher, R. J., Isomer-specific accumulation of perfluorooctane sulfonate in the liver of chicken embryos exposed in ovo to a technical mixture. *Environ Toxicol Chem* 2011, 30, (1), 226-31.
- Chu, S.; Letcher, R. J., Linear and branched perfluorooctane sulfonate isomers in technical product and environmental samples by in-port derivatization-gas chromatography-mass spectrometry. *Anal Chem* 2009, *81*, (11), 4256-62.
- Senthil Kumar, K.; Zushi, Y.; Masunaga, S.; Gilligan, M.; Pride, C.; Sajwan, K. S., Perfluorinated organic contaminants in sediment and aquatic wildlife, including sharks, from Georgia, USA. *Mar Pollut Bull* 2009, *58*, (4), 621-9.
- 90. Greaves, A. K.; Letcher, R. J., Linear and branched perfluorooctane sulfonate (PFOS) isomer patterns differ among several tissues and blood of polar bears. *Chemosphere* **2013**, *93*, (3), 574-80.
- 91. Rotander, A.; Karrman, A.; van Bavel, B.; Polder, A.; Riget, F.; Auethunsson, G. A.; Vikingsson, G.; Gabrielsen, G. W.; Bloch, D.; Dam, M., Increasing levels of long-chain perfluorocarboxylic acids (PFCAs) in Arctic and North Atlantic marine mammals, 1984-2009. *Chemosphere* 2012, *86*, (3), 278-85.
- 92. Huber, S.; Ahrens, L.; Bardsen, B. J.; Siebert, U.; Bustnes, J. O.; Vikingsson, G. A.; Ebinghaus, R.; Herzke, D., Temporal trends and spatial differences of perfluoroalkylated substances in livers of harbor porpoise (Phocoena phocoena) populations from Northern Europe, 1991-2008. *Sci Total Environ* **2012**, *419*, 216-24.
- 93. Lloyd, A. S.; Bailey, V. A.; Hird, S. J.; Routledge, A.; Clarke, D. B., Mass spectral studies towards more reliable measurement of perfluorooctanesulfonic acid and other perfluorinated chemicals (PFCs) in food matrices using liquid chromatography/tandem mass spectrometry. *Rapid Commun Mass Spectrom* 2009, 23, (18), 2923-38.
- 94. Ullah, S.; Alsberg, T.; Vestergren, R.; Berger, U., Determination of perfluoroalkyl carboxylic, sulfonic, and phosphonic acids in food. *Anal Bioanal Chem* **2012**, *404*, (8), 2193-201.

Chapter 3. Discovery of C5-C17 PFASs in Water by In-Line SPE-HPLC-Orbitrap with In-Source Fragmentation Flagging[‡]

3.1 Introduction

Due to their unique water and oil repellency, high surface activity, and thermostability, PFASs have been used since the 1950s as surfactants and surface protectors for various industrial, commercial and consumer product applications. However, since the widespread discovery of PFOS and PFOA in the environment in 2001,^{1, 2} the highly persistent³ and sometimes bioaccumulative⁴ nature of long-chain PFASs has come to be recognized. There has since been a global trend towards restricting the use of some long-chain PFASs (e.g. the *Stockholm Convention* on PFOS and its precursors⁵) and transitioning to alternative PFASs that are believed to be less bioaccumulative or less persistent.⁶

A recent review⁶ of alternative PFASs showed that traditional long-chain PFASs, shortchain PFASs, and structurally modified long-chain PFASs (e.g. per- or polyfluoropolyethers) are currently in production. However, experts agree that there is little publicly available information on all alternative PFASs now being manufactured and marketed, including their chemical structures. For this reason, among several others, the recent Helsingor Statement⁷ and Madrid Statement⁸ called on the international community to limit the production and use of PFASs altogether.

Quantitative mass balance studies comparing total extractable organic fluorine (EOF) to the sum concentrations of known PFASs have consistently demonstrated a significant proportion of unknown organic fluorine compounds in various sample types: 50 to \geq 99% unknown in water⁹ or sediment,¹⁰ and 15 to \geq 99% unknown in biological samples including worms and shrimp,¹¹ wild rat/mouse blood¹² and even human blood.¹³ These unknown PFASs represent a great source of uncertainty for environmental and human health risk assessment, thus their discovery and

[‡] A version of this chapter has been published. Y. Liu, A.S. Pereira, J.W. Martin. *Anal Chem*, 2015, 87, (8), 4260-8. Reprinted with permission. Copyright 2015 American Chemical Society.

characterization is of high importance. Total organic fluorine measurements, including by CIC, provide a quantitative indication of how much organic fluorine is present in a sample, but this method is not selective enough to identify unknown fluorinated chemicals.

HRMS makes the characterization of unknown compounds possible based on the inherent combination of high spectral RP (i.e. $\geq 10,000$) and high mass accuracy (i.e. ≤ 5 ppm).¹⁴⁻¹⁷ This enables the assignment of molecular formulae to observed m/z peaks, for example by using QTOF-MS. In highly complex matrices, uHRMS (i.e. RP $\geq 100,000$) can provide additional discovery power by further base-line resolving the features in mass spectra, allowing minor analytes to be uncovered and thus their chemical formulae to also be predicted. Technologies that are capable of uHRMS include Orbitrap-MS and FTICR-MS.

A critical step in unknown PFAS identification is to distinguish the few fluorinated compounds, usually present at low levels, from non-fluorinated compounds, many at high levels, in complex environmental or biological samples. A few approaches have already been described for non-targeted PFAS screening. Qin *et al.*¹⁸ used HPLC-continuum source high resolution molecular absorption to flag the presence of model fluorinated compounds, followed by off-line analysis of HPLC fractions by low resolution MS. This proof-of-principle method has the potential advantage of quantifying unknown fluorine (i.e. ng F), but so far has not been reported to have identified any unknown fluorinated compounds in real samples.

MS-based approaches have taken advantage of negative mass-defects (e.g. in the range of - 0.100 to 0.150^{14}) and chain-length homologues (*m/z* spacing equals to ±50 or ±100). Trier *et al.*,¹⁷ scanned industrial product blends using qTOF-MS and found >100 PFASs by only focusing on homologous ions with negative mass defect. Place *et al.*¹⁴ examined several AFFF products by fast atom bombardment MS to screen for such ion series, followed by a secondary qTOF-MS analysis to examine the mass defects for the suspected ions series. D'Agostino *et al.*¹⁵ used TOF-CIC to prescreen AFFF fractions, and then used the above approaches to flag specific PFASs in high fluorine AFFF fractions by HRMS (qTOF) and uHRMS (FTICR-MS). To date, the only applications of the above methods to non-targeted discovery of PFASs in environmental samples were by Strynar *et al.*¹⁶ who, by focusing on ions present in water downstream of a fluorochemical plant, but not upstream, reported unique homologous PFAS compounds using TOF-MS; and by Crimmins *et al.*¹⁹ who, by screening ions with negative mass defects in lake

trout extract tentatively proposed a new short-chain chlorine substituted PFAS.

In our experience with the analysis of complex environmental samples by uHRMS, mass defect and homologous ion-series profiling are indeed useful approaches, but on their own leave too much ambiguity in detection and characterization of unknowns. This is because known PFASs often contain other heteroatoms (e.g. S, P and O) which also decrease the molecular MD. Furthermore, even given an instrumental mass accuracy of ≤ 3 ppm there is often more than a single theoretical empirical formula that can be assigned to an unknown *m/z* peak when allowing unrestricted formula predictions from only C, H, O, N, S, P, F and Cl atoms.

Here we build on previous HRMS and uHRMS applications for unknown PFAS detection by attempting to overcome some of the above limitations by (i) boosting sensitivity with large volume injection to in-line solid phase extraction (in-line SPE), and (ii) increasing overall specificity to PFASs discovery by (a) flagging unknown PFAS retention times by in-source fragmentation scanning and (b) subsequent Orbitrap MS/MS experiments to confirm the assigned molecular formulae and elucidate structure. With only two injections of a single wastewater sample, the method was shown to be sensitive and fast by discovery of 36 new PFAS compounds that have not previously been reported in the environment.

3.2 Experimental Section[§]

3.2.1 Chemical and Reagents

Optima water and methanol were from Fisher Scientific (Ottawa, ON, Canada). Ammonium acetate was purchased from Sigma-Aldrich (St. Louis, MO, USA). Model PFAS standards (**Table 3-1**) were purchased from Wellington Laboratories (Guelph, ON, Canada).

3.2.2 Sample Collection and Preparation

A combined aqueous wastewater released from a fluorochemical manufacturing park in China was sampled in Jan. 2014. Optima water in the same polypropylene sampling container was also taken to the field and was analyzed as a field blank. Both samples were shipped to the

[§] Ms. Manli Qian helped in wastewater collection and shipped the sample to the University of Alberta.

University of Alberta, Edmonton, Canada and stored at -20°C prior to analysis. The only sample preparation was centrifugation, whereby 30 mL of the sample, field blank, and procedural blank (i.e. Optima water) were transferred to 50 mL polypropylene centrifuge tubes (Fisher Scientific, USA) and spun at 4500 rpm for 30 min at room temperature. After spinning, supernatant was transferred to 10 mL autosampler vials for analysis.

3.2.3 HPLC-LTQ-Orbitrap-MS

Centrifuged samples were directly injected to an in-line C18 SPE column (Hypersil Gold, 2 cm length, 2.1 mm i.d., 12 μ m particle) by large volume injection (2-5 mL). The SPE eluent was directed to a reversed-phase C18 HPLC column (Hypersil Gold, 5 cm length, 2.1 mm i.d., 1.9 μ m particles) whose chromatographic eluent was connected to a hybrid linear ion trap-Orbitrap mass spectrometer (Orbitrap EliteTM, Thermo Fisher Scientific, CA, USA). An Ascentis Express F5 HPLC column (10 cm length, 2.1 mm i.d., 2.7 μ m particles) was used to confirm certain analytes. Total run time was 43 min and the mobile phase program for SPE and the analytical column gradient elution is described in **Table 3-2**.

The Orbitrap EliteTM was operated in negative electrospray ionization (ESI) mode in full scan (nominal RP=120,000 at m/z=400) and in in-source fragmentation flagging scan (nominal RP=15,000 at m/z=400). Capillary voltage was 5kV and capillary and vaporizer temperatures were 300 and 350 °C, respectively. Sheath gas flow, auxiliary gas flow and sweep gas flow were set to 40, 5 and 2 (arbitrary units), respectively. Data acquisition and analysis was performed by *Xcalibur* software (v2.2, Thermo Fisher).

3.2.4 Unknown PFAS Discovery and Characterization Workflow

The workflow included two injections. The first injection simultaneously accomplished untargted HPLC retention time flagging, and empirical formula assignment. The second injection was used for targeted MS/MS in HRMS mode for empirical formula confirmation and structural characterization.

3.2.4.1 First Injection

The Orbitrap-MS was programmed to cycle back and forth between 3 parallel MS events: two distinct HRMS in-source fragmentation flagging scans (each at ~8 Hz), and uHRMS full scanning (at ~2 Hz). Full-scan orbitrap-MS was performed between m/z=100-2000, and nominal RP was set to 120,000 at m/z=400. The fragmentation flagging scans were primarily designed to flag the retention time of compounds containing a perfluorinated moiety by producing diagnostic C_xF_y fragments (e.g. C_nF_{2n+1} and C_nF_{2n-1}) in the S-Lens region of the instrument, after elution from HPLC. To optimize fragment production, model native PFASs (**Table 3-1**) were tested under different source-induced dissociation (SID) energies in the S-lens region, and 50 eV was optimal in producing diagnostic C_xF_y fragments (e.g. C_2F_5 -m/z=118.993 and C_3F_5 -m/z=130.992). The diagnostic fragments were detected by full scanning in the m/z range of 50-300, with nominal RP set to 15,000 (RP calculated by dividing nominal m/z by spectral peak width at halfmaximum). These in-source fragmentation conditions also produced other diagnostic fragments, such as $SO_3F^- m/z=79.956$, $PO_3^- m/z=78.958$ and $SO_4H^- m/z=96.959$, which further aided elemental composition assignment and structural elucidation. Technically, any theorized diagnostic fragments with $m/z \ge 50$ can be monitored by this technique.

Chlorine atoms are present in some PFAS alternatives,^{6, 20} and these have previously been shown to produce chloride (Cl⁻) in MS/MS spectra.²⁰ It was therefore hypothesized that Cl⁻ could also be monitored during in-source fragmentation conditions to flag the presence of Cl-substituted PFASs. Thus another in-source fragmentation flagging scanning event was added to the method with scanning in the *m*/*z* range of 30-100, also using SID=50eV, but here the ion trap mass analyzer (unit resolution) of the Orbitrap EliteTM was used, instead of the Orbitrap detector, due to the low mass cut-off (*m*/*z*=50) of the latter.

Once a suspect PFAS ion was identified through full-scan and in-source fragmentation flagging scan, we confirmed that the ion was not present in blank samples, then performed a manual PFAS homologue search of the chromatograms by searching for ± 50 and/or ± 100 ions (more precisely, 49.996 and 99.993, respectively). Manual searching of the extracted ion chromatograms provided retention time information to confirm that the larger homologues corresponded to longer retention times, as would be expected by physical properties.

CF₂ normalized Kendrick mass defect (KMD, **Equation 3-1, 3-2 and 3-3**) plot (KMDP), by plotting KMDs against nominal Kendrick masses (NKMs, **Equation 3-2**), was used as an additional preliminary screening method for the existence of PFASs and their homologous series, which distribute as horizontal lines in KMDPs. KMDP is capable of quickly filtering out homologous m/z's in full-scan mass spectra of tested samples.²¹⁻²³ Typical PFASs have mass defects of -0.1- 0.15.¹⁴ This, in the m/z range of 100-1000, will produce KMD values ≤ 0.10 or ≥ 0.80 , which will fall within two separate regions in the KMDP. To combine the two regions into one, 0.10 was added to all KMDs that were <0.1, thereby resulting in "adjusted KMDs" (AKMD) from 0.80 to 1.10, the typical PFAS range (**Equation 3-4**). Some model PFASs were measured, and the resultant AKMDs were within the range (i.e. 0.95-1.05, **Figure 3-1**). In the current study, all ions in the sample with intensity $\geq 5 \times 10^3$ were plotted in AKMDP, and the focus was on ions with AKMD of 0.8-1.1.

Kendrick mass (KM) = measured mass × 50/49.99681 (Equation 3-1) NKM = KM (round up, 0 digit) (Equation 3-2) KMD = (NKM – KM) (round, 3 digits) (Equation 3-3) AKMD = KMD+1, if KMD<0.1(Equation 3-4)

For each suspect PFAS homologue series, molecular formula prediction (*Xcalibur* software) began with the smallest ion in the series. A general elemental composition limit was set (i.e. carbon: 1-60, hydrogen: 0-60, fluorine: 1-100, oxygen 0-8, nitrogen: 0-2, sulfur: 0-1 and phosphorous: 0-2), but was refined when justified by isotopic patterns, or by in source fragmentation flagging data. For example, one Cl atom would be allowed in the formula when a 3:1 of $[M]^-$ and $[M+2]^-$ ions was evident, or when a Cl⁻ peak was evident in in-source fragmentation flagging scan. Mass accuracy always had to be \leq 5ppm for the empirical formula to be tentatively accepted. Proposed molecular formula were further filtered according to the "Seven Golden Rules" (element number restrictions, LEWIS and senior check, isotopic pattern filter, H/C ratio check, heteroatom ratio check, element probability check and TMS check) for organic chemical formula for the smallest ion in the respective series, but other requirements (e.g. mass accuracy error) had to be fulfilled. Ultimately, molecular formulae were confirmed by MS/MS characterization, described below.

3.2.4.2 Second Injection

MS/MS experiments were conducted on at least one member of each homologous series of suspected PFASs to confirm the proposed molecular formula, and further to characterize the structure. Like the first injection, this was also done in HPLC mode to avoid interferences, and various collision induced dissociation (CID, e.g. 10, 20, 35eV) and higher collisional dissociation (HCD, e.g. 50, 60, 80, 100eV) energy functions were used for the same injection. The product ions of CID and HCD were detected in the Orbitrap mass analyzer (RP=30,000), thereby allowing molecular formulae of each major product ion to be determined accurately. By this strategy, a proposed molecular formula would be discarded if product ions contained atoms (different atoms, or atoms in the wrong proportion) that could not be explained by the suspected molecular formula of the parent ion.

3.2.5 Quality Control

Field and procedural blanks were analyzed along with each sample injection to check for analyte carryover or background response. To evaluate the approximate sensitivity range of the method (which in reality depends on the individual analyte), method detection limit (MDL) was determined for model mass-labelled PFASs by injecting triplicate 5 mL samples spiked at various concentrations in the wastewater (0.005, 0.01, 0.02, 0.05, 0.1, 0.2, 0.5, 1 ng/mL). The lowest concentration that could be reliably differentiated from background noise (e.g. produce a discernible peak when no background noise was evident, or signal/noise ≥ 10 if background noise was present) was defined as the MDL. Procedural recovery for individual native PFASs injected to the in-line SPE was evaluated by calculating the peak area produced from injection of 5 mL of 1 ng/mL stock aqueous solution (i.e. 5 ng on-column) compared to the peak area produced when injecting 100 µL of 50 ng/mL standard (i.e. 5 ng in methanol/water=10/90) directly to HPLC.

3.3 Results and Discussion

3.3.1 Method Performance

Determined MDLs (**Table 3-3**) for model mass-labelled PFASs ranged from 0.005 to 0.2 ng/mL, corresponding to 0.003-0.2 ng F/mL (i.e. 0.02-0.7 ng F on-column). This is comparable to MDLs reported in targeted PFAS analysis by sensitive multiple reaction monitoring analysis using triple quadrupoles,¹⁴ and up to 3 orders of magnitude more sensitive than untargeted EOF

or total fluorine (TF) analysis by combustion ion chromatography (2-10 ng F/mL for EOF, and 2 ng F/mL for TF).¹³

Procedural recoveries by in-line SPE for most native PFASs were in the range of 50-120% (**Figure 3-2**), but lower for short-chain PFAS analytes (e.g. PFBS ~17%, PFBA and PFPeA <5%), and very long-chain PFAS analytes (e.g. bis(1H, 1H, 2H, 2H-perfluorodecyl) phosphate 30%). Other SPE column chemistries could be tested to extend the range of analytes in future, but this was not a focus in the current work.

For the industrial wastewater sample, a highly complex chromatogram (Figure 3-3A) and mass spectrum was revealed (Figure 3-3B and C). For the ~2000 ions observed in full scan mode (over the ~40min chromatogram) with intensity $\geq 5 \times 10^3$ (Figure 3-4A), approximately half fell within the characteristic PFAS AKMD range of 0.8~1.1 (Figure 3-1 and Figure 3-4). Common PFAS standards fall within the range of 0.9-1.1 (Figure 3-1), therefore the zoomed in view of this region is shown, encompassing ~300 unknown ions (Figure 3-4B). Measured RPs were always $\geq 120,000$ for ions below m/z 500 in full-scan mode (Figure 3-5A), and were > 15,000 for fragments with $m/z \leq 300$ by in-source fragmentation flagging scanning in the Orbitrap (Figure 3-5B), which was sufficient to resolve ions with a theoretical mass split of 0.004 Da and 0.01 Da, respectively.

As a final validation of the method performance and sensitivity, we examined the wastewater chromatogram for presence of PFCAs, which are routinely observed in water.¹ The C6-C11 PFCAs were detected (mass accuracy -0.47 to -0.07 ppm, blue diamonds in **Figure 3-4B**, C11 PFCA not shown due to intensity $\leq 5 \times 10^3$). Confirmation of PFCAs was accomplished by matching retention times to authentic standards, observation of the heavy natural isotope (¹³C), and [M-CO₂]⁻ ions at the same retention time in full-scan (blue triangles and dots, respectively, in **Figure 3-4B**). Characteristic C_nF_{2n+1} fragment ions (i.e. C_2F_5 and C_3F_7) were also observed for these PFCAs in the in-source fragmentation flagging scan (peak "a - c" in **Figure 3-6**A). The concentrations were ~90, 0.5, 20, 0.1, 0.01 and 0.005ng/mL in the wastewater sample for C6-C11 PFCAs, respectively, demonstrating the method sensitivity. Perfluorinated sulfonates (e.g. PFOS) were all below MDLs in this wastewater sample, suggesting that companies in the fluorochemical manufacturing park were not using these PFASs in their processes.

3.3.2 Unknown PFAS Discovery

Class 1 Discovery: Hydro-Substituted Perfluorocarboxylates (H-PFCAs)

In-source fragmentation flagging revealed several $C_2F_5^-$ and $C_3F_7^-$ chromatographic peaks (1B-1J in **Figure 3-6**A). In full-scan at the corresponding retention times, a series of ions differing by m/z 50 were observed (1A-1J in **Table 3-4**; "**Class 1**" in **Figure 3-6**B, 1A, 1K and 1L not visible due to lower intensity). Further, these ions were distributed in the same horizontal line in the PFAS region of the CF₂ normalized AKMDP (red diamonds in **Figure 3-4**B), and with increasing m/z these had increased retention times on the C18 column ("**Class 1**" in **Table 3-4** and **Figure 3-6**B).

For all ions in this class, a [M-64]⁻ fragment ion was observed at the same retention time with the same peak shape in full-scan mode (**Figure 3-4**B and **Figure 3-7**), corresponding to neutral loss of HF and CO₂. For the most intense species (i.e. 1B-1E in **Table 3-4**), the ¹³C stable isotope was observed ([M]⁻ : [M+1]⁻ \approx 100:1) for both the parent ion and the [M-64]⁻ ion (red diamonds, red triangles, red crosses and red multiplication signs, respectively, in **Figure 3-4**B and **Figure 3-7**). Molecular formula generation for peak 1B revealed a formula of C₇F₁₂HO₂⁻, with only 0.013 ppm error. For the other ions in this series (1A and 1C-1L), the general formula C_nF_{2n-2}HO₂⁻ was a good match, with ppm error ranging from -1.95 to -0.95.

MS/MS experiments further confirmed the assigned empirical formula. For example, for the parent ion with formula $[C_{10}F_{18}HO_2]^-$, each product ion was assigned a formula within 5 ppm error using only C (0-10), F (0-18), H (0-1), and O (0-2) (**Figure 3-7**). With regards to structure, in MS/MS spectra the combined neutral loss of CO₂ and HF was confirmed, strongly indicating a mono-H-substituted PFCA (e.g. **Figure 3-7** for peak 2E, $C_{10}F_{18}HO_2^-$). The exact location of the H substitution cannot be confirmed, but the presence of $C_2F_5^-$ and $C_3F_7^-$ in the MS/MS spectrum (**Figure 3-7**) indicates that the H atom is not near to the terminal perfluoromethyl group. Interestingly, a 2-H substituted PFOA was reported as a possible PFOA degradation product in experimentally incubated soil microsomes.²⁵ The only other literature report of mono-H substituted PFCA is for ω -H substituted PFCAs, which were reported to facilitate the emulsion polymerization of vinyl fluoride,²⁶ but the above evidence indicates that the **Class 1** ions observed here are not ω -H substituted PFCAs (i.e. H is not on the terminal perfluoromethyl group). It is important to mention that all of the ions (except for 1A) in this series were also detected during procedural and field blank sample analysis, however response in the wastewater sample was between ~5 (peak 1J and 1L) and ~300 (peak 1B and 1C) times higher than for the blank samples (**Figure 3-8**). The source of this blank response was later determined to be the mobile phase, or the HPLC system itself since there were measurable **Class 1** PFAS responses when running the method program without injections. Furthermore, when the column equilibration time was extended to 60 min, the response of these ions increased up to 12-fold in the following run without injection (**Figure 3-9**). The consistently low response in blanks did not hinder identification of these ions in the current sample, but such background could hinder further environmental monitoring and should therefore be eliminated with a trap column, as is routinely done for PFOA and PFOS analysis today.^{27, 28}

Class 2 Discovery: Chlorine-Substituted Perfluorocarboxylates (Cl-PFCAs)

In-source fragmentation flagging revealed compelling evidence for several chlorinated organic species based on simultaneous appearance of 35 Cl⁻ and 37 Cl⁻ at several HPLC retention times (**Figure 3-10**A). Several of these chloride ion peaks corresponded to the retention times of 8 higher *m/z* ions (2A-2H in **Table 3-4**, "**Class 2**" in **Figure 3-10**B; 2A and 2H not visible due to low intensity). These ions were not detected in either procedural blank or field blank, and fell into a horizontal line in the PFAS region of the CF₂ normalized AKMDP (orange diamonds in **Figure 3-4**B). This combined evidence suggested that these compounds were a homologous series of chlorine-substituted polyfluorinated molecules differing by a CF₂ (i.e. *m/z* 50). Moreover, this ion series displayed increasing retention times with increasing *m/z* (**Figure 3-10**B).

For all ions in this class, an isotopic pattern of $[M]^-$: $[M+2]^- = 3:1$ was observed in fullscan (**Figure 3-11**A), indicating the presence of only one chlorine atom per molecule. For the smallest ion in this series, m/z=278.946, only 2 molecular formulae were possible: $C_5O_2ClF_8^-$ (-0.050 ppm mass error) and $C_3H_5O_6ClF_4P^-$ (1.76 ppm). The latter was excluded as it is impossible by the Seven Golden Rules. Thus, the former empirical formula assignment was tentatively accepted, and the general formula $ClC_nF_{2n-2}O_2^-$ was also a very good fit for all larger ions in the homologous series with reasonable mass accuracy error (i.e. -1.19 to 0.25 ppm). Moreover, the corresponding ¹³C, ³⁷Cl and even (¹³C+³⁷Cl) isotopic ion series were observed at the same retention time in full-scan spectrum with reasonable mass accuracy (orange triangles -1.68 to - 0.42 ppm, squares -1.53 to -0.16 ppm, and short lines -2.63 to -0.94 ppm in **Figure 3-4**B, and **Figure 3-11**A). The observation of a corresponding decarboxylated ion [M-44]⁻ for each compound in this series at the same retention time in full-scan (orange crosses in **Figure 3-4**B and **Figure 3-11**A) is consistent with the identification of this series as carboxylic acids.

In CID MS/MS mode, the parent ions were successfully isolated with zero or low energy (e.g. CID 0, 10, 25eV) and are visible in the MS/MS spectra. However, no stable meaningful product ions were observed except for $[M-44]^-$ (mass accuracy 1.3ppm, Figure 3-11B), confirming the carboxylic moiety. Neither parent ion, nor the $[M-44]^-$ product ion was observed when MS/MS energy was increased (e.g. CID \geq 35eV). The reason for this is likely that the Cl atom is lost in MS/MS as chloride, as we readily observed through in-source fragmentation flagging of ³⁵Cl⁻ and ³⁷Cl⁻ (Figure 3-10A), leaving only a neutral fluorinated carbon chain which cannot be detected. Thus, the structure of the Cl-substituted perfluorinated carbon chain remains uncertain for this new class of PFASs.

It is only germane to note that for other widely used PFASs containing a single Cl atom, it is present at the terminal carbon of a linear perfluorinated chain,^{6, 20, 29} including the commercially available sulfonic acid F-53B (molecular structure $ClCF_2C_5F_{10}OCF_2CF_2SO_3^{-}$).²⁵ A *Scifinder* database search showed that both $ClC_5F_{10}CO_2^{-}$ and $ClC_8F_{16}CO_2^{-}$ (the same formulae with 1B and 1E, **Table 3-4**) have been assigned CAS registry numbers (127843-88-3 and 45296-50-2, respectively). The former is a branched isomer, and the latter is shown as a linear isomer, but both have their Cl atom on the terminal carbon. Meissner *et al.*²⁹ synthesized branched Cl substituted PFCAs for fire-extinguishing agents, but none of the chemicals in this class have been reported in any product or environmental sample.

Class 3 Discovery: Polyfluorinated Sulfates (PFSfs)

This class of substances was initially flagged by two fragment peaks of SO_3F^- and SO_4H^- , at retention times of 12.7 and 16.5 min (3B and 3C in **Figure 3-6**A), and suspected parent ions from full-scan were m/z 374.975 and 438.988, respectively (**Figure 3-6**B). The m/z difference between these two ions is 64, corresponding to a (CHF)₂ unit. Because this ion series is not built on repeating CF₂ or C₂F₄ units, they do not display on a horizontal line in the CF₂ normalized AKMDP, and therefore would be difficult to reveal using only the AKMDP strategy. A manual check of the full-scan data for homologous ions of 374.975 and 438.988 with m/z difference of 64 was therefore performed, revealing a series of 6 homologous ions which were not present in procedural blank or field blank sample ("Class 3" in Table 3-4, 3A-3F in Figure 3-6B, yellow diamonds in Figure 3-4B). This homologous series of ions have different KMD values, but with the same difference between each two adjacent homologous ions, and therefore display as a sloped line in the AKMDP (yellow diamonds in Figure 3-4B). The unique ratio of $[M]^-: [M+1]^-$ was approximately 100:4 for the whole series. This isotopic pattern, together with the two insource fragments SO₃F⁻ and SO₄H⁻, suggests a single sulfur atom.

Molecular formula generation for the smallest ion in the series was proposed as $C_5F_8H_3SO_4^-$, with -1.73 ppm error. For the homologous series, the general formula of $C_nF_{n+3}H_{n-2}SO_4^-$ was also a good fit (ppm error ranged from -2.15 to -0.87). Very detailed MS/MS spectra for this PFAS class (**Figure 3-12**) further confirmed the assigned empirical formula (mass accuracy error \leq 5ppm for all product ions). At higher collision energy, the appearance of sulfate ion (*m*/*z* 96.961, SO₄H⁻), as well as the corresponding SO₃H⁻ peaks at the same retention times during in-source fragmentation flagging scans, suggests that the molecules are polyfluorinated sulfates ("**Class 3**" in **Table 3-4**), rather than sulfonates. PFOS and F-53B are per-/polyfluorinated sulfonates and we confirmed that these do not produce the SO₄H⁻ fragment ion under any condition (**Figure 3-13**).

For peak 3C (C₉F₁₂H₇SO₄⁻), the parent ion was shown to sequentially lose HF at least four times. This does not allow the exact structure of the polyfluoroalkyl chain to be known, but it must therefore contain repeating $-CF_2CH_2$ - or -CHF- units. Vinylidene difluoride polymer ($-CF_2CH_2$ -) and co-polymers (e.g. with trifluoroethylene, chlorotrifluorothylene and hexafluoroisobutylene) were reported for some commercial applications such as in exterior metal siding, in electronics, and in chemical processing equipment.³⁰

Class 4 Discovery: Hydro-Substituted Unsaturated Perfluorinated Ethers/Alcohols (H-uPFE/As)

This series of PFAS homologues was exclusively found in the wastewater sample. They were initially flagged by simultaneous $C_3F_5^-$ and $C_4F_7^-$ peaks at a retention time of 22.5 min (4D in **Figure 3-6**A), and the suspected parent ion was 428.977 from full scanning. A check in the AKMDP region revealed a series of 5 ions differing by m/z 50 (4A-4E in **Figure 3-6**B, "**Class 4**"

in **Table 3-4**, green triangles in **Figure 3-4**B). The proposed molecular formula for peak 4A (m/z 328.984) was C₇F₁₂HO⁻ (ppm error -1.2), and the general formula C_nF_{2n-2}HO⁻ was a good match for the whole series (ppm error ranged from -2.3 to -1.5). The deficiency of two fluorine or hydrogen atoms indicates a double bond equivalent (ring or double bond).

MS/MS experiments further confirmed the assigned empirical formula with mass accuracy error within 2 ppm for the product ions. The MS/MS spectra in this class (e.g. compound 4C, **Figure 3-14**) showed a sequential loss of HF and CF₂O, suggesting that this series of ions are unsaturated mono-H-perfluorinated ethers or acidic alcohols (**Table 3-4**). Ether functionalities do not normally ionize in electrospray negative mode, thus these ions could be fragments of larger molecules or polymers (e.g. hydrocarbon polymers with side-chain polyfluorinated groups).³¹ Alternatively, this series of PFASs could be polyfluorinated alcohols, which would be acidic due to the electron withdrawing fluorine atoms,³² and only for this reason are detected in negative ion mode here. The structure for this group of substances is therefore much more uncertain than for **Class 1-3**, but the above evidence is strong that their molecular formulae are indeed $C_nF_{2n-2}HO^-$.

Class 5 Discovery: Chlorine-Substituted Unsaturated Perfluorinated Ethers/Alcohols (Cl-PFE/As)

Two other small Cl⁻ peaks in the in-source fragmentation flagging scan were noticed (5C and 5D in **Figure 3-10**A). Examination of the full-scan data at these retention times revealed two suspect PFAS ions with a mass difference of m/z=50, and AKMDP plotting revealed that these were part of a homologous series of four-ions (cyan diamonds in **Figure 3-4**B) which were only observed in the wastewater sample. One more potential ion in this series was noticed in a manual check of extracted ion chromatograms. Collectively, this ion group showed increasing retention time with increasing m/z (5A-5E in **Figure 3-10**B and "**Class 5**" in **Table 3-4**).

In addition to evidence for chlorine atoms from in-source fragmentation flagging, the full scan isotopic pattern of $[M]^-$: $[M+2]^-$ was 3:1 for all ions in this class, diagnostic of monochlorinated compounds. Molecular formula generation was performed on peak 4A (**Figure 3-10B**, **Table 3-4**) by allowing 1 chlorine atom, and the formula $ClC_6F_{10}O^-$ was the best match (mass error -0.45ppm) out of only two possibilities. Moreover, the general formula $ClC_nF_{2n-2}O^-$ was an excellent match to the other 4 ions in this homologous series, with mass accuracy ranging between -1.31 to 0.050 ppm.

Structural characterization by MS/MS fragmentation of peak 2C (ClC₈F₁₄O⁻), the most intense ion in the series, revealed that neutral loss of CF₂O was the major product ion (m/z) 346.95) in both CID and higher energy HCD (Figure 3-15), indicative of an ether or alcohol functionality. An increase of the HCD fragmentation energy produced 7 more intense fragments (Figure 3-15) which together provided high confidence that the assigned molecular formula was correct, including two monochlorinated fragments; and the mass accuracy error for each fragment ion ranged from -2.1 to 2.5 ppm. The additional observation of $C_2F_5^-$ and $C_3F_7^-$ ions suggest a terminal C_3F_7 moiety. The general formula, as well as the C_3F_5 , C_4F_7 and C_5F_9 product ion series, furthermore indicate a double bond equivalent in the perfluoroalkyl structure. Collectively, these data were insufficient to allow structures to be confidently proposed, and it is also possible that each peak is composed of more than 1 isomer. Overall, we can propose that the compounds are similar to Class 4 compounds, either unsaturated ethers that break down from larger molecules or polymers under ionization conditions, or that these are acidic alcohols. In a review of currently used alternatives to long-chain PFASs, Wang et al.²⁰ reported a Cl substituted sulfonate F-53B and a Cl substituted fluoropolymer poly-ether (CAS No. 329238-24-6) from Solvay, used for polytetrafluoroethylene (PTFE) and polyvinylidene fluoride (PVDF) production. The current Class 5 compounds may be related to these, but are chemically distinct.

3.4 Significance

In untargeted environmental sample analysis, achieving detection and characterization of trace compounds in complex matrices is a challenge akin to finding a needle in the proverbial haystack. Place *et al.*¹⁴ and D'Agostino *et al.*¹⁵ used AFFF commercial material to identify new PFASs (diluted samples were used in the analysis), thus sensitivity and interferences were not primary challenges in previous work. Here a complex industrial wastewater was analyzed, where even the most prominent PFAS, perfluorohexanoic acid (PFHxA), was only present at parts-perbillion (ppb) concentration. Fragmentation flagging scans were a very useful method to allow finding several needles (i.e. 36 previously unknown PFASs) in the haystack (i.e. a complex environmental sample with >2000 total species and >300 in the mass defect region of PFASs). The sensitivity challenge was overcome by in-line SPE for sample pre-concentration in the current study. Assuming similar response factors as the model PFASs, most new PFASs identified here were present at mid to low ppb levels (i.e. <20 ng/mL). For the targeted PFCAs,

the overall method and workflow was shown to be capable of detecting concentrations as low as 0.005 ng/mL. In-line SPE is not only faster and more reproducible than off-line methods, because evaporation and reconstitution procedures are avoided, but it is also a very clean method with little chance of spurious contamination.

Methods with improved recoveries for short-chain PFASs³³ (e.g. with a different SPE column) would be beneficial in future non-targeted PFAS analysis, especially when considering the general trend of switching from long-chain PFASs to short-chain alternatives. Only negative ESI mode was used in the current study. Place *et al.*¹⁴ and D'Agostino *et al.*¹⁵ identified a large proportion of PFASs in positive ion mode, thus the same workflow developed here could be run in positive ESI mode, as well as with atmospheric pressure chemical ionization (APCI) or photoionization sources (APPI).

Complete structural characterization and confirmation of chemical structures cannot be achieved with the current workflow – not without authentic standards to match retention time and MS/MS spectra. Nevertheless, as demonstrated here, uHRMS instrumentation is capable of confirming molecular formulae with very high confidence (accurate mass, stable isotopes, fragments, and MS/MS experiments in high-resolution mode), leaving very little ambiguity to the novel PFAS classes identified here. Even without authentic standards, the current wastewater sample can be used as a reference material to develop targeted methods for environmental monitoring (e.g. HPLC-MS/MS), to determine the wider environmental relevance of the 36 novel PFAS species described here. To confirm the structure(s) would require expensive and time consuming *de novo* organic synthesis, because none of the current species are commercially available today as authentic standards. To aid in future structural elucidation, one option is for the HPLC eluent from the current method to be fractionated and analyzed off-line by other techniques (e.g. NMR).

Historically, sensitive and specific trace analytical methods have been a limitation that has delayed the identification of global contaminants, including most POPs (including PFOS) which were used for many decades prior to their discovery in people and the global environment. Today's advanced analytical technologies raise new possibilities for early discovery of environmental contaminants by sensitive non-targeted methods. Such discoveries could allow

emission controls or regulatory action to be implemented earlier, thereby minimizing widespread contamination.
3.5 Figures and Tables



3.5.1 Figures

Figure 3-1. Adjusted Kendrick mass defect plot (AKMDP) of model PFASs.



Figure 3-2. Procedural recoveries of model native PFASs for the in-line SPE method. Error bars represent standard error of the mean.

A. Full-scan chromatogram



Figure 3-3. Full-scan chromatogram of the industrial wastewater on C_{18} column (**A**), and its mass spectrum (**B**) and zoomed-in mass spectrum over a range of 0.5 m/z units (**C**).



Figure 3-4. CF₂ normalized adjusted Kendrick mass defect plots of all ions detected in the wastewater sample that were $\ge 5 \times 10^3$ in intensity (A, ~2000 ions), and of ions within the characteristic PFAS adjusted Kendrick mass defect range of 0.90-1.10 (B, ~300 ions).



Figure 3-5. Mass spectra (black) and measured resolving power values (blue) in both full-scan (A) and in-source fragmentation flagging scan (B) of the wastewater sample from a fluorochemical manufacturing park.



Figure 3-6. Extracted ion chromatograms $[C_2F_5]^-$, $[C_3F_7]^-$, $[C_3F_5]^-$, $[C_4F_7]^-$, $[SO_3F]^-$ and $[SO_4H]^-$ in-source fragments (SID=50 eV, **A**), and all **Class 1**, **3** and **4** homologous PFASs detected in the industrial wastewater sample (**B**). Shaded insets in **Figure 3-6A** and **Figure 3-6B** are zoomed-in chromatograms of in-source $[C_2F_5]^-$ fragments during 25.5-30 min (A), of **Class 1** "1G-1L" homologues during 25-32 min, respectively. Labeled peaks correspond to the identified novel PFASs, and are consistent with labels in **Table 3-4**. Peaks labeled "a" through "c" in **Figure 3-6A** correspond to C6-C8 PFCAs.



Figure 3-6. Extracted ion chromatograms $[C_2F_5]^-$, $[C_3F_7]^-$, $[C_4F_7]^-$, $[SO_3F]^-$ and $[SO_4H]^-$ in-source fragments (SID=50 eV, **A**), and all **Class 1**, **3** and **4** homologous PFASs detected in the industrial wastewater sample (**B**). Shaded insets in **Figure 3-6A** and **Figure 3-6B** are zoomed-in chromatograms of in-source $[C_2F_5]^-$ fragments during 25.5-30 min (A), of **Class 1** "1G-1L" homologues during 25-32 min, respectively. Labeled peaks correspond to the identified novel PFASs, and are consistent with labels in **Table 3-4**. Peaks labeled "a" through "c" in **Figure 3-6A** correspond to C6-C8 PFCAs.



Figure 3-7. Extracted ion chromatograms of a Class 1 homologue with m/z = 494.969 (C₁₀F₁₈HO₂⁻) and its in-source fragment with m/z = 430.974 (C₉F₁₇⁻) (A), and MS/MS spectra (B).



Figure 3-8. Extracted ion chromatograms of all **Class 1** homologous PFASs in procedural blank (black line), field blank (red line) and the industrial wastewater (green line).



Figure 3-9. Extracted ion chromatograms of selected **Class 1** PFASs when running the method program twice without any injection. The second analysis (red line) was performed after 60 min of equilibration after the first analysis (blue line) was made.



Figure 3-10. Extracted ion chromatograms of in-source [³⁵Cl]⁻ and [³⁷Cl]⁻ fragments (**A**) and all **Class 2** and **Class 5** homologous PFASs (**B**) detected in the industrial wastewater sample. The separation was performed on the F5 column. Labeled peaks in **Figure 3-10B** correspond to the identified novel PFASs, are consistent with labels in **Table 3-4** and with discussion in the main text.



Figure 3-11. Extracted ion chromatograms and mass spectra of a Class 2 homologue with m/z=428.937 (ClC₈F₁₆O₂⁻) and its in-source fragment with m/z=384.947 (ClC₇F₁₆⁻) (**A**), and MS/MS spectra of another Class 2 homologue with m/z=528.931 (**B**).



Figure 3-12. MS/MS spectra of a Class 3 homologue with m/z=483.988 (C₉F₁₂H₇SO₄⁻). Figure A, B and C are zoomed-in spectra.



Figure 3-13. MS/MS spectra of PFOS ($C_8F_{17}SO_3^-$) and F-53B standards ($ClC_8F_{16}SO_3^-$).



Figure 3-14. MS/MS spectra of a Class 4 homologue with m/z 428.978 (C₉F₁₆HO⁻).



Figure 3-15. MS/MS spectra of a Class 5 homologue with m/z 412.942 (ClC₈F₁₄O⁻).

3.5.2 Tables

PFASs	Full Name	Abbreviation	Structure
PFCAs	perfluoro-n-butanoic acid	PFBA	CF ₃ (CF ₂) ₂ COO ⁻
	perfluoro-n-pentanoic acid	PFPeA	CF ₃ (CF ₂) ₃ COO ⁻
	perfluoro-n-hexanoic acid	PFHxA	CF ₃ (CF ₂) ₄ COO ⁻
	perfluoro-n-heptanoic acid	PFHpA	CF ₃ (CF ₂) ₅ COO ⁻
	perfluoro-n-octanoic acid	PFOA	CF ₃ (CF ₂) ₆ COO ⁻
	perfluoro-n-nonanoic acid	PFNA	CF ₃ (CF ₂) ₇ COO ⁻
	perfluoro-n-decanoic acid	PFDA	CF ₃ (CF ₂) ₈ COO ⁻
	perfluoro-n-undecanoic acid	PFUnDA	CF ₃ (CF ₂) ₉ COO ⁻
	perfluoro-1-butanesulfonate	PFBS	CF ₃ (CF ₂) ₃ SO ₃ -
	perfluoro-1-pentanesulfonate	PFPeS	CF ₃ (CF ₂) ₄ SO ₃ -
	perfluoro-1-hexanesulfonate	PFHxS	CF ₃ (CF ₂) ₅ SO ₃ ⁻
PFSAs	perfluoro-1-heptanesulfonate	PFHpS	CF ₃ (CF ₂) ₆ SO ₃ -
	perfluoro-1-octanesulfonate	PFOS	$CF_3(CF_2)_7SO_3^-$
	perfluoro-1-nonanesulfonate	PFNS	CF ₃ (CF ₂) ₈ SO ₃ -
	perfluoro-1-decanesulfonate	PFDS	CF ₃ (CF ₂) ₉ SO ₃ -
	perfluoro-1-octanesulfonamide	FOSA	CF ₃ (CF ₂) ₇ SO ₂ NH ⁻
PFOSAs	N-methylperfluoro-1- octanesulfonamide	Me-FOSA	$CF_3(CF_2)_7SO_2N^-(CH_3)$
	N-ethylperfluoro-1- octanesulfonamide	Et-FOSA	CF ₃ (CF ₂) ₇ SO ₂ N ⁻ (C ₂ H ₅)
FOSAAs	N-methylperfluoro-1- octanesulfonamidoacetic acid	Me-FOSAA	$CF_3(CF_2)_7SO_2N(CH_3)CH_2CO_2^-$
	N-ethylperfluoro-1- octanesulfonamidoacetic acid	Et-FOSAA	$CF_3(CF_2)_7SO_2N(C_2H_5)CH_2CO_2^-$
	perfluorohexylphosphonic acid	PFHxPA	CF ₃ (CF ₂) ₅ P(O)(OH)O ⁻
PFPs	perfluorooctylphosphonic acid	PFOPA	CF ₃ (CF ₂) ₇ P(O)(OH)O ⁻
	perfluorodecylphosphonic acid	PFDPA	CF ₃ (CF ₂) ₉ P(O)(OH)O ⁻
PAPs	1H, 1H, 2H, 2H- perfluorooctylphosphate	6:2PAP	CF ₃ (CF ₂) ₅ CH ₂ CH ₂ OP(O)(OH)O ⁻
	1H, 1H, 2H, 2H- perfluorodecylphosphate	8:2PAP	CF ₃ (CF ₂) ₇ CH ₂ CH ₂ OP(O)(OH)O ⁻
	Bis(1H, 1H, 2H, 2H- perfluorooctyl)phosphate	6:2 diPAP	$[CF_3(CF_2)_5CH_2CH_2O]_2P(O)O^-$
	Bis(1H, 1H, 2H, 2H- perfluorodecyl)phosphate	8:2 diPAP	$[CF_3(CF_2)_7CH_2CH_2O]_2P(O)O^-$

 Table 3-1. Model PFASs used in the current study.

Time min	Flow mL/min	Grad ^a	A%2	B% ³	Valve	Flow mL/min	Grad ^α	A%β	Β% β
0.00	2.00	Step	99	1	-	0.50	Step	99	1
3.67	0.25	Step	0	100	switch ^{γ}	0.75	Ramp	99	1
7.67	0.25	Step	0	100	-	0.50	Ramp	70	30
12.67	0.25	Step	0	100	-	0.50	Ramp	50	50
21.67	0.50	Step	0	100	-	0.50	Ramp	1	99
41.67	0.50	Step	99	1	-	0.50	Step	1	99
42.67	0.50	Step	99	1	-	0.50	Step	99	1

Table 3-2. Mobile phase program of the in-line SPE-HPLC-Orbitrap MS method.

^{α} "Grad" means gradient mode (i.e. step function or linear ramp);

^β mobile phase "A" and "B" are water and methanol, respectively, with 2 mM ammonium acetate in both

 γ "switch" refers to the switch of the valve from in-line SPE loading position, to elution position.

Table 3-3. Method detection limits (MDLs) of model mass-labelled PFAS standards in the inline SPE method, measured by spiking different concentrations of mass-labelled PFAS standards into the wastewater samples. MDLs of PFASs in ng/mL unit are measured data, and other MDLs are back-calculated data from them.

DEASa	MDLs					
PFA5s	PFAS, ng/mL	PFAS, ng	Fluorine, ng/mL	Fluorine, ng		
¹³ C ₂ -PFHxA	0.2	1.00	0.13	0.66		
¹³ C ₄ -PFOA	0.02	0.10	0.01	0.07		
¹³ C5-PFNA	0.01	0.05	0.01	0.03		
¹³ C ₄ -PFDA	0.01	0.05	0.01	0.04		
¹³ C ₂ -PFUdA	0.01	0.05	0.01	0.04		
¹³ C ₂ -PFDodA	0.005	0.03	0.004	0.02		
¹⁸ O ₂ -PFHxS	0.01	0.05	0.01	0.03		
¹³ C ₄ -PFOS	0.005	0.025	0.003	0.02		
³ d-NMeFOSA	0.2	1.0	0.13	0.63		
⁵ d-NEtFOSA	0.2	1.0	0.12	0.61		
¹³ C ₂ -6:2PAP	0.05	0.25	0.03	0.14		
¹³ C ₂ -8:2PAP	0.1	0.5	0.06	0.30		
¹³ C ₄ -8:2 diPAP	0.2	1.0	0.13	0.65		

Class No.	Name and Proposed Structure	Labels	Theoretical <i>m/z</i>	Molecular Ion	
	-	1A	294.98114	$C_6F_{10}HO_2^-$	
		1B	344.97904	$C_7F_{12}HO_2^-$	
		1C	394.97585	$C_8F_{14}HO_2^-$	
	hydro-substituted	1D	444.97265	$C_9F_{16}HO_2^-$	
	perfluorocarboxylates	1E	494.96946	$C_{10}F_{18}HO_{2}^{-}$	
1	H-PFCAs	1F	544.96627	$C_{11}F_{20}HO_2^{-}$	
1		1G	594.96307	$C_{12}F_{22}HO_2^-$	
	$H(C_nF_{2n})COO^-$	1H	644.95988	$C_{13}F_{24}HO_2^-$	
	n=5-16	1I	694.95669	$C_{14}F_{26}HO_2^-$	
		1J	744.95205	$C_{15}F_{28}HO_2^-$	
		1K	794.95030	$C_{16}F_{30}HO_{2}^{-}$	
		1L	844.94601	$C_{17}F_{32}HO_2^-$	
		2A	278.94646	$ClC_5F_8O_2^-$	
	chloring substituted	2B	328.94313	$ClC_6F_{10}O_2^-$	
	perfluorocarboxylates	2C	378.94007	$ClC_7F_{12}O_2^-$	
•	Cl-PFCAs	2D	428.93704	$ClC_8F_{14}O_2^-$	
2		2E	478.93368	$ClC_9F_{16}O_2^-$	
	ClC _n F _{2n} COO ⁻ n=4-11	2F	528.93049	$ClC_{10}F_{18}O_{2}^{-}$	
		2G	578.92729	$ClC_{11}F_{20}O_{2}^{-}$	
		2H	628.92410	$ClC_{12}F_{22}O_2^-$	
2		3A	310.96298	$C_5F_8H_3SO_4^-$	
	polyfluorinated sulfates	3B	374.97543	$C_7F_{10}H_5SO_4$	
	PFSIs	3C	438.98789	$C_9F_{12}H_7SO_4^-$	
3	CaFe(CaHaFa) CHFOSOa	3D	502.99982	$C_{11}F_{14}H_9SO_4^-$	
	n=1-6	3E	567.01280	$C_{13}F_{16}H_{11}SO_4^-$	
		3F	631.02526	$C_{15}F_{18}H_{13}SO_{4}^{-}$	
4		4A	328.98413	$C_7F_{12}HO^-$	
	hydro-substituted unsaturated	4B	378.98093	$C_8F_{14}HO^{-1}$	
	perfluorinated ethers/alcohols	4C	428.97674	C ₉ F ₁₆ HO ⁻	
	H-uPFE/As	4D	478.97455	$C_{10}F_{18}HO^{-1}$	
		4E	528.97135	$C_{11}F_{20}HO^{-}$	
	11 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1	5A	312.94835	$CIC_6F_{10}O^2$	
	chlorine-substituted unsaturated	5B 5C	362.94515	$CIC_7F_{12}O^2$	
	C1-nPFF/As	5D	412.94190 162 03877	$C1C_8F_{14}O$	
		5E	512.93557	$ClC_{10}F_{18}O^{-1}$	

Table 3-4. Summary of the identified PFASs in the wastewater sample from a fluorochemical manufacturing park in China.

3.6 Literature Cited

- Martin, J. W.; Asher, B. J.; Beesoon, S.; Benskin, J. P.; Ross, M. S., PFOS or PreFOS? Are perfluorooctane sulfonate precursors (PreFOS) important determinants of human and environmental perfluorooctane sulfonate (PFOS) exposure? *J Environ Monit* 2010, *12*, (11), 1979-2004.
- Giesy, J. P.; Kannan, K., Global distribution of perfluorooctane sulfonate in wildlife. *Environ Sci Technol* 2001, 35, (7), 1339-42.
- Boudreau, T. M.; Wilson, C. J.; Cheong, W. J.; Sibley, P. K.; Mabury, S. A.; Muir, D. C.; Solomon, K. R., Response of the zooplankton community and environmental fate of perfluorooctane sulfonic acid in aquatic microcosms. *Environ Toxicol Chem* 2003, *22*, (11), 2739-45.
- Conder, J. M.; Hoke, R. A.; De Wolf, W.; Russell, M. H.; Buck, R. C., Are PFCAs bioaccumulative? A critical review and comparison with regulatory criteria and persistent lipophilic compounds. *Environ Sci Technol* 2008, 42, (4), 995-1003.
- Stockholm-Convention. The Nine New POPs: An Introduction to the Nine Chemicals Added to the Stockholm Convention by the Conference of the Parties at its Fourth Meeting; Stockholm Convention: Geneva, Switzerland, 2009.
- Wang, Z.; Cousins, I. T.; Scheringer, M.; Hungerbuhler, K., Fluorinated alternatives to long-chain perfluoroalkyl carboxylic acids (PFCAs), perfluoroalkane sulfonic acids (PFSAs) and their potential precursors. *Environ Int* 2013, 60, 242-8.
- 7. Scheringer, M.; Trier, X.; Cousins, I. T.; de Voogt, P.; Fletcher, T.; Wang, Z.; Webster, T. F., Helsingør Statement on poly- and perfluorinated alkyl substances (PFASs). *Chemosphere* **2014**, *114*, 337-339.
- Blum, A.; Balan, S. A.; Scheringer, M.; Trier, X.; Goldenman, G.; Cousins, I. T.; Diamond, M.; Fletcher, T.; Higgins, C.; Lindeman, A. E.; Peaslee, G.; de Voogt, P.; Wang, Z.; Weber, R., The Madrid Statement on polyand perfluoroalkyl substances (PFASs). *Environ Health Perspect* 2015, *123*, (5), A107-11.
- Tan, B.; Wang, T.; Wang, P.; Luo, W.; Lu, Y.; Romesh, K. Y.; Giesy, J. P., Perfluoroalkyl substances in soils around the Nepali Koshi River: levels, distribution, and mass balance. *Environ Sci Pollut Res Int* 2014, 21, (15), 9201-11.
- 10. Wang, P.; Wang, T.; Giesy, J. P.; Lu, Y., Perfluorinated compounds in soils from Liaodong Bay with concentrated fluorine industry parks in China. *Chemosphere* **2013**, *91*, (6), 751-7.
- 11. Loi, E. I.; Yeung, L. W.; Taniyasu, S.; Lam, P. K.; Kannan, K.; Yamashita, N., Trophic magnification of polyand perfluorinated compounds in a subtropical food web. *Environ Sci Technol* **2011**, *45*, (13), 5506-13.
- 12. Taniyasu, S.; Senthilkumar, K.; Yamazaki, E.; Yeung, L. W.; Guruge, K. S.; Kannan, K.; Yamashita, N., Perfluoroalkyl substances in the blood of wild rats and mice from 47 prefectures in Japan: use of samples from nationwide specimen bank. *Arch Environ Contam Toxicol* 2013, 65, (1), 149-70.
- Yeung, L. W.; Miyake, Y.; Taniyasu, S.; Wang, Y.; Yu, H.; So, M. K.; Jiang, G.; Wu, Y.; Li, J.; Giesy, J. P.; Yamashita, N.; Lam, P. K., Perfluorinated compounds and total and extractable organic fluorine in human blood samples from China. *Environ Sci Technol* 2008, 42, (21), 8140-5.
- 14. Place, B. J.; Field, J. A., Identification of novel fluorochemicals in aqueous film-forming foams used by the US military. *Environ Sci Technol* **2012**, *46*, (13), 7120-7.
- 15. D'Agostino, L. A.; Mabury, S. A., Identification of novel fluorinated surfactants in aqueous film forming foams and commercial surfactant concentrates. *Environ Sci Technol* **2014**, *48*, (1), 121-9.
- 16. Strynar, M.; Dagnino, S.; McMahen, R.; Liang, S.; Lindstrom, A.; Andersen, E.; McMillan, L.; Thurman, M.; Ferrer, I.; Ball, C., Identification of novel perfluoroalkyl ether carboxylic acids (PFECAs) and sulfonic Acids (PFESAs) in natural waters using accurate mass time-of-flight mass spectrometry (TOFMS). *Environ Sci Technol* 2015, 49, (19), 11622-30.
- 17. Trier, X.; Granby, K.; Christensen, J. H., Polyfluorinated surfactants (PFS) in paper and board coatings for food packaging. *Environ Sci Pollut Res Int* **2011**, *18*, (7), 1108-20.
- 18. Qin, Z.; McNee, D.; Gleisner, H.; Raab, A.; Kyeremeh, K.; Jaspars, M.; Krupp, E.; Deng, H.; Feldmann, J., Fluorine speciation analysis using reverse phase liquid chromatography coupled off-line to continuum source

molecular absorption spectrometry (CS-MAS): identification and quantification of novel fluorinated organic compounds in environmental and biological samples. *Anal Chem* **2012**, *84*, (14), 6213-9.

- Crimmins, B. S.; Xia, X.; Hopke, P. K.; Holsen, T. M., A targeted/non-targeted screening method for perfluoroalkyl carboxylic acids and sulfonates in whole fish using quadrupole time-of-flight mass spectrometry and MS^e. *Anal Bioanal Chem* 2014, 406, (5), 1471-1480.
- Wang, S.; Huang, J.; Yang, Y.; Hui, Y.; Ge, Y.; Larssen, T.; Yu, G.; Deng, S.; Wang, B.; Harman, C., First report of a Chinese PFOS alternative overlooked for 30 years: its toxicity, persistence, and presence in the environment. *Environ Sci Technol* 2013, 47, (18), 10163-70.
- 21. Hughey, C. A.; Hendrickson, C. L.; Rodgers, R. P.; Marshall, A. G.; Qian, K., Kendrick mass defect spectrum: a compact visual analysis for ultrahigh-resolution broadband mass spectra. *Anal Chem* **2001**, *73*, (19), 4676-81.
- Jobst, K. J.; Shen, L.; Reiner, E. J.; Taguchi, V. Y.; Helm, P. A.; McCrindle, R.; Backus, S., The use of mass defect plots for the identification of (novel) halogenated contaminants in the environment. *Anal Bioanal Chem* **2013**, *405*, (10), 3289-3297.
- 23. Myers, A. L.; Jobst, K. J.; Mabury, S. A.; Reiner, E. J., Using mass defect plots as a discovery tool to identify novel fluoropolymer thermal decomposition products. *J Mass Spectrom* **2014**, *49*, (4), 291-296.
- 24. Kind, T.; Fiehn, O., Seven Golden Rules for heuristic filtering of molecular formulas obtained by accurate mass spectrometry. *BMC Bioinformatics* **2007**, *8*, 105-105.
- 25. Washington, J. W.; Ellington, J.; Jenkins, T. M.; Evans, J. J.; Yoo, H.; Hafner, S. C., Degradability of an acrylatelinked, fluorotelomer polymer in soil. *Environ Sci Technol* **2009**, *43*, (17), 6617-23.
- 26. Kalyadin, V. G.; Sirlibaev, T. S., Emulsion polymerization of vinyl fluoride in the presence of fluorine-containing surfactants. in: Tashk.Gos.Univ., ed. Uzbekskii Khimicheskii Zhurnal. USSR; 1. Uzb. Khim. Zh. 1987, 4, 36-40.
- 27. Salihovic, S.; Karrman, A.; Lindstrom, G.; Lind, P. M.; Lind, L.; van Bavel, B., A rapid method for the determination of perfluoroalkyl substances including structural isomers of perfluorooctane sulfonic acid in human serum using 96-well plates and column-switching ultra-high performance liquid chromatography tandem mass spectrometry. *J Chromatogr A* 2013, *1305*, 164-70.
- Benskin, J. P.; Bataineh, M.; Martin, J. W., Simultaneous characterization of perfluoroalkyl carboxylate, sulfonate, and sulfonamide isomers by liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry. *Anal Chem* 2007, *79*, (17), 6455-64.
- 29. Meissner, E.; Twardochleb, B.; Milchert, E.; Wroblewsks, A.; Szymanowski, J., Estimation of foam forming properties and surface tension of fire extinguishing agents. *Tenside Surfact Det* **2003**, *40*, (6), 353-60.
- 30. Kricheldorf, H. R.; Nuyken, O.; Swift, G., Polyvinyl Ethers, Esters, and Halogenides. In *Handbook of Polymer Synthesis*, 2 ed.; Dekker, M., Ed. CRC Press N: New York, NY, USA, 2005.
- 31. Dinglasan-Panlilio, M. J. A.; Mabury, S. A., Significant residual fluorinated alcohols present in various fluorinated materials. *Environ Sci Technol* **2006**, *40*, (5), 1447-1453.
- 32. Rochester, C. H.; Symonds, J. R., Thermodynamic studies of fluoroalcohols. Part 1.-Vapour pressures and enthalpies of vaporization. *J Chem Soc, Faraday Trans 1* **1973**, *69*, 1267-1273.
- Backe, W. J.; Day, T. C.; Field, J. A., Zwitterionic, cationic, and anionic fluorinated chemicals in aqueous film forming foam formulations and groundwater from U.S. military bases by nonaqueous large-volume injection HPLC-MS/MS. *Environ Sci Technol* 2013, 47, (10), 5226-34.

Chapter 4. Non-Target Mass Spectrometry Reveals New Classes of Perfluoroalkyl Substances in Fish from the Yangtze River and Tangxun Lake, China

4.1 Introduction

Many long-chain poly- and perfluoroalkyl substances (PFASs) are now globally distributed as contaminants.^{1, 2} Long-term human and environmental health concerns have arisen due to their known environmental persistence,³ bioaccumulation potential⁴ and toxicological effects.⁵⁻⁷ Since their first discovery in the environment since 2001, industrial phase-outs⁸⁻¹⁰ and domestic and international restrictions and regulations⁹⁻¹⁶ have been enacted in an effort to minimize future exposure to known PFASs. Some consequences of these actions include a global geographic shift of PFAS manufacturing to countries with fewer restrictions, and a shift in chemistry towards alternative PFASs¹⁷⁻¹⁹ that have uncertain environmental fate and toxicological effects.

After the 3M Co. phased out its C₈ production in North America, Europe and Japan between 2000 and 2002, developing countries, mainly in continental Asia (e.g. China), increased their PFAS production,²⁰ and contamination of local environments^{21, 22} and of human serum²³ has followed. The link between a contaminated environment and local people is well described for fisheries around Tangxun Lake in China.²² Here, wastewater from an industrial region is known to have contaminated the lake water, such that it now contains very high concentrations of long chain PFASs, including perfluorooctanesulfonate (PFOS, 73-1650 ng/L) and perfluorooctaneate (PFOA, 71-1390 ng/L) as well as known alternative-PFASs such as perfluorobutanesulfonate (PFBS, 2240-4520 ng/L) and perfluorobutaneate (PFBA, 1820-6280 ng/L). In blood of fishery employees who live around this lake, and who also likely consume the fish, serum concentrations of PFOS were extremely high, up to 31,400 ng/mL (median 10,400 ng/mL).²⁴ Moreover, use of PFASs in China may have global consequences, as shown for F-53B (ClC₆F₁₂OC₂F₄SO₃K, CAS No. 73606-19-6), a metal plating mist suppressant chemical used only in China since the 1970s.²⁵⁻²⁷ F-53B is detectable in Chinese environmental²⁶⁻²⁸ and biological samples,²⁸⁻³¹ but was

also recently detected in Greenland ringed seals and polar bears.³²

Shorter-chain PFASs and structurally modified long-chain perfluorinated acids, such as by incorporation of ether bonds or of non-fluorinated carbons, are two broad categories of known alternative-PFASs.¹⁸ Manufacturers claim such alternatives are less bioaccumulative and "safe for their intended use",^{33, 34} but there are few publicly available toxicity studies. In many cases the alternative-PFASs, or their predicted breakdown products, do not avoid the problem of environmental persistence. For example, trifluoroacetic acid, PFBS and 6:2 fluorotelomer sulfonic acid were similarly resistant to microbial degradation as PFOS,^{35, 36} and perfluoroether chains were as resistant as perfluoroalkyl chains to abiotic and biotic degradation.³⁷ Moreover, shorter-chain alternatives do not necessarily avoid unwanted bioaccumulative properties. For example, the C₆ perfluoroalkyl sulfonate (PFSA) is more biopersistent in humans than the C₈-PFSA (i.e. PFOS),³⁸⁻⁴⁰ and perfluorobutanesulfonamide (a precursor of PFBS) was recently detected in fish⁴¹ (mean 0.04-5.35 ng/g wet weight in fish in Canada, and 80.12 ng/g in fish in the Netherlands), suggestive of its bioaccumulation potential.

Another concern is that unknown PFASs are now being intentionally manufactured, or produced as byproducts, and that these may already be adding to environmental contamination. At a fluorochemical manufacturing site on the Yangtze River in China, our previous work to flag unknown PFASs by non-target high-resolution mass spectrometry (Nt-HRMS) in wastewater revealed 36 new PFASs (**Chapter 3**).⁴² These included 3 PFAS classes that had not previously been reported in the environment: polyfluorinated sulfates ($C_nF_{n+3}H_{n-2}SO_4^-$), chlorine-substituted perfluorocarboxylates ($ClC_nF_{2n}CO_2^-$), and hydro-substituted perfluorocarboxylates ($HC_nF_{2n}CO_2^-$). Moreover, it is generally reported that a high percentage (i.e. >90%) of the total mass balance of organic fluoride is from unknown compounds, including in environmental samples^{43, 44} and biological samples.^{31, 45, 46} These unknowns may be attributable to unidentified legacy PFASs, or to contemporary use of alternative-PFASs, and it is important to identify these unknowns to accurately evaluate or mitigate risks of PFAS exposure today and in the future.

Nt-HRMS techniques are valuable tools for chemical discovery owing to their high sensitivity for detection, high spectral resolving power to avoid isobaric interferences, and high mass accuracy which enables accurate prediction of empirical formulae for unknown molecules. Their successful applications to PFAS discovery in water samples^{42, 47-49} and in human serum⁵⁰

are already demonstrated.

In the current study we adapted our Nt-HRMS method for PFAS discovery in water (**Chapter 3**)⁴² to discovery of potentially bioaccumulative PFASs in fish tissue collected at two strategic locations in China. The first location was on the Yangtze River, approximately 10 km downstream of the fluorochemical manufacturing park where we previously identified new PFASs in wastewater⁴² which is known to be released to the river.⁵¹ The second location was at Tanxun Lake, which is now well recognized as a highly contaminated system with an active fishery.²²⁻²⁴ The fish from these two water systems have long been sold in markets for consumption by local people, or potentially transported for sale to other regions of China. The current study will help to reveal potentially bioaccumulative PFASs which may be a risk to aquatic wildlife and surrounding human populations.

4.2 Material and Methods**

4.2.1 Chemical and Reagents

Optima water and methanol were from Fisher Scientific (Ottawa, ON, Canada), and ammonium acetate and 1-methyl piperidine (1-MP) were from Sigma-Aldrich (St. Louis, MO, USA). A standard of decafluoro-4-(pentafluoroethyl)-cyclohexanesulfonate (4-PFCHES, CAS 335-24-0) was from Wako Chemicals (Richmond, VA, USA), and a chlorinated perfluorinated ether sulfonate (F-53B, CAS 73606-19-6) industrial standard was from Shanghai Maikun Chemical Co., Ltd. (Shanghai, China). A historical industrial PFOS standard was donated by the 3M Co. (St. Paul, MN, USA).

4.2.2 Sample Collection

In October 2015, local Chinese fishermen were recruited to collect fish from two freshwater locations in China (Figure 4-1). One location was in the Yangtze River, in a region

^{**} Ms. Manli Qian helped in fishermen recruiting and fish liver collection. Ms. Xinxin Ma (Nankai University) freeze-dried individual fish liver samples, and Mr. Liang Wang shipped the dried samples to the University of Alberta. Dr. Amila O De Silva (Environment and Climate Change Canada) provided the 4-PFECHS standard.

approximately 10 km downstream of a known wastewater treatment plant (WWTP, same as in **Chapter 3**) that services a major fluorochemical manufacturing park in Changshu, Jiangsu province.⁴² The other location was in Tangxun Lake in Wuhan, Hubei province. This lake receives discharge from a WWTP that processes both domestic and industrial wastewater and has been previously identified as a contaminated water body.²² Fish from both locations are routinely caught by commercial fisheries and are sold in local markets.

Three fish species were collected from the Yangtze River, including common carp (*Cyprinus carpio*), silver carp (*Hypophthaimichthys molitrix*) and bighead carp (*Aristichthys nobilis*). The same three species were collected from Tangxun Lake, as well as a fourth species, white Amur bream (*Parabramis pekinensis*). Between 3 and 7 individual fish were sampled for each species at each location. Whole liver was collected from each individual fish, weighed (wet weight, **Table 4-1**), bagged separately in polypropylene plastic bags, and shipped overnight in an ice box to Nankai University (Tianjin, China) where all liver samples and ~10 g potassium chloride granules (as quality control for possible laboratory contamination) were freeze dried, weighed (dry weight, **Table 4-1**) and ultimately shipped to the University of Alberta for Nt-HRMS analysis.

4.2.3 Sample Preparation

Freeze-dried fish livers and the procedural blank salts were wrapped in aluminum foil and pulverized using a small hammer. Between 0.20 - 0.31 g of individual livers from the same species at each location were pooled, resulting in 3 pooled samples for the Yangtze River and 4 pooled samples for Tangxun Lake (**Table 4-1**). The procedural blank salts and pooled dry liver powder (0.5 g) was extracted 3 times with 1.5 mL acidified acetonitrile (1% formic acid) in a 15 mL centrifuge tube, and centrifuged at 3000 rpm at 15 °C for 20 min. An aliquot (1000 µL) of the supernatant was taken, mixed with 4 mL water and loaded to pre-conditioned weak anion exchange cartridges (500 mg WAX/6 mL, Waters). After washing successively with 1 mL 2% formic acid, 2 mL water and 2 mL methanol, the cartridges were eluted with 2 mL 1% NH4OH in methanol. The eluents were concentrated under a gentle stream of ultrapure nitrogen and reconstituted in 200 µL of 50% water/50% methanol. Injections (10-50 µL) of the final extract were made to HPLC-Orbitrap. Procedural blanks (0.5 mL Optima water) were extracted along with fish livers to monitor possible laboratory contamination during the extraction. An

instrumental blank (50% water/50% methanol) was also injected to monitor for any instrumental background.

4.2.4 Instrumental Analysis

The non-target PFAS discovery method developed in **Chapter 3**⁴² was applied with some modifications. An Accela HPLC coupled with an Orbitrap EliteTM hybrid mass spectrometer (Thermo Fisher Scientific, San Jose, CA, USA) was used for analysis. Chromatographic separations were performed on an Xselect CSH C18 XP column (130 Å pore size, 2.5 μ m particle size, 3 mm i.d., 150 mm length, Waters, Milford, MA) at 0.5 mL/min, and operating pressure was between 400-900 bar. Both mobile phase A (water) and B (methanol) contained 2 mM ammonium acetate and 2 mM 1-MP (pH_{mobile phase A}=9.8). The HPLC gradient program was as follows: starting with 38% B, increased linearly to 50% B between 0.17 and 2.67 min, then to 99% B at 41 min, held for 6 min, and returning to 38% B with a hold for 6 min before the next injection. Sample injection volume was between 20 - 50 μ L.

The Orbitrap was operated in negative electrospray ionization (ESI) mode. Capillary voltage, capillary temperature, vaporizer temperature, sheath gas, auxiliary gas and sweep gas were 5 kV, 275 °C, 325 °C, 40, 5 and 2 (arbitrary units), respectively. Two injections were made for the Nt-HRMS method. Analyte ions of unknown fluorinated contaminants are discovered in the first injection by performing the following parallel scans: (1) full scan (m/z=150-1500,Orbitrap mass analyzer set to RP 120,000); (2) in-source fragmentation flagging scan I (m/z=50-500, SID energy set to 80 or 100 eV, Orbitrap mass analyzer set to RP 30,000); and (3) in-source fragmentation scan II (m/z=30-100, SID energy set to 80 or 100 eV, ion-trap mass analyzer). Plausible molecular formulae were then assigned based on collective information including mass accuracy (i.e. within ±5ppm for all discovered ions and their isotopic ions), isotopic patterns (e.g. isotopic peaks [M]⁻/[M+2]⁻=3:1 indicates one chlorine atom), and compatibility of the predicted formula with in-source fragment ions (e.g. in-source [SO₃]⁻ indicates at least one sulfur and three oxygen atoms must be present in the intact ion). In the second injection, collision induced dissociation (CID) (0-80eV, He gas) and/or higher-energy collisional dissociation (HCD, 0-155eV, N₂ gas) MSⁿ (where n=2 - 4 stages of ion isolation and fragmentation) analyses were performed to further confirm the proposed molecular formula while also attempting to characterize structure of the unknown ions.

4.2.5. Data Presentation

Legacy PFASs (e.g. PFCAs and PFSAs) were monitored using authentic standards, and non-target PFASs were discovered by the Nt-HRMS method. For each class of non-target PFAS homologues discovered, plausible structures were proposed and confidence levels (CL=1-5) were assigned according to established criteria.⁵² Briefly, CL=1 represents confirmed structures by match to reference standards, level 2 represents probable structures by comparing to library spectra or by diagnostic evidence, and level 3 represents tentative candidates whose possible structure can be proposed but lack sufficient information to assign an exact structure (e.g. position of a chlorine atom on an aromatic ring). CL=4 is used when the unknown analyte ion can be assigned an unambiguous formula, but no structural information is available. Level 5 is assigned when analyte ions cannot be assigned a single empirical formula with confidence.

Quantification and semi-quantification were performed for legacy PFASs and non-target PFASs detected in fish livers, respectively. Each legacy PFAS was quantified in pooled fish liver extract (ng/mL) against its own methanol-based calibration curve, and back-calculated to the concentration in wet liver (ng/g wet weight, **Table 4-2**) using the average wet/dry weight liver ratio among all individual fish in the pool (**Table 4-1**). Authentic standards were not available for most non-target analytes. In full recognition of analytical uncertainties, semi-quantification was nevertheless performed with legacy PFAS standards (**Table 4-3**). For characterized non-target PFCAs and PFSAs, the semi-quantification was performed assuming the same molar unit response as the same or the closest chain-length legacy PFCAs and PFSAs, respectively. For non-target PFASs of other structures (i.e. non-perfluoroalkyl acids), the same molar unit response as PFOS was arbitrarily assumed for all analytes, regardless of chain-lengths. For the purpose of comparison with legacy PFASs in fish liver, the semi-quantified molar concentrations in extracts were further transformed to ng/g wet weight liver.

4.3 Results and Discussion

4.3.1 Legacy PFASs

Legacy PFCAs (C_4 - C_{14}) and PFSAs (C_4 - C_{10}) were detected in all fish samples from both locations. PFOS-precursors (e.g. N-methyl perfluorooctanesulfonamidoacetate) and PFCA

precursors (e.g. 8:2 polyfluoroalkyl phosphoric acid monoester) were occasionally detected in some samples, while perfluorophosphonic acids were not detected in any sample (**Table 4-2**, **Figure 4-2**). PFCAs were generally present at very low levels in all fish, whereas PFSAs were the major legacy PFASs detected. The Tangxun lake fish generally had higher levels of PFSAs than the Yangtze River fish. Highest concentrations were in bream fish from Tangxun Lake, but the same species was not available for comparison in the Yangtze River. PFOS was the dominant PFAS in all fish samples, contributing 58-72% of all legacy PFASs in the Yangtze River fish and 93-97% in Tangxun Lake fish. The exceptionally high PFOS in bream fish in Tangxun Lake (750 ng/g wet weight) is consistent with a previous report where PFOS was detected at 540-1900 ng/g levels in crucian carp liver collected in the same lake two years earlier.²⁹

4.3.2 Newly Discovered Non-Target PFASs

Using the Nt-HRMS discovery methods, in total 10 homologous classes of PFASs were discovered in the 7 pooled fish liver samples. None of these non-target analytes were detected in any quality control blanks, allowing us to rule out laboratory and instrumental background as their sources. Each PFAS class detected had at least 5 chain-length homologues, and isomers of a given homologue were commonly, but not always, observed. At each location, the homologue and isomer profiles were very similar between fish species, although minor analytes in one fish species were sometimes being absent in another due to differences in concentrations between species.

For structural elucidation of the unknown PFASs, 1-2 abundant homologues in each class were analyzed by MSⁿ experiments in one of the fish species that had relatively high responses (e.g. bream fish in Tangxun Lake). Because of insufficient signal to conduct MSⁿ experiments with less abundant homologues, proposed structures are generalized for the whole class. Each discovered class of PFAS is presented with detailed discussion of the mass spectral evidence and novelty for each class is always discussed with respect to previous reports.

Class 1: Terminal Chlorine Substituted Perfluoroalkylcarboxylates, terminal Cl-PFCAs, [ClCn-1F2n-2COO]⁻, n=8-15

A homologous class of chlorinated PFASs was discovered in all 3 fish samples from the Yangtze River by in-source fragmentation scanning for [³⁵Cl]⁻ and [³⁷Cl]⁻ peaks. The associated

ion formulae for these non-target analytes, also considering the $[M]^{-}[M+2]^{-}=3:1$ isotopic pattern, was consistent with Cl-PFCAs having 8-15 carbon atoms (**Figure 4-3.1**, **Table 4-4**). Only one isomer was observed for each homologue, and 8 total analytes were detected in this class.

Structural elucidation by MS^2 was performed for the prospective C₉ homologue in pooled common carp liver (**Figure 4-3.2**). Observation of the [M-CO₂]⁻ fragment indicated a carboxylic acid functional group. [M-CO₂]⁻ was the only fragment observed under low fragmentation energy, and no fragment could be seen when fragmentation energy increased (scanning range *m/z* 50-500). Thus, the dominant fragmentation pathway was yield of [Cl]⁻ ion, leaving a neutral charge on the perfluoroalkyl chain. Taking the evidence together with the high abundance of [³⁵Cl]⁻ and [³⁷Cl]⁻ from in-source fragmentation, we proposed a terminal chlorine substituted PFCA structure, CL=3, for this homologous class (**Table 4-4**).

We previously reported this same class of analytes (C_5 - C_{12}) in influent water⁴² to a WWTP (**Chapter 3**) located ~10 km upstream of where these fish were collected in the Yangtze River. This is the first ambient environmental measurement of Cl-PFCAs, and we are not of previous reports. Compared to our previous analysis of WWTP influent, shorter C_5 - C_7 homologues were absent in fish while longer C_{13} - C_{15} homologues were present, likely indicating a higher bioaccumulation potential for long-chain homologues, a well-known phenomenon among legacy PFASs.^{4, 53-55} Moreover, the C₈ homologue which dominated the Cl-PFCA class in the wastewater⁴² from **Chapter 3**, had the lowest response among all homologues in fish livers here (**Figure 4-3.1**) and was estimated to be present at the lowest concentrations (**Table 4-3**). The C₁₀ and C₁₁ homologues dominated the profile in fish, with estimated concentrations of 17 and 13 ng/g wet weight, respectively, in pooled common carp liver.

Class 2: x:2 Chlorine Substituted Perfluoroalkyl Ether Sulfonates, x:2 Cl-PFAESs, [ClC_{n-2}F_{2n-4}OC₂F₄SO₃]⁻, n=7-10, 12, 14

Another homologous class of non-target analytes was detected by in-source fragmentation flagging of $[Cl]^-$ which aligned with various fluorinated ion fragments: $[SO_2F]^-$, $[COF_3]^-$ and $[SO_3F]^-$ (**Figure 4-4.1**). These were observed in all pooled samples from both locations, and the corresponding molecular ions in full-scan corresponded to $ClC_nF_{2n}SO_4^-$ where n=7-10, 12 and 14 carbons (**Table 4-4**). Only one isomer was detected for each chain-length homologue.

MS² analyses were performed for both C₈ and C₁₀ homologues in pooled common carp

liver from the Yangtze River (Figure 4-4.2). We also analyzed an authentic industrial standard of F-53B (CClF₂C₅ F_{10} OC₂ F_4 SO₃⁻) which shares a common empirical formula with the unknown C₈ homologue. The retention time (Figure 4-4.1) and MS² spectrum (Figure 4-4.2) of the unknown C₈ homologue in carp matched the C₈ homologue in F-53B. Moreover, the unknown C_{10} homologue in carp matched retention time and MS² spectrum of residual C_{10} homologue in F-53B (Figure 4-4.1 and Figure 4-4.2). Thus, for these two homologues the structures were confirmed (CL=1) as 6:2 terminal chlorine substituted perfluoroalkyl ether sulfonate (6:2 Cl- $CClF_2C_5F_{10}OC_2F_4SO_3^-$, known PFAES. also as F-53B) and 8:2 **Cl-PFAES** (CClF₂C₃F₆OC₂F₄SO₃⁻). Although we did not explore structure of other residual carbon chainlength homologues (ClC_nF_{2n}SO₄⁻, where n=6, 7 and 9) by MSⁿ, these were also detected in the F-53B standard, and matched retention times of the C₇ and C₉ analytes in fish (Figure 4-4.1). Thus, it is highly likely that these unknown analytes in fish are 5:2 and 7:2 Cl-PFAESs. Remaining homologues were therefore assigned as x:2 Cl-PFAES, CL=2.

In previous reports, 6:2, 8:2 and 10:2 Cl-PFAESs were detected in samples from China, including 6:2 (i.e. F-53B) in chrome plating discharge and downstream surface water,²⁷ 6:2, 8:2 and 10:2 in municipal sludge,²⁶ 6:2 in air,²⁸ 6:2 in crucian carps (including from Tanxun Lake),²⁹ 6:2, 8:2^{30, 31} and 10:2³¹ in human biofluids, and 6:2 in Greenland ringed seals and polar bears.³² In the current study, 5:2, 7:2, and 12:2 Cl-PFAESs, are reported for the first time in any sample type (**Figure 4-4.1, Table 4-4**).

Between the two locations, the Yangtze River fish (5:2-8:2, 10:2 and 12:2) had more homologues than the Tangxun Lake fish (6:2-8:2). The (semi-)quantification was performed against a calibration curve of 6:2 Cl-PFAES, and concentrations of x:2 Cl-PFAESs in the Yangtze River fish were generally higher than for Tangxun Lake (**Table 4-3**). This probably suggests a unique local F-53B exposure source for the Yangtze River, especially when considering the fact that the Yangtze River (a lotic aquatic system) has a higher dilution rate than Tangxun Lake (a lentic system). 6:2 Cl-PFAES is usually detected at comparable or higher levels than PFOS.²⁷⁻³¹ In the current study, 6:2 Cl-PFAES was present at similar concentrations as PFOS (67%-276% of PFOS, **Figure 4-2**) in the Yangtze River fish, and comparable (127%) to the concentration measured in crucian carp liver in other Chinese waters.²⁹ In Tangxun Lake, due to the exceptionally high PFOS concentrations, 6:2 Cl-PFAES was present at lower relative concentrations than PFOS (1.1-6.2% of PFOS) (**Table 4-3**, **Figure 4-2**), consistent with

measurements in crucian carp liver two.²⁹

F-53B is a mist suppressant used in the chrome plating industry in China since the late 1970s.^{25, 26} Five Cl-PFAES homologues (4:2-8:2) were detected in the industrial F-53B standard (**Figure 4-4.1**). Widespread x:2 Cl-PFAES detection in different areas of China indicates ubiquitous F-53B exposure in this country, and detection of 6:2 Cl-PFAES in Greenland ringed seals and polar bear³² further suggests its long-range transport potential. Airborne F-53B in a Chinese city has increased 5-fold between 2007 and 2014,²⁸ possibly indicating an increasing problem. 6:2 Cl-PFAES has a log-bioaccumulation factor of 4.3 in crucian carp, compared to 3.3 for PFOS.²⁹ It has been termed "the most bio-persistent PFAS in humans reported to date" with a median half-life of 18.5 years, compared to 7.7 years for PFOS.³¹ The acute toxicity,²⁷ embryotoxicity and cardiac developmental effects⁵⁶ of 6:2 Cl-PFAES in zebrafish has been described. Large scale targeted monitoring and risk assessment of x:2 Cl-PFAESs, as a class, may be warranted in the future.

Class 3: Cyclic or Unsaturated PFSAs, [C_nF_{2n-1}SO₃]⁻, n=7-14

Here, a homologous class of non-target analytes was discovered by in-source fragmentation flagging of $[SO_3]^-$ and $[SO_3F]^-$ that appeared in all 4 pooled fish liver samples from Tangxun Lake. In full scan, these fragments corresponded to molecular ions similar to perfluoroalkyl sulfonates with 7-14 carbon atoms, but with 2 fewer F atoms (**Figure 4-5.1**, **Table 4-4**); owing to a double bond or ring in their structures (i.e. $C_nF_{2n-1}SO_3^-$). More than 50 partially resolved isomer peaks were observed among all chain-length homologues in this class.

 MS^2 analyses were performed for all C₈ isomers (C₈F₁₅SO₃⁻) in pooled bream fish (**Figure 4-5.2**). The presence of [SO₃]⁻ and [SO₃F]⁻ for all isomers confirmed the in-source fragments and indicated the presence of a sulfonate group next to a fluorinated chain; most isomers also yielded the intact C₈F₁₅⁻ ion after neutral loss of SO₃. Short perfluoroalkenyl fragments (i.e. C₄F₇⁻) confirmed that some of the isomers had structures with a double-bond, whereas C₅F₉⁻ and C₆F₁₁⁻ ion were more ambiguous either representing longer perfluoroalkenyl moieties, or 5-6 membered rings.⁵⁷ Unlike all isomers in the fish, MS² of authentic 4-PFECHS standard (C₈F₁₅SO₃⁻) did not yield the [SO₃]⁻ ion, but exclusively the [SO₃F]⁻ ion (**Figure 4-5.3**a); the structure for this standard is a sulfonate group attached directly to a 6-membered perfluoroalkyl ring. The absence of [SO₃]⁻ fragment was also observed for 1-perfluoromethyl-PFOS standard (**Figure 4-5.3**b),

where SO₃ is directly connected to a tertiary carbon, similar to 4-PFECHS. Thus, any perfluoroalkyl ring-containing structures in fish (e.g. possibly isomers 2 or 5) likely have a -CF₂- or -C₂F₄- between the sulfonate and the ring, and any branched unsaturated perfluoroalkyl sulfonate structures likely to have the branch located at non- α carbons (Figure 4-5.2). The general structure for this class was therefore assigned as cyclic or unsaturated PFSAs, CL=3 (Table 4-4).

We also detected residual C_8 (≥ 9 isomers) and C_9 (≥ 4 isomers) cyclic or unsaturated PFSA homologues in a standard of historical commercial PFOS (denoted as "3M-PFOS" hereafter), and using retention time and MS² spectral matches we confirmed that unknown isomer 2 and 9 of the C₈ homologue in fish (**Figure 4-5.2**) are the same unknown isomers in 3M-PFOS. Thus, these substances may be present in the environment as residual byproduct of historical PFOS. In the four Tangxun Lake fish samples, this class of analytes present at <10% of legacy PFSA concentrations (**Figure 4-2**), but the C₉, C₁₁ and C₁₂ homologues were more prominent in some samples (**Table 4-3**). The bream fish showed higher levels than other species (**Figure 4-2**).

We are unaware of any previous reports of unsaturated PFSAs in any biological sample, but in total 5 cyclic PFSA have been previously reported in waters,^{58, 59} sediment,⁵⁷ amphipods⁵⁹ and in fish from the Great Lakes⁵⁸ and St. Lawrence River.⁶⁰ Among them, 4-PFECHS⁵⁷⁻⁶¹ and perfluoro-4-methylcyclohexanesulfonate (4-PFMeCHS)⁵⁸ were previously confirmed. Unsaturated or cyclic PFSA isomers with 4-13 carbons were reported in 3M commercial products, including a 3M PFOS standard, in aqueous film-forming foams (AFFFs),⁶² and in concrete impacted by AFFF.⁶³

Class 4: Monoether-PFSAs, [CnF2n+1SO4]⁻, n=4-12

Another homologous group of analytes was discovered through fragmentation flagging by $[C_4F_9O]^-$ which coeluted with $[SO_3]^-$, $[SO_2F]^-$, $[SO_3F]^-$ and $[C_3F_7]^-$ in all pooled fish liver samples from Tangxun Lake. These fragments corresponded to molecular ions with the general formula $[C_nF_{2n+1}SO_4]^-$ with 4-12 carbons (**Figure 4-6.1**, **Table 4-4**). More than 30 isomers (some only partially resolved) were observed among all chain-length homologue in this class.

 MS^2 was performed for all prospective C_8 isomers in Tangxun Lake bighead carp (**Figure 4-6.2**). While observations of $[SO_3]^-$, $[SO_3F]^-$ and perfluoroalkyl ions (e.g. $[C_3F_7]^-$) are similar to classic perfluorinated sulfonates, the high abundance of oxy-perfluoroalkyl fragments (e.g.

[C₄F₉O]⁻) suggested the presence of an ether moiety.⁶⁴ The possibility that these unknowns were perfluoroalkyl sulfates (i.e. R_{f} -OSO₃⁻) was ruled out due to absence of [C₈F₁₇O]⁻, formed via neutral loss of SO₃,^{42, 65} as well as absence of [SO₄]⁻ ion; ^{42, 47} both were also observed for polyfluorinated sulfates in **Chapter 3**. This class was therefore proposed as monoether-PFSAs CL=3 (**Table 4-4**), and possible structures are shown in **Figure 4-6.2**. The [SO₃]⁻ ion was absent for isomers 3 and 6, likely indicating a tertiary α -carbon (as discussed in **Class 3**, among all mono-CF₃ branched PFOS isomers only α -branched PFOS produced no [SO₃]⁻ fragment,⁶⁶ **Figure 4-5.3**).

The only previous report of monoether-PFSAs was a C₆-analyte detected in AFFF-exposed firefighter serum,⁵⁰ which was proposed as CF₃OC₅F₁₀SO₃⁻ based on its MS² spectrum. We detected residual C₈ (\geq 6 isomers) and C₉ ether-PFSAs (\geq 6 isomers) in 3M-PFOS, but none of these matched with those in fish. C₈ and C₉ homologues were the dominant homologues in all four Tangxun Lake fish species, and bream fish showed the highest estimated concentrations (~50 ng/g for both homologues, **Table 4-3**). Compared to legacy PFSAs of the same chain-length, this class was generally present at 10-fold lower concentrations (**Figure 4-2**), however, some long-chain homologues were comparable (e.g. C₉ homologues were present at 60-190% of PFNS concentrations).). It is unclear if the presence of monoether-PFSAs in these fish is a result of historical PFOS production, or due to contemporary production as replacements to legacy PFSAs.¹⁹

Class 5: Diether-PFSA, [C_nF_{2n+1}SO₅]⁻, n=6-12

Here another homologous group of analytes was discovered through in-source fragmentation flagging by $[C_2F_5O]^-$ in all Tangxun Lake pooled fish livers. In full-scan, these flags corresponded to the general molecular ion formula $C_nF_{2n+1}SO_5^-$ with 6-12 carbons (**Figure 4-7.1, Table 4-4**). This empirical formula is similar to classic perfluoroalkyl sulfonates (e.g. PFOS) but with two additional oxygen atoms, and the only possible way these oxygens can be incorporated to the structure is through ether bonds. Multiple partially resolved isomers were observed for homologues with 8 or more carbons (smaller homologues had only weak intensity and no isomers were observed), and the total number of discovered analytes was estimated at over 25.

MS² analyses were performed for all three C₈ isomers in pooled liver of bream fish from

Tangxun Lake (**Figure 4-7.2**). Fragments $[SO_3]^-$, $[CO_3F]^-$ and $[SO_3F]^-$ are indicative of a sulfonate group, and the high response of perfluoroalkoxy $[C_nF_{2n+1}O]^-$ and dioxy $[C_nF_{2n+1}O_2]^-$ fragment ions provided empirical evidence to support the assignment of this class as diether-PFASs, with CL=3 (**Table 4-4**).

These analytes have not previously been reported, but two C₇ analytes detected in water downstream of a fluorochemical facility were tentatively proposed as something similar: a diether-polyfluoroalkyl sulfonate (CF₃CHFOCF₂C(CF₃)OC₂F₄SO₃⁻, and a diether-unsaturated perfluoroalkyl sulfonate (CF₂=CFOCF₂C(CF₃)OC₂F₄SO₃⁻).⁴⁸ Diether perfluoroalkyl carboxylates (e.g. C₂F₅OC₂F₄OCF₂COO⁻, CAS No. 908020-52-0) have been reported to be manufactured by companies as alternatives to PFOA,¹⁹ thus it is possible that the novel diether-PFSAs detected here were manufactured intentionally as PFOS alternatives. The semi-quantified concentrations for this class were relatively low in all fish samples, with the dominant C₉ homologue at <3 ng/g (**Table 4-3**). Bream fish had the highest levels of all homologues in this class (**Figure 4-2**).

Class 6: Enol-Ether-, Cyclic-Ether- or Carbonyl-PFSAs, [CnF2n-1SO4]-, n=6-13

Here a homologous group of analytes was discovered by in-source fragmentation flagging of $[C_3F_5]^-$ and $[C_4F_7]^-$ which coeluted with $[SO_3]^-$ and $[SO_3F]^-$ in all pooled fish liver samples from Tangxun Lake. In full-scan, these fragments corresponded to molecular ions with the general formula of $C_nF_{2n-1}SO_4^-$ with 6-13 carbon atoms (**Figure 4-8.1**, **Table 4-4**). More than 40 partially resolved isomers were observed among all homologues in this class.

 MS^2 was performed for all C₈ isomers in bream fish from Tangxun Lake (Figure 4-8.2). [SO₃]⁻, [SO₂F]⁻ and [SO₃F]⁻ indicated an underlying PFSA structure. Neutral C_nF_{2n}O loss (e.g. production of C₇F₁₃SO₃⁻ and C₆F₁₁SO₃⁻) and perfluoroalkenyl fragments were commonly observed. This, along with DBE=1, allows three feasible structures with CL=3 (Figure 4-8.2, Table 4-4):

(1) Cyclic ether-PFSAs. Neutral CH₂O loss is characteristic of cyclic ethers in electron ionization⁶⁷ and collision-activated dissociation⁶⁸ in GC-MS. (2) Unsaturated ether-PFSAs. Perfluoroalkoxy fragments are usually expected for perfluoroalkyl ethers.^{48, 64} However, no such fragments were observed for any C₈- isomer, possibly indicating an enol ether structure where the existence of a nearby double bond may have reduced production of the perfluoroalkoxy fragment. Neutral CH₂O loss was commonly observed for anisoles and methoxypyridines in

electron ionization.⁶⁹ (3) Carbonyl-PFSAs. Fragments $C_6F_{11}SO_3^-$ for isomer 7 and 9 can be formed via cleavage of a CF₃C(O)- moiety, while $C_7F_{13}SO_3^-$ for isomer 2-6 and 8 may be due to a terminal carbonyl fluoride (i.e. an acid fluoride). However, we believe it unlikely that such a compound would be hydrolytically stable under our alkali mobile phase condition, not to mention persistent enough to be present in fish livers (**Table 4-4**).

Residual $C_8F_{15}SO_4^-$ (6 isomers) and $C_9F_{17}SO_4^-$ (3 isomers) ions were also detected in 3M-PFOS. By retention and MS² matches, isomers 2, 5 and 8 of the C₈ homologue in fish samples are likey of the same chemical identity as two major and one minor C₈ isomers in 3M-PFOS. This class of analytes could therefore be byproducts in historical perfluoroalkyl sulfonate production, or perhaps are manufactured intentionally as new alternatives to PFOS. The total semi-quantified concentration for this class was between 0.02-18 ng/g in bream fish, and <1 ng/g in the other species (**Table 4-3**, **Figure 4-2**).

Cyclic ether PFSAs have not previously been reported. A C₇-analyte detected in water downstream of a fluorochemical production facility was proposed as an enol ether-perfluoroalkyl sulfonate ($CF_2=CFOCF_2C(CF_3)OC_2F_4SO_3^-$, as discussed in **Class 5**, but only based on its exact mass (i.e. no spectral information).⁴⁸ Based on MS² spectra, a homologous (C₄-C₁₃) class of compounds detected in AFFF-impacted concrete⁶³ and a C₈ analyte detected in AFFF-exposed firefighters' were proposed as ketone-PFSAs.

Class 7: Diether-Unsaturated-, Cyclic-Ether- or Carbonyl-Ether-PFSAs, [CnF2n-1SO5]⁻, n=6-13

Here a homologous group of analytes was flagged by the in-source fragment ions $[C_2F_5O]^$ and $[C_3F_5O_2]^-$, which coeluted with $[SO_3]^-$, $[SO_3F]^-$, $[C_2F_5]^-$ and $[C_3F_7]^-$ in all pooled fish from Tangxun Lake. In full-scan, these ions corresponded to molecular ions having the general molecular ion formula of $[C_nF_{2n-1}SO_5]^-$ with between 6-13 carbons (**Figure 4-9.1**, **Table 4-4**). This empirical formula is similar to **Class 6** analytes, but with one additional oxygen atom. More than 30 partially resolved isomers were observed among all homologues.

 MS^2 analysis was performed for all C_{10} isomers in silver carp from Tangxun Lake (**Figure 4-9.2**). The $[SO_3]^-$ and $[SO_3F]^-$ fragment ions observed for all isomers are characteristic of PFSAs. Similar to Class 6, neutral loss of $[C_nF_{2n}O]$ and perfluoroalkenyl fragments ions (e.g. $[C_3F_5]^-$ or $[C_4F_7]^-$) were observed for all isomers, indicating the same three feasible

functionalities as above: enol ether-, cyclic ether- or carbonyl-PFSAs. The high $[C_2F_5O]^-$ fragment for isomer 1-3, as observed for **Class 4** monoether-PFSAs and **Class 5** diether-PFSAs, indicates an additional terminal ethylether (example structures for isomer 2 in **Figure 4-9.2**), while the absence of an obvious perfluoroalkoxy fragment for isomer 4 and 5 may indicate an internal ether structure (i.e. see proposed dioxy-cyclic PFASs or a mixed carbonyl-ether-PFSA for isomer 4 in **Figure 4-9.2**). Thus, diether-unsaturated-, cyclic-ether- or carbonyl-ether-PFASs are all possible for this class, with CL=3 (**Table 4-4**).

This class of ions was not detected in the historical 3M-PFOS standard. In fish livers, most analytes were estimated to be <1 ng/g, except in bream fish, where the dominant C₁₀ homologue was present at ~3.0 ng/g (**Table 4-3**, **Figure 4-2**). The only previous report of a chemical belonging to this class was a study by Strynar *et al.*⁴⁸ who, proposed a C₇ analyte detected in water as diether-unsaturated PFSA (i.e. $CF_2=CFOCF_2CF(CF_3)OC_2F_4SO_3^-$) as discussed in **Class 5** and **6**, and based only on its exact mass.

Class 8: Perfluoroalkyl Amine Carboxyl Esters, [CnF2n-6H6O6N]⁻, n=13-16

For this class of analytes, discovery was initially for a series of small nitrogen containing ions that we later realized were fragments of larger precursor molecules, which dissociated even under the soft ionization conditions of our full scan mode. Here, the discovery process is described sequentially, from smallest to largest ions, as it is instructive for characterization of the analyte structure(s) in this class.

A homologous group of nitrogen containing ions, with the general formula of $[C_nF_{2n+2}N]^-$ (n=5-12), was initially discovered by in-source $[C_3F_7]^-$ fragments in all Tangxun Lake pooled fish liver (**Figure 4-10.1**, **Table 4-4**) with many isomers observed for each homologue. Structural characterization of the C₅ (**Figure 4-10.2**a) and C₈ homologues (**Figure 4-10.2**b) suggested a perfluoroalkyl amine structure for these ions. Although branching of the perfluoroalkyl chain could possibly have given rise to the high number of isomers, the identical MS² profiles, especially for those of low carbon-chain homologues (e.g. C₅F₁₂N⁻ in **Figure 4-10.2**), raised the possibility that these analytes may actually be identical or very similar fragments coming from larger precursor molecules.

Manual searching for higher molecular weight precursors was performed at the same retention times, and the first class of plausible precursor ions had the general molecular formula of $[C_nF_{2n}O_2N]^-$ with 9-16 carbons (**Figure 4-10.3**, **Table 4-4**). Each $[C_nF_{2n}O_2N]^-$ homologue was composed of multiple isomeric peaks, and each peak had at least one $[C_nF_{2n+2}N]^-$ ion peak at the same retention time (shaded peaks in **Figure 4-10.3**), consistent with these being precursor ions. This was confirmed by MS² fragmentation of all $C_{12}F_{24}O_2N^-$ isomers (**Figure 4-10.4**a), as well as the major isomer of the C_{10} - C_{13} homologues (**Figure 4-10.4**b), whereby $[C_8F_{18}N]^-$ and/or $[C_5F_{12}N]^-$ ions were produced under various dissociation conditions. Neutral loss of $C_nF_{2n-2}O_2$ (n=4-6) was commonly observed for the C_{10} - C_{13} homologues, corresponding to either a perfluorocarboxylate or carboxyl ester moiety (see proposed structures for the major C_8 isomer in **Figure 4-10.4**).

Continued manual search for even higher molecular weight precursors, at the same retention times, revealed two classes of homologues with the general formulae: $[C_nF_{2n-2}H_2O_5N]^-$ (n=10-17, **Figure 4-10.5**) and $[C_nF_{2n-6}H_6O_6N]^-$ (n=13-16, **Figure 4-10.6**). Almost all $[C_nF_{2n-2}H_2O_5N]^-$ ions had a corresponding $[C_nF_{2n}O_2N]^-$ peak at the same retention time (shaded peaks in **Figure 4-10.3**), and all $[C_nF_{2n-6}H_6O_6N]^-$ ions had a corresponding $[C_nF_{2n-2}H_2O_5N]^-$ peak at the same retention time (shaded peaks in **Figure 4-10.3**), and all $[C_nF_{2n-6}H_6O_6N]^-$ ions had a corresponding $[C_nF_{2n-2}H_2O_5N]^-$ peak at the same retention time (shaded peaks in **Figure 4-10.5**), indicating these as precursors.

Collectively, these data suggest that the analytes actually present in fish livers are homologues and isomers of $[C_nF_{2n-6}H_6O_6N]^-$, while the $[C_nF_{2n-2}H_2O_5N]^-$, $[C_nF_{2n}O_2N]^-$ and $[C_nF_{2n+1}N]^-$ fragments are formed spontaneously in the source of the instrument. Neither $[C_nF_{2n-2}H_2O_5N]^-$ nor $[C_nF_{2n-6}H_6O_6N]^-$ homologues could be successfully selected in HCD or CID MS² analysis, making the structure of $[C_nF_{2n-6}H_6O_6N]^-$ uncertain (CL=4, **Table 4-4**). Nevertheless, based on characterization of the $[C_nF_{2n}O_2N]^-$ fragments, a general core structure of perfluoroalkyl amine carboxyl esters is likely for the $[C_nF_{2n-6}H_6O_6N]^-$ homologues.

The number of analytes detected for this $[C_nF_{2n-6}H_6O_6N]^-$ homologous class was estimated by counting the number of different retention times for the $[C_nF_{2n+2}N]^-$ fragments, and at least 50 $[C_nF_{2n-6}H_6O_6N]^-$ analytes could be confirmed in fish livers. Semi-quantification for this class was performed using PFOS calibration curves, and the total concentration was calculated by adding up $[C_nF_{2n-6}H_6O_6N]^-$ and all 3 classes of fragments. Thus, total **Class 8** analytes were present at >10 ng/g in all 4 fish species, and reached a level of ~630 ng/g in bream fish, comparable to the level of PFOS (**Figure 4-2**). The C₁₅ homologue eluting at 24.37 min was taken as an example, and its sequential fragmentation pathway to $[C_{13}F_{24}H_2O_5N]^-$, to $[C_{12}F_{24}O_2N]^-$ and eventually to $[C_8F_{18}N]^-$ was proposed (**Figure 4-10.7**).

Simple perfluoroalkyl amines are marketed for use in electronics testing, heat transfer^{70, 71} and as artificial oxygen carriers for medical purposes.⁷²⁻⁷⁴ Perfluoroalkyl amines are also among the starting materials for manufacturing fluoropolymers (e.g. polyurethanes and polyamides⁷¹). The only previous report of a perfluoroamine in the environment was perfluorotributylamine, which is among the 3M *Fluorinert*TM products,^{70, 75, 76} detected in urban air in Toronto.⁷⁷ It is noteable that perfluorotributylamine has an atmospheric lifetime of 500 years, and has been concluded to have "the highest radiative efficiency of any compound detected".⁷⁷

Class 9: Unsaturated Perfluoroalkyl Amine Carboxylates, or Unsaturated Perfluoroalkyl Amine Carboxyl Esters, [C_nF_{2n}NO₂]⁻, n=10-15.

Another homologous group of ions with the general formula $[C_nF_{2n}N]^-$ (n=6-15) was discovered through in-source $[C_3F_5]^-$ fragments in all Tangxun Lake pooled fish livers (**Figure 4-11.1**). This empirical formula is similar to the above perfluoroalkyl amine fragments of **Class 8** analytes, but with two fewer F atoms, owing to a double bond or ring. The unsaturated perfluoroalkyl amine structure was confirmed by MS² experiments with all C₈ isomers (CL=3, **Figure 4-11.2**). Manual searching for possible higher molecular weight precursors revealed one homologous class of ions having the general molecular formula $[C_nF_{2n}-2NO_2]^-$ (n=10-15, **Class 9**, **Figure 4-11.3**), similar to the homologous fragments $[C_nF_{2n}NO_2]^-$ in **Class 8**. MS² fragmentation of all $C_{12}F_{22}NO_2^-$ isomers confirmed the general structure for this class as unsaturated perfluoroalkyl amine carboxylates, or carboxyl esters (CL=3, **Figure 4-11.4**).

The total number of analytes detected for **Class 9** $[C_nF_{2n-2}NO_2]^-$ was estimated by first counting the total different retention times of the $[C_nF_{2n}N]^-$ fragments (**Figure 4-11.1**) and then subtracting those where **Class 8** $[C_nF_{2n+2}N]^-$ fragments were also coeluting (**Figure 4-10.1**) due to the possibility that an unsaturated $C_nF_{2n-2}NO_2^-$ can fragment to both saturated $[C_nF_{2n+2}N]^-$ and unsaturated $[C_nF_{2n}N]^-$ fragments in the source (e.g. $C_{12}F_{22}NO_2^-$ at retention time 22.80 min produced $C_5F_{12}N^-$ and $C_7F_{14}N^-$ in MS² CID analysis in **Figure 4-11.4**, and a $C_5F_{12}N^-$ and a $C_7F_{14}N^-$ fragments also present in full-scan in **Figure 4-10.1** and **Figure 4-11.1**, respectively). The semi-quantified concentration for **Class 9** was ~10× lower than for **Class 8 (Table 4-3, Figure 4-2)**.

Class 10: Perfluorinated Pyrroles or Imidazoles, [CnF2n-3N2O]⁻, n=9-18
Finally, a homologous group of analytes was discovered by in-source fragmentation flagging for $[C_3F_5O]^-$ and $[C_3F_7]^-$. In all Tangxun Lake pooled fish liver samples, these flagging ions corresponded to a series of compounds belonging to the general molecular formula $C_nF_{2n-3}N_2O^-$ with 9-17 carbons (**Figure 4-12.1**, **Table 4-4**). Multiple isomers were observed for most homologues, and more than 40 analytes were detected in this untargeted class.

Deep structural elucidation was performed by MS^2 , MS^3 , and MS^4 for the early-eluting isomer of the smallest homologue (i.e. C₉, **Figure 4-12.2**a). Unlike any of the other classes characterized above, here radical loss, or radical formation, was commonly observed, indicating an aromatic moiety.⁷⁸⁻⁸¹ The DBE value of 3 does not allow a phenyl in the molecule, thereby indicating a 5-member heteroaromatic moiety (i.e. furan, pyrrole, pyrazole, imidazole, oxazole and isoxazole). The observed loss of •OCF₃ confirmed that the oxygen was not in the ring, therefore excluding furans, oxazoles and isoxazoles. Further, azo-compounds (-N=N-) can lose N₂ in negative mode,⁸² an and the absence of such fragmentation narrowed down the possible core structures to either pyrroles or imidazoles.

The loss of $\cdot C_4F_9$ (i.e. $m/z=436.98 \rightarrow 217.99$) and of C_4F_{10} ($m/z=436.98 \rightarrow 198.99$) suggested a C_4F_9 substituent; based on the analogy that $\cdot CH_3$ and CH_4 losses are observed for isopropyl-substituted phenyls.⁸¹ Losses of $\cdot CF_3$ ($m/z=436.98 \rightarrow 367.97$ and $217.99 \rightarrow 149.00$), of $\cdot OCF_3$ ($m/z=217.99 \rightarrow 133.00$) and of $\cdot CF_3+CO$ ($m/z=217.99 \rightarrow 121.00$) indicated a CF_3O substituent; based on analogy that CH_3O substituted aromatic compounds lose $\cdot CH_3$, $\cdot OCH_3^{82-84}$ and ($\cdot CH_3+CO$).^{81, 82, 84, 85} Given these two likely substituents, the possible structures would either be (CF_3O)(C_4F_9)(NF_2)-pyrrole or (CF_3O)(C_4F_9)(CF_3)-imidazole, and the fragmentation pathways for both structures are proposed in **Figure 4-12.2**b. The structure for this class was therefore proposed as perfluorinated pyrroles or imidazoles, CL=3 (**Table 4-4**).

It is noticeable that isomers for each homologue eluted as two clusters, with one cluster eluting much later (e.g. $1^{st} C_{12}$ isomer cluster eluting 16.98-19.85 min, 2^{nd} cluster eluting 22.87-24.43 min, **Figure 4-17.1**). To examine structural differences between the two clusters, MS^2 - MS^5 analyses were performed for all C_{12} isomers, which were the most abundant homologue, and similar fragmentation patterns were observed (**Figure 4-17.3**). The very different retention times for the two clusters may be due to different core structures (e.g. pyrrole vs imidazole), or that one cluster or both clusters were in-source fragments from larger precursors. However, no precursor

homologues were discovered.

The estimated concentrations for analytes in this class, against a PFOS calibration curve, were usually lower than 1 ng/g in most fish (**Table 4-3**). However, the dominant C_{12} homologue was present at concentrations in the range of 3.8-208 ng/g (8-28% of the PFOS concentration in the same sample). Among all fish species, highest concentrations were found in bream fish.

We are not aware of any previous reports of perfluorinated pyrroles or imidazoles. Fluoropyrrole derivatives have been used in pharmaceutical applications (e.g. anti-inflammatory agents)⁸⁶⁻⁸⁸ and as insecticides (e.g. chlorofenapyr⁸⁹), and fluorinated imidazoles are useful reagents in organic chemistry,⁹⁰ but all these examples are not highly fluorinated. Perfluoroalkyl imidazoles are potent angiotensin II antagonists,⁹¹ but no such commercialized drug is known.

4.4 Significance

The in-source fragmentation flagging method,⁴² first developed for water analysis, was shown here as a powerful tool for unknown PFAS discovery in a complex biological matrix. The method has the potential to be used for discovering any class of compound that fragments to produce characteristic ions in the source. Here, in addition to perfluoroalkyl (e.g. $[C_2F_5]$) and perfluoroalkene fragments (e.g. $[C_3F_5]$), perfluoroether (e.g. $[C_2F_5O]$, $[C_3F_5O]$ and $[C_3F_5O_2]$), perfluoroamine (e.g. $[C_5F_{12}N]$ and $[C_8F_{16}N]$), chlorine ($[^{35}CI]$ and $[^{37}CI]$) and S-containing fragments ($[SO_3]$, $[SO_3F]$ and $[SO_3F]$) were used in the current study to flag and characterize unknown PFASs. As shown for most classes of substances discovered here, the method benefits tremendously from liquid chromatography to separate any isomeric homologues prior to structural elucidation. In this way, a much greater number of compounds were discovered relative to what would have been observed by direct infusion of the same extracts. Moreover, structural elucidation would have proven more difficult, and likely inaccurate, without chromatographic separation.

In total, more than 330 non-target PFAS analytes were detected in fish livers from the two locations. These belonged to 10 unique classes of PFASs. Except for 6:2 Cl-PFASE²⁹ (Class 2) and 4-PFECHS^{58, 60} (Class 3), all non-target analytes are reported here in fish for the first time.

Considering all previous studies of PFASs in human, environmental or industrial and commercial standards, more than 165 non-target analytes belonging to 4 PFAS classes are reported here for the first time, including **Class 5** diether-PFSAs, **Class 8** perfluoroalkyl amine carboxyl esters, **Class 9** unsaturated perfluoroalkyl amine carboxylates/ carboxyl esters, and **Class 10** perfluoroalkyl pyrroles or imidazoles. For the 6 PFAS classes that were previously reported in other samples or materials, new homologues and isomers were detected in the current study, including C_{13} - C_{15} Cl-PFCAs (**Class 1**, 3 analytes), 5:2, 7:2 and 12:2 Cl-PFAESs (**Class 2**, 3 analytes), C_{14} cyclic or unsaturated PFSAs (**Class 3**, >2 isomers), C_4 - C_5 and C_{10} - C_{12} monoether-PFSAs (**Class 4**, >15 analytes), C_{10} - C_{13} enol-ether-, cyclic-ether- or carbonyl-PFSAs (**Class 6**, ~30 analytes) and C_6 and C_8 - C_{13} diether-unsaturated-, cyclic-ether- or carbonyl-ether-PFSAs (**Class 7**, ~30 analytes).

The number of carbon atoms (e.g. chain-length) detected in the PFASs in the current study ranged from C_4 to C_{18} . Among the 73 homologues, 61 homologues had at least 8 carbons, showing the dominance of long-chain PFASs in these fish. This is not likely biased by the analytical method which was based on extraction using weak anion exchange, and the HPLC method was capable of retaining PFASs as short as 4 carbons (e.g. PFBA and PFBS was detected). The few number of shorter-chain PFSAs detected is most likely attributable to their lower bioaccumulation potentials, or that very few short-chain PFASs were, or are, emitted in these two regions of China.

The semi-quantified concentration for most of the 73 homologues were low (<1 ng/g, **Table 4-3**). However, some long-chain homologues showed very high concentrations (e.g. **Class 8** in Tangxun Lake bream fish). The total concentration for each PFAS class was calculated by summing up all homologues within the same class (**Figure 4-2**). In the Yangtze River fish, **Class 1** Cl-PFCAs and **Class 2** x:2 Cl-PFAESs were generally present at comparable levels in each fish species. In fish from Tangxun Lake, **Class 4** monoether-PFSAs, **Class 8** perfluoroalkyl amine carboxyl esters and **Class 10** perfluoroalkyl N-heterocycles were the three dominant PFAS classes, present at >10 ng/g in most samples. It is also noteworthy that, among the four fish species in Tangxun Lake, bream fish showed much higher concentrations for all detected legacy and most non-target PFASs than other species. This is possibly attributable to different feeding habits (omnivorous for bream *vs* filter feeder for silver carp and bighead carp).

Compared to the legacy PFASs, the newly identified PFASs have mono-chlorine substitution, double-bonds or rings, ether bonds, carbonyl or amine functional groups. Among

these, only ketone (i.e. carbonyl) and ether PFASs are known to have been produced intentionally in recent years as alternative PFASs.¹⁹ However, ether PFSAs (and maybe carbonyl-PFSA) were also detected here as byproducts in historical 3M-PFOS. It is therefore difficult to know if any of the non-target PFASs detected here are from historical or contemporary production and emission. Particularly for Tanxun Lake, it would seem prudent to examine current wastewater releases for evidence of the many PFASs identified here. This information may help to minimize future exposure around this contaminated water body. Similarly, the WWTP plant upstream of where the Yangtze River fish were collected is also a point source to be monitored, as the **Class 2** Cl-PFCAs were previously detected in wastewater there.

Between the two sites examined, there was a clear difference in the types of PFASs detected in fish livers. With the exception of **Class 2** x:2 Cl-PFAESs, which were detected in both locations, 8 PFAS classes were exclusively discovered at Tangxun Lake, and 1 class was only detected in the Yangtze River (**Figure 4-2**). This most likely indicates that the sources of contamination were from unique point sources (i.e. wastewater from different fluorochemical industries), but it should also be kept in mind that we are comparing fish from a lake to fish from a river, where residence times, dilution and primary productivity are different. Future monitoring of water from more regions of China are warranted to understand the true spatial distribution and sources of all chemicals identified here.

The discovery of more than 330 non-target PFASs, predominantly long-chain PFASs, in fish demonstrates bioavailability of all these compounds, and is suggestive of a measurable bioaccumulation potential for these compounds whose environmental fate has not been previously studied. Given that all fish livers were sampled from fish destined for fish markets and likely widespread human consumption, the current findings raise immediate questions about health risks to exposed people.

4.5 Figures and Tables

4.5.1 Figures



Figure 4-1. Fish collection sites at two locations in China: (**A**) Yangtze River in Changshu, Jiangsu. Here fishermen collected fish over a 30 km² region (black dashed lines) approximately 10 km downstream of a wastewater treatment plant (WWTP) discharge located in a fluorochemical manufacturing park (brown area); and (**B**) Tangxun Lake in Wuhan, Hubei, which receives wastewater discharge from a WWTP that processes both domestic (light green areas) and industrial wastewater (orange areas). Fishermen collected fish over an approximate 5 km² region (blacked dashed circle) in the lake.



Figure 4-2. Total concentration of each PFAS class detected in pooled fish livers from the Yangtze River and Tangxun Lake (standard quantified PFAS: white background; semi-quantified PFAS: grey background). "PreFOS" are PFOS precursors, composed of PFOSA, MeFOSA and MeFOSAA, and "PreFCAs" are PFCA precursors, composed of 6:2 PAP and 8:2 PAP.



Figure 4-3.1. Extracted ion chromatograms of $[C1]^-$ ($[^{35}C1]^-$ in red and $[^{37}C1]^-$ in blue) in-source fragments and **Class 1** Cl-PFCA ($ClC_{n-1}F_{2n-2}CO_2^-$) molecular ions detected in pooled common carp liver from the Yangtze River.



Figure 4-3.2. MS2 spectrum (HCD 25 eV) of C9-Cl-PFCA (**Class 1**, $ClC_9F_{18}CO_2^{-}$) in pooled common carp liver from the Yangtze River. A proposed structure is presented, F atoms not shown.



Figure 4-4.1. Extracted ion chromatograms of $[C1]^-$, $[SO_2F]^-$, $[COF_3]^-$ and $[SO_3F]^-$ in-source fragments, and **Class 2** x:2 Cl-PFAES (ClC_{n-2}F_{2n-4}OC₂F₄SO₃⁻) molecular ions detected in pooled common carp liver from the Yangtze River, and of x:2 Cl-PFAESs in F-53B industrial standard.



Figure 4-4.2. MS² spectra (HCD 80 eV) of C₈ (ClC₈F₁₆SO₄⁻) and C₁₀ x:2 Cl-PFAESs (ClC₁₀F₂₀SO₄⁻, **Class 2**) in pooled common carp liver from Yangtze River, and in F-53B industrial standard.



Figure 4-5.1. Extracted ion chromatograms of $[SO_3]^-$ and $[SO_3F]^-$ in-source fragments and Class 3 cyclic or unsaturated PFSA ($C_nF_{2n-1}SO_3^-$) molecular ions detected in pooled bream liver from Tangxun Lake.



Figure 4-5.2. MS^2 spectra (HCD 95 eV) of C₈- cyclic or unsaturated PFSAs (C₈F₁₅SO₃⁻, **Class 3**) in pooled bream fish liver from Tangxun Lake. Example structures are drawn for some isomers, F atoms not shown.



Figure 4-5.3. Extracted ion chromatogram and MS² spectra (HCD 95 eV) of isomers of 4-PFECHS standard (**a**), and MS² spectra of different PFOS isomer standards (**b**). 4-PFECHS isomer 3, being the most abundant peak, is probably 4-PFECHS.



Figure 4-6.1. Extracted ion chromatograms of $[SO_3]^-$, $[SO_2F]^-$, $[SO_3F]^-$, $[C_3F_7]^-$ and $[C_4F_9O]^-$ insource fragments, and **Class 4** monoether-PFSA ($C_nF_{2n+1}SO_4^-$) molecular ions detected in pooled bighead carp liver from Tangxun Lake.



Figure 4-6.2. MS^2 spectra (HCD 80 eV) of all C₈-monoether-PFSA isomers (C₈F₁₇SO₄⁻, **Class 4**) in pooled bighead fish liver from Tangxun Lake. Example structures are proposed, F atoms not shown.



Figure 4-7.1. Extracted ion chromatograms of $[C_2F_5O]^-$ in-source fragments and **Class 5** diether-PFSA ($C_nF_{2n+1}SO_5^-$) molecular ions detected in pooled bream fish liver from Tangxun Lake.



Figure 4-7.2. MS² spectra (HCD 90 eV) of selected C₈-diether-PFSA isomers (C₈F₁₇SO₅⁻, Class
5) in pooled bream fish liver from Tangxun Lake. Example structures are drawn, F atoms not shown.



Figure 4-8.1. Extracted ion chromatograms of $[SO_3]^-$, $[SO_3F]^-$, $[C_3F_5]^-$ and $[C_4F_7]^-$ in-source fragments, and **Class 6** enol ether-, cyclic ether- or carbonyl-PFSA ($C_nF_{2n-1}SO_4^-$) molecular ions detected in pooled bream liver from Tangxun Lake.



Figure 4-8.2. MS² spectra (HCD 80 eV) of all C₈- enol ether-, cyclic ether- or carbonyl-PFSA (C₈F₁₅SO₄⁻, **Class 6**) isomers in pooled bream fish liver from Tangxun Lake. Example structures are proposed, F atoms not shown.



Figure 4-9.1. Extracted ion chromatograms of $[C_2F_5]^-$, $[C_2F_5O]^-$, $[C_3F_5O_2]^-$, $[SO_3]^-$ and $[SO_3F]^-$ in-source fragments, and **Class 7** diether-unsaturated-, cyclic-ether- or carbonyl-ether-PFSA $(C_nF_{2n-1}SO_5^-)$ molecular ions detected in pooled bream fish liver from Tangxun Lake.



Figure 4-9.2. MS^2 spectra (HCD 100 eV) of all C₁₀ diether-unsaturated-, cyclic-ether- or carbonyl-ether-PFSA isomers (C₁₀F₁₉SO₅⁻, **Class 7**) in pooled silver carp liver from Tangxun Lake. Example structures are proposed for some isomers, F atoms not shown.



Figure 4-10.1. Extracted ion chromatograms of $[C_3F_7]^-$ in-source fragments, and perfluoroalkyl amine fragments ($C_nF_{2n+1}N^-$) detected in pooled bream fish liver from Tangxun Lake. All shaded peaks have a corresponding $C_nF_{2n}NO_2^-$ (**Figure 4-10.3**) peak at the same retention times.

a. C₅ perfluoroalkyl amines



Figure 4-10.2. MS^2 spectra (HCD 80 eV) of a representative C_5 isomer ($C_5F_{12}N^-$, at retention time 19.94 min) and all C_8 isomers of perfluoroalkyl amine fragments ($C_8F_{18}N^-$) in bream liver from Tangxun Lake. Example structures are proposed, F atoms not shown.



Figure 4-10.3. Extracted ion chromatograms of $[C_3F_7]^-$ in-source fragments, and perfluoroalkyl amine carboxylate or carboxyl ester fragments $[C_nF_{2n}O_2N]^-$ detected in pooled bream fish liver from Tangxun Lake. All shaded peaks have at least one corresponding $[C_nF_{2n+2}N]^-$ fragment peak (**Figure 4-10.1**) at the same retention times. Peaks with retention time labeled in blue represent minor analytes with peak height below 1000 counts.



Figure 4-10.4. MS² spectra of all C₁₂ isomers (C₁₂F₂₄O₂N⁻, HCD 80e eV, **a**), and the major C₁₀-(C₁₀F₂₀O₂N⁻, 19.94 min), C₁₁- (C₁₁F₂₂O₂N⁻, 22.40 min) and C₁₃- (C₁₃F₂₆O₂N⁻, 26.09 min) isomers (C_nF_{2n}O₂N⁻, HCD 90eV, **b**) of perfluoroalkyl amine carboxylate or carboxyl ester fragments (C_nF_{2n}O₂N⁻) in bream fish liver from Tangxun Lake. Example structures for the major C₁₂F₂₄O₂N⁻ isomer are presented, F atoms not shown.



Figure 4-10.5. Extracted ion chromatograms of perfluoroalkyl amine carboxyl ester fragment ions ($C_nF_{2n-2}H_2O_5N^-$) detected in pooled bream fish liver from Tangxun Lake. All shaded peaks have at least one corresponding $C_nF_{2n}O_2N^-$ fragment peak (**Figure 4-10.3**) at the same retention times. Peaks with retention time labeled in blue represent minor analytes with peak height <1000 counts.



Figure 4-10.6. Extracted ion chromatograms of perfluoroalkyl amine carboxyl ester molecular ions ($C_nF_{2n-6}H_6O_6N^-$, **Class 8**) detected in pooled bream fish liver from Tangxun Lake. All shaded peaks have at least one corresponding $C_nF_{2n-2}H_2O_5N^-$ fragment peak (**Figure 4-10.5**) at the same retention times.



Figure 4-10.7. Extracted ion chromatograms of a C_{15} perfluoroalkyl amine carboxyl ester $(C_{15}F_{24}H_6O_6N^-, Class 8)$ and its sequential fragments $[C_{13}F_{24}H_2O_5N]^-, [C_{12}F_{24}O_2N]^-$ and $[C_8F_{18}N]^-$, eluting at 24.37 min in pooled bream liver from Tangxun Lake. Example structures for each analyte are presented, and possible fragmentation pathways among them are proposed. Depending on two possible structures for $C_{12}F_{24}O_2N^-$, two pathways are presented.



Figure 4-11.1 Extracted ion chromatograms of $[C_3F_5]^-$ in-source fragments and unsaturated perfluoroalkyl amine fragments $C_nF_{2n}N^-$ detected in pooled bream liver from Tangxun Lake. All shaded peaks have a corresponding **Class 19** (**Figure 4-11.3**) peak at the same retention times. Peaks with retention time labeled in blue represent minor analytes with peak height below 1000 counts.



Figure 4-11.2 MS^2 spectra (HCD 80 eV) of selected isomers of C₈ unsaturated perfluoroalkyl amine fragments (C₈F₁₆N⁻) in bream fish liver from Tangxun Lake. Example structures are proposed for isomer 1, F atoms not shown.



Figure 4-11.3. Extracted ion chromatograms of unsaturated perfluoroalkyl amine carboxylate or carboxyl ester ($C_nF_{2n-2}NO_2^-$, **Class 9**) molecular ions detected in pooled bream fish liver from Tangxun Lake. All shaded peaks have at least one corresponding $C_nF_{2n}N^-$ fragment peak (**Figure 4-11.1**) at the same retention times. Peaks with retention time labeled in blue represent minor analytes with peak height below 1000 counts.



Figure 4-11.4. MS^2 spectra (CID 10-35 eV) of selected isomers of the C₁₂ unsaturated perfluoroalkyl amine carboxylates or carboxyl esters (C₁₂F₂₂O₂N⁻, **Class 9**). Example structures are proposed, F atoms not shown.



Figure 4-12.1 Extracted ion chromatograms of $[C_3F_5O]^-$ in-source fragments and **Class 10** perfluorinated pyrrole or imidazole ($C_nF_{2n-3}N_2O^-$) molecular ions detected in pooled bream fish liver from Tangxun Lake.

a. MS²-MS⁴ of C₉F₁₅N₂O⁻



Figure 4-12.2. MS^2 , MS^3 and MS^4 spectra of the major C₉ perfluorinated pyrrole or imidazole isomer eluting at 11.01 min (C₉F₁₅N₂O⁻, **Class 10**, **a**) and proposed fragmentation pathways (**b**). Structures are presented, F atoms not shown.

	18.68	19.85		23.47	C ₁₂ F ₂₁ N ₂ O⁻ m/z=586.967
17.20 17.58 16.98 2 3 17.80	18.13 18.68 19.2 5 6 7	19.85 20.59 9	21.25 10	22.87 23.47 12 24.43 13 13	Zoom-in
168.0 C₄FN 2.6pp	0 198.99 ₂ O C ₅ F ₅ N ₂ O m 2.3ppm	298.99 C ₇ F ₉ N ₂ O 0.72ppm	367.98 C ₈ F ₁₂ N ₂ O -0.25ppm	586.97 C ₁₂ F ₂₁ N ₂ C -2.33ppm) 1; NL:6.3E2
140.00 C ₃ F ₄ N ₂ 0.90ppm	198.99 C ₅ F ₅ N ₂ O 2.26ppm	298.99 C ₇ F ₉ N ₂ O 1.20ppm	367.98 C ₈ F ₁₂ N ₂ O 0.71ppm		2 ; NL:1.9E3
	248.99 C ₆ F ₇ N ₂ (1.20ppm	298.99 C ₇ F ₉ N ₂ O 0.20ppm	367.98 417.98 C ₈ F ₁₂ N ₂ OC ₉ F ₁₄ N ₂ 1.05ppm 1.34ppm	586.97 C C ₁₂ F ₂₁ N ₂ O 1 -1.23ppm	3 ; NL:1.5E3
	217.99 C ₅ F ₆ N ₂ O 2.35ppm	317.99 C ₇ F ₁₀ N ₂ 1.35pp	9 _O m	586.97 C ₁₂ F ₂₁ N ₂ C -2.34ppm	4 ; NL:4.5E2
146.99 C ₃ F ₅ O 2.13ppm	198.99 267.9 C ₅ F ₅ N ₂ O C ₆ F ₈ N 1.73ppm 2.12pr	9 298.99 1 ₂ O C ₇ F ₉ N ₂ O 5m 0.73ppm	367.98 C ₈ F ₁₂ N ₂ O 0.38ppm		5 ; NL:1.9E4
83.01 104.00 146.99 C ₃ FN ₂ C ₃ F ₂ NO C ₃ F ₅ O 2.9ppm 3.2ppm 2.1ppm	$\begin{array}{c} 198.99 \\ C_5F_5N_2O \\ 1.27ppm \\ 1.10ppm \end{array} \begin{array}{c} 233.00 \\ C_6F_7N_2 \\ 1.10ppm \end{array}$	298.99 C ₇ F ₉ N ₂ O 0.69ppm	367.98 C ₈ F ₁₂ N ₂ O 0.58ppm	586.97 C ₁₂ F ₂₁ N ₂ C 0.04ppm	6 : NL:4.4E5
146.99 С ₃ F ₅ О 2.38ррт	198.99 C ₅ F ₅ N ₂ O 1.82ppm	298.99 C ₇ F ₉ N ₂ O 0.23ppm	367.98 C ₈ F ₁₂ N ₂ O 0.35ppm		7; NL:1.1E3
133.00 C ₄ F ₃ N ₂ 2.06ppm	217.99 $C_5F_6N_2O$ 2.05ppm	298.99 C ₇ F ₉ N ₂ O 1.89ppm	367.98 C ₈ F ₁₂ N ₂ O -0.40ppm	586.97 C ₁₂ F ₂₁ N ₂ C 3.08ppm	8 : NL:1.5E3
	198.99 C ₅ F ₅ N ₂ O 0.82ppm	298.99 C ₇ F ₉ N ₂ O 1.35ppm	367.98 C ₈ F ₁₂ N ₂ O 0.75ppm		9 NL:2.6E2
	198.99 C ₅ F ₅ N ₂ O 1.28ppm		367.98 C ₈ F ₁₂ N ₂ O -0.41ppm		10 :NL:3.1E2
104.00 146.99 C ₃ F ₂ NO C ₃ F ₅ O 2.98ppm 2.25ppm	198.99 C ₅ F ₅ N ₂ O 233.00 1.99ppm C ₆ F ₇ N ₂ 0.98ppm	298.99 C ₇ F ₉ N ₂ O 0.34pm	367.98 C ₈ F ₁₂ N ₂ O 0.32ppm		11: NL:2.0E3
$\begin{array}{rrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrrr$	198.99 233.00 C ₅ F ₅ N ₂ O _{C₆F₇N₂C 1.2ppm 1.3ppm}	267.99 298 ₆ F ₈ N ₂ O C ₇ F ₉ 1.0ppm 0.77 ₁	.99 367.98 N ₂ O C ₈ F ₁₂ N ₂ O opm 0.45ppm		12 : NL:1.5E5
133.00 19 С ₄ F ₃ N ₂ С ₅ F 2.48pm 2.0	217.99 98.99 C ₅ F ₆ N ₂ O F ₅ N ₂ O 2.43ppm	298.99 C ₇ F ₉ N ₂ O 1.97ppm			13 : NL:5.7E2

Figure 4-12.3 Chromatograms and MS^2 spectra (HCD 100 eV) of all C₁₂ perfluorinated pyrrole or imidazole isomers (C₁₂F₂₁N₂O⁻, **Class 10**) in bream fish liver from Tangxun Lake.

4.5.2 Tables

Yangtze River				Tangxun Lake									
Common Carp Bighead Carp		Silver Carp		Common Carp		Bighead Carp		Silver Carp		Bream			
weights	ratio	weights	ratio	weights	ratio	weights	ratio	weights	ratio	weights	ratio	weights	ratio
4.9/0.31	16.1	9.9/1.48	6.8	21.5/1.34	14.9	79.8/2.69	29.5	80.5/5.40	14.9	98.6/3.40	29.0	41.1/3.67	11.2
5.7/0.71	7.0	20.1/1.12	15.2	20.4/2.12	9.6	47.6/3.20	14.9	80.0/4.39	18.2	100.2/6.30	15.8	88.7/3.71	23.9
5.3/0.45	11.1	20.1/1.91	10.5	39.8/3.77	10.6	80.1/4.45	18.0	98.9/4.34	22.8	97.5/5.98	16.3	41.4/9.20	4.4
15.0/1.58	9.5	21.7/1.30	16.7			79.9/4.43	18.0	82.3/4.84	17.0	94.8/6.32	15.1	85.9/4.45	19.3
10.8/1.13	8.8	23.4/1.65	14.1			83.9/4.22	19.9			83.4/4.53	18.4	88.3/5.54	16.0
						99.4/6.33	15.7			92.3/5.88	14.7	88.5/13.62	6.5
												104/11.0	9.5
	10.5		12.6		11.7		19.3		18.2		18.2		13.0
0.31 g dried liver from each individual for each species				0.20 g dried liver from each individual for each species									

Table 4-1. Sample weight data (wet liver weight (g)/dry liver weight (g)) and ratio of liver dry/wet weight for each individual fish.

 Numbers in red represent the average wet/dry liver ratio of all individual fish in the same pool.

Table 4-2. Legacy PFASs concentrations (ng/g w.w.) in pooled fish liver samples. Blank cells indicate not detected, while trace concentrations below the limit of quantification are shown as <LOQ. The LOQ value for each pooled fish sample is calculated back from instrumental LOQ (i.e. 0.01 ng/mL for each legacy standard).

		Yangtze Riv	er	Tangxun Lake					
	Common	Bighead	Silver	Common	Bighead	Silver	Bream		
LOQ (ng/g w.w.)	0.0017	0.0015	0.0014	0.0009	0.0010	0.0010	0.0014		
PFBA	<loq< td=""><td>0.07</td><td></td><td>0.01</td><td>0.01</td><td></td><td>2.6</td></loq<>	0.07		0.01	0.01		2.6		
PFPeA							<loq< td=""></loq<>		
PFHxA	0.21	0.09	0.06	0.01	0.03	0.06	0.05		
PFHpA	<loq< td=""><td></td><td><loq< td=""><td></td><td><loq< td=""><td><loq< td=""><td><loq< td=""></loq<></td></loq<></td></loq<></td></loq<></td></loq<>		<loq< td=""><td></td><td><loq< td=""><td><loq< td=""><td><loq< td=""></loq<></td></loq<></td></loq<></td></loq<>		<loq< td=""><td><loq< td=""><td><loq< td=""></loq<></td></loq<></td></loq<>	<loq< td=""><td><loq< td=""></loq<></td></loq<>	<loq< td=""></loq<>		
PFOA	0.47	0.55	0.24	0.06	0.14	0.27	0.70		
PFNA	0.19	0.12	0.06	0.03	0.05	0.16	0.58		
PFDA	2.5	3.3	1.4	0.40	1.00	0.93	6.8		
PFUnDA	6.2	2.9	0.19	0.30	0.41	1.4	22		
PFDODA	1.9		0.22	0.34	0.25	0.17	8.6		
PFTrDA	1.3	0.5	0.25	0.11	0.17		3.4		
PFTeDA	1.1			0.28			2.0		
PFHxDA									
PFODA									
Total	14	7.5	2.5	1.6	2.1	3.0	47		
PFBS	<loq< td=""><td><loq< td=""><td>0.04</td><td>1.2</td><td>0.61</td><td>11</td><td>178</td></loq<></td></loq<>	<loq< td=""><td>0.04</td><td>1.2</td><td>0.61</td><td>11</td><td>178</td></loq<>	0.04	1.2	0.61	11	178		
PFPeS	<loq< td=""><td></td><td><loq< td=""><td>0.09</td><td><loq< td=""><td>0.60</td><td>1.0</td></loq<></td></loq<></td></loq<>		<loq< td=""><td>0.09</td><td><loq< td=""><td>0.60</td><td>1.0</td></loq<></td></loq<>	0.09	<loq< td=""><td>0.60</td><td>1.0</td></loq<>	0.60	1.0		
PFHxS	0.41	0.02	0.02	1.2	0.18	2.4	7.5		
PFHpS	0.13		0.18	0.62	0.30	1.2	5.3		
PFOS	22	21	5.3	47	68	140	750		
PFNS	0.80		1.8	2.3	3.7	7.2	75		
PFDS	<loq< td=""><td></td><td><loq< td=""><td>2.3</td><td>2.9</td><td>5.0</td><td>92</td></loq<></td></loq<>		<loq< td=""><td>2.3</td><td>2.9</td><td>5.0</td><td>92</td></loq<>	2.3	2.9	5.0	92		
Total	24	22	7.4	54	76	170	950		
PFOSA				0.16	0.42	0.18	0.59		
MeFOSA	2.6					1.8			
EtFOSA									
MeFOSAA		1.3		0.33	0.86	0.43	1.2		
EtFOSAA									
Total	2.6	1.3		0.49	1.3	2.4	1.8		
6:2 PAP	0.24		0.61	0.40	1.1				
8:2 PAP	0.50		0.69	0.36	0.99				
6:2 DiPAP									
8:2 DiPAP									
Total	0.75		1.3	0.76	2.1				
PFHxPA									
PFOPA									
PFDPA									
Table 4-3. Semi-quantification of newly discovered PFASs (ng/g w.w.) in pooled fish liver samples. The "reference standard" (R.S.) for each newly discovered PFAS is a legacy PFAS whose calibration curves were used to semi-quantify the new PFAS by assuming the same molar response. Blank cells indicate not detected, while trace concentrations below the limit of quantification are shown as <LOQ. The LOQ value for each pooled fish sample is calculated back from instrumental LOQ (0.01 ng/mL for each legacy standard). Percent numbers in red are concentration ratios of the new PFAS to its reference standard in the same sample.

				Yangtz	e River			Tangxun Lake									
		Com	imon	Bighead		Si	lver	Com	imon	Big	head	Sil	ver	Bre	am		
LOQ (ng	g/g w.w.)	0.0017		0.0015		0.0	0.0014		009	0.0010		0.0	010	0.00	014		
	R.S.	Conc.	%	Conc.	%	Conc.	%	Conc.	%	Conc.	%	Conc.	%	Conc.	%		
Class 1 Cl-PFCA	C DECA	0.14	200/														
$\frac{C_8}{C_9}$	C ₈ -PFCA	2.1	110%	0.08	64%	0.63	1100										
<u>C10</u>	C ₁₀ -PFCA	17	680%	1.5	45%	4.7	330%										
C ₁₀	C ₁₁ -PFCA	13	220%	0.15	5%	3.0	1600%										
C ₁₂	C ₁₂ -PFCA	1.1	58%	0.18		0.29	130%										
C ₁₃	C ₁₃ -PFCA	1.3	110%			0.29	120%										
C ₁₄	C ₁₄ -PFCA	2.2	190%	1.1								Ì					
C ₁₅	C ₁₄ -PFCA	1.2	110%														
Total		38		2.9		8.9											
Class 2 x:2 Cl- PFAES C7		0.12	<1%	47	1000/	2.6	1000/	0.54	1000/	0.00	1000/	0.0	1000/	16	1000/		
<u>C</u> 8	6:2 CI-	62	100%	4/	100%	3.6	100%	0.54	100%	0.99	100%	9.0	100%	16	100%		
<u>C9</u>	TITLS	0.44	1%	0.28	1%	0.22	6%	0.06	10%	0.16	<1%	0.06	1%	0.25	2%		
C ₁₀	-	23	37%	0.94	2%	0.74	20%			0.16	17%	0.83	9%	0.48	3%		
C ₁₂	-	2.7	4%			0.28	8%										
<u>C₁₄</u>		0.15	<1%														
Total		88		48		4.8		0.60		1.1		9.9		17			

		Yangtze	Tangxun Lake											
	R.S.	River	Com	mon	Bigh	nead	Silv	/er	Brea	am				
		River	Conc.	%	Conc.	%	Conc.	%	Conc.	%				
Class 3 cyclic/ unsaturate d PFSA C ₇	C7-PFSA		0.04	6%					0.15	3%				
C_8	C ₈ -PFSA		0.07	<1%	0.16	<1%	0.12	<1%	0.38	<1%				
C ₉	C ₉ -PFSA		0.38	17%	1.0	28%	0.42	6%	1.5	2%				
C ₁₀			<loq< td=""><td></td><td>0.19</td><td>7%</td><td>0.07</td><td>1%</td><td>1.4</td><td>2%</td></loq<>		0.19	7%	0.07	1%	1.4	2%				
C ₁₁			0.18	8%	0.47	16%	0.23	5%	5.6	6%				
C ₁₂	C ₁₀ -		0.30	13%	0.57	20%	0.29	6%	8.5	9%				
C ₁₃	11.574		0.02	1%	<loq< td=""><td></td><td><loq< td=""><td></td><td>0.60</td><td>1%</td></loq<></td></loq<>		<loq< td=""><td></td><td>0.60</td><td>1%</td></loq<>		0.60	1%				
C ₁₄			<loq< td=""><td></td><td></td><td></td><td><loq< td=""><td></td><td>0.05</td><td><1%</td></loq<></td></loq<>				<loq< td=""><td></td><td>0.05</td><td><1%</td></loq<>		0.05	<1%				
Total			1.0		2.4		1.1		18					
Class 4 monoether- PFSA	C4-PFSA				<loq< td=""><td></td><td><loq< td=""><td></td><td><loq< td=""><td></td></loq<></td></loq<></td></loq<>		<loq< td=""><td></td><td><loq< td=""><td></td></loq<></td></loq<>		<loq< td=""><td></td></loq<>					
C ₅	C ₅ -PFSA		<loq< td=""><td></td><td><loq< td=""><td></td><td><loq< td=""><td></td><td>0.14</td><td>14%</td></loq<></td></loq<></td></loq<>		<loq< td=""><td></td><td><loq< td=""><td></td><td>0.14</td><td>14%</td></loq<></td></loq<>		<loq< td=""><td></td><td>0.14</td><td>14%</td></loq<>		0.14	14%				
C_6	C ₆ -PFSA		0.04	3%	<loq< td=""><td></td><td>0.07</td><td>3%</td><td>0.24</td><td>3%</td></loq<>		0.07	3%	0.24	3%				
C ₇	C7-PFSA		0.08	13%	0.17	58%	0.14	12%	0.55	10%				
C_8	C ₈ -PFSA		1.9	4%	7.7	11%	6.1	4%	44	6%				
C9	C ₉ -PFSA		1.8	76%	7.2	190%	4.3	60%	54	72%				
C ₁₀	0		0.26	11%	0.80	27%	0.26	5%	11	12%				
C ₁₁	PFSA		0.11	5%	0.13	5%	<loq< td=""><td></td><td>4.4</td><td>5%</td></loq<>		4.4	5%				
C ₁₂	11.5/1		0.06	3%	<loq< td=""><td></td><td><loq< td=""><td></td><td>3.5</td><td>4%</td></loq<></td></loq<>		<loq< td=""><td></td><td>3.5</td><td>4%</td></loq<>		3.5	4%				
Total			4.2		16		11		120					
Class 5 diether- PFSA	G. DEC.		4.00		4.00		4.00		4.00					
C_	C_6 -PFSA		<loq< td=""><td>70/</td><td><loq< td=""><td>2(0/</td><td><loq< td=""><td></td><td><loq< td=""><td>20/</td></loq<></td></loq<></td></loq<></td></loq<>	70/	<loq< td=""><td>2(0/</td><td><loq< td=""><td></td><td><loq< td=""><td>20/</td></loq<></td></loq<></td></loq<>	2(0/	<loq< td=""><td></td><td><loq< td=""><td>20/</td></loq<></td></loq<>		<loq< td=""><td>20/</td></loq<>	20/				
<u> </u>	C DESA		0.04	/%0	0.11	30%0 <10/	0.11	<10/	0.10	<u>3%0</u>				
	Co DESA		0.08	<u>>1%</u>	1.2	<u>~170</u> 220/	0.11	<u>~170</u> 70/	0.84	<u>~1 %0</u> 20/_				
<u> </u>	C9-FFSA		0.43	1970	0.03	10/2	<1.00	/ /0	2.0	370				
	C ₁₀ -		<1.00	1 /0	0.05	1 / 0	~LOQ		0.24	<1%				
<u> </u>	PFSA		<l0q< td=""><td></td><td><1.00</td><td></td><td><1.00</td><td></td><td>0.24</td><td>1%</td></l0q<>		<1.00		<1.00		0.24	1%				
Total			0.59		1.5		0.58		6.9					

Table 4-3. Continued:

		Yanotze			r	Tangxu	ın Lake			
	R.S.	River	Comr	non	Bighe	ead	Silv	ver	Brea	am
		10,01	Conc.	%	Conc.	%	Conc.	%	Conc.	%
Class 6 enol ether- /cyclic ether- /carbonyl- PFSA										
<u>C</u> ₆	C ₆ -PFSA		<loq< td=""><td></td><td></td><td></td><td>0.02</td><td>1%</td><td>0.02</td><td><1%</td></loq<>				0.02	1%	0.02	<1%
C ₇	C ₇ -PFSA		0.04	6%	0.10	32%	0.04	4%	0.15	3%
C ₈	C ₈ -PFSA		0.35	1%	0.87	1%	0.80	1%	3.5	<1%
C9	C ₉ -PFSA		0.43	18%	1.2	33%	0.48	7%	2.5	3%
C ₁₀			0.14	6%	0.45	15%	0.25	5%	5.3	6%
C ₁₁	C ₁₀ -		0.27	12%	0.74	25%	0.40	8%	9.4	10%
C ₁₂	PFSA		0.54	24%	1.1	38%	0.44	9%	18	19%
C ₁₃			<loq< td=""><td></td><td><loq< td=""><td></td><td></td><td></td><td>0.2</td><td><1%</td></loq<></td></loq<>		<loq< td=""><td></td><td></td><td></td><td>0.2</td><td><1%</td></loq<>				0.2	<1%
Total			1.8		4.5		2.4		38	
diether- unsaturated- /cyclic-ether- /carbonyl-										
ether-PFSA	C _c -PFSA		<1.00				<1.00		<1.00	
$\frac{C_6}{C_7}$	C ₇ -PFSA		0.04	6%			202		0.14	3%
	C ₀ -PFSA		0.08	<1%	0.19	<1%	0.11	<1%	0.70	<1%
	Co-PESA		0.43	19%	12	33%	0.56	8%	2.5	3%
<u> </u>	0911011		0.05	2%	0.02	1%	0.06	1%	3.0	3%
	C		<1.00	270	<1.00	170	<1.00	170	1.9	2%
	PFSA		0.02	1%	<1.00		<1.00		1.9	2%
			0.02	170	~LOQ		LUQ		<1.0	270
			0.62		1.4		0.72		10	
			0.02		1.1		0.72		10	
fragment $C_nF_{2n+2}N^2$			0.10	10/	1.0	10/	0.50	10/	a a	10/
<u> </u>			0.10	<1%	1.0	1%	0.73	1%	8.2	1%
C ₆			0.05	<1%	0.34	<1%	0.22	<1%	2.8	<1%
C ₇	C ₈ -PFSA		0.07	<1%	0.37	1%	0.20	<1%	3.9	1%
C ₈			4.2	9%	19	27%	18	12%	310	41%
C9			0.07	<1%	0.33	<1%	0.13	<1%	5.6	1%
C ₁₀			0.09	<1%	0.33	<1%	0.20	<1%	7.1	1%
C ₁₁			0.07	<1%	0.22	<1%	0.07	<1%	3.7	<1%
C ₁₂			0.10	<1%	0.63	1%	0.39	<1%	4.0	1%
Total			4.7		22		20		350	

Table 4-3. Continued:

		Yanotze			Tangxun Lake										
	R.S.	River	Com	mon	Bigh	ead	Silv	ver	Brea	am					
	Kivei	Conc.	%	Conc.	%	Conc.	%	Conc.	%						
Class 8 fragment C _n F _{2n} NO ₂ - C ₉			0.05	<1%	0.14	<1%	0.08	<1%	0.43	<1%					
C ₁₀			0.11	<1%	0.65	1%	0.54	<1%	4.5	1%					
C ₁₁	C ₈ -PFSA		0.19	<1%	0.40	1%	0.18	<1%	9.3	1%					
C ₁₂			2.4	5%	0.91	1%	3.8	3%	140	19%					
C ₁₃			0.92	2%	5.5	8%	5.0	3%	65	9%					
C ₁₄			0.08	<1%	0.22	<1%	0.11	<1%	1.9	<1%					
C ₁₅									0.28	<1%					
C ₁₆					ĺ		ĺ		0.42	<1%					
Total			3.8		7.8		9.8		220						
Class 8 fragment C_nF_{2n}															
C10			<loo< td=""><td></td><td></td><td></td><td><loo< td=""><td></td><td><loo< td=""><td></td></loo<></td></loo<></td></loo<>				<loo< td=""><td></td><td><loo< td=""><td></td></loo<></td></loo<>		<loo< td=""><td></td></loo<>						
C ₁₁			0.04	6%					0.14	3%					
C ₁₂	C ₈ -PFSA		0.08	<1%	0.19	<1%	0.11	<1%	0.70	<1%					
C ₁₃			0.43	19%	1.2	33%	0.56	8%	2.5	3%					
C ₁₄			0.05	2%	0.02	1%	0.06	1%	3.0	3%					
C ₁₅			<loo< td=""><td></td><td><loo< td=""><td></td><td><loo< td=""><td></td><td>1.9</td><td>2%</td></loo<></td></loo<></td></loo<>		<loo< td=""><td></td><td><loo< td=""><td></td><td>1.9</td><td>2%</td></loo<></td></loo<>		<loo< td=""><td></td><td>1.9</td><td>2%</td></loo<>		1.9	2%					
C16			0.02	1%	<loo< td=""><td></td><td><loo< td=""><td></td><td>1.8</td><td>2%</td></loo<></td></loo<>		<loo< td=""><td></td><td>1.8</td><td>2%</td></loo<>		1.8	2%					
C ₁₇									<loo< td=""><td></td></loo<>						
Total			1.5		2.0		1.3		52						
Class 8 C _n F _{2n-} ₆ H ₆ O ₆ N ⁻															
C ₁₃					0.16	<1%			0.23	<1%					
C ₁₄	C ₈ -PFSA		<loq< td=""><td></td><td>0.19</td><td><1%</td><td>0.08</td><td>0%</td><td>0.32</td><td><1%</td></loq<>		0.19	<1%	0.08	0%	0.32	<1%					
C ₁₅					0.40	1%			1.2	<1%					
C ₁₆					0.22	<1%			1.1	<1%					
C ₁₇									<loq< td=""><td></td></loq<>						
C ₁₈									<loq< td=""><td></td></loq<>						
Total					0.97		0.08		2.9						
Total Class 8			10		33		31		620						

Table 4-3. Continued:

		Yanotze	Tangxun Lake												
	R.S.	River	Com	mon	Bigł	nead	Silv	ver	Brea	am					
		River	Conc.	%	Conc.	%	Conc.	%	Conc.	%					
Class 9 Fragment C _n F _{2n} N ⁻															
C ₆			0.03	<1%	0.08	<1%			0.46	<1%					
C ₇			0.03	<1%	0.15	<1%	0.05	<1%	1.8	<1%					
C ₈			0.14	<1%	0.72	1%	0.42	<1%	9.4	1%					
C ₉	C ₈ -PFSA		0.05	<1%	0.18	<1%	0.07	<1%	1.9	<1%					
C ₁₀			0.06	<1%	0.19	<1%	0.10	<1%	1.5	<1%					
C ₁₁			0.12	<1%	0.63	1%	0.38	<1%	7.4	1%					
C ₁₂			0.13	<1%	0.56	1%	0.28	<1%	8.8	1%					
C ₁₃			0.06	<1%			0.09	<1%	1.2	<1%					
C ₁₄									<loq< td=""><td></td></loq<>						
C ₁₅									<loq< td=""><td></td></loq<>						
Total			0.62		2.5		1.39		32						
$Class 9$ $C_nF_{2n-2}NO_2$ C_{10}									<1.00						
C11			0.06	<1%	0.18	<1%	0.08	<1%	0.86	<1%					
C ₁₂	C ₈ -PFSA		0.20	<1%	0.93	1%	0.09	<1%	12	2%					
C ₁₃			0.30	1%	0.86	1%	0.73	1%	16	2%					
C ₁₄			0.07	<1%	0.18	<1%	0.74	1%	9.3	1%					
C ₁₅					0.22	<1%	0.08	<1%	3.8	1%					
Total			0.63		2.4		1.7		42						
Total Class 9			1.4		4.9		3.1		74						
Class 10 perfluorinated imidazoles/ pyrroles															
C9			0.04	<1%	0.21	<1%	0.19	<1%	0.72	<1%					
C ₁₀			0.06	<1%	0.36	1%	0.33	<1%	1.3	<1%					
C ₁₁			0.07	<1%	0.23	<1%	0.17	0%	0.94	<1%					
C ₁₂	C ₈ -PFSA		3.8	8%	7.3	11%	16	11%	210	28%					
C ₁₃			0.83	2%	1.1	2%	0.13	<1%	19	3%					
C ₁₄			0.16	<1%	0.16	<1%			4.6	1%					
C ₁₅									0.38	<1%					
C ₁₆			0.06	<1%					1.2	<1%					
C ₁₇									0.4	0%					
Total			5.0		9.3		17		240						

Table 4-4. Non-target PFASs detected in pooled fish liver (C=common carp, B=bighead carp; S=silver carp; Br=bream) from the Yangtze River and Tangxun Lake and associated confidence levels (CL=1-4). The range of carbon length homologues (n), total number of analytes detected in each class, and relevant previous reports are shown. Representative structure for one of the homologue (mostly C_8) in each class is shown, F atoms not shown.

Class No.	PFAS Category	Molecular Ion Formula	Hon Disc Yangt	l E Tai	Homo Discov ngxun	logue ered i Lake	s n (n)	Total Analytes	, CL	Previous Reports		
		& Structure	С	В	S	C	В	S	Br	5		
1	terminal chlorine substituted perfluoroalkyl carboxylates (Cl-PFCAs)	ClC _{n-1} F _{2n-2} CO ₂ -	8 9 10 11 12 13 14 15	9 10 11 12 13 14 15	9 10 11 12 13 14					8	3	n=5-12 in wastewater from a WWTP located \sim 10km upstream of location A ⁴²
2	x:2 chlorine substituted perfluoroalkyl ether sulfonates (x:2 Cl-PFASEs)	ClC _n F _{2n} SO ₄ -	7 8 9 10 12 14	8 9 10	8 9 10 12	89	8 10	8 9 10	8 9 10	6	1 for n=6, 8; 2 for others	n=8 in chrome plating company discharge and downstream water; ²⁷ in crucian carps ²⁹ and in air ²⁸ in China, as well as in Greenland ringed seal and polar bears ³² n=8, 10, 12 in municipal sewage sludge ²⁶ and human serum in China ^{30, 31} n=6-10 in F-53B industrial standard in this study
3	cyclic or unsaturated perfluoroalkyl sulfonates	C _n F _{2n-1} SO ₃ -				7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14	8 9 10 11 12 13	8 9 10 11 12 13 14	7 8 9 10 11 12 13 14	>50	3	In total four n=8 cyclic PFSAs, mainly 4- PFECHS, in standards, ^{57, 58} waters, ^{58, 59} sediment, ⁵⁷ amphipods ⁵⁹ and fish ^{58, 60} n=4-13 homologous in 3M commercial products and AFFFs, ⁶² in concrete from AFFF impacted fire training ground ⁶³ n=8-9 in industrial 3M-PFOS standard in this study

Table 4-4. Continued:

Class No	PFAS Category	Molecular Ion Formula	Homologues Discovered in Yangtze River (n)			l E Tai	Homo Discov 1gxun	logue vered i Lake	s in (n)	Total Analytes	CL	Previous Reports
110.		& Structure	С	В	S	C	В	С	В	1 mary tes		
4	monoether- perfluoroalkyl sulfonates (monoether- PFSAs)	$C_nF_{2n+1}SO_4$,0° `0			5 6 7 8 9 10 11 11	4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12	4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11	4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12	>30	3	n=6 in AFFF exposed firefighters' sera ⁵⁰ n=8-9 in industrial 3M-PFOS standard in this study
5	diether- perfluoroalkyl sulfonates (dither-PFSAs)	C _n F _{2n+1} SO ₅ -	ر0- ٥			6 7 8 9 10 11 12	6 7 8 9 10	6 8 9 10	6 7 8 9 10 11 12	>25	3	no report
6	enol ether-/cyclic ether-/carbonyl- perfluoroalkyl sulfonates	C _n F _{2n-1} SO ₄ -				6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13	7 8 9 10 11 12 13	6 7 8 9 10 11 12	6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13	>40	3	n=8 ketone-PFAS proposed in AFFF exposed firefighters' sera; ⁵⁰ n=7 enol-ether-PFSA proposed in water downstream of a fluorochemical production facility ⁴⁸ n=4-13 in concrete from AFFF impacted fire training ground; ⁶³ n=8-9 in industrial 3M-PFOS standard in the current study
7	diether- unsaturated-/ cyclic-ether-/ carbonyl-ether- perfluoroalkyl sulfonates	C _n F _{2n-1} SO ₅ -				6 7 8 9 10 11 12	8 9 10 11 12	6 8 9 10 11 12	6 7 8 9 10 11 12 13	>30	3	n=7 diether unsaturated PFSA proposed in water downstream of a fluorochemical production facility ⁴⁸

Table 4-4. Continued:

Class No.	PFAS Category	Molecular Ion Formula & Structure	Homologues Discovered in Yangtze River (n)			H D Tar	Homo Discov ngxun	logue ered i Lake	s in (n)	Total Analytes	CL	Previous Reports
			C B	3	S	C	C B C B					
		$C_nF_{2n-6}H_6O_6N^-$				13			13			
8	perfluoroalkyl amine carboxyl esters		H3"			14 15 16		14	14 15 16	>50	4	no report
			ł2						18			
	unsaturated perfluoroalkyl amine carboxylate or carboxyl esters	$C_nF_{2n-2}O_2N^2$				11	10 11	10 11	10 11			
9			r			12 13 14	12 13 14 15	12 13 14	12 13 14 15	≥50	3	no report
		$C_n F_{2n-3} N_2 O^-$				9 10	9 10	9 10	9 10			
10	perfluorinated pyrroles or imidazoles					11 12 13 14	11 12 13 14	11 12 13	11 12 13 14	>40	3	no report
						16			15 16 17			

4.6 Literature Cited

- Martin, J. W.; Asher, B. J.; Beesoon, S.; Benskin, J. P.; Ross, M. S., PFOS or PreFOS? Are perfluorooctane sulfonate precursors (PreFOS) important determinants of human and environmental perfluorooctane sulfonate (PFOS) exposure? *J Environ Monit* 2010, *12*, (11), 1979-2004.
- 2. Giesy, J. P.; Kannan, K., Global distribution of perfluorooctane sulfonate in wildlife. *Environ Sci Technol* **2001**, *35*, (7), 1339-42.
- Boudreau, T. M.; Wilson, C. J.; Cheong, W. J.; Sibley, P. K.; Mabury, S. A.; Muir, D. C.; Solomon, K. R., Response of the zooplankton community and environmental fate of perfluorooctane sulfonic acid in aquatic microcosms. *Environ Toxicol Chem* 2003, *22*, (11), 2739-45.
- Conder, J. M.; Hoke, R. A.; De Wolf, W.; Russell, M. H.; Buck, R. C., Are PFCAs bioaccumulative? A critical review and comparison with regulatory criteria and persistent lipophilic compounds. *Environ Sci Technol* 2008, 42, (4), 995-1003.
- Jensen, A. A.; Leffers, H., Emerging endocrine disrupters: perfluoroalkylated substances. *Int J Androl* 2008, *31*, (2), 161-169.
- 6. Kovarova, J.; Svobodova, Z., Perfluorinated compounds: occurrence and risk profile. *Neuro Endocrinol Lett* **2008**, 29, (5), 599-608.
- 7. Lau, C.; Butenhoff, J. L.; Rogers, J. M., The developmental toxicity of perfluoroalkyl acids and their derivatives. *Toxicol Appl Pharmacol* 2004, *198*, (2), 231-41.
- USEPA. EPA and 3M Announce Phase-out of PFOS. United States Environmental Protection Agency (USEPA), URL: <u>https://yosemite.epa.gov/opa/admpress.nsf/0/33aa946e6cb11f35852568e1005246b4</u> (Accessed: May 13, 2016).
- 9. USEPA. 2010/2015 PFOA Stewardship Program. United States Environmental Protection Agency, URL: <u>https://www.epa.gov/assessing-and-managing-chemicals-under-tsca/fact-sheet-20102015-pfoa-stewardship-program</u> (Accessed: September 10, 2015).
- 10. ECCC. 5-year Environmental Performance Agreement. Environment and Climae Change Canada (ECCC), URL: <u>http://ec.gc.ca/epe-epa/default.asp?lang=En&n=AE06B51E-1</u> (Septermber, 23, 2016).
- 11. EU. Amending for the 30th Time Council Directive 76/769/EEC on the Approximation of the Laws, Regulations and Administrative Provisions of the Member States Relating to Restrictions on the Marketing and Use of Certain Dangerous Substances and Preparations: Perfluorooctane Sulfonates; European Parliament and the Council of the European Union (EU): 2006; pp 372-34.
- 12. ECHA. Pentadecafluorooctanoic Acid (PFOA) as A Substances of Very High Concern Because of Its CMR and PBT Problems; European Chemicals Agency (ECHA): 2013.
- 13. NEPA. Forbidding PFOA in Nrowegian Consumer Products. Norwegian Environmental Protection Agency (NEPA), URL: <u>http://www.miljodirektoratet.no/no/Nyheter/Nyheter/Old-klif/2013/juni-2013/Forbyr-PFOA-i-norske-forbrukerprodukter/</u> (Accessed: July 25, 2016).
- ECCC. Regulations Amending the Prohibition of Certain Toxic Substances Regulations, 2012. Environmet and Climate Change Canada (ECCC), URL: <u>http://www.ec.gc.ca/lcpecepa/eng/regulations/detailReg.cfm?intReg=226</u>
- 15. USEPA. Significant New Use Rules: Long-Chain Perfluoroalkyl Carboxylate and Perfluoroalkyl Sulfonate Chemical Substances. United States Environmental Protection Agency (USEPA). URL: https://www.regulations.gov/document?D=EPA-HQ-OPPT-2013-0225-0001 (Accessed: May 25, 2017).
- 16. ECHA. Candidate List of Substances of Very High Concern for Authorisation. European Chemical Agency (ECHA), URL: https://echa.europa.eu/candidate-list-table (Accessed: June 2, 2017).
- 17. Holt, R. Alternatives to Long-chains. FluoroCouncil: The Global Industry Council for FluoroTechnology. DuPont URL: https://www.oecd.org/env/ehs/risk-management/47651662.pdf
- 18. OECD. Synthesis Paper on Per- and Polyfluorinated Chemicals (PFCs); Organisation for Economic Cooperation and Development (OECD): Paris, France, 2013.
- 19. Wang, Z.; Cousins, I. T.; Scheringer, M.; Hungerbuhler, K., Fluorinated alternatives to long-chain perfluoroalkyl carboxylic acids (PFCAs), perfluoroalkane sulfonic acids (PFSAs) and their potential precursors. *Environ Int*

2013, 60, 242-8.

- Lim, T. C.; Wang, B.; Huang, J.; Deng, S.; Yu, G., Emission inventory for PFOS in China: review of past methodologies and suggestions. *Sci World J* 2011, *11*, 1963-80.
- 21. Chen, C.; Lu, Y.; Zhang, X.; Geng, J.; Wang, T.; Shi, Y.; Hu, W.; Li, J., A review of spatial and temporal assessment of PFOS and PFOA contamination in China. *Chem Ecol* **2009**, *25*, (3), 163-177.
- 22. Zhou, Z.; Liang, Y.; Shi, Y.; Xu, L.; Cai, Y., Occurrence and transport of perfluoroalkyl acids (PFAAs), including short-chain PFAAs in Tangxun Lake, China. *Environ Sci Technol* **2013**, *47*, (16), 9249-57.
- 23. Calafat, A. M.; Wong, L. Y.; Kuklenyik, Z.; Reidy, J. A.; Needham, L. L., Polyfluoroalkyl chemicals in the U.S. population: data from the National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey (NHANES) 2003-2004 and comparisons with NHANES 1999-2000. *Environ Health Perspect* **2007**, *115*, (11), 1596-602.
- Zhou, Z.; Shi, Y.; Vestergren, R.; Wang, T.; Liang, Y.; Cai, Y., Highly elevated serum concentrations of perfluoroalkyl substances in fishery employees from Tangxun lake, china. *Environ Sci Technol* 2014, 48, (7), 3864-74.
- 25. SIOCCAS, Preparation of F-53 and its application in chrome mist suppression. Shanghai Institute of Organic Chemistry at Chinese Academy of Sciences (SIOCCAS). *Mater Prot* **1976**, *3*, (3), 27.
- 26. Ruan, T.; Lin, Y.; Wang, T.; Liu, R.; Jiang, G., Identification of novel polyfluorinated ether sulfonates as PFOS alternatives in municipal sewage sludge in China. *Environ Sci Technol* **2015**, *49*, (11), 6519-27.
- 27. Wang, S.; Huang, J.; Yang, Y.; Hui, Y.; Ge, Y.; Larssen, T.; Yu, G.; Deng, S.; Wang, B.; Harman, C., First report of a Chinese PFOS alternative overlooked for 30 years: its toxicity, persistence, and presence in the environment. *Environ Sci Technol* **2013**, *47*, (18), 10163-70.
- 28. Liu, W.; Qin, H.; Li, J.; Zhang, Q.; Zhang, H.; Wang, Z.; He, X., Atmospheric chlorinated polyfluorinated ether sulfonate and ionic perfluoroalkyl acids in 2006 to 2014 in Dalian, China. *Environ Toxicol Chem* **2017**.
- 29. Shi, Y.; Vestergren, R.; Zhou, Z.; Song, X.; Xu, L.; Liang, Y.; Cai, Y., Tissue distribution and whole body burden of the chlorinated polyfluoroalkyl ether sulfonic acid F-53B in crucian carp (*Carassius carassius*): evidence for a highly bioaccumulative contaminant of emerging concern. *Environ Sci Technol* 2015, 49, (24), 14156-65.
- 30. Pan, Y.; Zhu, Y.; Zheng, T.; Cui, Q.; Buka, S. L.; Zhang, B.; Guo, Y.; Xia, W.; Yeung, L. W.; Li, Y.; Zhou, A.; Qiu, L.; Liu, H.; Jiang, M.; Wu, C.; Xu, S.; Dai, J., Novel chlorinated polyfluorinated ether sulfonates and legacy per-/polyfluoroalkyl substances: placental transfer and relationship with serum albumin and glomerular filtration rate. *Environ Sci Technol* **2017**, *51*, (1), 634-644.
- 31. Shi, Y.; Vestergren, R.; Xu, L.; Zhou, Z.; Li, C.; Liang, Y.; Cai, Y., Human exposure and elimination kinetics of chlorinated polyfluoroalkyl ether sulfonic acids (Cl-PFESAs). *Environ Sci Technol* **2016**, *50*, (5), 2396-404.
- 32. Gebbink, W. A.; Bossi, R.; Riget, F. F.; Rosing-Asvid, A.; Sonne, C.; Dietz, R., Observation of emerging perand polyfluoroalkyl substances (PFASs) in Greenland marine mammals. *Chemosphere* **2016**, *144*, 2384-91.
- 33. Bowman, J. S., Fluorotechnology is critical to modern life: the FluoroCouncil counterpoint to the Madrid Statement. *Environ Health Perspect* **2015**, *123*, (5), A112-3.
- 34. Bowman, J. S., Response to "Comment on 'Fluorotechnology Is Critical to Modern Life: The FluoroCouncil Counterpoint to the Madrid Statement". *Environ Health Perspect* **2015**, *123*, (7), A170-1.
- 35. Sibley, P. K.; Ellis, D. A.; Fineberg, N. A.; Mabury, S. A.; Solomon, K. R.; Muir, D. C. G.; Hanson, M. L.; Shahid, T., The fate and persistence of trifluoroacetic and chloroacetic acids in pond waters. *Chemosphere* **2001**, *42*, (3), 309.
- Ochoa-Herrera, V.; Field, J. A.; Luna-Velasco, A.; Sierra-Alvarez, R., Microbial toxicity and biodegradability of perfluorooctane sulfonate (PFOS) and shorter chain perfluoroalkyl and polyfluoroalkyl substances (PFASs). *Environ Sci Process Impacts* 2016, 18, (9), 1236-1246.
- Wang, Z.; Cousins, I. T.; Scheringer, M.; Hungerbuehler, K., Hazard assessment of fluorinated alternatives to long-chain perfluoroalkyl acids (PFAAs) and their precursors: status quo, ongoing challenges and possible solutions. *Environ Int* 2015, 75, 172-9.
- Olsen, G. W.; Burris, J. M.; Ehresman, D. J.; Froehlich, J. W.; Seacat, A. M.; Butenhoff, J. L., Half-life of serum elimination of perfluorooctanesulfonate, perfluorohexanesulfonate, and perfluorooctanoate in retired fluorochemical production workers. *Environ Health Perspect* 2007, 115.
- 39. Lau, C.; Anitole, K.; Hodes, C.; Lai, D.; Pfahles-Hutchens, A.; Seed, J., Perfluoroalkyl acids: a review of

monitoring and toxicological findings. Toxicol Sci 2007, 99, (2), 366-94.

- 40. Zhang, Y.; Beesoon, S.; Zhu, L.; Martin, J. W., Biomonitoring of perfluoroalkyl acids in human urine and estimates of biological half-life. *Environ Sci Technol* **2013**, *47*, (18), 10619-27.
- 41. Chu, S.; Letcher, R. J.; McGoldrick, D. J.; Backus, S. M., A new fluorinated surfactant contaminant in biota: perfluorobutane sulfonamide in several fish species. *Environ Sci Technol* **2016**, *50*, (2), 669-75.
- 42. Liu, Y.; Pereira Ados, S.; Martin, J. W., Discovery of C5-C17 poly- and perfluoroalkyl substances in water by in-line SPE-HPLC-Orbitrap with in-source fragmentation flagging. *Anal Chem* **2015**, *87*, (8), 4260-8.
- Tan, B.; Wang, T.; Wang, P.; Luo, W.; Lu, Y.; Romesh, K. Y.; Giesy, J. P., Perfluoroalkyl substances in soils around the Nepali Koshi River: levels, distribution, and mass balance. *Environ Sci Pollut Res Int* 2014, 21, (15), 9201-11.
- 44. Wang, P.; Wang, T.; Giesy, J. P.; Lu, Y., Perfluorinated compounds in soils from Liaodong Bay with concentrated fluorine industry parks in China. *Chemosphere* **2013**, *91*, (6), 751-7.
- 45. Loi, E. I. H.; Yeung, L. W. Y.; Taniyasu, S.; Lam, P. K. S.; Kannan, K.; Yamashita, N., Trophic magnification of poly- and perfluorinated compounds in a subtropical food web. *Environ Sci Technol* **2011**, *45*.
- 46. Taniyasu, S.; Senthilkumar, K.; Yamazaki, E.; Yeung, L. W.; Guruge, K. S.; Kannan, K.; Yamashita, N., Perfluoroalkyl substances in the blood of wild rats and mice from 47 prefectures in Japan: use of samples from nationwide specimen bank. *Arch Environ Contam Toxicol* **2013**, *65*, (1), 149-70.
- Newton, S.; McMahen, R.; Stoeckel, J. A.; Chislock, M.; Lindstrom, A.; Strynar, M., Novel polyfluorinated compounds identified using high resolution mass spectrometry downstream of manufacturing facilities near Decatur, Alabama. *Environ Sci Technol* 2017, *51*, (3), 1544-1552.
- 48. Strynar, M.; Dagnino, S.; McMahen, R.; Liang, S.; Lindstrom, A.; Andersen, E.; McMillan, L.; Thurman, M.; Ferrer, I.; Ball, C., Identification of novel perfluoroalkyl ether carboxylic acids (PFECAs) and sulfonic Acids (PFESAs) in natural waters using accurate mass time-of-flight mass spectrometry (TOFMS). *Environ Sci Technol* 2015, 49, (19), 11622-30.
- 49. Lin, Y.; Ruan, T.; Liu, A.; Jiang, G., Identification of novel hydrogen-substituted polyfluoroalkyl ether sulfonates in environmental matrices near metal-plating facilities. *Environ Sci Technol* **2017**.
- Rotander, A.; Karrman, A.; Toms, L. M.; Kay, M.; Mueller, J. F.; Gomez Ramos, M. J., Novel fluorinated surfactants tentatively identified in firefighters using liquid chromatography quadrupole time-of-flight tandem mass spectrometry and a case-control approach. *Environ Sci Technol* 2015, 49, (4), 2434-42.
- 51. Jin, H.; Zhang, Y.; Zhu, L.; Martin, J. W., Isomer profiles of perfluoroalkyl substances in water and soil surrounding a chinese fluorochemical manufacturing park. *Environ Sci Technol* **2015**, *49*, (8), 4946-54.
- Schymanski, E. L.; Jeon, J.; Gulde, R.; Fenner, K.; Ruff, M.; Singer, H. P.; Hollender, J., Identifying small molecules via high resolution mass spectrometry: communicating confidence. *Environ Sci Technol* 2014, 48, (4), 2097-8.
- 53. Martin, J. W.; Mabury, S. A.; Solomon, K. R.; Muir, D. C. G., Bioconcentration and tissue distribution of perfluorinated acids in rainbow trout (*oncorhynchus mykiss*). *Environ Toxicol Chem* **2003**, *22*, (1), 196-204.
- 54. Martin, J. W.; Mabury, S. A.; Solomon, K. R.; Muir, D. C. G., Dietary accumulation of perfluorinated acids in juvenile rainbow trout (*oncorhynchus mykiss*). *Environ Toxicol Chem* **2003**, *22*.
- 55. USEPA. Long-Chain Perfluorinated Chemicals Action Plan; United States Environmental Protection Agncy (USEPA): 2009.
- 56. Shi, G.; Cui, Q.; Pan, Y.; Sheng, N.; Sun, S.; Guo, Y.; Dai, J., 6:2 Chlorinated polyfluorinated ether sulfonate, a PFOS alternative, induces embryotoxicity and disrupts cardiac development in zebrafish embryos. *Aquat Toxicol* 2017, 185, 67-75.
- Wang, Y.; Vestergren, R.; Shi, Y.; Cao, D.; Xu, L.; Cai, Y.; Zhao, X.; Wu, F., Identification, Tissue Distribution, and Bioaccumulation Potential of Cyclic Perfluorinated Sulfonic Acids Isomers in an Airport Impacted Ecosystem. *Environ Sci Technol* 2016, *50*, (20), 10923-10932.
- De Silva, A. O.; Spencer, C.; Scott, B. F.; Backus, S.; Muir, D. C., Detection of a cyclic perfluorinated acid, perfluoroethylcyclohexane sulfonate, in the Great Lakes of North America. *Environ Sci Technol* 2011, 45, (19), 8060-6.
- 59. Solla, S. R.; De Silva, A. O.; Letcher, R. J., Highly elevated levels of perfluorooctane sulfonate and other perfluorinated acids found in biota and surface water downstream of an international airport, Hamilton, Ontario,

Canada. Environ Int 2012, 39, (1), 19-26.

- Houde, M.; Douville, M.; Despatie, S. P.; De Silva, A. O.; Spencer, C., Induction of gene responses in St. Lawrence River northern pike (*Esox lucius*) environmentally exposed to perfluorinated compounds. *Chemosphere* 2013, 92, (9), 1195-200.
- Lescord, G. L.; Kidd, K. A.; De Silva, A. O.; Williamson, M.; Spencer, C.; Wang, X.; Muir, D. C., Perfluorinated and polyfluorinated compounds in lake food webs from the Canadian high Arctic. *Environ Sci Technol* 2015, 49, (5), 2694-702.
- Barzen-Hanson, K. A.; Roberts, S. C.; Choyke, S.; Oetjen, K.; McAlees, A.; Riddell, N.; McCrindle, R.; Ferguson, P. L.; Higgins, C. P.; Field, J. A., Discovery of 40 classes of per- and polyfluoroalkyl substances in historical aqueous film-forming foams (AFFFs) and AFFF-impacted groundwater. *Environ Sci Technol* 2017, *51*, (4), 2047-2057.
- 63. Baduel, C.; Mueller, J. F.; Rotander, A.; Corfield, J.; Gomez-Ramos, M. J., Discovery of novel per- and polyfluoroalkyl substances (PFASs) at a fire fighting training ground and preliminary investigation of their fate and mobility. *Chemosphere* **2017**, *185*, 1030-1038.
- 64. Dimzon, I. K.; Trier, X.; Frömel, T.; Helmus, R.; Knepper, T. P.; de Voogt, P., High resolution mass spectrometry of polyfluorinated polyether-based formulation. *J Am Soc Mass Spectrom* **2016**, *27*, (2), 309-318.
- 65. Gebbink, W. A.; van Asseldonk, L.; van Leeuwen, S. P. J., Presence of emerging per- and polyfluoroalkyl substances (PFASs) in river and drinking water near a fluorochemical production plant in the Netherlands. *Environ Sci Technol* **2017**, *51*, (19), 11057-11065.
- 66. Langlois, I.; Oehme, M., Structural identification of isomers present in technical perfluorooctane sulfonate by tandem mass spectrometry. *Rapid Commun Mass Spectrom* **2006**, *20*, (5), 844-50.
- 67. Pretsch, E.; Buhlman, P.; Badertscher, M., Summary Tables. In *Structure Determination of Organic Compounds: Tables of Spectral Data*, Springer Science & Business Media: 2009; pp 35-39.
- Ricci, A.; Piccolella, S., From the collisionally induced dissociation to the enzyme-mediated reactions: the electron flux within the lignan furanic ring. In *Tandem Mass Spectrometry - Applications and Principles*, Prasain, J. K., Ed. Andreina Ricci and Simona Piccolella: 2012.
- 69. Lacey, M. J.; Macdonald, C. G.; Shannon, J. S., Loss of CH2O and H2O by stepwise mechanisms in mass spectrometry. *J Mass Spectrom* **1971**, *5*, (12), 1391-1397.
- 70. Alsmeyer, Y. W.; Childs, W. V.; Flynn, R. M.; Moore, G. G.; Smeltzer, J. C., Electrochemical fluorination and its applications. In *Organofluorine Chemistry: Principles and Commercial Applications*, 1 ed.; Banks, R. E.; Smart, B. E.; Tatlow, J. C., Eds. Springer US: pp 131-135.
- 71. Burton, D. J.; Chambers, R. D.; Drakesmith, F. G.; Hutchinson, J.; Kitazume, T.; Lu, L.; Percy, J. M.; Sandford, G.; Yamazaki, T., *Organofluorine Chemistry: Techniques and Synthons*. 1 ed.; Springer Berlin Heidelberg: 1997.
- 72. Spahn, D. R., Blood substitutes. Artificial oxygen carriers: perfluorocarbon emulsions. *Crit Care* **1999**, *3*, (5), R93-7.
- 73. Seghatchian, J.; de Sousa, G., An overview of unresolved inherent problems associated with red cell transfusion and potential use of artificial oxygen carriers and ECO-RBC: current status/future trends. *Transfus Apher Sci* **2007**, *37*, (3), 251-9.
- 74. Bauer, J.; Zahres, M.; Zellermann, A.; Kirsch, M.; Petrat, F.; de Groot, H.; Mayer, C., Perfluorocarbon-filled poly(lactide-co-gylcolide) nano- and microcapsules as artificial oxygen carriers for blood substitutes: a physico-chemical assessment. *J Microencapsul* **2010**, *27*, (2), 122-32.
- 75. 3M, Fluorinert[™] Electronic Liquid FC-43. In 3M Performanc Materilas: 2000.
- 76. 3M. Electronic Liquids. 3M Company (3M), URL: <u>http://solutions.3m.com/wps/portal/3M/en_US/Electronics_NA/Electronics/Products/Electronics_Product_Catalog/~/Electronic-Liquids?N=8704931</u>
- Hong, A. C.; Young, C. J.; Hurley, M. D.; Wallington, T. J.; Mabury, S. A., Perfluorotributylamine: A novel long-lived greenhouse gas. *Geophysical Research Letters* 2013, 40, (22), 6010-6015.
- Demarque, D. P.; Crotti, A. E. M.; Vessecchi, R.; Lopes, J. L. C.; Lopes, N. P., Fragmentation reactions using electrospray ionization mass spectrometry: an important tool for the structural elucidation and characterization of synthetic and natural products. *Natural Product Reports* 2016, 33, (3), 432-455.
- 79. Xu, G.; Huang, T., ,; Zhang, J.; McClure, T. D.; Miao, S., Study of free radical fragment ions generated from

ESI-CID-MS-MS Using LTQ and LTQ Orbitrap Mass Spectrometers. LC GC Europe 2008, 21, (12).

- 80. Kind, T.; Fiehn, O., Advances in structure elucidation of small molecules using mass spectrometry. *Bioanal Rev* **2010**, *2*, (1), 23-60.
- 81. Ghulam Musharraf, S.; Goher, M.; Hussain, A.; Choudhary, M. I., Electrospray tandem mass spectrometric analysis of a dimeric conjugate, salvialeriafone and related compounds. *Chem Cent J* **2012**, *6*, (1), 120.
- 82. Holcapek, M.; Jirasko, R.; Lisa, M., Basic rules for the interpretation of atmospheric pressure ionization mass spectra of small molecules. *J Chromatogr A* 2010, *1217*, (25), 3908-21.
- 83. Thurman, E. M.; Ferrer, I.; Pozo, O. J.; Sancho, J. V.; Hernandez, F., The even-electron rule in electrospray mass spectra of pesticides. *Rapid Commun Mass Spectrom* **2007**, *21*, (23), 3855-3868.
- 84. Wilfried, M. A., Ricardo A. Correa C., interpretation of MS-MS mass spectra of drugs and pesticides.
- 85. Jackson, A. H.; Jackson, A. H.; Artico, M.; Anderson, H. J.; Loader, C. E.; Gossauer, A.; Nesvadba, P.; Dennis, N., Reactivity of the 1H-Pyrrole Ring System. In *Reactivity of the 1H-Pyrrole Ring System, in Chemistry of Heterocyclic Compounds: Pyrroles, Part One: The Synthesis and the Physical and Chemical Aspects of the Pyrrole Ring.*, Jones, R. A., Ed. John Wiley & Sons, Inc.: NJ, USA, 1990; Vol. 48, pp 460-462.
- 86. Tucci, F. C.; Zhu, Y.-F.; Guo, Z.; Gross, T. D.; Connors Jr, P. J.; Struthers, R. S.; Reinhart, G. J.; Wang, X.; Saunders, J.; Chen, C., A novel synthesis of 7-aryl-8-fluoro-pyrrolo[1,2-a]pyrimid-4-ones as potent, stable GnRH receptor antagonists. *Bioorganic Med Chem Lett* 2002, *12*, (23), 3491-3495.
- 87. Wilkerson, W. W.; Galbraith, W.; Gans-Brangs, K.; Grubb, M.; Hewes, W. E.; Jaffee, B.; Kenney, J. P.; Kerr, J.; Wong, N., Anti-inflammatory 4,5-Diarylpyrroles: Synthesis and QSAR. *J Med Chem* **1994**, *37*, (7), 988-998.
- 88. Ruebsam, F.; Webber, S. E.; Tran, M. T.; Tran, C. V.; Murphy, D. E.; Zhao, J.; Dragovich, P. S.; Kim, S. H.; Li, L.-S.; Zhou, Y.; Han, Q.; Kissinger, C. R.; Showalter, R. E.; Lardy, M.; Shah, A. M.; Tsan, M.; Patel, R.; LeBrun, L. A.; Kamran, R.; Sergeeva, M. V.; Bartkowski, D. M.; Nolan, T. G.; Norris, D. A.; Kirkovsky, L., Pyrrolo[1,2-b]pyridazin-2-ones as potent inhibitors of HCV NS5B polymerase. *Bioorganic Med Chem Lett* **2008**, *18*, (12), 3616-3621.
- Black, B. C.; Hollingworth, R. M.; Ahammadsahib, K. I.; Kukel, C. D.; Donovan, S., Insecticidal Action and Mitochondrial Uncoupling Activity of AC-303,630 and Related Halogenated Pyrroles. *Pest Biochem Physiol* 1994, 50, (2), 115-128.
- 90. G.W., G.; S., R.; S., R., Fluorinated Imidazoles and Benzimidazoles. In *Fluorine in Heterocyclic Chemistry Volume 1*, V., N., Ed. Springer, Cham: 2014.
- 91. Carini, D. J.; Chiu, A. T.; Wong, P. C.; Johnson, A. L.; Wexler, R. R.; Timmermans, P. B. M. W. M., The preparation of (perfluoroalkyl)imidazoles as nonpeptide angiotensin II receptor antagonists. *Bioorganic Med Chem Lett* **1993**, *3*, (5), 895-898.

Chapter 5. Non-target Mass Spectrometry Reveals Hundreds of Previously Unrecognized Organohalogen Compounds in Polar Bear Serum

5.1 Introduction

Polar bears (*Ursus maritimus*) are apex predators of the Arctic marine foodweb and have a diet composed largely of seal blubber. Their high trophic positon makes them vulnerable to high organohalogen contaminant exposure.^{1, 2} In the mid-1970s, many classes of organochlorine pesticides and industrial chemicals were first identified in polar bear tissues, including dichlorodiphenyltrichloroethane (DDT), polychlorinated biphenyls (PCBs),³ dieldrin, hexachlorobenzene, and hexachlorocyclohexane.⁴ More recent discoveries found that polar bears are also exposed to persistent fluorinated and brominated organic contaminants, including perfluorinated acids^{5, 6} and polybrominated diphenyl ethers (PBDEs).⁷

This contamination represents a considerable health concern, not only to polar bears but also to indigenous people who have long depended on marine mammals for subsistence.^{8, 9} Among possible health effects in the polar bear, a recent review highlighted a weight of evidence for immune-suppression and endocrine disruption.¹⁰ Based on this review, persistent metabolites of widespread environmental contaminants, such as the OH-PCBs, OH-PBDEs, methylsulfone PCBs (MeSO₂-PCBs) and *p,p'*-DDE are associated with such health effects in polar bear. As reviewed by Grimm *et al.*,¹¹ experimental evidence shows that various classes of PCB metabolites exhibit carcinogenic, neurologic and endocrine effects.

The detection and identification of unknown organohalogen chemicals has received previous attention because of their potential hazardous properties (e.g. environmental persistence, bioaccumulation and biomagnification), and it is known that a high proportion (i.e. 50%-99%) of the total organohalogen signal present in environmental and biological samples remains uncharacterized.¹²⁻¹⁹ Moreover, effects-directed analysis of the transthyretin (TTR)-binding activity in polar bear cub blood revealed that only half the TTR-activity could be explained with

known contaminants including PCBs, OH-PCBs, and perfluorinated acids.²⁰ In a follow-up study, 3 new octachloro-OH-PCBs (Cl₈-OH-PCBs) were discovered, covering ~55% of the previously unidentified TTR-binding activities, but leaving ~25% of the biologically-active fraction unidentified.²¹ To our knowledge, this unknown biologically active fraction of chemicals has still not been identified.

High resolution mass spectrometry (HRMS) has emerged as a powerful tool in non-target contaminant discovery. The combination of high spectral resolving power and high mass accuracy allows prediction of the empirical formula for unknown chemicals, while MSⁿ experiments can further help to elucidate unknown structures. Recent instrumental approaches to non-target HRMS (Nt-HRMS) screening of organohalogen compounds in environmental samples includes Orbitrap mass spectrometry with "fragmentation-flagging" for halogen ions.²² We reported >35 new fluorinated and chlorinated compounds in a Chinese wastewater using HPLC-Orbitrap EliteTM by inducing fragmentation at the source, thereby using chloride ions (³⁵Cl⁻ and ³⁷Cl⁻) or organofluorine ions (e.g. CF₃CF₂⁻) as flags for unknown compounds which could then be identified by accurate mass and MS/MS experiments.²² In a similar approach, Peng *et al.* detected thousands of organo-bromine²³ and organo-iodine²⁴ chromatographic peaks in lake sediments using Orbitrap Q ExactiveTM and by inducing fragmentation in the collision cell to yield Br⁻ and I⁻.

Existing applications for organohalogen discovery have mostly been focused on identification of active ingredients or impurities in commercial or industrial products,²⁵⁻²⁸ with fewer successful applications to environmental samples^{22, 23, 29, 30} and even fewer to complex biological samples (e.g. firefighters' serum³¹), partially owing to lower concentrations and more complex matrices for the latter sample types. Strategic sample preparation steps to minimize matrix signal, while simultaneously concentrating contaminant classes of interest are therefore important advances for new contaminant discoveries of biological relevance. Solid phase extraction (SPE)^{25, 29} and organic solvent extraction^{23, 31, 32} are the most commonly used sample preparation methods. However, to concentrate large volumes of biofluid sample (i.e. 5-10 mL) and to isolate a polar class of contaminants that we hypothesized to be present in serum, here we considered stir-bar sorptive extraction (SBSE) for sample preparation. This is a low cost and environmentally friendly sample preparation method that has advantages for large sample volumes, however only two commercially available adsorbent-coated stir bars are available for

SBSE: coated with polydimethylsiloxane (PDMS)^{33, 34} or PDMS/ethylene glycol copolymer.³⁵ A home-made SBSE method using small segments of polyethersulfone (PES) capillary tubing was recently reported as an alternative, low cost approach to commercially available products.³⁶

Here we analyzed two pooled polar bear serum samples from subpopulations in the Canadian Arctic (one from Western Hudson Bay, and the other from Beaufort Sea) with the aim of detecting unknown polar yet potentially biologically active chlorinated or fluorinated compounds. We stirred PES capillaries in pooled polar bear serum, and analyzed the extracts by Nt-HRMS with in-source fragmentation flagging,²² and MSⁿ experiments were used for structural elucidation. A large number of previously unknown organohalogen compounds were revealed, and the relevant significance was discussed.

5.2 Experimental Section^{††}

5.2.1 Nomenclature

Chlorinated compound congeners are abbreviated as "Cl#-A-B", where # indicates the number of chlorine atoms in the molecule, "A" indicates important functional groups (e.g. hydroxyl group, OH), and "B" represents the core structure (e.g. polychlorinated biphenyl, PCB). Poly- and perfluoroalkyl compound homologues are termed as "C#-A-B", where # indicates the total carbon chain length, "A" indicates important functional groups (e.g. ether), and "B" is abbreviation of the core structure (e.g. perfluoroalkyl sulfonates, PFSAs). Whenever the structure is confirmed, the commonly recognized names will be used, for example, 3, 3'-dichlorpbiphenyl will be termed as PCB 11 according to the Ballschmiter-Zell nomenclature³⁷, and perfluorooctanesulfonate will be acronymed PFOS.³⁸

5.2.2 Chemicals and Reagents

Optima grade water, methanol and acetonitrile were from Fisher Scientific (Ottawa, ON,

^{††} Drs. Evan Richardson, Andrew E. Derocher and Nicholas J. Lunn provided polar bear serum samples. Drs. Hans-Joachim Lehmler, Larry W. Robertson and Xueshu Li provided native SO₄-PCB standards, and Dr. Amila O De Silva (Environment and Climate Change Canada) provided the 4-PFECHS standard.

Canada). Ammonium acetate, 1-methyl piperidine (1-MP), tetrabutylammonium bromide (TBABr), sodium hydroxide and commercial calf serum were from Sigma-Aldrich (St. Louis, MO, USA). Four hexachloro hydroxylated PCB (Cl₆-OH-PCB) and three Cl₇-OH-PCB standards were from Wellington Laboratories (Guelph, ON, Canada, Table 5-1). 14 monochloro to tetrachloro PCB sulfate standards (Cl-Cl₄ SO₄-PCBs) and 2 monochloro dihydroxylated standards (Cl-DiOH-PCBs, Table 5-1) were previously synthesized at the University of Iowa.³⁹⁻ 45 2, 4, 4, '-trichloro-2'-hydroxydiphenyl ether, a hydroxylated Triclosan (i.e. pentachlorodiphenyl ether, OH-Cl₅-PCDE) was from Sigma-Aldrich. Perfluoroalkyl carboxylate (PFCA), perfluoroalkyl sulfonate (PFSAs), and perfluorooctanesulfonamide standards were from Wellington Laboratories (Table 5-2). A standard of decafluoro-4-(pentafluoroethyl)cyclohexanesulfonate (4-PFCHES, CAS 335-24-0) was from Wako Chemicals (Richmond, VA, USA). A chlorinated perfluorinated ether sulfonate (F-53B, CAS 73606-19-6) industrial standard was from Shanghai Maikun Chemical Co., Ltd. (Shanghai, China). A historical industrial PFOS standard was donated by the 3M Co. (St. Paul, MN, USA).

PDMS (1 mm thickness,10 mm length) coated Twister bars were from Gerstel (Mulheim an der Ruhr, Germany), PDMS tubing (2.2 mm o.d., 0.5 mm i.d., cut into 10 mm length segments) and PES sheets (48 mm length, 48 mm width, 2 mm height, cut into 8 mm length, 2 mm width, 2 mm height segments) were from Good Fellow (Edmonton, AB, Canada), and PES capillary tubing (UltraPES0.7, 0.7 mm o.d., 150 µm wall thickness, cut into 10 mm length segments) was from 3M Deutschland GmbH (Membranes Business Unit, Wuppertal, Germany). HybridSPE[®] (500mg/6mL) cartridges were from Sigma-Aldrich, and CleanasciteTM was from BioTech Support Group (NJ, USA). Nalgene[®] surface-free cellulose acetate filters (0.2 µm pore size) and Nalgene[®] combined glass fiber and cellulose acetate filters (0.2 µm pore size) were from Sigma-Aldrich, polyvinylidene fluoride filters (0.2 µm pore size) were from Millipore Ltd. (Etobicoke, ON, Canada) and combined glass fiber and polytetrafluorethylene (PTFE, 0.2 µm pore size) filters were from Phenomenex (Torrance, CA, USA).

5.2.3 Polar Bear Serum Collection and Pooling

Two polar bear monitoring programs began in Western Hudson Bay^{46, 47} and in the Beaufort Sea ⁴⁸ in the 1980s. Each year, serum samples from individual polar bears of both sex and of different ages (1-25 yrs) were collected and archived at -80 °C. Capture and handling

protocols were in accordance with the Canadian Council on Animal Care guidelines and approved by the Environment and Climate Change Canada, Prairie and Northern Region Animal Care Committee and the University of Alberta Biological Sciences Animal Policy and Welfare Committee. For the current work, 14 and 22 individual serum samples from Western Hudson Bay and Beaufort Sea, respectively, were withdrawn from the archive, stored at -80 °C for a month (along with the procedural blanks discussed in section **5.2.4**) and pooled by location (**Table 5-3**), resulting in two pooled polar bear serum samples.

5.2.4 Sample Extraction by SBSE

Based on an established SBSE method for extracting PFASs from large volume water samples,³⁶ a similar SBSE method for extracting PFASs and polychloroalkyl compounds from 5 mL serum matrix was developed using authentic standards of PFASs (Table 5-2), OH-PCBs and SO₄-PCBs (Table 5-1). A mixed standard stock solution containing 200 ng/mL of each individual PFAS, OH-PCB and SO4-PCB standards was prepared. 5 mL of calf serum was spiked at 1 ng/mL of the mixed standard, and four different extraction materials (1 PDMS twister, surface area=144 mm² Volume=94 mm³; 2 PDMS tube segments, S=169 mm² V=72 mm³; 3 PES sheet segments, S=144 m² V=64 mm³; and 7 PES capillary segments, S=154 mm² V=27 mm³ were compared by recovery and matrix effects), three different protein precipitation methods (saturated aqueous ammonium sulfate, aqueous 10% trichloroacetic acid, and acetonitrile), phospholipid removal methods (HybridSPE® and CleanasciteTM), and different extraction parameters (pH 7.0, 9.5 and 10.5; number of PES capillary segments 5, 10 and 20; concentration of ion-pairing reagent TBABr 28 µM and 56 µM; extraction time 24, 36 and 48 h; and desorption time 30 min and 60 min) were tested to obtain optimal extraction condition. In addition, four different filters (Nalgene[®] surface-free cellulose acetate, Nalgene[®] combined glass fiber and cellulose acetate, polyvinylidene fluoride, and combined glass fiber and PTFE) were tested for their absorption capacity to native standards by passing through 15 mL of 0.5 ng/mL mixed standard (in 50% H₂O/50%MeOH). The PTFE-coated magnetic stir bar was also examined for its standard absorption during extraction (< 2% standard was absorbed). The developed SBSE method is presented in the following.

For extraction of samples, an aliquot of 5 mL of pooled serum sample from each location was mixed with 15 mL acetonitrile, vortexed and centrifuged at 4415 g and at 15 °C for 30 min

to remove serum proteins. The ~20 mL supernatants were loaded to two methanolpreconditioned HybridSPE cartridges (~10 mL for each) and eluted under gravity for phospholipid removal. Combined eluents (free from phospholipids) were concentrated with high purity nitrogen gas to approximately 3 mL. The pH was then adjusted to 10.5 with 0.05 M Na₂CO₃ (~1.8 mL), and the volume was made up to 10 mL with water. Then 0.09 g TBABr (i.e. 28 μ M), a polytetrafluoro-ethylene (PTFE) coated magnetic stir bar, and ten 10 mm PES capillary segments (preconditioned with methanol for 48 h and washed with water before use) were added to the pH adjusted sample. Samples were sealed and placed on a magnetic stirrer (700 rpm) for 36 h at room temperature. All PES segments were then removed with tweezers, rinsed with water, dried with dust-free tissues (Kimtech Science), and immersed in 1 mL methanol inside 1.5 mL glass vials for analyte desorption. After 30 min, PES segments were removed from the vial and the extracts were dried under high purity nitrogen gas, reconstituted in 200 μ L of 50% water/50% methanol and filtered with Nalgene filters when necessary. Extracts (10 - 50 μ L; 0.25 - 1.25 mL of polar bear serum equivalent) were injected to the HPLC-Orbitrap MS system for analysis.

Triplicate procedural blanks, prepared with calf serum, were extracted along with pooled polar bear samples to monitor for possible laboratory contamination. Triplicate instrumental procedural blanks, prepared with 50% methanol/50% water, were also injected during sample analysis to check for any instrumental background. To consider possible chemical migration from contaminated cryovials during long-term sample archiving, two sets of triplicate quality control samples were also prepared: (1) calf serum aliquoted to the same containers (×10) used for polar bear serum storage (2.0 mL/container), sealed and stored at -80°C (along with the individual polar bear serum samples) for 1 month before extraction, and (2) calf serum aliquoted and sealed in the same containers used for polar bear serum storage, but allowed to sit at room temperature for 1 month before extraction. The individual samples in each set were pooled, extracted and analyzed along with the polar bear serum samples.

5.2.5 HPLC-LTQ-Orbitrap-MS

As described for analysis of fish liver extracts in **Chapter 4**, HPLC-Orbitrap was employed for non-target discovery of perfluoroalkyl and/or chlorinated compounds. Briefly, a combination of in-source fragmentation flagging, full scan and MSⁿ experiments were used to detect and characterize unknown halogenated substances. Fluorinated and chlorinated fragment ions (e.g. $[C_2F_5]^-$ and $[Cl]^-$) and chlorinated fragments detected by in-source fragmentation flagging were used to flag retention times of halogenated molecular ions in full-scan mode. Exact masses (within ±5ppm) of the molecular ions, isotopic patterns and in-source fragments were used to assign empirical formulae.

5.2.6 Data Presentation

For each PFAS chain-length homologous class (i.e. a series of compounds share the same general formula but with different chain-lengths) or chlorinated congener series class (i.e. a series of compounds share the same general formula but with different chlorine substitutions), structure elucidation was based on MSⁿ (where n=2-3 stages of ion isolation and fragmentation) for 1 - 2 of the major homologues or congeners in the class. For each non-target class of PFAS homologues discovered, plausible structures were proposed and confidence levels (CL=1-5) were assigned according to established criteria for non-target mass spectrometry; where CL=1 is the highest level of confidence, confirmed by authentic standard.⁴⁹

5.2.7 Quantitative Method Performance

Although the focus of the study was discovery, and not quantification, a mixed standard stock solution containing 200 ng/mL of each of individual PFAS, OH-PCB and SO₄-PCB standards (**Table 5-1** and **Table 5-2**) was used to evaluate quantitative method performance. The standard was diluted to 0, 0.0025, 0.005, 0.01, 0.025, 0.05, 0.1, 0.25, 0.5, 1, 2.5, 5.0, 10, 12.5, 25ng/mL in 50% water/50% methanol, and 20 μ L of each was injected to evaluate instrumental detection limits (IDLs, **Table 5-4**). Similarly, 5 mL aliquots of calf serum were spiked at 0, 0.005, 0.01, 0.025, 0.05, 0.1, 0.25, 0.5, and 1.0 ng/mL, and 20 μ L of the final SBSE extracts were injected to measure method detection limits (MDLs, **Table 5-4**) of the overall SBSE-HPLC-Orbitrap method. Recovery, matrix effect and the total extraction efficiency of the SBSE method was also evaluated by using two aliquots of 5 mL calf serum. The 200 ng/mL stock solution was spiked (12.5 μ L) in one aliquot before the SBSE extraction (termed "pre-spiked"). Same volume (20 μ L) of the final extracts of both pre-spiked and post-spiked samples, and 12.5 ng/mL mixed standard in 50% water/50% methanol (termed "standard") were injected. Recovery,

matrix effect and the total extraction efficiency was calculated by peak area ratio of prespiked/post-spiked, post-spiked/standard, and pre-spiked/standard, respectively.⁵⁰

5.2.8 Quantitative Structure Activity Relationships (QSARs)

QSARs were processed with the Toxicity Estimation Software Tool⁵¹ (TEST, EPA, version 4.2.1). A 96 h fathead minnow 50% lethal concentration (LC₅₀, lethal concentration required to kill 50% of the tested population) and the developmental toxicity were predicted as endpoints. Five different methods⁵¹ (detailed in **Table 5-5**) were used in each toxicity prediction, and the average value was presented.

5.3 Results and Discussion

5.3.1 Method Performance

The main objective of the method development was to maximize method sensitivity for contaminant discovery for a wide range of analytes, whereas quantitation (recovery or linearity) was not a priority. Sensitivities of the SBSE-HPLC-Orbitrap method for PFAS detection ranged from 0.005 ng/mL to 0.25 ng/mL (**Table 5-4**), which is better than those reported for some targeted HPLC-MS/MS analyses of serum. For example, the MDL of PFOS in the current study was 0.005 ng/mL, which is lower than the MDL of 0.2 ng/g in an ENVI-Carb-HPLC-MS/MS analysis⁵² or the MDL of 0.08 ng/mL in an SPE-HPLC-MS/MS method for serum.⁵³ Back et al.⁵⁴ obtained increased sensitivities for PFASs in aqueous samples using large volume injection (900µL), with MDLs ranging from 0.00071-0.067 ng/mL. Our MDLs are comparable for a few known PFASs (e.g. PFHxS: 0.005 ng/mL vs 0.0017ng/mL⁵⁴). MDLs for authentic OH-PCBs were within the range of 0.005-0.05 ng/mL, which is comparable to MDLs reported for targeted analysis by GC-MS/MS (e.g. 0.01 ng/mL⁵⁵) or HPLC-MS/MS (e.g. Cl₅-, Cl₆-, Cl₇-OH-PCB: 0.001 ng/g^{56}). The SBSE method generally had >50% recoveries for long chain PFASs (>C₁₂ PFCAs and $>C_6$ PFSAs) as well as for most OH-PCBs and SO₄-PCBs (Figure 5-1). Matrix effects for C₆-C₁₁ PFASs and a few OH-PCBs and SO₄-PCBs were measurable but acceptable for this large volume of serum. However, short- and very long chain PFASs, as well as most SO₄-PCBs, had major matrix effects. Nevertheless, the MDLs descried above take recoveries and matrix effects into account, and the overall method performance was good for a wide range of polar and ionic analytes.

5.3.2 Organochlorine and Organofluorine Contaminant Discovery

The fragmentation flagging scans of pooled serum extracts from Hudson Bay and Beaufort Sea showed hundreds of peaks (e.g. [³⁵Cl]⁻ and [³⁷Cl]⁻ peaks, and [C₂F₅]⁻, [COF₃]⁻, [SO₂F]⁻ peaks, **Figure 5-2**) corresponding to unknown organochlorine and organofluorine analytes. In total, 16 contaminant classes (317 peaks), including 12 organochlorine classes, 3 organofluorine classes and 1 mixed organo-chlorine/fluorine class were discovered in the two pooled serum samples, with none of these detected in any quality control blank. The 16 classes were broadly categorized into 3 major groups for discussion below: Group 1, PCB metabolites (**Class 1.1** through **Class 1.7**, 272 peaks total), Group 2, other polychlorinated compounds (**Class 3.1** through **Class 3.4**, 34 peaks total). All detected congeners or isomers within each class will be presented, including previously known and new discoveries, but newly discovered compounds will be highlighted.

Some general notes and assumptions are also important to state at the outset. First, the detected analyte profiles (known and unknown chemicals) in each class were very similar between the two pooled polar bear serum samples. This is demonstrated by comparison of insource organochlorine and organofluorine fragment chromatograms in **Figure 5-2**. For simplicity, only results for the Hudson Bay sample are shown because peak intensities were generally higher in this pooled sample, except for **Class 3.4** (x:2 Cl-PFAES), where signals were higher in the Beaufort Sea sample. Second, multiple peaks (or isomers, peaks of ≤ 1000 counts in intensity were not considered) were observed for nearly all discovered ions, and the core structures that were elucidated by MSⁿ experimentation with the major isomers (within a class) were assumed to be true for minor peaks within the same class. Third, the core structure elucidated for one homologue, or congener, was assumed to be representative for the whole class of contaminants identified based on their analyte ions.

5.3.3 Group 1. PCB Metabolites

Class 1.1: Mono-hydroxylated PCBs, OH-PCBs, [C12OClnH9-n]⁻, n=3-9

Reports have noted the presence of approximately 40 OH-PCBs in polar bear serum, with

approximately 25 Cl₅- to Cl₉-OH-PCBs (i.e. n=5-9 Cl) confirmed by authentic standards already.^{21, 56-63} Here by Nt-HRMS 54 analytes were detected in both pooled polar bear serum samples that fit the empirical formula of OH-PCBs, but in this case ranged from Cl₃- to Cl₉-OH-PCB congeners (**Figure 5-3.1**, **Table 5-6**).

MS² experiments were performed for all prospective OH-PCB congeners detected in the Hudson Bay sample (e.g. Cl₆- and Cl₉-OH-PCB results in **Figure 5-3.2**), as well as for injections of seven authentic OH-PCB standards (**Figure 5-3.3**). Same fragmentation patterns were observed in the sample compared to authentic standards, with consecutive neutral losses of HCl, followed by a neutral loss of CO (for peaks of high intensity) and/or neutral loss of Cl₂ (for highly chlorinated Cl₇-Cl₉ congeners, e.g. Cl₉ congener in **Figure 5-3.2**b). By matching retention times and MS² spectra to authentic standards, the most abundant Cl₆- and Cl₇-OH-PCB congeners in both pooled polar bear sera were confirmed as 4-OH-PCB146 and 4-OH-187, respectively (CL=1, **Table 5-6**). This discovery is not novel as 4-OH-PCB146 and 4-OH-187 are known major OH-PCB congeners in many biotic organisms,^{58, 64} including polar bears.^{21, 57-60, 62}

For the rest of the unknown OH-PCB congeners, $[C_2OCl]^-$ fragment were absent for all congeners, but it presented for all authentic *meta* OH-PCB standards (i.e. 3- or 3'-OH-PCBs, **Figure 5-3.3**), suggests a dominance of *para* OH-PCBs (i.e. 4- or 4'-OH-PCBs), and is consistent with previous studies.^{21, 57-60, 62} Further lending evidence to the core structures of these non-target analytes, breaking of the biphenyl bond was observed for a Cl₇-OH-PCB standard (i.e. $[C_6HOCl_4]^-$ for 4-OH-PCB 187, **Figure 5-3.3**b) and for some Cl₆-Cl₉ congeners in polar bears, including $[C_6HOCl_4]^-$ for one Cl₆- (congener 8 in **Figure 5-3.2**a), two Cl₇- and one Cl₈- congeners, and $[C_6OCl_5]^-$ for one Cl₈- and one Cl₉- (**Figure 5-3.2**b) congeners. The combined evidence allowed high confidence for assigning this whole class of non-targeted analytes as OH-PCBs, CL=3 was assigned for all OH-PCBs, the exact position of the OH and Cl substitution is uncertain using the current methodology.

More than 100 structurally confirmed OH-PCB congeners, varying from Cl- to Cl₉-OH-PCBs have been reported in various samples (e.g. water,⁶⁵⁻⁶⁷ sediment,^{65, 67-69} air,^{67, 70} fish,^{58, 65, 71} birds,^{58, 72} seals,^{58, 72}, ⁷³ polar bears,^{21, 57-60, 62} humans^{11, 61} and commercial Aroclors⁶⁸). In polar bears, among the ~40 congeners previously detected,^{21, 57-62} the Cl₅- to Cl₇- congeners are most

common, while Cl₄- (3 congeners of unknown structure⁵⁶), Cl₈- (4'-OH-PCB 201 and 3-PCB 203^{21}) and Cl₉ (4'-OH-PCB 208^{60-62}) are rarely reported. Here then, the novel discoveries in polar bear are the Cl₃-OH-PCBs (4 congeners) and a greater number of Cl₄-OH-PCBs (approximately 10 congeners) (**Table 5-6**). Failure to detect any Cl- or Cl₂-OH-PCB congeners in the current study and in previous reports is most likely attributable to their low bioaccumulation potentials in polar bears,^{11, 57} or in the marine foodweb.⁷⁴

Class 1.2: Di-hydroxylated PCBs, DiOH-PCBs, [C12O2ClnH9-n]-, n=4-8

Only one DiOH-PCB (i.e. 4,4'-diOH PCB 202) has been reported in polar bear.^{21, 57, 60-62} Nt-HRMS analysis in the current study detected 37 peaks present in both pooled serum samples that fit the empirical formula of Cl₄- to Cl₈-DiOH-PCBs (**Figure 5-4.1**, **Table 5-6**).

MS² experiments were performed with putative Cl₅- (Figure 5-4.2a) and Cl₈-DiOH-PCB congeners (Figure 5-4.2b) in the Hudson Bay sample). Characteristic Class 1.1 OH-PCB fragmentation patterns were observed, such as consecutive loss of HCl and CO. Moreover, the diagnostic neutral loss of two CO was observed for DiOH-PCB congeners present at high intensity in serum (e.g. Cl₅-DiOH-PCB congener 10 and 12, Figure 5-4.3a, and Cl₈-DiOH-PCB, Figure 5-4.3b), which is consistent with a DiOH-PCB structure and was observed for two authentic Cl-DiOH-PCB standards (Figure 5-4.3).

Because DiOH-PCBs have the same molecular formula as hydroxylated polychlorinated diphenyl ethers (OH-PCDEs), we considered if the detected peaks may be diphenyl ethers. A Cl₃-OH-PCDE standard (2, 4, 4, '-trichloro-2'-OH-PCDE, also known as triclosan) was therefore analyzed. Unlike the two authentic DiOH-PCB standards or any of the non-target analytes we believed to be DiOH-PCBs, no stable MS^2 fragment was obtained for Triclosan. By in-source fragmentation, strong $[C_6H_3OCl_2]^-$ and $[C_6H_3O_2Cl]^{--}$ ions were produced (**Figure 5-4.4**), indicating preferential breaking of the ether-bond for OH-PCDEs. Moreover, the retention time of Triclosan (24.7 min, **Figure 5-4.4**) was much longer than the prospective DiOH-PCBs with the same numbers of chlorine substitution (12-17 min, **Figure 5-4.3**).

Taken together, our data confirm that the non-target analytes in polar bear serum are DiOH-PCBs (CL=3) (**Table 5-6**), but with the position of chlorine and hydroxyl substitution being uncertain. Both authentic catechol DiOH-PCB standards produced $[C_2H_3O_2]^-$ ions in MS² (**Figure 5-4.3**), which was not observed for any of the Cl₅- and Cl₈-DiOH-PCBs examined by

MS² in polar bears here (**Figure 5-4.2**), suggesting a dominance of congeners with non-adjacent hydroxyl groups. This is consistent with previous reports in surface water⁶⁶ and sediments,⁶⁸ lake trout,⁷¹ birds,⁶⁰ polar bears^{21, 57, 60-62} and humans,^{11, 61} where all DiOH-PCBs detected have one OH group on each phenyl ring.^{11, 21, 57, 60-62, 66, 68, 71} In total, six DiOH-PCB congeners with 5-8 chlorine atoms were previously reported in water,⁶⁶ fish,⁷¹ humans,¹¹ polar bears^{21, 57, 60-62} and commercial Aroclors.⁶⁸ Thus, the novelty of the current Nt-HRMS work in polar bear serum is the detection of 37 DiOH-PCB congeners, ranging from Cl₄- to Cl₈-, including 7 Cl₄-DiOH-PCBs that have not been reported in any sample type previously (**Table 5-6**).

Class 1.3: PCB Sulfates, SO₄-PCBs, [C₁₂SO₄Cl_nH_{9-n}]⁻, n=2-8

SO₄-PCBs have never been reported in polar bears. Here 51 peaks were detected in two pooled samples that fit the empirical formula of Cl₂- through to Cl₈-SO₄-PCBs (**Figure 5-5.1**, **Table 5-6**).

MS² analyses were performed for all prospective SO₄-PCB congeners detected in the Hudson Bay sample (e.g. **Figure 5-5.2** for Cl₄- and Cl₇-SO₄-PCBs), and for SO₄-PCB authentic standards with 1-4 chlorine atoms (**Figure 5-5.3**). The MS² of authentic standards and putative SO₄-PCBs were comparable and showed neutral SO₃ loss from the molecular ion and subsequent losses of HCl and CO. The loss of Cl₂ was observed only for highly chlorinated congeners (e.g. Cl₇-SO₄-PCB congener 4, **Figure 5-5.2**b). In some cases, the intact [SO₃]⁻ ion was observed, both for standards and for analytes extracted from polar bear serum. Overall, the experimental evidence confirms that the non-target analytes in polar bear serum belong to SO₄-PCB structure. Moreover, based on matching of retention times and MS² spectra (**Figure 5-5.2** and **Figure 5-5.1**) in polar bears serum as 4-SO₄-PCB (**Figure 5-5.1**) and a Cl₃-SO₄-PCB congener (**Figure 5-5.1**) in polar bears serum as 4-SO₄-PCB 8 and 4-SO₄-PCB 33, respectively (**Table 5-1**, **Figure 5-5.3**). Thus, CL=3 was assigned for the SO₄-PCB class, and CL=1 was assigned for the two structurally confirmed congeners.

Only four previous studies report the detection of SO₄-PCBs, including in lab studies of PCB 3 exposed rats (three SO₄-PCB 3 congeners detected)^{75, 76} and PCB 11 exposed plants⁷⁷ (three SO₄-PCB 11congeners detected), and in humans with known PCB 11 exposure (one SO₄-PCB 11 detected).⁷⁸ In an *in vitro* study, Sacco *et al*.⁷⁹ incubated Cl₄- and a Cl₆-OH-PCB congener in liver cytosol or microsomes derived from adult polar bears and detected the

formation of SO₄-PCB. The discovery of a large number (i.e. 51) of SO₄-PCBs, including many highly chlorinated SO₄-PCB congeners (i.e. Cl₅ through Cl₈), in polar bear serum is an intriguing observation, especially considering the emerging evidence implicating adverse health outcomes of SO₄-PCBs in mammalian models (e.g. high binding affinity to transthyretin⁸⁰).

Class 1.4: Hydroxylated PCB Sulfates: OH-SO4-PCBs, [C12SO5ClnH9-n]⁻, n=3-7

OH-SO₄-PCBs have not been detected previously in environmental samples. Here 42 peaks were detected by Nt-HRMS in both pooled polar bear serum samples that fit the empirical formula for Cl₃- through to Cl₈-OH-SO₄-PCBs (**Figure 5-6.1**, **Table 5-6**).

MS² experiments were performed for all prospective Cl₅-OH-SO₄-PCB congener peaks in polar bear (**Figure 5-6.2**), but no authentic standards were available. Consistent with a **Class 1.3** SO₄-PCB core structure, all congeners showed neutral loss of SO₃ from the molecular ion, and several showed continued loss of HCl or CO. We also observed loss of the fifth oxygen at CO for the most abundant congener (congener 6, **Figure 5-6.2**), which is consistent with the presence of an OH group as we observed for **Class 1.1** OH-PCBs. Therefore, this class of non-target analytes was identified as OH-SO₄-PCBs. The possibility of this class being isobaric SO₄-PCDEs was considered but ruled out because the biphenyl C-C bond was not cleaved in MS², even when all oxygen atoms had been lost (i.e. Congener 6, **Figure 5-6.2**). A confidence level "CL=3" was therefore assigned for this class (**Table 5-6**).

We are only aware of two reports of OH-SO₄-PCBs in the literature,^{76, 81} and both were for laboratory studies where rats were exposed to PCB 3⁸¹ or PCB 11:⁷⁶ two PCB 3 metabolites in urine⁸¹ and one PCB 11 metabolite in bile⁷⁶ were tentatively identified as OH-SO₄-PCBs. Thus, the novelty of this Nt-HRMS discovery lies not only in the large number (i.e.42) of OH-SO₄-PCBs detected, but also the detection of a large number of highly chlorinated congeners (i.e. Cl₅-through Cl₈-) that have never been observed in samples, nor in any experimental work that we are aware of.

Class 1.5: Hydroxylated Methylsulfone PCBs, OH-MeSO₂-PCBs, [C₁₃SO₃Cl_nH_{11-n}]⁻, n=3-8

OH-MeSO₂-PCBs have not been detected previously in environmental samples, but here 45 peaks were detected in both pooled samples that fit the empirical formula for Cl₃- through to Cl₈-OH-SO₂CH₃-PCBs (**Figure 5-7.1**, **Table 5-6**).

MS² analyses were performed for all prospective Cl₆-OH-SO₂CH₃-PCB congeners, but no authentic standards were available. MS² spectra (**Figure 5-7.2**) were more complex than for other PCB metabolites, but most unknown congeners showed an initial diagnostic loss of SO₂CH₂, demonstrating the methylsulfone functionality, and the third oxygen atom was typically lost as CO, consistent with an OH-PCB core structure. We generally characterized the MS² fragmentation of all unknown congeners as [M-SR-mHCl-nCO]⁻, where SR=SO₂CH₂, •SO₂CH₃, SOCH₂, •SOCH₃, SCH₂, or •SCH₃, and m=0-2 and n=0-2. The •SOCH₃ or SOCH₂ loss is produced by -SO₂CH₃ rearranging to -OS(O)CH₃ in the mass spectrometer, a commonly observed rearrangement. In previous GC-MS work, the electron ionization spectra of two Cl₅-OH-SO₂CH₃-PCB authentic standards⁸⁷ showed fragmentation pattern that is consistent with the current analytes, specifically the loss of 114 amu (i.e. SO₂CH₃Cl) and 177 amu (i.e. SO₂CH₃COCl₂).

Taking the evidence together, this class of non-target analytes was identified as OH-SO₂CH₃-PCBs (CL=3, **Table 5-6**). Positions of MeSO₂- and OH substitutions are uncertain, but the observation of m/z=94.98 [SO₃CH₃]⁻ for congeners 2-5 probably indicates proximity between the neutral SO₂CH₃ group and the hydroxyl oxygen, which could align to form a 6-membered ring if they were in adjacent positions of the same phenyl (**Figure 5-7.2**). The absence of this particular fragment for congener 1, on the other hand, may indicate a larger distance between the MeSO₂- and OH for this congener (e.g. in different rings), which might also explain the greater polarity and shorter retention time of congener 1.

The only report of OH-MeSO₂-PCBs was in human lung and adipose tissues collected from Yusho patients,⁸⁷ where a few peaks were proposed as Cl₄-Cl₆ OH-MeSO₂-PCBs using low resolution GC-MS, but no confirmation of the formula by HRMS was made, and none of these matched authentic standards that were available.

Class 1.6: Di-hydroxylated Methylsulfone PCBs, DiOH-MeSO₂-PCBs, [C₁₃SO₄Cl_nH_{11-n}]⁻, n=2-7

To our knowledge, DiOH-SO₂CH₃-PCBs have never been reported in any sample or experimental situation. Here 22 peaks were detected in both pooled serum samples that fit the empirical formula of Cl₂- through to Cl₇-DiOH-SO₂CH₃-PCBs (**Figure 5-8.1**, **Table 5-6**).

MS² analyses were run for all prospective Cl₄- (Figure 5-8.2a) and Cl₆- (Figure 5-8.2b) congeners in the Hudson Bay sample, but no authentic standards were available. Similar to Class 1.5 OH-MeSO₂-PCBs discussed above, the general fragmentation for both Cl₄ and Cl₆ unknowns was [M-SR-mHCl-nCO]⁻, where SR=SO₂CH₂, •SO₂CH₃, SOCH₂, •SOCH₃, or •SCH₃, m=0-3 and n=0-2. The conclusion that this class has one more hydroxyl than 1.5 OH-MeSO₂-PCBs was drawn not only from exact mass and molecular formula predictions, but from observation of an additional neutral loss of the fourth oxygen atom as CO. This is shown in Figure 5-8.2a for Cl₄ congeners (i.e. m/z=155.95 [C₇Cl₂H₃]•⁻ formed from m/z=183.95 [C₈Cl₂H₃O]• after sequentially loss of SO₃CH₂ and OH), and in Figure 5-8.2b for Cl₆ congeners (i.e. m/z=331.9 [M-SO₂CH₃-2HCl-2CO]⁻). The alternate possibility that these non-target analytes were isobaric congeners of OH-SO₂CH₃-PCDEs was ruled out by the MS² spectra, whereby all oxygen atoms could be lost without breaking the biphenyl structure. Thus, this class was confirmed at DiOH-SO₂CH₃-PCBs (CL=3, Table 5-6).

Class 1.7: PCB Sulfonates, SO₃-PCBs [C₁₂SO₃Cl_nH_{9-n}]⁻, n=3-6

To the best of our knowledge, PCBs with sulfonate or sulfonic acid substitution have not been reported previously in environmental samples, nor in experimental studies. Here, 21 peaks were detected in both pooled samples that fit the empirical formula of Cl₃- through to Cl₆-SO₃-PCBs (**Figure 5-9.1**, **Table 5-6**).

 MS^2 experiments were performed for all prospective Cl₄ congeners in the Hudson Bay serum sample (**Figure 5-9.2**). Characteristic neutral loss of SO₂ (i.e. *m/z*=304.91) was observed for each congener, which is analogous to fragmentation of alkylbenzenesulfonates.⁸⁸ Moreover, for the most abundant congeners (congeners 1, 2 and 6, **Figure 5-9.2**), diagnostic intact [SO₃]⁻ and [SO₃Cl]⁻ ions were observed, confirming the presence of sulfonate functionality. These two fragments are also analogous to [SO₃]⁻ and [SO₃F]⁻, two diagnostic fragments for PFASs.⁸⁹ While also considering neutral loss of HCl from the abundant congeners (**Figure 5-9.2**) the SO₃-PCB structure was therefore assigned for this class of non-target analytes (CL=3, **Table 5-6**).

5.3.4 Group 2. Other Polychlorinated Compounds

Class 2.1: Chlorinated Aromatic Compounds, [C₈Cl_nH₇-nO]⁻, n=6 and 7

A Cl₆- and a Cl₇- analytes with the general molecular formula C₈Cl_nH_{7-n}O⁻ were detected in

both serum samples (Figure 5-10). The high double bond equivalent (i.e. DBE=5) of the predicted formulae, and the high stability of the molecular structure (i.e. no C-C cleavage, even under very high HCD energy of 145 eV, Figure 5-10) suggested an aromatic structure. Both analytes showed neutral loss of Cl_2 , and the Cl_6 - analyte also showed neutral loss of HCl in MS² experiments. Overall, this suggests hydroxyl-chlorostyrene as the most probably structure (CL=3, Figure 5-10, Table 5-6).

It is noteworthy that 4-hydroxylated heptachlorostyrene (4-OH-HpCS) was previously detected in the plasma of fish,⁹⁰ humans,⁹¹ ringed seald⁹² and of polar bears,⁹² and is believed to be a metabolite of the industrial byproduct octachlorostyrene.⁹⁰⁻⁹² The molecular formula of the Cl₇- non-target analyte detected here is consistent with 4-OH-HpCS. In polar bears, 4-OH-HpCS presents at 5-216 times higher levels than octachlorostyrene,⁹² and to our knowledge, no Cl₆-hydroxylchlorostyrene has been reported in any sample yet.

Class 2.2: Chlorinated (Iso)Quinoline Sulfonates, [C₉Cl_nH₆-nNSO₃]⁻, n=5 and 6

Two Cl₅- and one Cl₆- non-target analytes were detected in both pooled polar bear serum samples that fit the molecular formula of C₉Cl_nH_{6-n}NSO₃⁻ (**Figure 5-11**). The high DBE value (i.e. 7) and the high stability of the nitrogen-containing C₈ core molecular structure under high fragmentation energy (e.g. HCD145) suggested an N-heterocyclic aromatic structure (i.e. quinoline or isoquinoline). In MS² analyses of the Cl₅- and Cl₆- major congeners, the sulfur atom was lost as $[M-SO_2]^-$ or $[M-SO_3]^-$ for both, and weak $[SO_3Cl]^-$ and $[SO_3]^-$ fragments were observed for the major Cl₅- congener, indicating a sulfonate functional group. The structure for this class was therefore proposed as chlorinated (iso)quinoline sulfonates with a confidence level of "3" (**Table 5-6**). We are not aware of such analytes being reported previously in any sample.

Fluorinated quinolines have been used in agriculture, in liquid crystals, cyanine dyes and pharmaceutics.⁹³⁻⁹⁵ One of the most common methods to synthesize fluorinated quinolones is the displacement of chlorine substituents in highly chlorinated quinolines with fluorine.^{93, 96, 97} The three non-target analytes discovered in both serum samples may originated from this industrial process.

Class 2.3: Tetrachlorinated Aromatic Sulfate, [C14Cl4H7SO4]⁻

The molecular formula of a single non-target analyte was confirmed as $[C_{14}Cl_4H_7SO_4]^-$, and MSⁿ experiments were performed to explore molecular structure (Figure 5-12). The fragment [M-SO₃]⁻ and subsequent sequential losses of HCl and CO, as was observed for SO₄-PCBs (**Class 1.3**), indicated an aromatic sulfate structure. Multiple structures, including SO₄-DDE, are possible (CL=3, **Figure 5-12**, **Table 5-6**). It is noteworthy that DDE is among the most abundant environmental POPs,⁹⁸⁻¹⁰⁰ and the molecular formula of the non-target analyte detected here is consistent with a DDE-sulfate (SO₄-DDE). SO₄-DDE has not been reported previously, but methyl sulfone DDE (MeSO₂-DDEs⁹⁹) was detected in polar bears,^{101, 102} and hydroxylated DDE isomers (OH-DDEs) were reported in sea birds and seals.⁷² Further studies using an authentic standard are needed to further identify this metabolite.

Class 2.4: Heptachlorinated Hydroxylated Nitroaromatic Compounds [C₁₄Cl₇H₅NO₆]⁻ and [C₁₄Cl₇H₇NO₆]⁻

Two non-target Cl₇- analytes with the molecular formula $C_{14}Cl_7H_5NO_6^-$ (Figure 5-13a) and $C_{14}Cl_7H_7NO_6^-$ (Figure 5-13b) were detected in both serum samples. Losses of $\cdot NO_2$, $\cdot NO$ and/or HNO₂ from both analytes in MS² experiments are highly characteristic of nitroaromatic structures.¹⁰³⁻¹⁰⁵ The DBE values of 9 and 8 indicated that at most two and one phenyl rings are allowed in the $C_{14}Cl_7H_5NO_6^-$ and $C_{14}Cl_7H_7NO_6^-$ molecular structures, respectively. The common fragmentation patterns for both compounds include consecutive neutral HCl losses, followed by up to two CO losses, suggesting the presence of at least two phenolic hydroxyl groups in both analytes. Taken together, the structure for these two analytes was assigned as hydroxylated nitroaromatics with a confidence level of "3" (Table 5-6). Despite that the exact structures remain unknown, nitroaromatics are characterized as persistent, acutely toxic, mutagenic and carcinogenic; and their oxidized and reduced products can also cause DNA damage.¹⁰⁶ We note that a hydroxylated nitro-PCDE is also a theoretically possible structure for $C_{14}Cl_7H_5NO_6^-$. Some legacy herbicides are nitro-PCDEs (e.g. nitrofen),¹⁰⁷ which can be metabolized to hydroxylated nitro-PCDEs.¹⁰⁸

Class 2.5: Hexachlorinated compounds: [C15Cl6H13O5]⁻ and [C15Cl6H15O3]⁻

Two non-target ions detected in both serum samples fit to the molecular formula $C_{15}Cl_6H_{13}O_5^-$ (2 peaks, **Figure 5-14**a) and $C_{15}Cl_6H_{15}O_3^-$ (1 peak, **Figure 5-14**b), which were the only possible formula predictions when allowing reasonable atom numbers (i.e. 6 Cl, 0-100 C, 0-100 H, 0-1 N, 0-10 O and 0-1 P). Sequential HCl loss was observed for all 3 analytes in MS² spectra at low collision energy, with loss of CO₂ being observed for the major $C_{15}Cl_6H_{13}O_5^-$ peak,

suggestive of a carboxylate moiety. No stable fragments could be obtained at higher fragmentation energies, hindering further structural characterization. No structure therefore could be proposed for these three analytes, and thus a confidence level of "4" was assigned (**Table 5-6**).

5.3.5 Group 3. Perfluoroalkyl Sulfonates (PFSAs)

Class 3.1: Cyclic or Unsaturated PFSAs, [CnF2n-1SO3], n=8-10

A homologous class of analytes was discovered by in-source fragmentation flagging based on $[SO_3]^-$ and $[SO_3F]^-$ peaks in both samples which corresponded to molecular ions of PFSAs with 8-10 carbon atoms, but with 2 fewer F atoms (**Figure 5-15.1**). Multiple partially resolved isomers were observed for each carbon chain length-homologues, and at least 8 non-target analytes were discovered in this class based on the combined chromatographic and fragmentation behavior. In MS² experiments, $[SO_3]^-$ and $[SO_3F]^-$ were produced (**Figure 5-15.2**), consistent with in-source fragmentation behavior. Diagnostic perfluoroalkenyl ion fragments (e.g. $C_5F_9^-$, $C_8F_{15}^-$) were observed for all isomers, indicating a ring or double-bond in the core structure.

No authentic unsaturated PFSA standard is currently available, but we examined the only cyclic PFSA standard available, 4-PFECHS. In MS² experiments, 4-PFECHS produced perfluoroalkenyl fragment ions as well as [SO₃F]⁻ (Figure 5-15.3a). However, it did not yield a [SO₃]⁻ fragment which is characteristic of sulfonates, possibly because the sulfonate group is connected to a tertiary carbon. For example, the $[SO_3]^-$ fragment is also absent in the MS² spectrum of 1-perfluoromethyl-PFOS (Figure 5-15.3b). Thus, C8-homologue isomer 2 (and possibly also isomer 4) in the polar bear serum could either be a cyclic PFSA, where SO₃ is directly connected to the ring, or an α -branched unsaturated PFSA (example structures are shown in Figure 5-15.2). In contrast, isomer 1 and 3 are probably cyclic or unsaturated PFSAs with a secondary a-carbon. None of the non-target analytes matched 4-PFECHS, but isomer 2 is possibly 2- or 3-PFECHS, since its retention time and MS² behavior was similar to an unknown isomer present in the 4-PFECHS standard. This class of analytes were proposed as unsaturated or cyclic PFSAs, thus with a confidence level of "3" (Table 5-6). We also detected residual C₈- (8 isomers) and C₉- (3 isomers) homologues in a historical commercial PFOS standard from 3M Co. (denoted as "3M-PFOS' hereafter, Figure 5-15.1), but none of the C8- isomers matched those in polar bear serum.

We are unaware of any previous reports of unsaturated PFSAs in any biological sample, but in total 5 cyclic PFSAs have been previously reported in waters,^{109, 110} sediment,¹¹¹ amphipods¹¹⁰ and in fish from the Great Lakes¹⁰⁹ or St. Lawrence River.¹¹² Among them, 4-PFECHS¹⁰⁹⁻¹¹³ and perfluoro-4-methylcyclohexanesulfonate (4-PFMeCHS)¹⁰⁹ were structurally confirmed. Multiple unsaturated or cyclic PFSA isomers with 4-13 carbons were reported in 3M commercial products,¹¹⁴ and in concrete impacted by AFFF.¹¹⁵ We also reported C₇-C₁₄ unsaturated or cyclic PFASs in fish from Chinese waters in **Chapter 4**.

Class 3.2: Ether-PFSAs, [C_nF_{2n+1}SO₄]⁻, n=6-9

Here a homologous group of analytes was discovered by in-source fragmentation flagging based on $[SO_3]^-$, $[SO_3F]^-$ and $[C_2F_5O]^-$ peaks in both samples that corresponded to molecular ions of PFSAs with 6-9 carbons, but with an extra oxygen atom (**Figure 5-16.1**). Multiple isomers were evident for each carbon chain-length homologue, with at least 11 isomers resolved by retention time and fragmentation behavior. Further MS² structure elucidation was performed with two C₇ isomers (**Figure 5-16.2**), showing characteristic $[SO_3]^-$, $[SO_3F]^-$ and perfluoroalkyl (e.g. $[C_2F_5]^-$) fragments, as well as diagnostic perfluoroalkoxy fragments (e.g. $[C_2F_5O]^-$) indicating the presence of an ether linkage.¹¹⁶ Based on the available evidence, these non-target analytes were identified as ether-PFSAs with a confidence level of "3" (**Table 5-6**). We also detected residual C₈- (3 isomers) and C₉-homologues (5 isomers) in the 3M-PFOS. Only the major C₈ isomer in polar bear sample had enough sensitivity for MS² analysis, and which is probably of the same chemical identity as the major C₈ isomer in the 3M-PFOS standard, judged by retention time and MS² fragmentation spectra. Industrial PFOS and other PFSA products may therefore be unrecognized sources of ether-PFASs in the environment and wildlife.

With the knowledge that a fluorochemical production facility was producing Nafion, Strynar *et al.*¹¹⁷ tentatively proposed a C₆ analyte detected in water sample downstream of the facility as a dietherfluoroalkyl sulfonate (CF₃CHFOCF₂C(CF₃)OC₂F₄SO₃⁻) only by matching the exact *m/z*. Another report of ether-PFSA was a C₆ analyte detected in serum samples from AFFF-exposed firefighters,³¹ which was proposed as CF₃OC₅F₁₀SO₃⁻ based on MS² spectrum. C₇-C₁₄ ether PFSAs were also detected in fish livers in **Chapter 4**.

Class 3.3: Enol-Ether- or Cyclic-Ether- or Carbonyl-PFSAs, [CnF2n-1SO4]-, n=7-9

Similar to the Class 3.2 ether-PFSAs, another homologous group of analytes was

discovered through in-source $[SO_3F]^-$, $[C_3F_5]^-$ and $[C_4F_7]^-$ peaks (Figure 5-17.1). These fragments corresponded to molecular ions of PFSAs with 7-9 carbons, but with 2 fewer F atoms and an extra oxygen atom. Multiple isomers were observed for each homologue, and at least 12 isomers were discovered for this class.

 MS^2 analyses were performed with all C₈- isomers (Figure 5-17.2), and $[SO_3]^-$, $[SO_3F]^$ and perfluoroalkenyl fragments (e.g. $[C_4F_7]^-$) for all isomers indicated a core-structure consistent with PFSAs. Neutral $C_nF_{2n}O$ loss (i.e. leaving $C_7F_{13}SO_3^-$ and $C_6F_{11}SO_3^-$) and perfluoroalkenyl fragments were commonly observed. This, along with DBE=1, makes three structures possible: (1) Cyclic ether-PFSAs; neutral CH2O loss is characteristic of cyclic ethers in electron ionization¹¹⁸ and collision-activated dissociation¹¹⁹ in GC-MS. It is possible that similar fragmentation may occur for a perfluorinated cyclic ether-PFSA. (2) Unsaturated ether-PFSAs, in other words a structural combination of the above Classes 5.3.5.1 and 5.3.5.2. Perfluoroalkoxy fragments are usually expected for perfluoroalkyl ethers,^{116, 117} but no such fragments were observed for any C8- isomer here, possibly indicating an enol ether structure whereby the proximal double bond may weaken the production of a perfluoroalkoxy fragment. (3) Carbonyl-PFSAs. The $C_6F_{11}SO_3^-$ fragment for isomer 6 could be formed via neutral cleavage of a CF₃C(O)- terminal group. The ion $C_7F_{13}SO_3^-$ produced for most of the other isomers in this class indicates loss of carbonyl fluoride (COF₂) which could be due to a terminal acid fluoride moiety. However, we believe it unlikely that such a compound would be hydrolytically stable under our alkali mobile phase condition, not to mention persistent enough to be present in polar bears. Multiple structures are possible, and a confidence level "3" was assigned for this homologous class (Table 5-6). Residual C₈F₁₅SO₄⁻ and C₉F₁₇SO₄⁻ were also detected in the 3M-PFOS industrial standard. Three C₈- isomers (i.e. isomer 1, 4 and 6, Figure 5-17.2) detected in polar bear serum samples matched the retention times and MS² spectra of three C₈ isomers detected in the 3M-PFOS. The detection of this class of non-target analytes in polar bears may therefore be from industrial PFSA products, including PFOS.

There are no previous reports of cyclic-ether-PFSAs. A C₆-analyte detected in water downstream of a fluorochemical production facility was proposed as an enol-ether-PFSA ($CF_2=CFOCF_2C(CF_3)OC_2F_4SO_3^-$), but the only evidence presented was the accurate mass.¹¹⁷ Based on MS² spectra, homologous compounds (C₄-C₁₃) detected in concrete that had been impacted by AFFF¹¹⁵ and a C₈ analyte (i.e. CF₃C(O)C₆F₁₂SO₃⁻) detected in AFFF-exposed firefighters' serum samples were tentatively proposed as ketone-PFSAs (i.e. carbonyl-PFSAs). This homologous of compounds (C_6 - C_{13}) were also detected in fish livers in **Chapter 4**.

Class 3.4: x:2 Chlorine Substituted Perfluoroalkyl Ether Sulfonates, x:2 Cl-PFAESs, [ClCnF2nSO4]⁻, n=6-8

Here, a homologous class of non-target analytes was discovered by in-source fragmentation flagging of $[C1]^-$ peaks in the Beaufort Sea pooled serum sample (**Figure 5-18.1**), and the general formula was proposed as $ClC_nF_{2n}SO_4^-$ (where n=6-8). Only one isomer was observed for each chain-length homologue, and more homologues were detected in the Beaufort Sea sample (C₆-C₈) than in the Hudson Bay sample (C₈).

 MS^2 analyses were performed for the C₈ homologue in the Beaufort Sea serum sample (Figure 5-18.2) and for an authentic industrial standard of F-53B (CCIF₂C₅F₁₀OC₂F₄SO₃⁻), which shares the same empirical formula with the non-target C₈ homologue. Retention time (Figure 5-18.1) and MS^2 spectrum (Figure 5-18.2) of the unknown C₈ homologue in the Beaufort Sea sample matched with the C₈ homologue of the F-53B standard. Residual C₆-C₁₀ chain-length homologues were also detected in the F-53B standard (Figure 5-18.1). Retention times of the C₆ and C₇ homologues in the Beaufort Sea serum sample also matched with the C₆ and C₇ analytes in the F-53B standard. Thus, the structure for the non-target C₈ homologue in the Beaufort Sea serum sample was identified as 6:2 terminal chlorine substituted perfluoroalkyl ether sulfonate (6:2 CI-PFAES) with a confidence level of "1", and the non-target C₆ and C₇ analytes in the Beaufort Sea sample were assigned as 4:2 and 5:2 CI-PFAESs with a confidence level of "2" (Figure 5-18.1).

F-53B is a mist suppressant used in the chrome plating industry in China since the late 1970s,^{121, 122} and 6:2, 8:2 and 10:2 Cl-PFAESs have been detected in different areas of China.¹²²⁻¹²⁸ We also detected 5:2-10:2 and 12:2 homologues in fish from China in **Chapter 4**. A recent study reported 6:2 Cl-PFAES in Greenland ringed seals and polar bear.¹²⁸ Here, we detected 6:2 Cl-PFAES in both polar bear serum samples, and, for the first time, report 4:2 and 5:2 Cl-PFAESs in polar bears (Beaufort Sea).

6:2 Cl-PFAES is usually present at comparable or higher levels than PFOS.¹²³⁻¹²⁷ It has a stronger bioaccumulation potential than PFOS (e.g. log-transformed bioaccumulation factor was 4.3 in crucian carps, in contrast to 3.3 for PFOS¹²⁵), and has been described as "the most bio-

persistent PFAS in humans reported to date" (median half-life 18.5 yrs¹²⁷). In addition, 6:2 l-PFAES has been shown to be associated with acute toxicity,¹²³ embryo-toxicity and cardiac development disrupting effects¹²⁹ in zebrafish.

5.4 Summary and Significance

5.4.1 Summary of Discoveries

By combining a sensitive SBSE extraction step to non-target HPLC-Orbitrap MSⁿ, we detected 16 classes of organohalogen compounds comprising at least 317 non-target analytes in two pooled polar bear serum samples (**Table 5-6**). Although many of these analytes may represent more than one co-eluting isomer, and most will require confirmation of exact molecular structure with authentic standards (which are not currently available), 15 of these classes (314 peaks) could be confidently assigned a core structure based on various mass spectral evidence (i.e. with a confidence level of 1-3).

Considering all historic contaminant biomonitoring studies in polar bears, at least 268 analytes are reported for the first time here. This includes 215 analytes belonging to 9 newly discovered classes in polar bear (51 SO₄-PCBs, 42 OH-SO₄-PCBs, 45 OH-MeSO₂-PCBs, 22 DiOH-MeSO₂-PCBs, 21 SO₃-PCBs, 3 chlorinated quinoline/isoquinoline sulfate, 8 cyclic or unsaturated PFSAs, 11 ether-PFSAs and 12 enol-ether-,cyclic-ether- or carbonyl-PFSAs) as well as 52 novel analytes that can be categorized into 3 previously detected classes in polar bear (14 OH-PCBs, 36 DiOH-PCBs and two x:2 Cl-PFAESs).

Considering all historic environmental monitoring and biomonitoring, as well as analysis of industrial or commercial materials, 209 analytes are reported here for the first time, including 46 analytes in 3 new contaminant classes (22 DiOH-MeSO₂-PCBs, 21 SO₃-PCBs and 3 chlorinated quinoline/isoquinoline sulfate) and 162 novel contaminants in 7 previously reported contaminant classes (31 DiOH-PCBs, 48 SO₄-PCBs, 42 OH-SO₄-PCBs, 30 OH-MeSO₂-PCBs, 10 ether-PFSAs and one x:2 Cl-PFAES).

5.4.2 Concentration Estimation

For each non-target homologue or congener class discovered in the current study,

combined isomer concentration was estimated by assuming the same molar unit response as structurally similar authentic standard (**Table 5-7**), and the molar concentrations (i.e. molar/mL) were further transformed back into mass concentration (i.e. ng/mL). Specifically, all poly/perchlorinated non-targets were semi-quantified using averaged responses of all OH-PCB and SO₄-PCB standards available in the current study, because they produced similar unit response, regardless of different degree of chlorination. Each non-target PFSA homologue was semi-quantified against the calibration curve of the same carbon chain-length legacy PFSA (e.g. C_8 -ether PFSA quantified by PFOS), except x:2 Cl-PFAES, where the whole class was quantified by 6:2 Cl-PFAES standard.

Among the 7 classes of PCB metabolites, the estimated total concentration follows OH-MeSO₂-PCB (90.1 ng/mL) > OH-PCB (26.3 ng/mL) > SO₄-PCB (13.5 ng/mL) > OH-SO₄-PCB (4.2 ng/mL) > DiOH-PCB (3.1 ng/mL) > DiOH-MeSO₂-PCB (2.6 ng/mL) > SO₃-PCB (1.3 ng/mL) in the Hudson Bay sample, and OH-MeSO₂-PCB (55.0 ng/mL) > OH-PCB (6.7 ng/mL) > SO₄-PCB (4.5 ng/mL) > DiOH-MeSO₂-PCB (1.2 ng/mL) > OH-SO₄-PCB (0.8 ng/mL) > DiOH-MeSO₂-PCB (1.2 ng/mL) > OH-SO₄-PCB (0.8 ng/mL) > DiOH-PCB (0.6 ng/mL) > SO₃-PCB (0.5 ng/mL) for the Beaufort Sea sample (**Table 5-7**, **Figure 5-19**). MeSO₂-PCB, OH-PCB and SO₄-PCB are the three major PCB metabolite classes in both samples, account for 92% and 96% of total PCB metabolites in the Hudson Bay and Beaufort Sea sample. Only OH-PCBs and DiOH-PCBs were measured in polar bears, and OH-PCBs were thought to be the dominant metabolite class in serum.^{60-62, 92, 130} Here, the new OH-MeSO₂-PCB class dominates in both samples, presenting at 3.4 and 8.2 times higher levels than OH-PCBs and accounting for 64% and 80% of all measured PCB metabolites in the Hudson Bay and Beaufort Sea sample, respectively (**Figure 5-20**).

Among the 5 classes of other polychlorinated compounds, Class 2 and Class 2.3 presented at relatively high levels (Table 5-7, Figure 5-19), with hydroxyl-chlorostyrene and SO₄-DDE being among the possible structures, respectively. Compared to legacy PFSAs, the discovered non-target PFSAs presented at relatively low levels (<0.2 ng/mL, Figure 5-19).

5.4.3 Toxicological Implications

There is little or no toxicological information for the majority of analytes detected here, but it is important to consider that all were found circulating in blood serum of polar bears. The
presence of contaminants in serum opens the possibility that they exert adverse physiological effects. For example, OH-PCBs, SO₄-PCBs and 4-OH-HpCS bind to serum proteins such as albumin¹³¹ or transthyretin, which in turn can affect thyroid homeostasis.^{80, 92, 131-134} Classic PFSAs (e.g. PFOS) also have a high affinity for serum protein, including albumin.¹³⁵ It is likely that the PCB metabolites and PFSAs discovered in the current study also bind to serum proteins. Additionally, almost all of the chlorinated chemicals discovered here contain an aromatic structure (**Class 2.5** structures are unclear) which are either formed via or can undergo bioactivation to reactive intermediates, such as epoxide, (semi)quinone or radical intermediates, that can covalently bind to DNA, RNA or proteins.¹¹ Moreover, nitroaromatics and both of their reductive and oxidative products are associated with mutagenic or carcinogenic toxicities.¹⁰⁶

An initial QSAR assessment was therefore performed for each non-target chlorinated class to estimate their toxicities (no relevant data available for estimating fluorinated contaminant toxicities), and plausible representative structures were used as input for each class. Among the multiple possible structures for each of the Group 2 chlorinated chemical class, only the structure relating to legacy chlorinated contaminants were tested (e.g. SO₄-DDE for Class 2.3). For PCB metabolites, representative structures for each class were proposed based on historical reports. Among historically reported mono-substituted PCB metabolites, 11, 21, 57-62, 65-73, 75, 77, 78, 81, ⁸⁷ para- (i.e. 4 or 4') and meta- (i.e. 3 or 3'/5 or 5') substituted metabolites usually dominate, while ortho- (i.e. 2 or 2'/6 or 6') substituted ones are minor metabolites. Therefore, para- and meta-, para-/para-, para-/meta- and meta-/meta-, and para-/para-/meta-, para-/meta- and meta-/meta-/meta- substitution was taken as representative for PCB metabolites with 1, 2 and 3 functional groups, respectively. Among the few DiOH-PCBs previously reported in surface water⁶⁶ and sediments,⁶⁸ lake trout,⁷¹ birds,⁶⁰ polar bears^{21, 57, 60-62} and humans,^{11, 61} all have one OH group on each phenyl ring.^{11, 21, 57, 60-62, 66, 68, 71} However, in OH-PCB exposed rats studies^{136,} ¹³⁷ or *in vitro* CYP isoenzyme incubation study,¹³⁸ catechol-PCBs (e.g. *para-/meta-*) were usually detected. Therefore, both situation will be considered for representative PCB metabolites with 2-3 functional groups. The extent of chlorination for PCB metabolites was set at 6 because the Cl₆-congeners were almost always among the major congeners in each of the 7 PCB metabolite classes (Table 5-7).

For all mono-substituted PCB metabolites and most DiOH-PCBs, the 96 h fathead minnow LC_{50} values were lower than the LC_{50} of the respective parent compound (**Table 5-5**), indicating

higher toxicity for the polar metabolite. When compared to OH-PCBs, most of metabolites, including the dominant OH-MeSO₂-PCBs, showed a higher toxicity. For other chlorinated aromatics, the more polar metabolites usually have a higher LC_{50} value than their neutral parent compounds. As expected, the tetrachlorinated hydroxylated nitroaromatic compound (**Class 2.4**) was estimated to have a much higher toxicity than other chlorinated contaminants. All metabolites, except for 4-OH-HpCS, were estimated to possess some developmental toxicity, whereas their parent chemicals were usually classified as non-developmental toxicant.

5.4.4 PCB Biotransformation Pathways

Grimm *et al.*,¹¹ Dhakal *et al.*⁷⁵ and Letcher *et al.*¹³⁹ previously summarized PCB biotransformation pathways, including OH-PCBs, DiOH-PCBs, SO₄-PCBs and MeSO₂-PCBs, OH-SO₄-PCBs, PCB-glucuronide conjugates (OGA-PCBs), OH-OGA-PCBs, SO₄-OGA-PCBs, mercapturic acids and OH-mercapturic acids. Here we adapt and expand the schemes by considering the new classes of PCB metabolites discovered here using a representative Cl₆-PCB congener (**Figure 5-20**).⁷⁵

Only OH-PCBs and DiOH-PCBs were previously reported in polar bears, and the new mixed class of OH-SO₄-PCBs, as detected in PCB 3 exposed rats,⁷⁵ can be formed via sulfonation of a DiOH-PCB or by hydroxylation of a SO₄-PCB.⁷⁶ The other mixed metabolite classes, OH-MeSO₂-PCBs and the DiOH-MeSO₂-PCBs are likely formed via (successive) hydroxylation of MeSO₂-PCBs. Up to 50 congeners of MeSO₂-PCBs have been reported in various samples including polar bears,¹¹ making this suggestion feasible. The pathway leading to formation of the novel SO₃-PCB class is not clear, and requires further studies. However, sulfonic acid metabolites were previously reported for some compounds in environmental samples (e.g. chloroacetanilide herbicides in water¹⁴⁰ and soil¹⁴¹⁻¹⁴⁵) or in rats (e.g. menthofuran,¹⁴⁶ andrographolide¹⁴⁷ N-[4-chloro-2-fluoro-5-[(1-methyl-2and propynyl)oxy]phenyl]-3,4,5,6-tetrahydrophalimide¹⁴⁸), and the SO₃ is either added to a double bond¹⁴⁶⁻¹⁴⁸ or to replace a chlorine atom.¹⁴⁰⁻¹⁴⁵ With PCBs having unsaturated bonds and chlorine atoms, based on the above studies we can propose the following two possible pathways (red arrows in Figure 5-20): (1) Pathway 1 involves glutathione (GSH), which reacts with PCBs^{141,} ^{145, 149, 150} or PCB epoxides,^{11, 75, 150} and the resultant GSH-PCBs are successively transformed to cysteine PCB conjugates and PCB thiols.^{141, 145, 148, 149} While some SH-PCBs can further be

oxidized to MeSO₂-PCBs,^{11, 75} some may have undergone oxidation to form SO₃-PCBs (2) Pathway 2 would be mostly mediated by gut flora, which reduces SO_4^{2-} in polar bears from direct environmental exposure, or indirectly from organosulfur compound oxidization (e.g. cysteine and GSH can be metabolized to SO_4^{2-} in mammals¹⁵¹) to SO_3H^- , and adds to PCBs. In the above three rat studies, the sulfonic acid metabolites were detected urine,^{146, 147} faeces¹⁴⁸ and/or small intestine contents,¹⁴⁷ but not in bile,¹⁴⁶⁻¹⁴⁸ suggesting that SO₃H-addition probably happens in the small intestine.^{146, 148}

No glucuronide-conjugates (compound I-III in Figure 5-20) or mercapturic acids (compound IV and V) were detected in the current study. OGA-PCBs (compound I) was previously reported as minor metabolites in urine samples from PCB 3 exposed rats (not detected in serum),^{75, 76} and were detected in *in vitro* incubation studies with microsomes derived from rats,¹⁵² catfish¹⁵³ and polar bears.¹⁵⁴ Minor OH-OGA-PCBs (compound II) and SO₄-OGA-PCBs (compound III) were reported in urine, but not serum, from PCB 3 exposed rats.⁷⁵ Non-detect of any glucuronide metabolites either indicates their low abundance in polar bear serum, or because the SBSE method has poor recovery for metabolites due to the high water solubility of glucuronic acid. Similar to glucuronide-conjugates, mercapturic acids (compound IV)^{75, 155} and OH-mercapturic acids (compound V) were only detected in urine samples from PCB 3 exposed rats (not detected in serum),⁷⁵ and the absence of such metabolites in the current study might also be attributed to their low concentrations in serum. MeSO₂-PCBs (compound IV, previously detected in polar bears¹³⁹) do not ionize in ESI and therefore would not be detected with the current methodology.

5.4.5 Future Studies

A recent review of temporal trend studies in Arctic biota reported an overall decreasing trend for polychlorinated contaminants (e.g. \sum PCBs, *p*, '*p*-DDE), and increasing trends for perfluorinated (e.g. classic PFSAs) and polybrominated contaminants.¹⁵⁶ However, it is unclear if metabolites follow the same general trends as the parent polychlorinated contaminants, and today the situation is further complicated by climate change. In Greenland, recent climate change is believed to have caused a "levelling-off/moderate increase" in \sum PCBs in polar bears during 2000-2010.¹⁵⁷ Future studies on temporal trends of the discovered chloro- and fluoro-compounds are therefore warranted while also considering spatial differences across the Arctic.

The discovery of a series of new PCB metabolites and other non-target poly/perchlorinated aromatic compounds in polar bears indicates that historical exposure to chlorinated contaminants has been underestimated. The presence of new non-target PFASs also raise questions about whether these PFASs are from historical PFAS exposure or contemporary alternative manufacturing. Toxicological consideration should be given to these novel classes of chemicals, either in future effects-directed analyses or basic toxicology tests. While challenging, understanding the individual- and population-level effects of these new pollutants raises additional concerns for the conservation and management of polar bears.

5.5 Figures and Tables

5.5.1 Figures







Figure 5-2. Fluorine-containing fragments detected by the Orbitrap mass analyzer (each chromatogram is for the theoretical mass of the extracted ion shown ± 5 ppm), and [C1]⁻ fragments detected by the ion trap detector (± 0.5 amu) in in-source fragmentation flagging scans in pooled polar bear serum samples from Western Hudson Bay (solid lines) and Beaufort Sea (dotted lines). The "NL" numbers are the peak height when injecting 20 µL of the SBSE extract (500 µL of polar bear serum equivalent).



Figure 5-3.1. Extracted ion chromatograms of Class 1.1 OH-PCB congeners ($C_{12}OCl_nH_{9-n}$) in the Hudson Bay pooled polar bear serum. The extracted ion chromatograms correspond to theoretical molecular ion ($m/z \pm 5$ ppm) with the lowest isotopic mass (i.e. ions where all chlorine are ³⁵Cl isotopes).

a. Cl ₆ -OH-PCB	8 9 10 11	12	C ₁₂ Cl ₆ H₃O ⁻ m/z=372.83
1. NL: 1.2E2, 372.83@HCD125			C ₁₂ H ₂ OCI ₅ 0.35ppm
2. NL: 1.3E2, 372.83@HCD125			C ₁₂ H ₂ OCI ₅
3. NL: 1.8E2 , 372.83@HCD125			C ₁₂ H ₃ OCl ₆ 2.32ppm
4. NL: 2.2E2 , 372.83@HCD125		C ₁₂ HOCl ₄ 2.62ppm	C ₁₂ H ₂ OCl ₅ 1.84ppm C ₁₂ H ₃ OCl ₆ 1.30ppm
5. NL: 3.6E2 , 372.83@HCD125		C ₁₂ HOCI ₄ 1.63ppm	С ₁₂ H ₂ OCI ₅ С ₁₂ H ₃ OCI ₆ 0.44ppm 0.50ppm
6. NL: 7.3E1 , 372.83@HCD125		h	C ₁₂ H ₃ OCl ₆ 3.20ppm
7. NL: 2.3E2 , 372.83@HCD125		C ₁₂ HOCl ₄ 1.40ppm	C ₁₂ H ₂ OCI ₅ C ₁₂ H ₃ OCI ₆ -1,13ppm -1.26ppm
8. NL: 4.9E3 , 372.83@HCD125	228.88 C ₆ HOCl ₄ 3.24ppm	C ₁₂ HOCI ₄ C ₁₁ H ₂ 2.04ppm > (1.50pt	CI ₁₂ H ₃ OCI ₆ 0.666pm 0.606pm
9. NL: 6.3E2 , 372.83@HCD125		C ₁₂ HOCI ₄ -0.17ppm C ₁₁ H ₂ C 2.35ppn	C ₁₂ H ₂ OCI ₅ C ₁₂ H ₃ OCI ₆ 0.04ppm 1.34ppm
10. NL: 7.8E3 , 372.83@HCD125		300.88 272.88 C ₁₂ HOCl ₄ 308.86 C ₁₁ HCl ₄ 0.84ppm C ₁₁ H ₂ (0.85ppm 0.81pp	C12H2OCI5 C12H2OCI5 C12H3OCI6 C15 C15 C15 C15 C15 C15 C15 C12H3OCI6 0.98ppm
11. NL: 5.0E2 , 372.83@HCD125		C ₁₂ HOCI ₄ C ₁₁ HCI ₄ 2 10ppm C ₁₂ HOCI ₄ 1.33ppm C ₁₁ H ₂ 0.80ppi	$C_{12}H_2OCI_5$ $C_{12}H_3OCI_6$ C_{15} $C_{12}H_3OCI_6$ 1.10ppm
12. NL: 1.2E2 , 372.83@HCD125			C ₁₂ H ₃ OCI ₆ 3.89nom
	00.75		
b. Cl ₉ -OH-PCB	26.75		C ₁₂ Cl ₉ O⁻ m/z=474.714
NL: 2.1E2 , 474.71@HCD125	404.78 C ₆ OCl ₅ 2.14ppm	40 C ₁₂ 1.5	4.78 OCI ₇ 474.714 8ppm C ₁₂ OCI, -CI ₂ 0.13ppm

Figure 5-3.2. MS² spectra (HCD 125 eV) of all Cl₆-OH-PCB (C₁₂OH₃Cl₆⁻, **a**) and Cl₉-OH-PCB congeners (C₁₂OCl₉⁻, **Class 1.1**, **b**) in the Hudson Bay pooled polar bear serum.



Figure 5-3.3. MS² spectra (HCD 125 eV) of four authentic Cl₆-OH-PCB standards (C₁₂OH₄Cl₆, **a**) and of three Cl₇-OH-PCB standards (C₁₂OH₃Cl₇, **b**).



Figure 5-4.1 Extracted ion chromatograms of **Class 1.2** DiOH-PCB congeners ($C_{12}O_2Cl_nH_{9-n}$) in the Hudson Bay pooled polar bear serum. The extracted ion chromatograms corresponds to theoretical molecular ion ($m/z \pm 5$ ppm) with the lowest isotopic mass.



Figure 5-4.2. MS² spectra (HCD 90-125 eV) of selected Cl₅-DiOH-PCB ($C_{12}H_4Cl_5O_2^-$, **a**) and Cl₈-DiOH-PCB congeners ($C_{12}HCl_8O_2^-$, **Class 1.2**, **b**) in the Hudson Bay pooled polar bear serum.



Figure 5-4.3. Extracted ion chromatograms and MS² spectra (HCD 125-180 eV) of 3', 4'-DiOH PCB 3 and of 2', 3'-DiOH PCB 3 standards ($C_{12}H_8O_2Cl^{-}$).



Figure 5-4.4. Extracted ion chromatograms of triclosan $(C_{12}O_2H_6Cl_3)$ in full scan and its fragments in in-source fragmentation scan.

145.87

143.98

124.98

128.90

162.95

164.95



Figure 5-5.1. Extracted ion chromatograms of **Class 1.3** SO₄-PCB congeners ($C_{12}SO_4Cl_nH_{9-n}$) in the Hudson Bay pooled polar bear serum. The extracted ion chromatograms corresponds to theoretical molecular ion ($m/z \pm 5$ ppm) with the lowest isotopic mass.



Figure 5-5.2. MS^2 spectra (HCD 110-145 eV) of selected Cl₄-SO₄-PCB (C₁₂H₅Cl₄SO₄⁻, **a**) and Cl₇-SO₄-PCB congeners (C₁₂H₂Cl₇SO₄⁻, **Class 1.3**, **b**) in the Hudson Bay pooled polar bear serum.



Figure 5-5.3. MS² spectra (HCD 145 eV) of selected Cl-SO₄-PCB through Cl₄-SO₄-PCB standards ($C_{12}SO_4ClH_8^-$, $C_{12}SO_4Cl_2H_7^-$, $C_{12}SO_4Cl_3H_6^-$ and $C_{12}SO_4Cl_4H_5^-$).



Figure 5-6.1.Extracted ion chromatograms of Class 1.4 OH-SO₄-PCB congeners (C₁₂SO₅Cl_nH_{9-n⁻}) in the Hudson Bay pooled polar bear serum. The extracted ion chromatograms corresponds to theoretical molecular ion ($m/z \pm 5$ ppm) with the lowest isotopic mass.



Figure 5-6.2.MS² spectra (HCD 90-145 eV) of selected Cl₅-OH-SO₄-PCB (C₁₂H₄Cl₅SO₅⁻, **Class 1.4**) congeners in the Hudson Bay pooled polar bear serum.



Figure 5-7.1. Extracted ion chromatograms of Class 1.5 OH-MeSO₂CH₃-PCB congeners $(C_{13}SO_3Cl_nH_{11-n})$ in the Hudson Bay pooled polar bear serum. The extracted ion chromatograms corresponds to theoretical molecular ion $(m/z \pm 5 \text{ ppm})$ with the lowest isotopic mass.



Figure 5-7.2. MS² spectra (HCD 125 eV) of selected Cl₆-OH-MeSO₂-PCB congeners (C₁₃Cl₆H₅SO₃⁻, **Class 1.5**) in the Hudson Bay pooled polar bear serum. Proposed fragmentation sites and mechanisms of formation are shown.

212



Figure 5-8.1. Extracted ion chromatograms of **Class 1.6** DiOH-MeSO₂-PCB congeners $(C_{13}SO_4Cl_nH_{11-n})$ in the Hudson Bay pooled polar bear serum. The extracted ion chromatograms corresponds to theoretical molecular ion $(m/z \pm 5 \text{ ppm})$ with the lowest isotopic mass.

m/z=299.92: [C₁₂Cl₃H₃O₃]⁻ = [M]⁻-•SOCH₃-HCl m/z=271.92: [C₁₁Cl₃H₃O₂]⁻ = [M]⁻-•SOCH₃-HCI-CO m/z=207.95: [C₁₀Cl₂H₂O]⁻⁻= [M]⁻-•SOCH₃-2HCI-2CO



m/z=219.95: [C₁₁Cl₂H₂O]⁻⁻ = [M]⁻-•SO₂CH₃-2HCI-CO

m/z=284.93: [C₁₂Cl₃H₄O₂]⁻ = [M]⁻-SO₂CH₂-HCl m/z=248.95: [C₁₂Cl₂H₃O₂]⁻ = [M]⁻-SO₂CH₂-2HCl



m/z=94.98: [CH₃SO₃]⁻ m/z=183.95: [C₈Cl₂H₂O]⁻⁻ m/z=155.95: [C₇Cl₂H₂]⁻⁻ = [m/z=183.95]⁻⁻CO

m/z=362.91: [C₁₃Cl₃H₆SO₄]⁻ = [M]⁻⁻HCl

m/z=223.94: [C₁₀Cl₂H₂O₂]⁻⁻= [M]⁻-•SCH₃-2HCl-2CO





Figure 5-8.2. MS² spectra (110-145 eV) of selected Cl₄- (C₁₃Cl₄H₇SO₄⁻, a) and all Cl₆-DiOH-MeSO₂-PCB congeners (C₁₃Cl₆H₅SO₄⁻,

Class 1.6, b) in the Hudson Bay pooled polar bear serum, and the formation mechanism for each fragment is proposed.



Figure 5-9.1. Extracted ion chromatograms of **Class 1.7** SO₃-PCB congeners ($C_{12}Cl_nH_{9-n}SO_3^-$) in the Hudson Bay pooled polar bear serum. The extracted ion chromatograms corresponds to theoretical molecular ion ($m/z \pm 5$ ppm) with the lowest isotopic mass.



Figure 5-9.2. MS² spectra (HCD 110 eV) of all Cl₄-SO₃-PCB congeners (C₁₂H₅Cl₄SO₃⁻, **Class 1.7**) in the Hudson Bay pooled polar bear serum.



Figure 5-10. Extracted ion chromatograms and MS^2 spectra (HCD 35-145 eV) of **Class 2.1** chlorinated aromatic compounds ($C_8Cl_nH_{7-n}O^-$) in the Hudson Bay pooled polar bear serum. The structure of 4-hydroxylated heptachlorostyrene (4-OH-HpCS) is shown.



Figure 5-11. Extracted ion chromatograms and MS^2 (HCD 60-125 eV) spectra of **Class 2.2** chlorinated (iso)quinoline sulfonates (C₉Cl_nH_{6-n}NSO₃⁻) in the Hudson Bay pooled polar bear serum. Proposed structures are shown.



Figure 5-12. Extracted ion chromatogram, and MS^2 (HCD 30-110 eV) and MS^3 spectra (CID 35 eV \rightarrow HCD 120-180 eV) of Class 2.3 tetrachlorinated aromatic sulfate ($C_{14}Cl_4H_7SO_4^-$) in the Hudson Bay pooled polar bear serum. Examples of possible structures, including SO₄-DDE, are shown.



Figure 5-13. Extracted ion chromatograms and MS² spectra (HCD 35-100 eV) of Class 2.4 heptachlorinated hydroxylated nitroaromatic compounds (C₁₄Cl₇H₅NO₆⁻, a; and C₁₄Cl₇H₇NO₆⁻, b) in the Hudson Bay pooled polar bear serum. Examples of possible structures are shown.



Figure 5-14. Extracted ion chromatograms and MS^2 spectra (HCD 35 eV) of **Class 2.5** hexachlorinated compounds ($C_{15}Cl_6H_{13}O_5^-$, **a**; and $C_{15}Cl_6H_{15}O_3^-$; **b**) in the Hudson Bay pooled polar bear serum.



Figure 5-15.1. Extracted ion chromatograms of $[SO_3]^-$ and $[SO_3F]^-$ in-source fragments, and Class 3.1 cyclic and/or unsaturated PFSA homologues ($C_nF_{2n-1}SO_3^-$) detected in the Hudson Bay pooled polar bear serum (solid line), and in the 3M-PFOS industrial standard (dashed line). All chromatograms are for the theoretical mass shown ±5 ppm.



Figure 5-15.2. MS^2 spectra (HCD 95 eV) of all C₈- cyclic or unsaturated PFSA isomers (C₈F₁₅SO₃⁻, **Class 3.1**) in the Hudson Bay pooled polar bear serum. Examples of possible structures for some isomers are proposed, F atoms not shown.



Figure 5-15.3. Extracted ion chromatogram and MS² spectra (HCD 95 eV) of 4-PFECHS and byproduct isomers in 4-PFECHS standard (**a**), and MS² spectra (HCD 95 eV) of different PFOS isomer standards (**b**). The isomer 3 in 4-PFECHS standard, being the most abundant peak, is probably 4-PFECHS. Structures of 4-PFECHS and PFOS isomers are shown, F atoms not shown.



Figure 5-16.1. Extracted ion chromatograms of $[SO_3]^-$, $[SO_3F]^-$ and $[C_2F_5O]^-$ in-source fragments, and **Class 3.2** ether-PFSA homologues $(C_nF_{2n+1}SO_4^-)$ detected in the Hudson Bay pooled polar bear serum (solid line), and in the 3M-PFOS industrial standard (dashed line). All chromatograms are for the theoretical mass shown ±5 ppm.



Figure 5-16.2. MS² spectra (HCD 110 eV) of all C₇-ether-PFSA isomers (C₇F₁₅SO₄⁻, **Class 3.2**) in the Hudson Bay pooled polar bear serum. Proposed structure for each isomer is presented, F atoms not shown.



Figure 5-17.1. Extracted ion chromatograms of $[SO_3F]^-$, $[C_3F_5]^-$ and $[C_4F_7]^-$ in-source fragments, and **Class 3.3** enol-ether-, cyclic-ether- or carbonyl-PFSA homologues ($C_nF_{2n-1}SO_4^-$) detected in the Hudson Bay pooled polar bear serum (solid line), and in the 3M-PFOS industrial standard (dashed line). All chromatograms are for the theoretical mass shown ±5 ppm.


Figure 5-17.2. MS^2 spectra (HCD 110 eV) of all C₈- enol-ether-, cyclic-ether- or carbonyl-PFSA isomers (C₈F₁₅SO₄⁻, **Class 3.3**) in the Hudson Bay pooled polar bear serum. Examples of possible structures for isomers 4 and 6 are presented, F atoms not shown.



Figure 5-18.1 Extracted ion chromatograms of $[^{35}Cl]^-$ and $[^{37}Cl]^-$ in-source fragments, and **Class 3.4** x:2 Cl-PFAES homologues (ClC_nF_{2n}SO₄⁻) detected in the Hudson Bay pooled polar bear serum (n=8), in Beaufort Sea pooled polar bear serum (n=6-8), and in F-53B industrial standard (n=6-10). All chromatograms are for the theoretical mass shown ±5 ppm.



Figure 5-18.2 MS^2 spectra (HCD 110 eV) of C₈- x:2 Cl-PFAES (ClC₈F₁₆SO₄⁻, **Class 3.4**) in Beaufort Sea pooled polar bear serum, and in F-53B industrial standard.



Chemical Classes

Figure 5-19. Total concentration of each class of halogenated compounds detected in pooled polar bear serum samples from Hudson Bay and Beaufort Sea (standard quantified compound classes: white background; semi-quantified compound classes: grey background).



OH-PCB DIOH-PCB SO4-PCBS OH-SO4-PCBS OH-McSO2-PCBS DIOH-McSO2-PCBS SO3-PCBS

Figure 5-20. Proposed metabolic scheme for a representative Cl₆-PCB congener (enzymes involved are listed in the following), and percentage bar graphs for all the 7 classes of PCB metabolite (**Class 1.1 - 1.7**) detected in pooled polar bear serum samples from both the Hudson Bay and Beaufort Sea. Metabolites with black and red outlines represent metabolites, for the first time, reported in polar bears and in all environmental and biological samples, respectively. Metabolites I-VI were previously reported but not detected in the current study. Metabolites IV and VI do not ionize in the current HPLC-ESI-Orbitrap system.

Enzymes: A. CYP450; B. Epoxide hydrolase; C. Sulfotransferase; D. Sulfatases; E. UDPglucuronosyltransferase; F. Glutathione S-transferase; G. γ -Glutamyl transpeptidase; H. cysteinylglycine dipeptidase; I. Cysteine S-conjugate N-acetyltransferase; J. Cysteine Sconjugate β -lyase; K. Thiol S-methyltransferase; L. CYP or FMO; M. Oxidation; N. Oxidation; O. Reduced by gut floral; P. Directly added by gut flora

5.5.2 Tables

Category	Source	Name or Abbreviation			
		2,2',3',4,4',5-hexachloro-3'-hydroxybiphenyl (3'-OH-PCB 138, OH-PCB No.1)			
		2,2',4,4',5, 5'-hexachloro-3-hydroxybiphenyl (3-OH-PCB 153, OH-PCB No.2)			
		2,2',3,3',4', 5-hexachloro-4'-hydroxybiphenyl (4'-OH-PCB 130, OH-PCB No.3)			
Hydroxylated PCBs	Wellington Lab	2,2',3,4',5, 5'-hexachloro-4-hydroxybiphenyl (4-OH-PCB 146, OH-PCB No.4)			
(OH-PCBS)		2,2',3',4, 4',5,5'-heptachloro-3'-hydroxybiphenyl (3'-OH-PCB 180, OH-PCB No.5)			
		2,2',3,3',4',5, 5'-heptachloro-4'-hydroxybiphenyl (4'-OH-PCB 172, OH-PCB No.6)			
		2,2',3,4',5, 5',6-heptachloro-4-hydroxybiphenyl (4-OH-PCB 187, OH-PCB No.7)			
Dihydroxylate	G	4-chloro-2',3'-dihydroxybiohenyl (2',3'-diOH-PCB 3)			
(DiOH-PCBs)	Synthesized	4-chloro-3',4'-dihydroxybiohenyl (3',4'-diOH-PCB 3)			
		4-chlorobiphenyl-4'-sulfate (4'-SO ₄ -PCB 3, SO ₄ -PCB No.1)			
		4-chlorobiphenyl-2'-sulfate (2'-SO4-PCB 3, SO4-PCB No.2)			
		4-chlorobiphenyl-3'-sulfate (3'- SO ₄ -PCB 3, SO ₄ -PCB No.3)			
		4-chlorobiphenyl-2-sulfate (2-SO ₄ -PCB 3, SO ₄ -PCB No.4)			
		4-chlorobiphenyl-3-sulfate (3-SO ₄ -PCB 3, SO ₄ -PCB No.5)			
		2,4'-dichlorobiphenyl-4-sulfate (4-SO ₄ -PCB 8, SO ₄ -PCB No.6)			
DCD sulfator	Countly and and 13	2,5-dichlorobiphenyl-4'-sulfate (4'-SO ₄ -PCB 9, SO ₄ -PCB No.7)			
(SO ₄ -PCBs)	9, 41-43, 45	3,3'-dichlorobiphenyl-4-sulfate (4-SO ₄ -PCB 11, SO ₄ -PCB No.8)			
		3,4-dichlorobiphenyl-4'-sulfate (4'-SO4-PCB 12, SO4-PCB No.9)			
		2,3',4-trichlorobiphenyl-4'-sulfate (4'-SO ₄ -PCB 25, SO ₄ -PCB No.10)			
		2,3',5-trichlorobiphenyl-4'-sulfate (4'-SO4-PCB 26, SO4-PCB No.11)			
		2,3',4'-trichlorobiphenyl-4-sulfate (4-SO ₄ -PCB 33, SO ₄ -PCB No.12)			
		3,3',4-trichlorobiphenyl-4'-sulfate (4'-SO ₄ -PCB 35, SO ₄ -PCB No.13)			
		2,2',5,5'-tetrachlorobiphenyl-4-sulfate (4-SO ₄ -PCB 52, SO ₄ -PCB No.14)			
Hydroxylated PCDE	Sigma Aldrich	2, 4, 4,'-trichloro-2'-hydroxydiphenyl ether			

Table 5-1. OH-PCB, DiOH-PCB, SO₄-PCB and triclosan standards used in the current study.

Native PFASs	Full name	Abbreviation	Molecular Formula
	Perfluoro-n-butanoic acid	PFBA	CF ₃ (CF ₂) ₂ COO ⁻
	Perfluoro-n-pentanoic acid	PFPeA	CF ₃ (CF ₂) ₃ COO ⁻
	Perfluoro-n-hexanoic acid	PFHxA	CF ₃ (CF ₂) ₄ COO ⁻
	Perfluoro-n-heptanoic acid	PFHpA	CF ₃ (CF ₂) ₅ COO ⁻
	Perfluoro-n-octanoic acid	PFOA	CF ₃ (CF ₂) ₆ COO ⁻
	Perfluoro-n-nonanoic acid	PFNA	CF ₃ (CF ₂) ₇ COO ⁻
Perfluorinated Carboxylic	Perfluoro-n-decanoic acid	PFDA	CF ₃ (CF ₂) ₈ COO ⁻
Acids (PECAs)	Perfluoro-n-undecanoic acid	PFUnDA	CF ₃ (CF ₂) ₉ COO ⁻
(ITCAS)	Perfluoro-n-dodecanoic acid	PFDoDA	CF ₃ (CF ₂) ₁₀ COO ⁻
	Perfluoro-n-tridecanoic acid	PFTriDA	CF ₃ (CF ₂) ₁₁ COO ⁻
	Perfluoro-n-tetradecanoic acid	PFTeDA	CF ₃ (CF ₂) ₁₂ COO ⁻
	Perfluoro-n-hexanedecanoic acid	PFHxDA	CF ₃ (CF ₂) ₁₄ COO ⁻
	Perfluoro-n-octadecanoic acid	PFODA	CF ₃ (CF ₂) ₁₆ COO ⁻
	Perfluoro-1-butanesulfonate	PFBS	$CF_3(CF_2)_3SO_3^-$
	Perfluoro-1-pentanesulfonate	PFPeS	$CF_3(CF_2)_4SO_3^-$
	Perfluoro-1-hexanesulfonate	PFHxS	$CF_3(CF_2)_5SO_3^-$
Perfluorinated	Perfluoro-1-heptanesulfonate	PFHpS	$CF_3(CF_2)_6SO_3^-$
sulfonates (PFSAs)	Perfluoro-1-octanesulfonate	PFOS	$CF_3(CF_2)_7SO_3^-$
`` ,	Perfluoro-1-nonanesulfonate	PFNS	$CF_3(CF_2)_8SO_3^-$
	Perfluoro-1-decanesulfonate	PFDS	CF ₃ (CF ₂) ₉ SO ₃ ⁻
	decafluoro-4-(pentafluoroethyl)- cyclohexanesulfonate	4-PFECHS	$C_2F_5(C_6F_4)SO_3^-$
	Perfluoro-1-octanesulfonamide	FOSA	CF ₃ (CF ₂) ₇ SO ₂ NH ⁻
Perfluorooctane	N-methylperfluoro-1-octanesulfonamide	MeFOSA	CF ₃ (CF ₂) ₇ SO ₂ N ⁻ CH ₃
sulfonamides	N-ethylperfluoro-1-octane sulfonamide	EtFOSA	$CF_3(CF_2)_7SO_2N^-C_2H_5$
(FUSAs)	N-ethylperfluoro-1-octane sulfonamidoacetic acid	MeFOSAA	$CF_3(CF_2)_7SO_2N(C_2H_5)-CH_2COO^-$

Table 5-2. PFAS standards used in the current study

Location	Collection Date	Age (yrs)	Sex	Volume (mL)
	1985/04/17	9	М	3.0
	1985/04/19	7	Μ	3.3
	1986/09/17	18	Μ	3.8
	1987 spring	23	М	3.2
	1988/09/11	12	Μ	4.5
	1992 spring	10	F	3.3
Western	1993/07/22	18	Μ	7.5
Hudson Bay	1993/11/09	9	Μ	7.5
	1994/04/08	14	F	2.0
	2000/03/02	18	F	1.5
	2003 spring	19	Μ	3.0
	2008/09/08	18	Μ	1.8
	2009/03/02	18	F	1.5
	2010 fall	4	F	1.5
	1987 spring	23	М	3.0
	2003 spring	19	Μ	3.5
	2007/04/28	1	Μ	1.7
	2007/04/28	11	F	2.1
	2007/04/28	8	F	1.8
	2007/05/06	14	F	1.8
	2008/04/19	13	F	1.8
	2009/04/17	7	Μ	1.8
	2009/04/18	16	F	1.8
	2009/04/19	15	F	1.7
Beaufort	2009/04/20	5	F	1.8
Sea	2009/04/20	7	F	2.0
	2009/04/30	7	F	1.8
	2010/04/20	14	F	1.8
	2010/04/21	8	F	1.8
	2010/04/22	22	F	1.8
	2010/04/23	20	F	1.5
	2010/04/25	5	F	1.7
	2010/04/25	13	F	1.7
	2010/04/27	5	F	1.8
	2010/04/27	3	F	1.7
	2010/04/27	12	F	1.8

 Table 5-3. Demographic information of pooled polar bear serum samples

Table 5-4. Instrumental detection limits (IDL, ng/mL) of SBSE-HPLC-Orbitrap method detection limits (MDLs, ng/mL) of legacy PFASs and some OH-PCB and SO₄-PCB standards. The former was measured by injecting 20 μ L of different concentrations of mixed standards in water/methanol = 50/50, and the latter was measured by injecting 20 μ L of SBSE extracts of 5 mL calf serum spiked at different concentrations.

Standards		IDLs (ng/mL)	MDLs (ng/mL) (in the original 5mL serum)
	C_4	0.01	0.025
	C_5	0.025	0.1
	C_6	0.005	0.10
	C_7	0.01	0.1
	C_8	0.025	0.005
	C9	0.01	0.005
PFCAs	C_{10}	0.025	0.005
	C11	0.01	0.005
	C_{12}	0.025	0.05
	C ₁₃	0.05	0.05
	C_{14}	0.5	0.1
	C_{16}	0.5	0.1
	C_{18}	1.0	0.25
	C_4	0.0025	0.05
	C5	0.0025	0.05
	C_6	0.0025	0.005
PFSAs	C_7	0.0025	0.005
	C_8	0.0025	0.005
	C9	0.01	0.005
	C_{10}	0.01	0.005
F-53B	C_8	0.0025	0.005
	FOSA	0.025	0.005
PFOS	MeFOSA	0.1	0.005
1100015015	MeFOSAA	0.01	0.005

Table 5-4. Continued:

	Standards	IDLs ng/mL	MDLs (ng/mL) (in the original 5mL serum)
	Cl ₆ (No. 1 standard [*])	0.001	0.025
	Cl ₆ (No. 2 standard [*])	0.005	0.005
	Cl ₆ (No. 3 standard [*])	0.025	0.01
OH-PCBs	Cl ₆ (No. 4 standard [*])	0.01	0.005
	Cl7 (No. 5 standard*)	0.001	0.005
	Cl ₇ (No. 6 standard*)	0.005	0.005
	Cl ₇ (No. 7 standard*)	0.005	0.01
	Cl (No. 4 standard [*])	0.025	0.01
	Cl (No. 3 standard [*])	0.01	0.05
	Cl ₂ (No. 8 standard [*])	0.005	0.005
SO ₄ -PCBs	Cl_2 (No. 9 standard [*])	0.0025	0.005
	Cl ₃ (No. 11 standard [*])	0.0025	0.005
	Cl ₃ (No. 12 standard [*])	0.005	0.01
	Cl ₄ (No. 14 standard [*])	0.01	0.01

* "No. # standard", where # corresponds to the numbering in Table 5-1.

	Structure	96 h fathead minnow LC50 (mg/L)	Development Toxicity
PCBs		0.0108	0.33; non-toxicant
Class 1.1		0.0671	0.78; toxicant
OH-PCB		0.0383	0.79; toxicant
Class 1.3		0.00295	1.31; toxicant
SO ₄ -PCB		0.00288	1.01; toxicant
Class 1.7 SO3-PCB		0.0591	0.95; toxicant
		0.00362	1.00, toxicant
		0.0247	0.93; toxicant
Class 1.2 DiOH-PCB		0.0279	0.94; toxicant
		0.0154	0.87; toxicant
		0.0181	0.86; toxicant

Table 5-5. Predicated 96-hour fathead minnow LC₅₀ values and developmental toxicities for representative PCB metabolites and other polychlorinated aromatic compounds by TEST^{*,51}

Both toxicity prediction is the average results from 5 different methods: (1) hierarchical clustering: estimated using the weighted average of the predictions from several different models which are obtained by using Ward's method to divide the training set into a series of structurally similar clusters. A genetic algorithm-based technique is used to generate models for each cluster; (2) single model: estimated using a multilinear regression model that is fit to the training set (using molecular descriptors as independent variables) using a genetic algorithm-based approach; (3) group contribution: estimated using a multilinear regression model that is fit to the training set (using molecular fragment counts as independent variables); (4) FDA: estimated using a new model that is fit to the chemicals that are most similar to the test compound; and (5) nearest neighbor: estimated by taking an average of the three chemicals in the training set that are most similar to the test chemical

	Structure	96 h fathead minnow LC ₅₀ (mg/L)	Development Toxicity
		0.0789	1.21; toxicant
		0.0171	1.18; toxicant
Class 1.4		0.0390	1.20; toxicant
OH-SO4-PCB		0.0124	1.27; toxicant
		0.0253	1.25; toxicant
		0.0230	1.21; toxicant
		0.0131	0.92; toxicant
		0.24	0.98; toxicant
Class 1.5		0.0783	0.93; toxicant
PCB		0.0406	0.94; toxicant
		0.0490	0.86; toxicant
		0.0531	0.85; toxicant

Table 5-5. Continued:

	Structure	96 h fathead minnow LC ₅₀ (mg/L)	Development Toxicity
		0.0208	1.04; toxicant
		0.0342	1.07; toxicant
Class 1.6		0.0210	1.04; toxicant
DiOH-MeSO ₂ - PCB	$\begin{array}{c} HO \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ \\ $	0.15	1.07; toxicant
		0.0134	1.06; toxicant
		0.0301	099; toxicant
Class 2.1 chlorinated		0.00579	-0.24; non-toxicant
aromatics e.g. hydroxyl- chlorostyrene		0.0141	0.27; non-toxicant
		0.0604	0.42; non-toxicant
Class 2.2		0.0210	0.10; non-toxicant
chlorinated (iso)quinoline sulfonates		0.56	0.68; toxicant
Class 2.3		0.15	0.46; non-toxicant
tetrachlorinated aromatic sulfate e.g. SO ₄ -DDE		0.19	1.03; toxicant
Class 2.4 heptachlorinated hydroxylated nitroaromatics		0.000878	0.90; toxicant

Category	Class No.	Name & Abbreviation	Ion Formula	Total Analytes	Confidence Level	Previous Reports in Polar Bears & in Other Samples
	1.1	1.1 hydroxylated PCBs	$C_{12}Cl_nH_{9-n}O^-$	54	3; 1 for two	~40 congeners (Cl ₄ -Cl ₉) detected in polar bears, and 25 of them structurally confirmed (Cl ₅ -Cl ₉) ^{21, 57-60, 62}
		011-1 CD	n-5-7		congeners	in total >100 congeners (Cl-Cl ₉) reported in other samples ^{11, 21, 57-62, 65-73}
	1.2	di-hydroxylated	C ₁₂ Cl _n H _{9-n} O ₂ ⁻	37	2	One Cl ₈ congener confirmed in polar bears ^{21, 57, 60-62}
PCB metabolites	1.2	DiOH-PCBs	n=4-8		5	in total 6 congeners confirmed (Cl ₅ -Cl ₈) in other samples ^{11, 21, 57, 60-62, 66, 68, 71}
	1.3	PCB sulfate SO4-PCBs	C ₁₂ Cl _n H _{9-n} SO ₄ - n=2-8	51	3; 1 for two congeners	in total 6 congeners (3 for Cl- and 3 for Cl ₂ -) proposed in PCB 3 and PCB 11 exposed rats ^{75, 76} and plants, ⁷⁷ and in human with known PCB 11 exposure ⁷⁸
	1.4	hydroxylated PCB sulfates OH-SO4-PCBs	C ₁₂ Cl _n H _{9-n} SO ₅ - n=3-7	42	3	in total 3 OH-SO ₄ -PCB congeners (2 for Cl- and 1 for Cl ₂ -) proposed in PCB 3^{81} and PCB 11 exposed rats ⁷⁶
	1.5	hydroxylated methylsulfone PCBs OH-MeSO ₂ -PCBs	$C_{13}Cl_{n}H_{11-n}SO_{3}^{-1}$ n=3-8	45	3	approximately 15 peaks (Cl ₄ -Cl ₆) proposed as OH-MeSO ₂ -PCBs in Yusho patients ⁸⁷
	1.6	di-hydroxylated methylsulfone PCBs DiOH-MeSO ₂ -PCBs	C ₁₃ Cl _n H _{11-n} SO ₄ - n=2-7	22	3	no report
	1.7	PCB sulfonate SO ₃ -PCBs	$C_{12}Cl_{n}H_{11-n}SO_{3}^{-}$ n=3-6	21	3	no report

 Table 5-6. Non-target PFSAs and poly/perchlorinated compounds detected in polar bear serum samples.

Table 5-6. Continued:

Category	Class No.	Name & Abbreviation	Ion Formula	Total Analytes	Confidence Level	Previous Reports in Polar Bears & in Other Samples
	2.1	chlorinated aromatic compounds (e.g. hydroxyl- chlorostyrene)	$C_8Cl_nH_{7-n}O^-$ n=6-7	2	3	4-OH-HpCS in polar bears ⁹² 4-OH-HpCS in fish, ⁹⁰ humans, ⁹¹ ringed seal ⁹²
	2.2	chlorinated (iso)quinoline sulfonates	C9Cl _n H _{6-n} NSO ₃ ⁻ n=5-6	3	3	no report
Other poly- chlorinated compounds	2.3	tetrachlorinated aromatic sulfate (e.g. DDE sulfate)	$C_{14}Cl_4H_7SO_4^-$	1	3	/
	2.4	4 heptachlorinated hydroxylated nitroaromatic compounds	C ₁₄ Cl ₇ H ₅ NO ₆ ⁻	1	3	/
			C ₁₄ Cl ₇ H ₇ NO ₆	1		
	2.5	.5 hexachlorinated compounds	$C_{15}Cl_{6}H_{13}O_{5}$	2	4	/
			$C_{15}Cl_{6}H_{15}O_{3}^{-}$	1		1

Table 5-6. Continued:

Category	Class No.	Name & Abbreviation	Ion Formula	Total Analytes	Confidence level	Previous Reports in Polar Bears & in Other Samples
3.1 3.2 Per- fluoroalkyl sulfonates (PFSAs) 3.3		cyclic or unsaturated PFSAs	C _n F _{2n-1} SO ₃ - n=8-10	8	3	n=4-13 in 3M commercial products, industrial PFOS and AFFFs; ¹¹⁴ n=7-14 in fish liver (Chapter 4); n=8-9 in industrial 3M-PFOS standard
	3.1					in total 5 C ₈ -cyclic PFSAs in industrial 4- PFECHS, ^{109, 111} waters, ^{109, 110} sediments, ¹¹¹ fish; ^{109, 110, 112} only 4-PFECHS ¹⁰⁹⁻¹¹³ and 4- PFMeCHS ¹⁰⁹ structurally confirmed
			$C_n F_{2n+1} SO_4$ n=6-9		3	A C ₆ -ether-PFSA proposed in firefighter' sera ³¹
	3.2	ether PFSAs		11		n=4-12 in fish liver (Chapter 4); n=8-9 in industrial 3M-PFOS standard
	3.3	enol-ether-, cyclic- ether- or carbonyl- PFSAs	C _n F _{2n-1} SO ₄ - n=7-9	12	3	n=4-13 in concrete from AFFF impacted fire training ground; ¹¹⁵ n=6-13 in fish liver (Chapter 4); n=8-9 in industrial 3M-PFOS standard
						n=8 ketone-PFSA proposed in firefighters' sera ³¹
					1 for one homologue, 2 for others	n=8 in Greenland ringed seal and polar bears ¹²⁸
	3.4	x:2 chlorine substituted ClC ₁ perfluoroalkyl ether sulfonates n= x:2 Cl-PFAESs	$C1C_{n}F_{2n}SO$ 4^{-} $n=6-8$	3		in total 3 homologues proposed (n=8, 10, 12) in chrome plating company discharge and downstream surface water, ¹²³ municipal sewage sludge; ¹²² air sample ¹²⁴ in China, fish ¹²⁵ and in Chinese human serum ¹²⁷ and urine samples ¹²⁷
						n=7-12 and 14 in fish liver (Chapter 4)
						n=6-10 in F-53B industrial standard

Table 5-7. Quantified legacy PFASs and semi-quantified non-target PFSAs and chlorinated compounds discovered in both pooled polar bear serum samples from Western Hudson Bay and Beaufort Sea. The LOQ value (0.004 ng/mL) for each pooled sample is calculated back from instrumental LOQ (i.e. 0.01 ng/mL for each legacy standard). The "reference standard" for each non-target analyte is an authentic standard whose calibration curve was used to semi-quantify the non-target assuming the same molar response. Percent numbers in red are concentration ratios of each analyte in its homologous/congener class.

		Western Hu Pooled Polar b	Western Hudson Bay Pooled Polar bear Serum		t Sea ar bear
		Conc. (ng/mL) in pooled serum	% in each class	Conc. (ng/mL) in pooled serum	% in each class
Class 1.1 OH-PCBs					
Cl ₃	averaged	0.1	0.3%	< 0.1	0.5%
Cl ₄	OH-PCB	0.6	2.2%	0.2	3.3%
Cl ₅	and	2.1	7.9%	0.7	9.8%
Cl ₆	SO ₄ -PCB	8.9	34%	2.4	35%
Cl ₇	standards	12	47%	3.0	45%
Cl_8		2.2	8.3%	0.4	5.6%
Cl9		0.2	0.8%	< 0.1	0.4%
Total		26		6.7	
Class 1.2 DiOH-PCBs	averaged	<0.1	0.5%	<0.1	0.79/
	OH-PCB	<0.1	0.570	<0.1	220%
$\frac{Cl_5}{Cl_4}$	and SO DCD	0.8	2070	0.2 <0.1	100/
$\frac{Cl_6}{Cl_{-}}$	SU4-FCB	0.7	2170	<0.1	1070
	standards	0.0	2070	0.1	2370
Total		2.1	3370	0.2	34%
		5.1		0.0	
SO ₄ -PCBs					
Cl ₂	averaged	< 0.1	0.1%	< 0.1	<0.1%
Cl ₃	OH-PCB	0.7	4.9%	0.4	8.3%
Cl ₄	and	4.4	32%	1.0	22%
Cl ₅	SO ₄ -PCB	5.4	40%	2.0	44%
C1 ₆	standards	1.8	13%	0.8	18%
Cl ₇		1.3	9.8%	0.3	7.6%
Cl ₈		< 0.1	0.2%	<0.1	0.1%
Total		14		4.5	

	Pafaranaa	Western Hudson Bay Pooled Polar bear Serum		Beaufort Sea Pooled Polar bear	
Standard		Conc. (ng/mL) in pooled serum	% in each class	Conc. (ng/mL) in pooled serum	% in each class
Class 1.4 OH-SO4-					
PCBs	averaged				
Cl ₃	OH-PCB	0.1	2.7%	< 0.1	3.0%
Cl ₄	and	0.3	7.6%	0.1	12%
Cl ₅	SO ₄ -PCB	2.5	60%	0.6	70%
Cl ₆	standards	0.9	21%	< 0.1	8.9%
Cl ₇		0.4	9.6%	< 0.1	5.8%
Cl ₈		< 0.1	<1%		
Total		4.2		0.8	
Class 1.5 OH-MeSO ₂ -					
PCBs	averaged				
Cl ₃	OH-PCB	2.0	2.2%	0.5	0.9%
Cl ₄	and	39	43%	28	53%
Cl ₅	SO ₄ -PCB	32	35%	18	33%
Cl ₆	standards	15	16%	7.0	13%
Cl ₇		3.2	3.6%	1.2	2.2%
C18		< 0.1	0.04%	< 0.1	<0.1%
Total		90		55	
Class 1.6 DiOH- MeSO ₂ - PCBs	averaged				
Cl ₂	OH-PCB	< 0.1	1.6%	< 0.1	1.2%
Cl ₃		1.1	43%	0.8	68%
Cl ₄	SU4-FCB	0.6	25%	0.2	14%
Cl ₅	stanuarus	< 0.1	1.7%	< 0.1	0.7%
Cl ₆		0.8	29%	0.2	16%
Cl ₇		< 0.1	0.2%		
Total		2.6		1.2	
Class 1.7 SO ₃ -PCBs	averaged OH-PCB	<0.1	0.2%		
$-Cl_3$	and	~0.1	0.270	0.1	210/
	SO ₄ -PCB	0.4	3370 400/	0.1	2170 700/
	standards	0.0	サブブ0 100/	0.2	4770 200/
$-\frac{U16}{Total}$		0.2	1070	0.1	30%0
1 otal		1.5		0.4	

Table 5-7. Continued:

	Reference Standard	Western Hudson Bay Polar Bear Serum		Beaufort Sea Polar Bear Serum	
		Conc. (ng/mL) in pooled serum	% in each class	Conc. (ng/mL) in pooled serum	% in each class
Class 2.1 chlorinated aromatic compounds_Cl ₆		<0.1		<0.1	
C17		2.8	/	0.9	/
Total		2.8		0.9	,
Class 2.2 chlorinated (iso)quinoline sulfonates Cl ₅		0.2	/	0.1	/
Cl ₆		< 0.1	/	< 0.1	/
Total		0.2		0.2	
Class 2.3 tetrachlorinated aromatic sulfate_Cl ₄	averaged OH-PCB and SO4-PCB	9.6	/	5.2	/
Class 2.4 heptachlorinated hydroxylated nitro-aromatic compounds_Cl7H5	standards	0.1	/	0.1	/
Cl7H7		2.0	/	0.1	/
Total		2.1		0.2	
Class 2.5 hexachlorinated compounds_Cl ₆ H ₁₃		0.1	/	<0.1	/
Cl ₆ H ₁₅		0.1	/	<0.1	/
Total		0.2		<0.1	

Table 5-7. Continued:

	Deferreres	Western Huds Polar Bear S	son Bay Serum	Beaufort Sea Polar Bear Serum	
	Standard	Conc. (ng/mL) in pooled serum	% in each class	Conc. (ng/mL) in pooled serum	% in each class
Class 3.1 cyclic or unsaturated PFSAs C ₈	PEOS	0.1	73%	<0.1	40%
<u> </u>	PFNS	<0.1	5%	<0.1	7%
C ₁₀	PFDS	<0.1	22%	<0.1	44%
Total		0.2		0.1	
Class 3.2 ether PFSAs_C ₆	PFHxS	<0.1	6%	<0.1	5%
C ₇	PFHpS	< 0.1	13%	< 0.1	11%
C_8	PFOS	<0.1	19%	<0.1	13%
C9	PFNS	<0.1	62%	<0.1	71%
Total		<0.1		0.1	
Class 3.3 enol-ether-, cyclic-ether- or carbonyl- PFSAs_C ₇	PFHpS	<0.1	5%	<0.1	6%
C ₈	PFOS	0.1	53%	<0.1	31%
C9	PFNS	<0.1	42%	<0.1	62%
Total		0.1		0.1	
Class 3.4 x:2 Cl- PFAESs_C ₆	6:2 Cl-	/		<0.1	21%
C ₇	PFAES	/		<0.1	13%
C_8		0.2	100%	<0.1	66%
Total		0.2		<0.1	

Table 5-7. Continued:

	Reference	Reference Western Hudson Bay Polar Bear Serum		Beaufort Sea Polar Bear Serum	
	Standard	Conc. (ng/mL) in pooled serum	% in each class	Conc. (ng/mL) in pooled serum	% in each class
PFCAs_C ₄	PFCAs_C ₄	/	/	/	/
C5	C5	/	/	/	/
C_6	C ₆	/	/	/	/
C_7	C_7	/	/	/	/
C_8	C_8	<0.1	2%	<0.1	2%
C9	C9	0.4	26%	1.4	37%
C ₁₀	C10	0.1	8%	0.6	15%
C11	C11	1.0	58%	1.7	44%
C ₁₂	C ₁₂	<0.1	0.2%	<0.1	0.2%
C ₁₃	C ₁₃	<0.1	4%	<0.1	2%
C ₁₄	C14	<0.1	2%	/	/
C ₁₆	C16	/	/	/	/
C ₁₈	C18	/	/	/	
Total		1.7		3.9	
PFSAs_C ₄	PFSAs_C ₄	/	/	/	/
C5	C5	<loq< td=""><td></td><td><loq< td=""><td></td></loq<></td></loq<>		<loq< td=""><td></td></loq<>	
C_6	C ₆	0.7	3%	0.7	7%
C_7	C_7	0.9	4%	0.4	4%
C_8	C_8	20	93%	9.2	89%
C9	C9	<0.1	0.4%	<0.1	0.5%
C ₁₀	C ₁₀	<loq< td=""><td><loq< td=""><td><loq< td=""><td></td></loq<></td></loq<></td></loq<>	<loq< td=""><td><loq< td=""><td></td></loq<></td></loq<>	<loq< td=""><td></td></loq<>	
Total		22		10	
PFOSA	PFOSA	<0.1	12%	/	/
MeFOSA	MeFOSA	0.1	88%	/	/
MeFOSAA	MeFOSAA	/	/	/	/
EtFOSA	EtFOSA	/	/	/	/
EtFOSAA	EtFOSAA	/	/	/	/
Total		0.1			

 Table 5-7. Continued:

5.6 Literature Cited

- Muir, D. C.; Norstrom, R. J.; Simon, M., Organochlorine contaminants in arctic marine food chains: accumulation of specific polychlorinated biphenyls and chlordane-related compounds. *Environ Sci Technol* 1988, 22, (9), 1071-9.
- Norstrom, R. J.; Simon, M.; Muir, D. C.; Schweinsburg, R. E., Organochlorine contaminants in arctic marine food chains: identification, geographical distribution and temporal trends in polar bears. *Environ Sci Technol* 1988, 22, (9), 1063-71.
- 3. Bowes, G. W.; Jonkel, C. J., Presence and distribution of polychlorinated biphenyls (PCB) in Arctic and Subarctic marine food chains. *J Fish Res Board Can* **1975**, *32*, (11), 2111-23.
- 4. Lentfer, J. W. *Environmental Contaminants in Polar Bears; Job No. 5.5R*; Alaska Department of Fish and Game: Fairbanks: 1976; p 22.
- 5. Giesy, J. P.; Kannan, K., Global distribution of perfluorooctane sulfonate in wildlife. *Environ Sci Technol* 2001, *35*, (7), 1339-42.
- Martin, J. W.; Smithwick, M. M.; Braune, B. M.; Hoekstra, P. F.; Muir, D. C.; Mabury, S. A., Identification of long-chain perfluorinated acids in biota from the Canadian Arctic. *Environ Sci Technol* 2004, 38, (2), 373-80.
- Wolkers, H.; van Bavel, B.; Derocher, A. E.; Wiig, O.; Kovacs, K. M.; Lydersen, C.; Lindstrom, G., Congenerspecific accumulation and food chain transfer of polybrominated diphenyl ethers in two arctic food chains. *Environ Sci Technol* 2004, *38*, (6), 1667-74.
- Sonne, C.; Dietz, R.; Letcher, R. J., Chemical cocktail party in East Greenland: A first time evaluation of human organohalogen exposure from consumption of ringed seal and polar bear tissues and possible health implications. *Toxicol Environ Chem* 2013, 95, (5), 853-859.
- 9. PBI. Indigenous eople and polar bears. Polar Bears International: Polar Bear Facts & Conservation (PBI). URL: https://polarbearsinternational.org/polar-bears/indigenous-people-polar-bears/ (Accessed: October 24, 2017).
- Letcher, R. J.; Bustnes, J. O.; Dietz, R.; Jenssen, B. M.; Jorgensen, E. H.; Sonne, C.; Verreault, J.; Vijayan, M. M.; Gabrielsen, G. W., Exposure and effects assessment of persistent organohalogen contaminants in arctic wildlife and fish. *Sci Total Environ* 2010, *408*, (15), 2995-3043.
- Grimm, F. A.; Hu, D.; Kania-Korwel, I.; Lehmler, H. J.; Ludewig, G.; Hornbuckle, K. C.; Duffel, M. W.; Bergman, A.; Robertson, L. W., Metabolism and metabolites of polychlorinated biphenyls. *Crit Rev Toxicol* 2015, 45, (3), 245-72.
- Tan, B.; Wang, T.; Wang, P.; Luo, W.; Lu, Y.; Romesh, K. Y.; Giesy, J. P., Perfluoroalkyl substances in soils around the Nepali Koshi River: levels, distribution, and mass balance. *Environ Sci Pollut Res Int* 2014, 21, (15), 9201-11.
- Taniyasu, S.; Senthilkumar, K.; Yamazaki, E.; Yeung, L. W.; Guruge, K. S.; Kannan, K.; Yamashita, N., Perfluoroalkyl substances in the blood of wild rats and mice from 47 prefectures in Japan: use of samples from nationwide specimen bank. *Arch Environ Contam Toxicol* 2013, 65, (1), 149-70.
- Kannan, K.; Kawano, M.; Kashima, Y.; Matsui, M.; Giesy, J. P., Extractable organohalogens (EOX) in sediment and biota collected at an estuarine marsh near a former chloralkali facility. *Environmental Science & Technology* 1999, 33, (7), 1004-1008.
- 15. Zhang, H.; Chai, Z. F.; Sun, H. B.; Zhang, J. L., A survey of extractable persistent organochlorine pollutants in Chinese commercial yogurt. *J Dairy Sci* 2006, *89*, (5), 1413-9.
- 16. Gustavson, K.; Jonsson, P., Some halogenated organic compounds in sediments and blue mussel (*Mytilus edulis*) in Nordic seas. *Marine Poll Bull* **1999**, *38*, (8), 723-736.
- 17. Newsome, W. H.; Andrews, P.; Conacher, H. B.; Rao, R. R.; A., C., Total organochlorine content of fish from the Great Lakes. *J AOAC Int* **1993**, *76*, (4), 703-6.
- Xu, D.; Zhong, W.; Deng, L.; Chai, Z.; Mao, X., Levels of Extractable Organohalogens in Pine Needles in China. Environmental Science & Technology 2003, 37, (1), 1-6.
- Wan, Y.; Jones, P. D.; Wiseman, S.; Chang, H.; Chorney, D.; Kannan, K.; Zhang, K.; Hu, J. Y.; Khim, J. S.; Tanabe, S.; Lam, M. H.; Giesy, J. P., Contribution of synthetic and naturally occurring organobromine compounds to bromine mass in marine organisms. *Environ Sci Technol* **2010**, *44*, (16), 6068-73.

- Bytingsvik, J.; Simon, E.; Leonards, P. E.; Lamoree, M.; Lie, E.; Aars, J.; Derocher, A. E.; Wiig, O.; Jenssen, B. M.; Hamers, T., Transthyretin-binding activity of contaminants in blood from polar bear (*Ursus maritimus*) cubs. *Environ Sci Technol* 2013, 47, (9), 4778-86.
- 21. Simon, E.; van Velzen, M.; Brandsma, S. H.; Lie, E.; Loken, K.; de Boer, J.; Bytingsvik, J.; Jenssen, B. M.; Aars, J.; Hamers, T.; Lamoree, M. H., Effect-directed analysis to explore the polar bear exposome: identification of thyroid hormone disrupting compounds in plasma. *Environ Sci Technol* **2013**, *47*, (15), 8902-12.
- 22. Liu, Y.; Pereira Ados, S.; Martin, J. W., Discovery of C5-C17 poly- and perfluoroalkyl substances in water by in-line SPE-HPLC-Orbitrap with in-source fragmentation flagging. *Anal Chem* **2015**, *87*, (8), 4260-8.
- 23. Peng, H.; Chen, C.; Saunders, D. M.; Sun, J.; Tang, S.; Codling, G.; Hecker, M.; Wiseman, S.; Jones, P. D.; Li, A.; Rockne, K. J.; Giesy, J. P., Untargeted identification of organo-bromine compounds in lake sediments by ultrahigh-resolution mass spectrometry with the data-independent precursor isolation and characteristic fragment method. *Anal Chem* 2015, *87*, (20), 10237-46.
- Peng, H.; Chen, C.; Cantin, J.; Saunders, D. M.; Sun, J.; Tang, S.; Codling, G.; Hecker, M.; Wiseman, S.; Jones, P. D.; Li, A.; Rockne, K. J.; Sturchio, N. C.; Cai, M.; Giesy, J. P., Untargeted screening and distribution of organo-iodine compounds in sediments from lake Michigan and the Arctic Ocean. *Environ Sci Technol* 2016, *50*, (18), 10097-105.
- 25. D'Agostino, L. A.; Mabury, S. A., Identification of novel fluorinated surfactants in aqueous film forming foams and commercial surfactant concentrates. *Environ Sci Technol* **2014**, *48*, (1), 121-9.
- Place, B. J.; Field, J. A., Identification of novel fluorochemicals in aqueous film-forming foams used by the US military. *Environ Sci Technol* 2012, 46, (13), 7120-7.
- 27. Trier, X.; Granby, K.; Christensen, J. H., Polyfluorinated surfactants (PFS) in paper and board coatings for food packaging. *Environ Sci Pollut Res Int* **2011**, *18*, (7), 1108-20.
- Trier, X.; Nielsen, N. J.; Christensen, J. H., Structural isomers of polyfluorinated di- and tri-alkylated phosphate ester surfactants present in industrial blends and in microwave popcorn bags. *Environ Sci Pollut Res Int* 2011, 18, (8), 1422-32.
- Newton, S.; McMahen, R.; Stoeckel, J. A.; Chislock, M.; Lindstrom, A.; Strynar, M., Novel polyfluorinated compounds identified using high resolution mass spectrometry downstream of manufacturing facilities near Decatur, Alabama. *Environ Sci Technol* 2017, *51*, (3), 1544-1552.
- 30. Gebbink, W. A.; van Asseldonk, L.; van Leeuwen, S. P. J., Presence of emerging per- and polyfluoroalkyl substances (PFASs) in river and drinking water near a fluorochemical production plant in the Netherlands. *Environ Sci Technol* **2017**, *51*, (19), 11057-11065.
- 31. Rotander, A.; Karrman, A.; Toms, L. M.; Kay, M.; Mueller, J. F.; Gomez Ramos, M. J., Novel fluorinated surfactants tentatively identified in firefighters using liquid chromatography quadrupole time-of-flight tandem mass spectrometry and a case-control approach. *Environ Sci Technol* 2015, 49, (4), 2434-42.
- Peng, H.; Chen, C.; Cantin, J.; Saunders, D. M.; Sun, J.; Tang, S.; Codling, G.; Hecker, M.; Wiseman, S.; Jones, P. D.; Li, A.; Rockne, K. J.; Sturchio, N. C.; Giesy, J. P., Untargeted screening and distribution of organo-bromine compounds in sediments of Lake Michigan. *Environ Sci Technol* 2016, *50*, (1), 321-30.
- 33. Lin, S.; Gan, N.; Zhang, J.; Qiao, L.; Chen, Y.; Cao, Y., Aptamer-functionalized stir bar sorptive extraction coupled with gas chromatography-mass spectrometry for selective enrichment and determination of polychlorinated biphenyls in fish samples. *Talanta* 2016, 149, 266-74.
- 34. Rykowska, I.; Wasiak, W., Advances in stir bar sorptive extraction coating: A review. *Acta Chromatographica* **2013**, *25*, (1), 27-46.
- 35. Nie, Y.; Albinus, T. Comparison of EG-silicone-SBSE and derivatization-PDMS-SBSE for the analysis of phenolic compounds and off-flavors in water; Gerstel GmbH: Germany, 2012.
- 36. Villaverde-de-Saa, E.; Racamonde, I.; Quintana, J. B.; Rodil, R.; Cela, R., Ion-pair sorptive extraction of perfluorinated compounds from water with low-cost polymeric materials: polyethersulfone vs polydimethylsiloxane. *Anal Chim Acta* 2012, 740, 50-7.
- Ballschmiter, K.; Bacher, R.; Mennel, A.; Fischer, R.; Riehle, U.; Swerev, M., The determination of chlorinated biphenyls, chlorinated dibenzodioxins, and chlorinated dibenzofurans by GC-MS. *J High Resolut Chromatogr* 1992, 15, (4), 260-270.
- 38. Buck, R. C.; Franklin, J.; Berger, U.; Conder, J. M.; Cousins, I. T.; de Voogt, P., Perfluoroalkyl and

polyfluoroalkyl substances in the environment: terminology, classification, and origins. *Integr Environ Assess Manag* **2011**, *7*.

- 39. McLean, M. R.; Bauer, U.; Amaro, A. R.; Robertson, L. W., Identification of catechol and hydroquinone metabolites of 4-monochlorobiphenyl. *Chem. Res. Toxicol.* **1996**, *9*, 158-164.
- 40. Lehmler, H.-J.; Robertson, L. W., Synthesis of hydroxylated PCB metabolites with the Suzuki-coupling. *Chemosphere* **2001**, *45*, 1119-1127.
- 41. Rodriguez, E. A.; Li, X.; Lehmler, H. J.; Robertson, L. W.; Duffel, M. W., Sulfation of lower chlorinated polychlorinated biphenyls increases their affinity for the major drug-binding sites of human serum albumin. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* **2016**, *50*, (10), 5320-5327.
- 42. Li, X.; Parkin, S.; Duffel, M. W.; Robertson, L. W.; Lehmler, H.-J., An efficient approach to sulfate metabolites of polychlorinated biphenyls. *Environ. Int.* **2010**, *36*, 843-848.
- Grimm, F. A.; Lehmler, H. J.; He, X.; Robertson, L. W.; Duffel, M. W., Sulfated metabolites of polychlorinated biphenyls are high-affinity ligands for the thyroid hormone transport protein transthyretin. *Environ. Health Perspect.* 2013, *121*, (6), 657-662.
- 44. Lehmler, H. J.; He, X.; Li, X.; Duffel, M. W.; Parkin, S., Effective synthesis of sulfate metabolites of chlorinated phenols. *Chemosphere* **2013**, *93*, 1965-1971.
- 45. Dhakal, K.; Adamcakova-Dodd, A.; Lehmler, H. J.; Thorne, P. S.; Robertson, L. W., Sulfate conjugates are urinary markers of inhalation exposure to 4-chlorobiphenyl (PCB3). *Chem. Res. Toxicol.* **2013**, *26*, (6), 853-5.
- 46. Lunn, N. J.; Servanty, S.; Regehr, E. V.; Converse, S. J.; Richardson, E.; Stirling, I., Demography of an apex predator at the edge of its range: impacts of changing sea ice on polar bears in Hudson Bay. *Ecol Appl* 2016, 26, (5), 1302-1320.
- 47. Mislan, P.; Derocher, A. E.; St. Louis, V. L.; Richardson, E.; Lunn, N. J.; Janz, D. M., Assessing stress in Western Hudson Bay polar bears using hair cortisol concentration as a biomarker. *Ecological Indicators* 2016, 71, 47-54.
- Bromaghin, J. F.; McDonald, T. L.; Stirling, I.; Derocher, A. E.; Richardson, E. S.; Regehr, E. V.; Douglas, D. C.; Durner, G. M.; Atwood, T.; Amstrup, S. C., Polar bear population dynamics in the southern Beaufort Sea during a period of sea ice decline. *Ecol Appl* 2015, *25*, (3), 634-51.
- Schymanski, E. L.; Jeon, J.; Gulde, R.; Fenner, K.; Ruff, M.; Singer, H. P.; Hollender, J., Identifying small molecules via high resolution mass spectrometry: communicating confidence. *Environ Sci Technol* 2014, 48, (4), 2097-8.
- 50. Marchi, I.; Viette, V.; Badoud, F.; Fathi, M.; Saugy, M.; Rudaz, S.; Veuthey, J. L., Characterization and classification of matrix effects in biological samples analyses. *J Chromatogr A* **2010**, *1217*, (25), 4071-8.
- USEPA. Toxicity Estimation Software Tool (TEST). The United States Environmental Protection Agency (US EPA). URL: <u>https://www.epa.gov/chemical-research/toxicity-estimation-software-tool-test</u> (Accessed: Jan 6, 2017).
- Glynn, A.; Berger, U.; Bignert, A.; Ullah, S.; Aune, M.; Lignell, S., Perfluorinated alkyl acids in blood serum from primiparous women in Sweden: serial sampling during pregnancy and nursing, and temporal trends 1996– 2010. *Environ Sci Technol* 2012, 46, (16), 9071-9.
- 53. Liu, Y.; Pereira, A. S.; Beesoon, S.; Vestergren, R.; Berger, U.; Olsen, G. W.; Glynn, A.; Martin, J. W., Temporal trends of perfluorooctanesulfonate isomer and enantiomer patterns in archived Swedish and American serum samples. *Environ Int* **2015**, *75*, 215-22.
- Backe, W. J.; Day, T. C.; Field, J. A., Zwitterionic, cationic, and anionic fluorinated chemicals in aqueous film forming foam formulations and groundwater from U.S. military bases by nonaqueous large-volume injection HPLC-MS/MS. *Environ Sci Technol* 2013, 47, (10), 5226-34.
- 55. Park, J. S.; Petreas, M.; Cohn, B. A.; Cirillo, P. M.; Factor-Litvak, P., Hydroxylated PCB metabolites (OH-PCBs) in archived serum from 1950-60s California mothers: a pilot study. *Environ Int* **2009**, *35*, (6), 937-42.
- Letcher, R. J.; Li, H. X.; Chu, S. G., Determination of hydroxylated polychlorinated biphenyls (HO-PCBs) in blood plasma by high-performance liquid chromatography-electrospray ionization-tandem quadrupole mass spectrometry. *J Anal Toxicol* 2005, *29*, (4), 209-16.
- 57. Letcher, R. Temporal and spatial trends in organic and metal contaminants in Canadian polar bears: 2006-2007 NCP Project summary report.; Government of Nunavut, Department of Environment: 2007.

- Kawano, M.; Hasegawa, J.; Enomoto, T.; Onishi, H.; Nishio, Y.; Matsuda, M.; Wakimoto, T., Hydroxylated polychlorinated biphenyls (OH-PCBs): recent advances in wildlife contamination study. *Environ Sci* 2005, *12*, (6), 315-24.
- Bytingsvik, J.; Lie, E.; Aars, J.; Derocher, A. E.; Wiig, O.; Jenssen, B. M., PCBs and OH-PCBs in polar bear mother-cub pairs: a comparative study based on plasma levels in 1998 and 2008. *Sci Total Environ* 2012, 417-418, 117-28.
- 60. Verreault, J.; Gabrielsen, G. W.; Chu, S.; Muir, D. C.; Andersen, M.; Hamaed, A.; Letcher, R. J., Flame retardants and methoxylated and hydroxylated polybrominated diphenyl ethers in two Norwegian Arctic top predators: glaucous gulls and polar bears. *Environ Sci Technol* **2005**, *39*, (16), 6021-8.
- 61. Sandau, C. D. Analytical chemistry of hydroxylated metabolites of PCBs and other halogenated phenolic compounds in blood and their relationship to thyroid hormone and retinol homeostasis in humans and polar bears. Carleton University Ottawa, ON, Canada, 2000.
- 62. Sandala, G. M.; Sonne-Hansen, C.; Dietz, R.; Muir, D. C.; Valters, K.; Bennett, E. R.; Born, E. W.; Letcher, R. J., Hydroxylated and methyl sulfone PCB metabolites in adipose and whole blood of polar bear (*Ursus maritimus*) from East Greenland. *Sci Total Environ* **2004**, *331*, (1-3), 125-41.
- 63. Loken, K. Determination of OH-PCBs and OH.PBDEs in biological matrices : Method development, identification and quantification. University of Oslo, 2006.
- 64. Sandau, C. D.; Ayotte, P.; Dewailly, E.; Duffe, J.; Norstrom, R. J., Analysis of hydroxylated metabolites of PCBs (OH-PCBs) and other chlorinated phenolic compounds in whole blood from Canadian inuit. *Environ Health Perspect* **2000**, *108*, (7), 611-6.
- 65. Darling, C.; Alaee, M.; Campbell, L.; Pacepavicius, G.; Ueno, D.; Muir, D. C., Hydroxylated PCBs in abiotic environmental matrices: precipitation and surface waters. *Organohalogen Compd* **2004**, *66*, 1470-75.
- 66. Ueno, D.; Darling, C.; Alaee, M.; Campbell, L.; Pacepavicius, G.; Teixeira, C.; Muir, D., Detection of hydroxylated polychlorinated biphenyls (OH-PCBs) in the abiotic environment: surface water and precipitation from Ontario, Canada. *Environ Sci Technol* **2007**, *41*, (6), 1841-8.
- 67. Tehrani, R.; Van Aken, B., Hydroxylated polychlorinated biphenyls in the environment: sources, fate, and toxicities. *Environ Sci Pollut Res Int* **2014**, *21*, (10), 6334-45.
- 68. Marek, R. F.; Martinez, A.; Hornbuckle, K. C., Discovery of hydroxylated polychlorinated biphenyls (OH-PCBs) in sediment from a lake Michigan waterway and original commercial aroclors. *Environ Sci Technol* **2013**, *47*, (15), 8204-10.
- 69. Sakiyama, T.; Yamamoto, A.; Kakutani, N.; Fukuyama, J.; Okumura, T., Hydroxylated polychlorinated biphenyls (OH-PCBs) in the aquatic environment: levels and congener profiles in sediments from Osaka, Japan. *Organohalogen Comp* **2007**, *69*, 1380-83.
- 70. Marek, R. F.; Thorne, P. S.; Herkert, N. J.; Awad, A. M.; Hornbuckle, K. C., Airborne PCBs and OH-PCBs inside and outside urban and rural U.S. schools. *Environ Sci Technol* **2017**, *51*, (14), 7853-7860.
- 71. Campbell, L. M.; Muir, D. C.; Whittle, D. M.; Backus, S.; Norstrom, R. J.; Fisk, A. T., Hydroxylated PCBs and other chlorinated phenolic compounds in lake trout (*Salvelinus namaycush*) blood plasma from the Great Lakes region. *Environ Sci Technol* 2003, *37*, (9), 1720-5.
- 72. Jansson, B.; Jensen, S.; Olsson, M.; Renberg, L.; Sundstr; xf; m, G.; Vaz, R., Identification by GC-MS of phenolic metabolites of PCB and p,p-DDE isolated from baltic guillemot and seal. *Ambio* **1975**, *4*, (2), 93-97.
- 73. June-Soo, P.; Olga, K.; Dianne, K.; Myrto, P., Polychlorinated biphenyls (PCBs) and their hydroxylated metabolites (OH-PCBs) in livers of harbor seals (*Phoca vitulina*) from San Francisco Bay, California and Gulf of Maine. *Mar Environ Res* **2009**, *67*, (3), 129.
- 74. Park, J. S.; Kalantzi, O. I.; Kopec, D.; Petreas, M., Polychlorinated biphenyls (PCBs) and their hydroxylated metabolites (OH-PCBs) in livers of harbor seals (*Phoca vitulina*) from San Francisco Bay, California and Gulf of Maine. *Mar Environ Res* 2009, 67, (3), 129-35.
- Dhakal, K.; He, X.; Lehmler, H. J.; Teesch, L. M.; Duffel, M. W.; Robertson, L. W., Identification of sulfated metabolites of 4-chlorobiphenyl (PCB3) in the serum and urine of male rats. *Chem Res Toxicol* 2012, 25, (12), 2796-804.
- 76. Grimm, F. A.; He, X.; Teesch, L. M.; Lehmler, H. J.; Robertson, L. W.; Duffel, M. W., Tissue distribution, metabolism, and excretion of 3,3'-dichloro-4'-sulfooxy-biphenyl in the rat. *Environ Sci Technol* **2015**, *49*, (13),

8087-95.

- 77. Zhai, G.; Lehmler, H. J.; Schnoor, J. L., Sulfate metabolites of 4-monochlorobiphenyl in whole poplar plants. *Environ Sci Technol* **2013**, *47*, (1), 557-62.
- 78. Grimm, F. A.; Lehmler, H. J.; Koh, W. X.; DeWall, J.; Teesch, L. M.; Hornbuckle, K. C.; Thorne, P. S.; Robertson, L. W.; Duffel, M. W., Identification of a sulfate metabolite of PCB 11 in human serum. *Environ Int* 2017, 98, 120-128.
- 79. Sacco, J. C.; James, M. O., Sulfonation of environmental chemicals and their metabolites in the polar bear (*Ursus maritimus*). *Drug Metab Dispos* **2005**, *33*, (9), 1341-1348.
- 80. Grimm, F. A.; Lehmler, H. J.; He, X.; Robertson, L. W.; Duffel, M. W., Sulfated metabolites of polychlorinated biphenyls are high-affinity ligands for the thyroid hormone transport protein transthyretin. *Environ Health Perspect* **2013**, *121*, (6), 657-62.
- 81. Dhakal, K.; Adamcakova-Dodd, A.; Lehmler, H. J.; Thorne, P. S.; Robertson, L. W., Sulfate conjugates are urinary markers of inhalation exposure to 4-chlorobiphenyl (PCB3). *Chem Res Toxicol* **2013**, *26*, (6), 853-5.
- Pihlaja, K.; Ovcharenko, V. V.; Zakrzewski, A.; Gawinecki, R., Electron impact induced fragmentation of (p-substituted phenyl)-(4'-methylphenacyl) sulfones: contribution of sulfinate ester rearrangements. *Rapid Commun Mass Spectrom* 2000, 14, (18), 1674-6.
- 83. Baarschers, W. H.; Krupay, B. W., Mass spectra of some sulfinate esters and sulfones. *Can J Chem* **1973**, *51*, (2), 156-161.
- 84. Baarschers, W.; Buhlman, P.; Pretsch, E., Sulfur compounds. In *Structure Determination of Organic Compounds: Tables of Spectral Data*, 4 ed.; Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg: 2009; pp 374-376.
- 85. Jensen, S.; Jansson, B., Anthropogenic substances in seal from the Baltic: methyl sulfone metabolites of PCB and DDE. *Ambio* **1976**, *5*, (5/6), 257-260.
- Pihlaja, K., Mass Spectra of Sulfoxides and Sulfones. In *Sulphones and Sulphoxides (1988)*, John Wiley & Sons, Ltd: 2006; pp 125-164.
- 87. Haraguchi, K.; Kuroki, H.; Masuda, Y., Determination of hydroxy methylsulfone metabolites of PCB in Yusho patients. *Chemosphere* **1987**, *16*, (8), 2033-2038.
- Andreu, V.; Picó, Y., Determination of linear alkylbenzenesulfonates and their degradation products in soils by liquid chromatography-electrospray-ion trap multiple-stage mass spectrometry. *Anal Chem* 2004, *76*, (10), 2878-2885.
- Benskin, J. P.; Bataineh, M.; Martin, J. W., Simultaneous characterization of perfluoroalkyl carboxylate, sulfonate, and sulfonamide isomers by liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry. *Anal Chem* 2007, *79*, (17), 6455-64.
- Li, H.; Drouillard, K. G.; Bennett, E.; Haffner, G. D.; Letcher, R. J., Plasma-associated halogenated phenolic contaminants in benthic and pelagic fish species from the Detroit River. *Environ Sci Technol* 2003, 37, (5), 832-9.
- 91. Hovander, L.; Malmberg, T.; Athanasiadou, M.; Athanassiadis, I.; Rahm, S.; Bergman, A.; Wehler, E. K., Identification of hydroxylated PCB metabolites and other phenolic halogenated pollutants in human blood plasma. *Arch Environ Contam Toxicol* **2002**, *42*, (1), 105-17.
- 92. Sandau, C. D.; Meerts, I. A. T. M., Identification of 4-hydroxyheptachlorostyrene in polar bear plasma and its binding affinity to transhyretin: a metabolite of octachlorostyrene. *Environ Sci Technol* **2000**, *34*, (18), 3871.
- 93. Nenajdenko, V., Fluorine in Heterocyclic Chemistry Volume 2 : 6-Membered Heterocycles. Springer: New York, 2014.
- 94. Kosjek, K.; Health, E., Halogenated heterocycles as pharmaceuticals. In *Halogenated Heterocycles: Synthesis, Application and Environment*, Iskra, J., Ed. Springer Science & Business Media: 2012.
- 95. Maslankiewicz, A.; Marciniec, K.; Pawlowski, M.; Zajdel, P., From haloquinolines and halopyridines to quinoline- and pyridinesulfonyl chilorides and sulfonamides. *Heterocycles* **2007**, *71*, (9), 1975-90.
- Nosova, E. V.; Mochul'skaya, N. N.; Kotovskaya, S. K.; Lipunova, G. N.; Charushin, V. N., Fluorinated benzazoles and benzazines. *Heteroatom Chemistry* 2006, 17, (6), 579-594.
- 97. Hole, M. Highyl fluorinated quinoline. Durham University, 1966.
- 98. Snedeker, S. M., Pesticides and breast cancer risk: a review of DDT, DDE, and dieldrin. *Environ Health Perspect* **2001**, *109 Suppl 1*, 35-47.
- 99. Letcher, R. J.; Gebbink, W. A.; Sonne, C.; Born, E. W.; McKinney, M. A.; Dietz, R., Bioaccumulation and

biotransformation of brominated and chlorinated contaminants and their metabolites in ringed seals (*Pusa hispida*) and polar bears (*Ursus maritimus*) from East Greenland. *Environ Int* **2009**, *35*, (8), 1118-24.

- 100. Hellou, J.; Lebeuf, M.; Rudi, M., Review on DDT and metabolites in birds and mammals of aquatic ecosystems. *Environ Rev* **2012**, *21*, (1), 53-69.
- 101. Letcher, R. J.; Norstrom, R. J.; Muir, D. C. G., Biotransformation versus bioaccumulation: sources of methyl sulfone PCB and 4,4^c-DDE metabolites in the polar bear food chain. *Environ Sci Technol* **1998**, *32*, (11), 1656-1661.
- 102. Letcher, R. J.; Norstrom, R. J.; Bergman, A., Geographical distribution and identification of methyl sulphone PCB and DDE metabolites in pooled polar bear (*Ursus maritimus*) adipose tissue from western hemisphere arctic and subarctic regions. *Sci Total Environ* 1995, *160-161*, 409-20.
- 103. Laganà, A.; Fago, G.; Fasciani, L.; Marino, A.; Mosso, M., Determination of diphenyl-ether herbicides and metabolites in natural waters using high-performance liquid chromatography with diode array tandem mass spectrometric detection. *Analytica Chimica Acta* 2000, 414, (1–2), 79-94.
- 104. Pretsch, E.; Buhlman, P.; Badertscher, M., Nitro Compounds. In Structure Determination of Organic Compounds: Tables of Spectral Data, Springer Science & Business Media: 2009; pp 364-366.
- 105. Pavia, D. L.; Lampman, G. M.; Kriz, G. S.; Vyvyan, J. R., Fragmentation patterns of other nitrogen compounds. In *Introduction to spectroscopy, Fifth edition.*, Stamford, CT: Cengage Learning: 2015.
- 106. Ju, K. S.; Parales, R. E., Nitroaromatic compounds, from synthesis to biodegradation. *Microbiol Mol Biol Rev* **2010**, *74*, (2), 250-72.
- 107. Adams, F., Anthropogenic contaminants. Springer Berlin Heidelberg: Berlin, Heidelberg, 1990; Vol. 3K.
- 108. Costlow, R. D.; Hirsekorn, J. M.; Stiratelli, R. G.; O'Hara, G. P.; Black, D. L.; Kane, W. W.; Burke, S. S.; Smith, J. M.; Hayes, A. W., The effects on rat pups when nitrofen (4-(2,4-dichlorophenoxy)nitrobenzene) was applied dermally to the dam during organogenesis. *Toxicology* **1983**, *28*, (1-2), 37-50.
- 109. De Silva, A. O.; Spencer, C.; Scott, B. F.; Backus, S.; Muir, D. C., Detection of a cyclic perfluorinated acid, perfluoroethylcyclohexane sulfonate, in the Great Lakes of North America. *Environ Sci Technol* 2011, 45, (19), 8060-6.
- 110. Solla, S. R.; De Silva, A. O.; Letcher, R. J., Highly elevated levels of perfluorooctane sulfonate and other perfluorinated acids found in biota and surface water downstream of an international airport, Hamilton, Ontario, Canada. *Environ Int* **2012**, *39*, (1), 19-26.
- 111. Wang, Y.; Vestergren, R.; Shi, Y.; Cao, D.; Xu, L.; Cai, Y.; Zhao, X.; Wu, F., Identification, Tissue Distribution, and Bioaccumulation Potential of Cyclic Perfluorinated Sulfonic Acids Isomers in an Airport Impacted Ecosystem. *Environ Sci Technol* 2016, *50*, (20), 10923-10932.
- 112. Houde, M.; Douville, M.; Despatie, S. P.; De Silva, A. O.; Spencer, C., Induction of gene responses in St. Lawrence River northern pike (*Esox lucius*) environmentally exposed to perfluorinated compounds. *Chemosphere* **2013**, *92*, (9), 1195-200.
- 113. Lescord, G. L.; Kidd, K. A.; De Silva, A. O.; Williamson, M.; Spencer, C.; Wang, X.; Muir, D. C., Perfluorinated and polyfluorinated compounds in lake food webs from the Canadian high Arctic. *Environ Sci Technol* 2015, 49, (5), 2694-702.
- 114. Barzen-Hanson, K. A.; Roberts, S. C.; Choyke, S.; Oetjen, K.; McAlees, A.; Riddell, N.; McCrindle, R.; Ferguson, P. L.; Higgins, C. P.; Field, J. A., Discovery of 40 classes of per- and polyfluoroalkyl substances in historical aqueous film-forming foams (AFFFs) and AFFF-impacted groundwater. *Environ Sci Technol* 2017, *51*, (4), 2047-2057.
- 115. Baduel, C.; Mueller, J. F.; Rotander, A.; Corfield, J.; Gomez-Ramos, M. J., Discovery of novel per- and polyfluoroalkyl substances (PFASs) at a fire fighting training ground and preliminary investigation of their fate and mobility. *Chemosphere* **2017**, *185*, 1030-1038.
- 116. Dimzon, I. K.; Trier, X.; Frömel, T.; Helmus, R.; Knepper, T. P.; de Voogt, P., High resolution mass spectrometry of polyfluorinated polyether-based formulation. J Am Soc Mass Spectrom 2016, 27, (2), 309-318.
- 117. Strynar, M.; Dagnino, S.; McMahen, R.; Liang, S.; Lindstrom, A.; Andersen, E.; McMillan, L.; Thurman, M.; Ferrer, I.; Ball, C., Identification of novel perfluoroalkyl ether carboxylic acids (PFECAs) and sulfonic Acids (PFESAs) in natural waters using accurate mass time-of-flight mass spectrometry (TOFMS). *Environ Sci Technol* 2015, 49, (19), 11622-30.

- 118. Pretsch, E.; Buhlman, P.; Badertscher, M., Summary Tables. In *Structure Determination of Organic Compounds: Tables of Spectral Data*, Springer Science & Business Media: 2009; pp 35-39.
- 119. Ricci, A.; Piccolella, S., From the collisionally induced dissociation to the enzyme-mediated reactions: the electron flux within the lignan furanic ring. In *Tandem Mass Spectrometry - Applications and Principles*, Prasain, J. K., Ed. Andreina Ricci and Simona Piccolella: 2012.
- 120. SIOCCAS, Preparation of F-53 and its application in chrome mist suppression. Shanghai Institute of Organic Chemistry at Chinese Academy of Sciences (SIOCCAS). *Mater Prot* **1976**, *3*, (3), 27.
- 121. Ruan, T.; Lin, Y.; Wang, T.; Liu, R.; Jiang, G., Identification of novel polyfluorinated ether sulfonates as PFOS alternatives in municipal sewage sludge in China. *Environ Sci Technol* **2015**, *49*, (11), 6519-27.
- 122. Wang, S.; Huang, J.; Yang, Y.; Hui, Y.; Ge, Y.; Larssen, T.; Yu, G.; Deng, S.; Wang, B.; Harman, C., First report of a Chinese PFOS alternative overlooked for 30 years: its toxicity, persistence, and presence in the environment. *Environ Sci Technol* **2013**, *47*, (18), 10163-70.
- 123. Liu, W.; Qin, H.; Li, J.; Zhang, Q.; Zhang, H.; Wang, Z.; He, X., Atmospheric chlorinated polyfluorinated ether sulfonate and ionic perfluoroalkyl acids in 2006 to 2014 in Dalian, China. *Environ Toxicol Chem* **2017**.
- 124. Shi, Y.; Vestergren, R.; Zhou, Z.; Song, X.; Xu, L.; Liang, Y.; Cai, Y., Tissue distribution and whole body burden of the chlorinated polyfluoroalkyl ether sulfonic acid F-53B in crucian carp (*Carassius carassius*): evidence for a highly bioaccumulative contaminant of emerging concern. *Environ Sci Technol* 2015, 49, (24), 14156-65.
- 125. Pan, Y.; Zhu, Y.; Zheng, T.; Cui, Q.; Buka, S. L.; Zhang, B.; Guo, Y.; Xia, W.; Yeung, L. W.; Li, Y.; Zhou, A.; Qiu, L.; Liu, H.; Jiang, M.; Wu, C.; Xu, S.; Dai, J., Novel chlorinated polyfluorinated ether sulfonates and legacy per-/polyfluoroalkyl substances: placental transfer and relationship with serum albumin and glomerular filtration rate. *Environ Sci Technol* **2017**, *51*, (1), 634-644.
- 126. Shi, Y.; Vestergren, R.; Xu, L.; Zhou, Z.; Li, C.; Liang, Y.; Cai, Y., Human exposure and elimination kinetics of chlorinated polyfluoroalkyl ether sulfonic acids (Cl-PFESAs). *Environ Sci Technol* **2016**, *50*, (5), 2396-404.
- 127. Gebbink, W. A.; Bossi, R.; Riget, F. F.; Rosing-Asvid, A.; Sonne, C.; Dietz, R., Observation of emerging perand polyfluoroalkyl substances (PFASs) in Greenland marine mammals. *Chemosphere* **2016**, *144*, 2384-91.
- 128. Shi, G.; Cui, Q.; Pan, Y.; Sheng, N.; Sun, S.; Guo, Y.; Dai, J., 6:2 Chlorinated polyfluorinated ether sulfonate, a PFOS alternative, induces embryotoxicity and disrupts cardiac development in zebrafish embryos. *Aquat Toxicol* **2017**, *185*, 67-75.
- 129. Gebbink, W. A.; Sonne, C.; Dietz, R.; Kirkegaard, M.; Riget, F. F.; Born, E. W.; Muir, D. C.; Letcher, R. J., Tissue-specific congener composition of organohalogen and metabolite contaminants in East Greenland polar bears (*Ursus maritimus*). *Environ Pollut* **2008**, *152*, (3), 621-9.
- 130. van den Berg, K. J., Interaction of chlorinated phenols with thyroxine binding sites of human transthyretin, albumin and thyroid binding globulin. *Chem Biol Interact* **1990**, *76*, (1), 63-75.
- 131. Gutleb, A. C.; Cenijn, P.; Velzen, M. v.; Lie, E.; Ropstad, E.; Skaare, J. U.; Malmberg, T.; Bergman, Å.; Gabrielsen, G. W.; Legler, J., In vitro assay shows that PCB metabolites completely saturate thyroid hormone transport capacity in blood of wild polar bears (*Ursus maritimus*). *Environ Sci Technol* 2010, 44, (8), 3149-3154.
- 132. Purkey, H. E.; Palaninathan, S. K.; Kent, K. C.; Smith, C.; Safe, S. H.; Sacchettini, J. C.; Kelly, J. W., Hydroxylated polychlorinated biphenyls selectively bind transthyretin in blood and inhibit amyloidogenesis: rationalizing rodent PCB toxicity. *Chem Biol* **2004**, *11*, (12), 1719-28.
- 133. Ucan-Marin, F.; Arukwe, A.; Mortensen, A. S.; Gabrielsen, G. W.; Letcher, R. J., Recombinant albumin and transthyretin transport proteins from two gull species and human: chlorinated and brominated contaminant binding and thyroid hormones. *Environ Sci Technol* **2010**, *44*, (1), 497-504.
- 134. Jones, P. D.; Hu, W.; De Coen, W.; Newsted, J. L.; Giesy, J. P., Binding of perfluorinated fatty acids to serum proteins. *Environ Toxicol Chem* **2003**, *22*, (11), 2639-49.
- 135. Haraguchi, K.; Kato, Y.; Koga, N.; Degawa, M., Metabolism of polychlorinated biphenyls by Gunn rats: identification and serum retention of catechol metabolites. *Chem Res Toxicol* **2004**, *17*, (12), 1684-91.
- 136. McLean, M. R.; Bauer, U.; Amaro, A. R.; Robertson, L. W., Identification of catechol and hydroquinone metabolites of 4-monochlorobiphenyl. *Chem Res Toxicol* **1996**, *9*, (1), 158-64.
- 137. Lu, Z.; Kania-Korwel, I.; Lehmler, H. J.; Wong, C. S., Stereoselective formation of mono- and dihydroxylated polychlorinated biphenyls by rat cytochrome P450 2B1. *Environ Sci Technol* **2013**, *47*, (21), 12184-92.

- 138. Letcher, R. J.; Klasson-Wehler, E.; Bergman, A., Methyl Sulfone and Hydroxylated Metabolites of Polychlorinated Biphenyls. In *The Handbook of Environmental Chemistry Vol. 3 Part K New Types of Persistent Halogenated Compounds*, Paasivirta, J., Ed. pringer-Verlag Berlin 2000; Vol. 3.
- 139. Kalkhoff, S. J.; Kolpin, D. W.; Thurman, E. M.; Ferrer, I.; Barcelo, D., Degradation of chloroacetanilide herbicides: the prevalence of sulfonic and oxanilic acid metabolites in Iowa groundwaters and surface waters. *Environ Sci Technol* **1998**, *32*, (11), 1738-1740.
- 140. Feng, P. C. C., Soil transformation of acetochlor via glutathione conjugation. *Pesticide Biochemistry and Physiology* **1991**, *40*, (2), 136-142.
- 141. Aga, D. S.; Thurman, E. M.; Yockel, M. E.; Zimmerman, L. R.; Williams, T. D., Identification of a new sulfonic acid metabolite of metolachlor in soil. *Environmental Science & Technology* **1996**, *30*, (2), 592-597.
- 142. Aga, D. S.; Thurman, E. M., Formation and transport of the sulfonic acid metabolites of alachlor and metolachlor in soil. *Environ Sci Technol* 2001, *35*, (12), 2455-60.
- 143. Dagnac, T.; Jeannot, R.; Mouvet, C.; Baran, N., Determination of oxanilic and sulfonic acid metabolites of acetochlor in soils by liquid chromatography-electrospray ionisation mass spectrometry. J Chromatogr A 2002, 957, (1), 69-77.
- 144. Lamoureux, G. L.; Rusness, D. G., Propachlor metabolism in soybean plants, excised soybean tissues, and soil. *Pest Biochem Physiol* **1989**, *34*, (3), 187-204.
- 145. Chen, L. J.; Lebetkin, E. H.; Burka, L. T., Metabolism of (R)(+)-menthofuran in Fischer-344 rats: identification of sulfonic acid metabolites. *Drug Metab Dispos* 2003, 31, (10), 1208.
- 146. He, X.; Li, J.; Gao, H.; Qiu, F.; Hu, K.; Cui, X.; Yao, X., Identification of a rare sulfonic acid metabolite of andrographolide in rats. *Drug Metab Dispos* **2003**, *31*, (8), 983-5.
- 147. Yoshino, H.; Matsunaga, H.; Kaneko, H.; Yoshitake, A.; Nakatsuka, I.; Yamada, H., Metabolism of N-[4-chloro-2-fluoro-5-[(1-methyl-2-propynyl)oxy]phenyl]-3,4,5,6-tetrahydrophthalimide (S-23121) in the rat: I. Identification of a new, sulphonic acid type of conjugate. *Xenobiotica* **1993**, *23*, (6), 609-619.
- 148. Field, J. A.; Thurman, E. M., Glutathione conjugation and contaminant transformation. *Environ Sci Technol* **1996**, *30*, (5), 1413-1418.
- 149. Parkinson, A.; Ogilvie, B. W., Glutathione Conjugation. In *Casarett and Doull's Toxicology: the Basic Science of Poisons*, 7th ed.; Klaasse, C. D., Ed. McGraw-Hill Medical Publishing Divison: 2008; pp 284-93.
- 150. Schiff, J. A.; Hodson, R. C., The metabolism of sulfate. Annu Rev Plant Physiol 1973, 24, (1), 381-414.
- 151. Tampal, N.; Lehmler, H. J.; Espandiari, P.; Malmberg, T.; Robertson, L. W., Glucuronidation of hydroxylated polychlorinated biphenyls (PCBs). *Chem Res Toxicol* **2002**, *15*, (10), 1259-66.
- 152. Sacco, J. C.; Lehmler, H. J.; Robertson, L. W.; Li, W.; James, M. O., Glucuronidation of polychlorinated biphenylols and UDP-glucuronic acid concentrations in channel catfish liver and intestine. *Drug Metab Dispos* 2008, 36, (4), 623-30.
- 153. Sacco, J. C.; James, M. O., Glucuronidation in the polar bear (Ursus maritimus). *Mar Environ Res* **2004**, *58*, (2-5), 475-9.
- 154. Bakke, J. E.; Bergman, A. L.; Brandt, I.; Darnerud, P.; Struble, C., Metabolism of the mercapturic acid of 2,4',5-trichlorobiphenyl in rats and mice. *Xenobiotica* **1983**, *13*, (10), 597-605.
- 155. AMAP. AMAP Assessment 2015: Temporal trends in persistent organic pollutants in the Arctic; Arctic Monitoring and Assessment Programme (AMAP): Oslo, Norway, 2016.
- 156. Dietz, R.; Riget, F. F.; Sonne, C.; Born, E. W.; Bechshoft, T.; McKinney, M. A.; Letcher, R. J., Three decades (1983-2010) of contaminant trends in East Greenland polar bears (*Ursus maritimus*). Part 1: legacy organochlorine contaminants. *Environ Int* 2013, 59, 485-93.

Chapter 6. Summary, Conclusions and Future Work

6.1 Summary and Conclusions

6.1.1 Background and Problems

The global distribution,^{1, 2} extreme persistence,³ high bioaccumulation potential⁴ and toxicological effects of long-chain PFASs⁵⁻⁷ have led to increasing human and environmental health concern. Since the year 2000, industrial phase-outs⁸⁻¹⁰ as well as domestic and international restrictions and regulations⁹⁻¹⁶ have been enacted to minimize future human and environmental exposure. These actions have led to a general transitioning towards manufacturing of alternative-PFASs, as well as a geographic shift of PFAS manufacturing into countries with fewer restrictions.

The 3M Company (3M Co.), historically the world's largest PFAS manufacturer, phased out its PFOS and PreFOS production between years 2000 and 2002.¹⁷ Since then, there has been a general decreasing trend in PFOS concentrations in human serum samples collected in North America¹⁸⁻²¹ and Europe.²²⁻²⁵ However, how these trends have been, or will continue to be, influenced by relative changes in direct PFOS or indirect PreFOS exposure was not known. As unknown amounts of PFOS and PreFOS continue to be produced for exempted applications, and as unknown quantities of historically emitted PreFOS continue to degrade in the environment, humans are expected to be exposed to PFOS long into the future. Understanding the relative PFOS and PreFOS contribution will help to understand major exposure sources and may allow prediction of future exposure.

According to very limited publically available information, short-chain PFASs and structurally modified long-chain PFASs are the two major alternatives that are currently being produced.²⁶ However, the types of modified structures used in alternative-PFASs largely remain unknown, and the fact that these alternatives are still polyfluoro-based raises concerns about their persistence and safety. Historically, structurally similar hydrochlorofluorocarbons were used to replace chlorofluorocarbons,²⁷ but turned out still to be hazardous. Discovery of such unknown

alternative-PFASs near their sources will reveal what PFASs are now being used, and which may continue to represent an environmental hazard in the future, thereby enabling early safety evaluation studies before they become global contaminants.

6.1.2 Thesis Scope

With the aim of understanding overall current and future human PFAS exposure, my thesis has been focused on two research questions: (1) what is the relative amount of human PFOS exposure that comes from PreFOS, and how has this been changing since the widespread discovery of PFOS and its precursors in human biofluids, and (2) to what alternative PFASs are we likely to be exposed to in the future. Question (1) was addressed in Chapter 2, by exploring the temporal trends of PFOS isomers and enantiomers as biomarkers of relative PreFOS exposure in the U.S and Swedish populations. Question (2) was addressed in Chapters 3 and 4 through method development of a non-target analytical approach and workflow that effectively enabled several organofluorine discoveries in fluorochemical industry wastewater, as well as in downstream fish in China, which is now the major PFAS production center in the world. In **Chapter 5** an effective sample preparation step, based on stir-bar sorptive extraction (SBSE), was paired with the untargeted analytical workflow to discover other unique PFASs in polar bears, and serendipitously led to discovery of hundreds of previously unrecognized organochlorine contaminants and associated metabolites in serum of polar bears from two populations. Thus, the thesis research succeeded in answering the general questions that were set out, but also served to demonstrate the power of non-target analysis to discover, not only new contaminants, but also old ones which have eluded detection for many decades.

6.1.3 How We Are and Will Be Exposed to PFOS

Archived human serum samples from an American and Swedish population were examined for PFOS isomer and enantiomer profiles in **Chapter 2**, both of which were previously proposed as biomarkers of relative PreFOS exposure in humans.¹ Both biomarkers indicated a relative increasing importance of PreFOS exposure in the Swedish population from 1996 to 2010. In the U.S. population, no temporal trend was observed but clear age and sex differences were observed for both biomarkers. Specifically, males and older people had significantly higher PreFOS exposure than females and younger people for all the 5 years between 1975 and 2010.

The study of both populations suggested that despite overall decreasing PFOS in all humans since the 3M phase-out, the fraction of exposure from PreFOS has declined more slowly than direct PFOS exposure. Based on conservative assumptions and the PFOS isomer and enantiomer profiles, the amount of PFOS in human serum from PreFOS has increased from 3 - 7% in 1995 to 13 - 21% in 2010 in the Swedish population, and may continue to trend upwards in the future. This raises some concern over PreFOS, a vast group of PFASs that has the same long history as PFOS, and that has probably been emitted in even greater amounts than PFOS,^{28, 29} even though only a few molecules have historically been monitored. Future studies on PreFOS are suggested to reveal their chemical identities, to elucidate their exposure sources and potential for adverse biological effects. A focus on exposure to older males may be most relevant.

PFOS has almost always been the most prominent legacy long-chain PFAS detected in various samples,¹ and was the first PFAS to be phased out⁸ or regulated.³⁰ This PFOS study therefore shed light on overall legacy long-chain PFAS exposure, probably suggesting an overall increasingly important precursor exposure and highlighting future research needs for identifying historically unknown PFASs, which led us to **Chapter 3**.

6.1.4 What Other PFASs May Be Entering the Environment?

6.1.4.1 Non-target PFAS Discovery Method Development

The large unknowns in alternative-PFAS that are currently being produced, and of unknown precursors to legacy PFAAs that have historically been emitted represent an important source of uncertainty for environmental and human health risk assessment. In **Chapter 3**, by using a wastewater sample discharged from a fluorochemical industrial park in China, I developed a fast and sensitive non-target PFAS discovery method on an HPLC-Orbitrap MS.

The method has the following characteristics: (1) the in-source fragmentation spectra, collected parallel to full-scan spectra, allow minute PFAS signals to be revealed from massive background signals, thereby simplifying and accelerating PFAS signal filtering; (2) the in-source fragmentation scans, which are performed by applying a voltage in the source (e.g. in the S-lens areas for Orbitrap EliteTM), can be achieved in all commercialized HRMS, making its application in other HRMS systems quite straightforward; (3) the in-line SPE technique allows up to 5 mL of sample to be injected and analyzed, greatly boosting method sensitivity to a level (0.005 - 0.2

ng/mL) comparable to target MRM-analysis on triple quadrupole or quadrupole ion trap MS systems;³¹ and (4) the method has the potential to be used for discovering any class of compound which can fragment to produce characteristic ions in the source (e.g. chlorinated compounds can produce Cl⁻, brominated compounds can produce Br⁻).

Historically, identification of environmental contaminants could only be performed with targeted methods and authentic standards, and with a hypothesis that an analyte should be present. Recent advances in HRMS raise new possibilities for early discovery of environmental contaminants without such *a priori* information. The establishment of this non-target method will greatly facilitate the discovery of unknown PFASs, and potentially other contaminants, thereby contributing to minimizing widespread contamination of our environment in the future.

6.1.4.2 Non-target PFAS Discovery in Environmental and Biological Samples

Since around the year 2000, there has been a global shift in PFAS manufacturing from developed countries towards emerging economies in countries like China and India. In contrast to the decreasing PFOS concentrations in Westerners,²²⁻²⁵ PFOS in residents in Shenyang, China, has surged from 1.8 ng/mL in 1999³² to 79 ng/mL in 2004,³³ and up to 31400 ng/mL of PFOS was detected in serum of Chinese fishermen in 2013.³⁴ This, along with limited industrial data,^{35, 36} suggests that China has probably become one of the most important and active PFAS production centers in the world. Unknown PFAS identification in samples from China is therefore of particular importance, and will likely help to reveal the major alternative classes that are being manufactured and marketed in China, and perhaps exported around the world.

In the industrial wastewater sample from China (**Chapter 3**), 5 new homologous classes (36 analytes) of PFASs with carbon chains ranging from 5 to 17 were discovered, composed mostly of hydro- or chlorine-substituted legacy PFCAs and PFSAs. While the hydro-substituted PFASs could be a type of alternatives, where hydrogen was inserted to make the compound easier to degrade, the chlorinated compounds are likely to have bioaccumulation potentials that rival or exceed their perfluorinated counterparts.

Further in non-target PFAS discovery, and specifically to understand the environmental relevance and possibility for bioaccumulation of the discovered PFASs, we analyzed fish samples (**Chapter 4**) collected from two water systems in China, one of which was downstream of the WWTP sampled in **Chapter 3**. Pooled fish livers were extracted with an off-line SPE

method and subjected to HPLC-Orbitrap for analysis. In total, 10 classes of new PFASs (>330 analytes) were revealed, with 4 classes not previously reported in any samples. The discovered PFASs are composed of unsaturated/cyclic-, ether-, carbonyl- or chlorine-substituted PFASs, two classes of poly/perfluoroamines and a perfluorinated N-heterocyclics. Only ketone- and ether-PFASs are known to have been produced intentionally in recent years by some companies as alternative PFASs,³⁷ and it is unclear whether the other detected structures were from historical or contemporary PFAS production and emission.

Chapter 3 and **Chapter 4** suggested that vast numbers of unknown PFASs have been, or are, currently manufactured and emitted in China. Most of the discovered PFASs are indeed structurally modified. While the persistence of structurally modified PFASs is still a question requiring extensive study, most of them (61 out of the total 73 homologues) have $v\geq 8$ carbons and thus have high potential to bioaccumulate. For example, in **Chapter 4**, both the C₈- and C₉ monoether-PFASs, against a PFOS calibration curve, were semi-quantified to be present at ~50 ng/g w.w. in fish livers. As expected, the chlorinated PFCAs discovered in the upstream wastewater sample in **Chapter 3**, were also detected in the downstream fish samples (**Chapter 4**), confirming their bioavailability and suggesting a bioaccumulation potential. In addition, the discovery of per/polyfluoroamines and perfluorinated N-heterocycles is intriguing and worth special attention as their structures are very different from legacy PFASs, and are estimated to be present at extreme concentrations (e.g. **Class 8** perfluoroamine 630 ng/g w.w. and C₁₂-perfluoro-N-heterocycle 210 ng/g w.w. in bream fish).

6.1.4.3 Non-target Halogenated Organic Discoveries in Polar Bears

To explore the potential of the developed non-target method in **Chapter 3**, I further applied it to polar bear serum samples in **Chapter 5**. Polar bears have long been known to be exposed to high levels of hazardous organohalogen contaminants,^{38, 39} and previous work has suggested an unknown fraction of thyroid disruptors in polar bear serum.^{40, 41}

To increase signal intensities for non-target PFASs and chlorinated contaminants in polar bear serum, a SBSE method was developed using polyethersulfone segments as the sorptive material to concentrate analytes in 5 mL serum samples. Compared to the commonly used SPE sample preparation method in environmental field, SBSE can work with much higher volumes of samples (e.g. 100 mL wastewater⁴²) without significantly increasing the cost. However, on the

other hand, only two types of commercialized coated stir bars, PDMS^{43, 44} and PDMS/ethylene glycol,⁴⁵ are currently available. The development of more sorptive materials for SBSE, as the various packing materials used in SPE cartridges, is therefore highly desired.

Polar bear serum from individual bears, collected in various years, from two Canadian Arctic regions were pooled by location, extracted by a SBSE method, and subjected to the HPLC-Orbitrap method for analysis. In total, 4 PFAS classes (>30 analytes) and 12 chlorinated classes were discovered (>280 analytes, including 7 PCB metabolite classes, 4 other polychloro-aromatic classes, and 1 uncharacterized polychlorinated classes). Among them, 9 classes, including 5 PCB metabolite classes, were reported for the first time in polar bears.

The successful discovery of an array of previously unrecognized PFASs and chlorinated substances in polar bears, demonstrates the capability of the non-target PFAS method (**Chapter 3**) to discover other classes of contaminants, and indicates that historical exposure to halogenated contaminants in polar bears has been substantially underestimated and not fully understood. The wider relevance of these discoveries to the Arctic marine foodweb, to Inuit, and to background populations around the world has yet to be established.

6.2 Future Work

Overall, this thesis contributes to the understanding of past and future human PFAS exposure: legacy long-chain PFAS exposure will continue, and the relative importance of precursors is likely to increase. In today's source regions, a vast array of previously unknown PFASs are being emitted to our environment and could result in persist long term effects over a much broader area. As suggested in **Chapter 5**, wildlife and humans have likely been long-exposed to a greater number of legacy contaminants, or their transformation products, than previously understood. While two major research questions were answered in this thesis, some new research questions arose at the same time.

In **Chapter 2**, while the U.S. samples showed clear age and gender differences, the study failed to show any temporal trend for PreFOS exposure. Future studies on better temporal samples (e.g. larger sample sizes, smaller sampling gaps, and higher homogeneity) could help to clarify future human PFOS exposure in that country. From a broad perspective, similar studies exploring the relative direct exposure and indirect precursor exposure should be performed for

other long-chain PFASs, especially those are currently showing upward trends (e.g. C_9-C_{11} PFCAs and PFHxS, **Table 1**), and in more countries for a better understanding of overall human exposure trends around the world.

As indicated by the study in **Chapter 2**, precursor exposures are likely gaining in relative importance. However, in the non-target discovery studies in **Chapters 3-5**, PreFOS molecules were not discovered. While this could be due to the low abundance of such precursors in the tested samples, the single use of negative electrospray mode is likely another possible reason. Barzen-Hanson⁴⁶ have recently reported some previously unknown PreFOS molecules using positive electrospray mode. In the future, positive mode, as well as different ionization modes (e.g. APCI, APPI) should also be run to better recognize the spectrum of unknown PFASs that are currently present in our environment. New non-target discovery techniques should also be explored. Peng *et al.*⁴⁷ recently developed a data-independent precursor isolation and characteristic fragment method for brominated compound discovery on Orbitrap Q Exactive, and ABSciex has also released a Triple TOF[®] 6600 system featuring *SWATH* (i.e., MS/MS^{ALL}) function.⁴⁸ Also, with GC-HRMS (e.g. Q ExactiveTM GC Orbitrap⁴⁹) becoming available, non-target discovery of less- or even non-polar PFASs, if there are any, becomes feasible.

The non-target PFAS discovery work in **Chapters 3-5** revealed previously unknown PFASs and chlorinated substances, and downstream studies of these contaminants should be conducted to understand their distribution, toxicological profiles and their overall risks. For example, a temporal trend study of these new compounds will help to determine whether they are increasing in samples, and thus worth of special attention in the future.

As demonstrated in **Chapter 5**, the developed non-target PFAS discovery method has great potential to be applied for identifying other types of environmental contaminants than PFASs alone, and such trials in the future should be encouraged. Further, for a specific contaminant class, the non-target method could be applied to different types of environmental samples or different wildlife tissues. This is expected to reveal all the possible forms of the contaminant, and will help gain a better understanding of total exposure, and of environmental fate and (bio)transformation pathways. For example, legacy PreFOS compounds have been detected at low levels in serum samples, a matrix in which PFOS monitoring studies have most commonly been performed. However, it has been shown that in blood, PFOSA (a PreFOS
molecule) is predominately distributed in the red blood cell fraction, rather than in serum.⁵⁰ To also include the red blood cell fractions in future studies will probably increase the probability of discovering historically unknown PreFOS in biological samples.

Sample preparation is crucial in non-target discovery, especially when discovering subtle contaminants in complex sample matrices. In-line SPE and SBSE methods were developed for non-target PFAS discovery in a wastewater sample (**Chapter 3**) and in polar bear sera (**Chapter 5**), respectively. However, both methods only showed high extraction efficiencies for certain PFASs (e.g. longer chain PFSAs), and the SBSE method unfortunately removes poly-/per-fluoroalkyl phosphonic acids in the phospholipid-removal step. Development of new sample preparation techniques with higher extraction efficiencies for a wider spectrum of PFASs is therefore desirable. The currently available SiliaPrepTM Fluorochrom SPE cartridges⁵¹ packed with fluorinated sorbent are probably a good candidate for future method development.

Finally, the current uHRMS-based non-target chemical discovery and characterization method is capable of confirming molecular formulae and for proposing core molecular structures with high confidence. However, for complete structural characterization of unknowns, standard synthesis or coupling with techniques such as nuclear magnetic resonance would be needed.

6.3 Literature Cited

- Martin, J. W.; Asher, B. J.; Beesoon, S.; Benskin, J. P.; Ross, M. S., PFOS or PreFOS? Are perfluorooctane sulfonate precursors (PreFOS) important determinants of human and environmental perfluorooctane sulfonate (PFOS) exposure? *J Environ Monit* 2010, *12*, (11), 1979-2004.
- 2. Giesy, J. P.; Kannan, K., Global distribution of perfluorooctane sulfonate in wildlife. *Environ Sci Technol* 2001, *35*, (7), 1339-42.
- Boudreau, T. M.; Wilson, C. J.; Cheong, W. J.; Sibley, P. K.; Mabury, S. A.; Muir, D. C.; Solomon, K. R., Response of the zooplankton community and environmental fate of perfluorooctane sulfonic acid in aquatic microcosms. *Environ Toxicol Chem* 2003, 22, (11), 2739-45.
- Conder, J. M.; Hoke, R. A.; De Wolf, W.; Russell, M. H.; Buck, R. C., Are PFCAs bioaccumulative? A critical review and comparison with regulatory criteria and persistent lipophilic compounds. *Environ Sci Technol* 2008, 42, (4), 995-1003.
- Jensen, A. A.; Leffers, H., Emerging endocrine disrupters: perfluoroalkylated substances. *Int J Androl* 2008, *31*, (2), 161-169.
- 6. Kovarova, J.; Svobodova, Z., Perfluorinated compounds: occurrence and risk profile. *Neuro Endocrinol Lett* **2008**, 29, (5), 599-608.
- 7. Lau, C.; Butenhoff, J. L.; Rogers, J. M., The developmental toxicity of perfluoroalkyl acids and their derivatives. *Toxicol Appl Pharmacol* 2004, *198*, (2), 231-41.
- USEPA. EPA and 3M Announce Phase-out of PFOS. United States Environmental Protection Agency (USEPA), URL: <u>https://yosemite.epa.gov/opa/admpress.nsf/0/33aa946e6cb11f35852568e1005246b4</u> (Accessed: May 13, 2016).
- USEPA. 2010/2015 PFOA Stewardship Program. United States Environmental Protection Agency, URL: <u>https://www.epa.gov/assessing-and-managing-chemicals-under-tsca/fact-sheet-20102015-pfoa-stewardship-program</u> (Accessed: September 10, 2015).
- ECCC. 5-year Environmental Performance Agreement. Environment and Climae Change Canada (ECCC), URL: <u>http://ec.gc.ca/epe-epa/default.asp?lang=En&n=AE06B51E-1</u> (Septermber, 23, 2016).
- 11. EU. Amending for the 30th Time Council Directive 76/769/EEC on the Approximation of the Laws, Regulations and Administrative Provisions of the Member States Relating to Restrictions on the Marketing and Use of Certain Dangerous Substances and Preparations: Perfluorooctane Sulfonates; European Parliament and the Council of the European Union (EU): 2006; pp 372-34.
- 12. ECHA. Pentadecafluorooctanoic Acid (PFOA) as A Substances of Very High Concern Because of Its CMR and PBT Problems; European Chemicals Agency (ECHA): 2013.
- NEPA. Forbidding PFOA in Nrowegian Consumer Products. Norwegian Environmental Protection Agency (NEPA), URL: <u>http://www.miljodirektoratet.no/no/Nyheter/Nyheter/Old-klif/2013/juni-2013/Forbyr-PFOA-i-norske-forbrukerprodukter/</u> (Accessed: July 25, 2016).
- ECCC. Regulations Amending the Prohibition of Certain Toxic Substances Regulations, 2012. Environmet and Climate Change Canada (ECCC), URL: <u>http://www.ec.gc.ca/lcpe-</u> cepa/eng/regulations/detailReg.cfm?intReg=226
- 15. USEPA. Significant New Use Rules: Long-Chain Perfluoroalkyl Carboxylate and Perfluoroalkyl Sulfonate Chemical Substances. United States Environmental Protection Agency (USEPA). URL: <u>https://www.regulations.gov/document?D=EPA-HQ-OPPT-2013-0225-0001</u> (Accessed: May 25, 2017).
- 16. ECHA. Candidate List of Substances of Very High Concern for Authorisation. European Chemical Agency (ECHA), URL: https://echa.europa.eu/candidate-list-table (Accessed: June 2, 2017).
- 17. 3M. Environmental and Health Assessment of Perfluorooctane Sulfonic Acid and Its Salts; 3M Company (3M): 2003.
- Olsen, G. W.; Lange, C. C.; Ellefson, M. E.; Mair, D. C.; Church, T. R.; Goldberg, C. L.; Herron, R. M.; Medhdizadehkashi, Z.; Nobiletti, J. B.; Rios, J. A.; Reagen, W. K.; Zobel, L. R., Temporal trends of perfluoroalkyl concentrations in American Red Cross adult blood donors, 2000-2010. *Environ Sci Technol* 2012, 46, (11), 6330-8.

- Calafat, A. M.; Wong, L. Y.; Kuklenyik, Z.; Reidy, J. A.; Needham, L. L., Polyfluoroalkyl chemicals in the U.S. population: data from the National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey (NHANES) 2003-2004 and comparisons with NHANES 1999-2000. *Environ Health Perspect* 2007, *115*, (11), 1596-602.
- 20. Lee, H.; Mabury, S. A., A pilot survey of legacy and current commercial fluorinated chemicals in human sera from United States donors in 2009. *Environ Sci Technol* **2011**, *45*, (19), 8067-74.
- 21. Wang, M.; Park, J. S.; Petreas, M., Temporal changes in the levels of perfluorinated compounds in California women's serum over the past 50 years. *Environ Sci Technol* **2011**, *45*, (17), 7510-6.
- 22. Yeung, L. W.; Robinson, S. J.; Koschorreck, J.; Mabury, S. A., Part II. A temporal study of PFOS and its precursors in human plasma from two German cities in 1982-2009. *Environ Sci Technol* **2013**, *47*, (8), 3875-82.
- Glynn, A.; Berger, U.; Bignert, A.; Ullah, S.; Aune, M.; Lignell, S., Perfluorinated alkyl acids in blood serum from primiparous women in Sweden: serial sampling during pregnancy and nursing, and temporal trends 1996– 2010. Environ Sci Technol 2012, 46, (16), 9071-9.
- 24. Haug, L. S.; Thomsen, C.; Becher, G., Time trends and the influence of age and gender on serum concentrations of perfluorinated compounds in archived human samples. *Environ Sci Technol* **2009**, *43*, (6), 2131-6.
- 25. Bao, J.; Kärrman, A.; van Bavel, B.; Jin, Y., Perfluoroalkyl substances in the blood samples from a male population of Sweden. *Chinese Science Bulletin* **2014**, *59*, (4), 388-395.
- 26. OECD. Synthesis Paper on Per- and Polyfluorinated Chemicals (PFCs); Organisation for Economic Cooperation and Development (OECD): Paris, France, 2013.
- 27. UNEP. The Montreal Protocol on Substances that Deplete the Ozone Layer. United Nations Environment Programme (UNEP), URL; <u>http://ozone.unep.org/en/treaties-and-decisions/montreal-protocol-substances-deplete-ozone-layer?sec_id=5</u> (Accessed: May 2, 2017).
- Armitage, J. M.; Schenker, U.; Scheringer, M.; Martin, J. W.; Macleod, M.; Cousins, I. T., Modeling the global fate and transport of perfluorooctane sulfonate (PFOS) and precursor compounds in relation to temporal trends in wildlife exposure. *Environ Sci Technol* 2009, 43, (24), 9274-80.
- 29. Paul, A. G.; Jones, K. C.; Sweetman, A. J., A first global production, emission, and environmental inventory for perfluorooctane sulfonate. *Environ Sci Technol* **2009**, *43*, (2), 386-92.
- 30. Stockholm-Convention. *The Nine New POPs: An Introduction to the Nine Chemicals Added to the Stockholm Convention by the Conference of the Parties at its Fourth Meeting*; Stockholm Convention: Geneva, Switzerland, 2009.
- Place, B. J.; Field, J. A., Identification of novel fluorochemicals in aqueous film-forming foams used by the US military. *Environ Sci Technol* 2012, 46, (13), 7120-7.
- Jin, Y.; Saito, N.; Harada, K. H.; Inoue, K.; Koizumi, A., Historical trends in human serum levels of perfluorooctanoate and perfluorooctane sulfonate in Shenyang, China. *Tohoku J Exp Med* 2007, 212, (1), 63-70.
- Yeung, L. W.; So, M. K.; Jiang, G.; Taniyasu, S.; Yamashita, N.; Song, M.; Wu, Y.; Li, J.; Giesy, J. P.; Guruge, K. S.; Lam, P. K., Perfluorooctanesulfonate and related fluorochemicals in human blood samples from China. *Environ Sci Technol* 2006, 40, (3), 715-20.
- Zhou, Z.; Shi, Y.; Vestergren, R.; Wang, T.; Liang, Y.; Cai, Y., Highly elevated serum concentrations of perfluoroalkyl substances in fishery employees from Tangxun lake, china. *Environ Sci Technol* 2014, 48, (7), 3864-74.
- 35. POPRC. In Consideration of New Information on Perfluorooctane Sulfonate (PFOS), UNEP/POPS/POPRC.4/INF/17; Stockholm Convention on Persistent Organic Pollutants, 2008.
- 36. Li, L.; Zhai, Z.; Liu, J.; Hu, J., Estimating industrial and domestic environmental releases of perfluorooctanoic acid and its salts in China from 2004 to 2012. *Chemosphere* **2015**, *129*, 100-9.
- Wang, Z.; Cousins, I. T.; Scheringer, M.; Hungerbuhler, K., Fluorinated alternatives to long-chain perfluoroalkyl carboxylic acids (PFCAs), perfluoroalkane sulfonic acids (PFSAs) and their potential precursors. *Environ Int* 2013, *60*, 242-8.
- Muir, D. C.; Norstrom, R. J.; Simon, M., Organochlorine contaminants in arctic marine food chains: accumulation of specific polychlorinated biphenyls and chlordane-related compounds. *Environ Sci Technol* 1988, 22, (9), 1071-9.
- 39. Norstrom, R. J.; Simon, M.; Muir, D. C.; Schweinsburg, R. E., Organochlorine contaminants in arctic marine food chains: identification, geographical distribution and temporal trends in polar bears. *Environ Sci Technol*

1988, 22, (9), 1063-71.

- Letcher, R. J.; Bustnes, J. O.; Dietz, R.; Jenssen, B. M.; Jorgensen, E. H.; Sonne, C.; Verreault, J.; Vijayan, M. M.; Gabrielsen, G. W., Exposure and effects assessment of persistent organohalogen contaminants in arctic wildlife and fish. *Sci Total Environ* 2010, *408*, (15), 2995-3043.
- Bytingsvik, J.; Simon, E.; Leonards, P. E.; Lamoree, M.; Lie, E.; Aars, J.; Derocher, A. E.; Wiig, O.; Jenssen, B. M.; Hamers, T., Transthyretin-binding activity of contaminants in blood from polar bear (*Ursus maritimus*) cubs. *Environ Sci Technol* 2013, 47, (9), 4778-86.
- 42. Villaverde-de-Saa, E.; Racamonde, I.; Quintana, J. B.; Rodil, R.; Cela, R., Ion-pair sorptive extraction of perfluorinated compounds from water with low-cost polymeric materials: polyethersulfone vs polydimethylsiloxane. *Anal Chim Acta* **2012**, *740*, 50-7.
- 43. Lin, S.; Gan, N.; Zhang, J.; Qiao, L.; Chen, Y.; Cao, Y., Aptamer-functionalized stir bar sorptive extraction coupled with gas chromatography-mass spectrometry for selective enrichment and determination of polychlorinated biphenyls in fish samples. *Talanta* **2016**, *149*, 266-74.
- 44. Rykowska, I.; Wasiak, W., Advances in stir bar sorptive extraction coating: A review. *Acta Chromatographica* **2013**, *25*, (1), 27-46.
- 45. Nie, Y.; Albinus, T. Comparison of EG-silicone-SBSE and derivatization-PDMS-SBSE for the analysis of phenolic compounds and off-flavors in water; Gerstel GmbH: Germany, 2012.
- Barzen-Hanson, K. A.; Roberts, S. C.; Choyke, S.; Oetjen, K.; McAlees, A.; Riddell, N.; McCrindle, R.; Ferguson, P. L.; Higgins, C. P.; Field, J. A., Discovery of 40 classes of per- and polyfluoroalkyl substances in historical aqueous film-forming foams (AFFFs) and AFFF-impacted groundwater. *Environ Sci Technol* 2017, *51*, (4), 2047-2057.
- 47. Peng, H.; Chen, C.; Saunders, D. M.; Sun, J.; Tang, S.; Codling, G.; Hecker, M.; Wiseman, S.; Jones, P. D.; Li, A.; Rockne, K. J.; Giesy, J. P., Untargeted identification of organo-bromine compounds in lake sediments by ultrahigh-resolution mass spectrometry with the data-independent precursor isolation and characteristic fragment method. *Anal Chem* **2015**, *87*, (20), 10237-46.
- 48. ABSciex. Advance Discovery with High Resolution LC-MS. ABSciex., URL: <u>https://sciex.com/products/mass-spectrometers/qtof-systems/tripletof-6600-system</u> (October 28, 2017).
- 49. Scientific, T. F. Q Exactive[™] GC Orbitrap[™] GC-MS/MS. Thermo Fisher Scientific, URL: <u>https://www.thermofisher.com/order/catalog/product/0725500</u> (November 12, 2017).
- 50. Jin, H.; Zhang, Y.; Jiang, W.; Zhu, L.; Martin, J. W., Isomer-Specific Distribution of Perfluoroalkyl Substances in Blood. *Environ Sci Technol* **2016**, *50*, (14), 7808-15.
- 51. Application Note P6.0: SPE Extraction using SiliaPrep Fluorochrom. <u>https://www.silicycle.com/media/pdf/applications/appn-p-spe-extraction-fluorochrom.pdf</u> (Accessed: May 2, 2017).

Bibliography

- 3M., Fluorinert[™] Electronic Liquid FC-43. In 3M Performanc Materilas: 2000.
- 3M. About US. URL: http://www.sh3f.com/en_about.asp (November 1, 2017).
- 3M., Fluorochemical use, distribution and release overview. 3M Conpany (3M). USEPA Administrative Record AR226-0550. EPA-HQ-OPPT-2002-0051-0003. 1999.
- 3M. Perfluorooctane Sulfonate: Current Summary of Human Sera, Health and Toxicology Data; US EPA Administrative Record, AR226-0548. 3M Company (3M), St. Paul, MN, USA, 1999.
- 3M., Sulfonated Perfluorochemicals in the environment: sources, dispersion, fate and effects. In U.S. Environmental Protection Agency Public docket AR226-0620: 2000.
- 3M. Environmental and Health Assessment of Perfluorooctane Sulfonic Acid and Its Salts; 3M Company (3M): 2003.
- 3M. Electronic Liquids. 3M Company (3M), URL: <u>http://solutions.3m.com/wps/portal/3M/en_US/Electronics_NA/Electronics/Products/Electronics_Product_Catalog/~/Electronic-Liquids?N=8704931</u>
- Adams, F., Anthropogenic contaminants. Springer Berlin Heidelberg: Berlin, Heidelberg, 1990; Vol. 3K.
- Aga, D. S.; Thurman, E. M., Formation and transport of the sulfonic acid metabolites of alachlor and metolachlor in soil. *Environ Sci Technol* **2001**, *35*, (12), 2455-60.
- Aga, D. S.; Thurman, E. M.; Yockel, M. E.; Zimmerman, L. R.; Williams, T. D., Identification of a new sulfonic acid metabolite of metolachlor in soil. *Environmental Science & Technology* **1996**, *30*, (2), 592-597.
- Alsmeyer, Y. W.; Childs, W. V.; Flynn, R. M.; Moore, G. G.; Smeltzer, J. C., Electrochemical fluorination and its applications. In *Organofluorine Chemistry: Principles and Commercial Applications*, 1 ed.; Banks, R. E.; Smart, B. E.; Tatlow, J. C., Eds. Springer US: pp 131-135.
- AMAP. AMAP Assessment 2015: Temporal trends in persistent organic pollutants in the Arctic; Arctic Monitoring and Assessment Programme (AMAP): Oslo, Norway, 2016.
- AMIP. Jiangsu Advanced Materials Industrial Park. URL: <u>http://www.amip.org.cn/</u> (May, 20, 2017).
- Andreu, V.; Picó, Y., Determination of linear alkylbenzenesulfonates and their degradation products in soils by liquid chromatography-electrospray-ion trap multiple-stage mass spectrometry. *Anal Chem* 2004, 76, (10), 2878-2885.
- Archroma. Regulatory Affairs: the Challenge PFOA Free. URL: <u>https://www.performancedays.eu/regulatory-affairs-the-challenge-pfoa-free.html</u> (Accessed: September 25, 2016).
- Armitage, J. M.; Schenker, U.; Scheringer, M.; Martin, J. W.; Macleod, M.; Cousins, I. T., Modeling the global fate and transport of perfluorooctane sulfonate (PFOS) and precursor compounds in relation to temporal trends in wildlife exposure. *Environ Sci Technol* 2009, 43, (24), 9274-80.
- Asahi. In Non-ECA PFOA Information Forum, PFOA Information Forum June 8, 2006; Asahi Glass Co Ltd.
- Asher, B. J.; Wang, Y.; De Silva, A. O.; Backus, S.; Muir, D. C.; Wong, C. S.; Martin, J. W., Enantiospecific perfluorooctane sulfonate (PFOS) analysis reveals evidence for the source contribution of PFOS-precursors to the Lake Ontario foodweb. *Environ Sci Technol* 2012, 46, (14), 7653-60.
- Baarschers, W.; Buhlman, P.; Pretsch, E., Sulfur compounds. In Structure Determination of Organic Compounds: Tables of Spectral Data, 4 ed.; Springer-Verlag Berlin Heidelberg: 2009; pp 374-376.
- Baarschers, W. H.; Krupay, B. W., Mass spectra of some sulfinate esters and sulfones. *Can J Chem* **1973**, *51*, (2), 156-161.
- Backe, W. J.; Day, T. C.; Field, J. A., Zwitterionic, cationic, and anionic fluorinated chemicals in aqueous film forming foam formulations and groundwater from U.S. military bases by nonaqueous large-volume injection HPLC-MS/MS. *Environ Sci Technol* 2013, 47, (10), 5226-34.
- Baduel, C.; Mueller, J. F.; Rotander, A.; Corfield, J.; Gomez-Ramos, M. J., Discovery of novel per- and polyfluoroalkyl substances (PFASs) at a fire fighting training ground and preliminary investigation of their fate and mobility. *Chemosphere* 2017, 185, 1030-1038.

- Bakke, J. E.; Bergman, A. L.; Brandt, I.; Darnerud, P.; Struble, C., Metabolism of the mercapturic acid of 2,4',5-trichlorobiphenyl in rats and mice. *Xenobiotica* **1983**, *13*, (10), 597-605.
- Ballschmiter, K.; Bacher, R.; Mennel, A.; Fischer, R.; Riehle, U.; Swerev, M., The determination of chlorinated biphenyls, chlorinated dibenzodioxins, and chlorinated dibenzofurans by GC-MS. *J High Resolut Chromatogr* 1992, 15, (4), 260-270.
- Bao, J.; Kärrman, A.; van Bavel, B.; Jin, Y., Perfluoroalkyl substances in the blood samples from a male population of Sweden. *Chinese Science Bulletin* **2014**, *59*, (4), 388-395.
- Barzen-Hanson, K. A.; Roberts, S. C.; Choyke, S.; Oetjen, K.; McAlees, A.; Riddell, N.; McCrindle, R.; Ferguson, P. L.; Higgins, C. P.; Field, J. A., Discovery of 40 classes of per- and polyfluoroalkyl substances in historical aqueous film-forming foams (AFFFs) and AFFF-impacted groundwater. *Environ Sci Technol* 2017, *51*, (4), 2047-2057.
- Bauer, J.; Zahres, M.; Zellermann, A.; Kirsch, M.; Petrat, F.; de Groot, H.; Mayer, C., Perfluorocarbon-filled poly(lactide-co-gylcolide) nano- and microcapsules as artificial oxygen carriers for blood substitutes: a physicochemical assessment. J Microencapsul 2010, 27, (2), 122-32.
- Becker, A. M.; Gerstmann, S.; Frank, H., Perfluorooctane surfactants in waste waters, the major source of river pollution. *Chemosphere* **2008**, *72*, (1), 115-121.
- Beesoon, S.; Martin, J. W., Isomer-specific binding affinity of perfluorooctanesulfonate (PFOS) and perfluorooctanoate (PFOA) to serum proteins. *Environ Sci Technol* **2015**, *49*, (9), 5722-31.
- Beesoon, S.; Webster, G. M.; Shoeib, M.; Harner, T.; Benskin, J. P.; Martin, J. W., Isomer profiles of perfluorochemicals in matched maternal, cord, and house dust samples: manufacturing sources and transplacental transfer. *Environ Health Perspect* 2011, *119*, (11), 1659-64.
- Benskin, J. P.; Bataineh, M.; Martin, J. W., Simultaneous characterization of perfluoroalkyl carboxylate, sulfonate, and sulfonamide isomers by liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry. *Anal Chem* 2007, 79, (17), 6455-64.
- Benskin, J. P.; De Silva, A. O.; Martin, J. W., Isomer profiling of perfluorinated substances as a tool for source tracking: a review of early findings and future applications. *Rev Environ Contam Toxicol* **2010**, *208*, 111-60.
- Benskin, J. P.; De Silva, A. O.; Martin, L. J.; Arsenault, G.; McCrindle, R.; Riddell, N.; Mabury, S. A.; Martin, J. W., Disposition of perfluorinated acid isomers in Sprague-Dawley rats; part 1: single dose. *Environ Toxicol Chem* 2009, 28, (3), 542-54.
- Benskin, J. P.; Holt, A.; Martin, J. W., Isomer-specific biotransformation rates of a perfluorooctane sulfonate (PFOS)-precursor by cytochrome P450 isozymes and human liver microsomes. *Environ Sci Technol* 2009, 43, (22), 8566-72.
- Benskin, J. P.; Ikonomou, M. G.; Gobas, F. A.; Woudneh, M. B.; Cosgrove, J. R., Observation of a novel PFOSprecursor, the perfluorooctane sulfonamido ethanol-based phosphate (SAmPAP) diester, in marine sediments. *Environ Sci Technol* 2012, 46, (12), 6505-14.
- Benskin, J. P.; Yeung, L. W.; Yamashita, N.; Taniyasu, S.; Lam, P. K.; Martin, J. W., Perfluorinated acid isomer profiling in water and quantitative assessment of manufacturing source. *Environ Sci Technol* 2010, 44, (23), 9049-54.
- Berthiaume, J.; Wallace, K. B., Perfluorooctanoate, perfluorooctanesulfonate, and N-ethyl perfluorooctanesulfonamido ethanol; peroxisome proliferation and mitochondrial biogenesis. *Toxicol Lett* **2002**, *129*, (1-2), 23-32.
- BF. Shandong Huantai Dongyue Fluoro-silicone Material Industrial Park. Business Facilities (BF). URL: <u>https://businessfacilities.com/city-of-zibo/00370/shandong-huantai-dongyue-fluoro-silicone-material-industrial-park/</u> (June 3, 2017).
- Bignert, A. Some consequences using pooled samples versus individual samples and pooled samples with various relation between sampling error and uncertainty due to chemical analysis; Department of Contaminant Researc, Swedish Museum of Natural History: Stockholm, 2008.
- Bignert, A.; Eriksson, U.; Nyberg, E.; Miller, A.; Danielsson, S., Consequences of using pooled versus individual samples for designing environmental monitoring sampling strategies. *Chemosphere* **2014**, *94*, 177-182.
- Bignert, A.; Riget, F.; Braune, B.; Outridge, P.; Wilson, S., Recent temporal trend monitoring of mercury in Arctic biota-how powerful are the existing data sets? *J Environ Monit* **2004**, *6*, (4), 351-5.

Birnbaum, L. S.; Staskal, D. F., Brominated flame retardants: cause for concern? *Environ Health Perspect* **2004**, *112*, (1), 9-17.

- Black, B. C.; Hollingworth, R. M.; Ahammadsahib, K. I.; Kukel, C. D.; Donovan, S., Insecticidal Action and Mitochondrial Uncoupling Activity of AC-303,630 and Related Halogenated Pyrroles. *Pest Biochem Physiol* 1994, 50, (2), 115-128.
- Blum, A.; Balan, S. A.; Scheringer, M.; Trier, X.; Goldenman, G.; Cousins, I. T.; Diamond, M.; Fletcher, T.; Higgins, C.; Lindeman, A. E.; Peaslee, G.; de Voogt, P.; Wang, Z.; Weber, R., The Madrid Statement on polyand perfluoroalkyl substances (PFASs). *Environ Health Perspect* 2015, *123*, (5), A107-11.
- BMI. Sulfonated perfluorochemicals: U.S. release estimation-1997 Part 1: Life-cycle waste stream estimates; Battelle Memorial Institute (BMI): Columbus, OH, 2000.
- Boiteux, V.; Dauchy, X.; Bach, C.; Colin, A.; Hemard, J.; Sagres, V.; Rosin, C.; Munoz, J. F., Concentrations and patterns of perfluoroalkyl and polyfluoroalkyl substances in a river and three drinking water treatment plants near and far from a major production source. *Sci Total Environ* 2017, *583*, 393-400.
- Boudreau, T. M.; Wilson, C. J.; Cheong, W. J.; Sibley, P. K.; Mabury, S. A.; Muir, D. C.; Solomon, K. R., Response of the zooplankton community and environmental fate of perfluorooctane sulfonic acid in aquatic microcosms. *Environ Toxicol Chem* 2003, 22, (11), 2739-45.
- Bowes, G. W.; Jonkel, C. J., Presence and distribution of polychlorinated biphenyls (PCB) in Arctic and Subarctic marine food chains. *J Fish Res Board Can* **1975**, *32*, (11), 2111-23.
- Bowman, J. S., Fluorotechnology is critical to modern life: the FluoroCouncil counterpoint to the Madrid Statement. *Environ Health Perspect* **2015**, *123*, (5), A112-3.
- Bowman, J. S., Response to "Comment on 'Fluorotechnology Is Critical to Modern Life: The FluoroCouncil Counterpoint to the Madrid Statement". *Environ Health Perspect* **2015**, *123*, (7), A170-1.
- Bromaghin, J. F.; McDonald, T. L.; Stirling, I.; Derocher, A. E.; Richardson, E. S.; Regehr, E. V.; Douglas, D. C.; Durner, G. M.; Atwood, T.; Amstrup, S. C., Polar bear population dynamics in the southern Beaufort Sea during a period of sea ice decline. *Ecol Appl* **2015**, *25*, (3), 634-51.
- Brown, S. C.; Kruppa, G.; Dasseux, J. L., Metabolomics applications of FT-ICR mass spectrometry. *Mass Spectrom Rev* 2005, 24, (2), 223-31.
- Buck, R. C.; Franklin, J.; Berger, U.; Conder, J. M.; Cousins, I. T.; de Voogt, P., Perfluoroalkyl and polyfluoroalkyl substances in the environment: terminology, classification, and origins. *Integr Environ Assess Manag* **2011**, *7*.
- Bull, S.; Burnett, K.; Vassaux, K.; Ashdown, L.; Brown, T.; Rushton, L., Extensive literature search and provision of summaries of studies related to the oral toxicity of perfluoroalkylated substances (PFASs), their precursors and potential replacements in experimental animals and humans. Area 1: Data on toxicokinetics (absorption, distribution, metabolism, excretion) in in vitro studies, experimental animals and humans. Area 2: Data on toxicity in experimental animals. Area 3: Data on observations in humans. *EFSA Supporting Publications* 2014, 11, (4), 572E.
- Burton, D. J.; Chambers, R. D.; Drakesmith, F. G.; Hutchinson, J.; Kitazume, T.; Lu, L.; Percy, J. M.; Sandford, G.; Yamazaki, T., *Organofluorine Chemistry: Techniques and Synthons*. 1 ed.; Springer Berlin Heidelberg: 1997.
- Byer, J. D.; Siek, K.; Jobst, K., Distinguishing the C₃ vs SH₄ mass split by comprehensive two-dimensional gas chromatography-high resolution time-of-flight mass spectrometry. *Anal Chem* **2016**, *88*, (12), 6101-4.
- Bytingsvik, J.; Lie, E.; Aars, J.; Derocher, A. E.; Wiig, O.; Jenssen, B. M., PCBs and OH-PCBs in polar bear mother-cub pairs: a comparative study based on plasma levels in 1998 and 2008. *Sci Total Environ* **2012**, *417-418*, 117-28.
- Bytingsvik, J.; Simon, E.; Leonards, P. E.; Lamoree, M.; Lie, E.; Aars, J.; Derocher, A. E.; Wiig, O.; Jenssen, B. M.; Hamers, T., Transthyretin-binding activity of contaminants in blood from polar bear (*Ursus maritimus*) cubs. *Environ Sci Technol* 2013, 47, (9), 4778-86.
- Calafat, A. M.; Wong, L. Y.; Kuklenyik, Z.; Reidy, J. A.; Needham, L. L., Polyfluoroalkyl chemicals in the U.S. population: data from the National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey (NHANES) 2003-2004 and comparisons with NHANES 1999-2000. *Environ Health Perspect* **2007**, *115*, (11), 1596-602.
- Campbell, L. M.; Muir, D. C.; Whittle, D. M.; Backus, S.; Norstrom, R. J.; Fisk, A. T., Hydroxylated PCBs and other chlorinated phenolic compounds in lake trout (*Salvelinus namaycush*) blood plasma from the Great Lakes region. *Environ Sci Technol* 2003, 37, (9), 1720-5.

- Carini, D. J.; Chiu, A. T.; Wong, P. C.; Johnson, A. L.; Wexler, R. R.; Timmermans, P. B. M. W. M., The preparation of (perfluoroalkyl)imidazoles as nonpeptide angiotensin II receptor antagonists. *Bioorganic Med Chem Lett* **1993**, *3*, (5), 895-898.
- CDC. the Fourth National Report on Human Exposure to Environmental Chemicals. Updated Tables: Volume One; Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC): Atlanta, GA, 2017; pp 332-369.
- Chen, C.; Lu, Y.; Zhang, X.; Geng, J.; Wang, T.; Shi, Y.; Hu, W.; Li, J., A review of spatial and temporal assessment of PFOS and PFOA contamination in China. *Chem Ecol* **2009**, *25*, (3), 163-177.
- Chen, L. J.; Lebetkin, E. H.; Burka, L. T., Metabolism of (R)(+)-menthofuran in Fischer-344 rats: identification of sulfonic acid metabolites. *Drug Metab Dispos* **2003**, *31*, (10), 1208.
- Chen, N.; Li, J.; Li, D.; Yang, Y. S.; He, D. F., Chronic exposure to perfluorooctane sulfonate induces behavior defects and neurotoxicity through oxidative damages, in vivo and in vitro. *PLOS One* **2014**, *9*, (11).
- Cheng, J. F.; Lv, S. P.; Nie, S. F.; Liu, J.; Tong, S. F.; Kang, N.; Xiao, Y. Y.; Dong, Q. X.; Huang, C. J.; Yang, D. R., Chronic perfluorooctane sulfonate (PFOS) exposure induces hepatic steatosis in zebrafish. *Aquat Toxicol* 2016, 176, 45-52.
- Cheng, Y.; Chen, H.; Yu, W.; Cui, Y.; Zhou, L.; Li, H.; Song, N.; Li, L.; Li, X.; Zhang, J.; Ma, P.; Sun, X.; Wang, Z.; Han, L., The endocrine disrupting effect of perfluorooctanoic acid (PFOA) on human estrogen, androgen and thyroid receptors. In *Conference on Environmental Pollution and Public Health*, Chengdu, China, 2010; Vol. 1-2, pp 214-216.
- Chiaia-Hernandez, A. C.; Schymanski, E. L.; Kumar, P.; Singer, H. P.; Hollender, J., Suspect and nontarget screening approaches to identify organic contaminant records in lake sediments. *Anal Bioanal Chem* 2014, 406, (28), 7323-35.
- ChinaIOL. Major Fluoro-Industrial Parks in China ChinaIOL, URL: http://www.chinaiol.com/fc/n/0626/98110650.html (November 1, 2017).
- Chu, S.; Letcher, R. J., Linear and branched perfluorooctane sulfonate isomers in technical product and environmental samples by in-port derivatization-gas chromatography-mass spectrometry. *Anal Chem* **2009**, *81*, (11), 4256-62.
- Chu, S.; Letcher, R. J.; McGoldrick, D. J.; Backus, S. M., A New fluorinated surfactant contaminant in biota: perfluorobutane sulfonamide in several fish species. *Environ Sci Technol* **2016**, *50*, (2), 669-75.
- CMEP., No. [2014] 21 Announcement. In the Chinese Minister of Environmental Protection (CMEP): 2014.
- Conder, J. M.; Hoke, R. A.; De Wolf, W.; Russell, M. H.; Buck, R. C., Are PFCAs bioaccumulative? A critical review and comparison with regulatory criteria and persistent lipophilic compounds. *Environ Sci Technol* 2008, 42, (4), 995-1003.
- Costlow, R. D.; Hirsekorn, J. M.; Stiratelli, R. G.; O'Hara, G. P.; Black, D. L.; Kane, W. W.; Burke, S. S.; Smith, J. M.; Hayes, A. W., The effects on rat pups when nitrofen (4-(2,4-dichlorophenoxy)nitrobenzene) was applied dermally to the dam during organogenesis. *Toxicology* **1983**, *28*, (1-2), 37-50.
- Crimmins, B. S.; Xia, X.; Hopke, P. K.; Holsen, T. M., A targeted/non-targeted screening method for perfluoroalkyl carboxylic acids and sulfonates in whole fish using quadrupole time-of-flight mass spectrometry and MSe. *Anal Bioanal Chem* 2014, 406, (5), 1471-1480.
- D'Agostino, L. A.; Mabury, S. A., Identification of novel fluorinated surfactants in aqueous film forming foams and commercial surfactant concentrates. *Environ Sci Technol* **2014**, *48*, (1), 121-9.
- D'Eon J, C.; Mabury, S. A., Is indirect exposure a significant contributor to the burden of perfluorinated acids observed in humans? *Environ Sci Technol* 2011, 45, (19), 7974-84.
- Dagnac, T.; Jeannot, R.; Mouvet, C.; Baran, N., Determination of oxanilic and sulfonic acid metabolites of acetochlor in soils by liquid chromatography-electrospray ionisation mass spectrometry. J Chromatogr A 2002, 957, (1), 69-77.
- Daikin. Our Products. URL: http://www.daikin.com/chm/ (November 1, 2017).
- Darling, C.; Alaee, M.; Campbell, L.; Pacepavicius, G.; Ueno, D.; Muir, D. C., Hydroxylated PCBs in abiotic environmental matrices: precipitation and surface waters. *Organohalogen Compd* **2004**, *66*, 1470-75.
- De Coster, S.; van Larebeke, N., Endocrine-disrupting chemicals: associated disorders and mechanisms of action. J Environ Public Health 2012, 2012, 52.
- De Silva, A. O.; Spencer, C.; Scott, B. F.; Backus, S.; Muir, D. C., Detection of a cyclic perfluorinated acid,

perfluoroethylcyclohexane sulfonate, in the Great Lakes of North America. *Environ Sci Technol* **2011**, *45*, (19), 8060-6.

- Demarque, D. P.; Crotti, A. E. M.; Vessecchi, R.; Lopes, J. L. C.; Lopes, N. P., Fragmentation reactions using electrospray ionization mass spectrometry: an important tool for the structural elucidation and characterization of synthetic and natural products. *Natural Product Reports* 2016, 33, (3), 432-455.
- Dhakal, K.; Adamcakova-Dodd, A.; Lehmler, H. J.; Thorne, P. S.; Robertson, L. W., Sulfate conjugates are urinary markers of inhalation exposure to 4-chlorobiphenyl (PCB3). *Chem. Res. Toxicol.* **2013**, *26*, (6), 853-5.
- Dhakal, K.; Adamcakova-Dodd, A.; Lehmler, H. J.; Thorne, P. S.; Robertson, L. W., Sulfate conjugates are urinary markers of inhalation exposure to 4-chlorobiphenyl (PCB3). *Chem Res Toxicol* **2013**, *26*, (6), 853-5.
- Dhakal, K.; He, X.; Lehmler, H. J.; Teesch, L. M.; Duffel, M. W.; Robertson, L. W., Identification of sulfated metabolites of 4-chlorobiphenyl (PCB3) in the serum and urine of male rats. *Chem Res Toxicol* **2012**, *25*, (12), 2796-804.
- Dietz, R.; Riget, F. F.; Sonne, C.; Born, E. W.; Bechshoft, T.; McKinney, M. A.; Letcher, R. J., Three decades (1983-2010) of contaminant trends in East Greenland polar bears (*Ursus maritimus*). Part 1: legacy organochlorine contaminants. *Environ Int* 2013, 59, 485-93.
- Dimzon, I. K.; Trier, X.; Frömel, T.; Helmus, R.; Knepper, T. P.; de Voogt, P., High resolution mass spectrometry of polyfluorinated polyether-based formulation. *J Am Soc Mass Spectrom* **2016**, *27*, (2), 309-318.
- Dinglasan-Panlilio, M. J. A.; Mabury, S. A., Significant residual fluorinated alcohols present in various fluorinated materials. *Environ Sci Technol* **2006**, *40*, (5), 1447-1453.
- DME. Short-chain Polyfluoroalkyl Substances (PFAS): A Literature Review of Information on Human Health Effects and Environmental and Fate and Effect Aspects of Short-Chain PFAS Danish Ministry of Environment (DME): 2015.
- Donaldson, S. G.; Van Oostdam, J.; Tikhonov, C.; Feeley, M.; Armstrong, B.; Ayotte, P.; Boucher, O.; Bowers, W.; Chan, L.; Dallaire, F.; Dallaire, R.; Dewailly, E.; Edwards, J.; Egeland, G. M.; Fontaine, J.; Furgal, C.; Leech, T.; Loring, E.; Muckle, G.; Nancarrow, T.; Pereg, D.; Plusquellec, P.; Potyrala, M.; Receveur, O.; Shearer, R. G., Environmental contaminants and human health in the Canadian Arctic. *Sci Total Environ* 2010, *408*, (22), 5165-234.
- Dongyue. Dongyue Polymer Materilas. Dongyue Federation, URL: <u>http://www.dongyuechem.com/en/About.aspx?ID=243&Category=Company</u> (October 20, 2017).
- Dongyue. Our Products. Dongyue Federation, URL: <u>http://www.dongyuechem.com/en/Pro.aspx</u> (November 1, 2017).
- Du, G. Z.; Hu, J. L.; Huang, H. Y.; Qin, Y. F.; Han, X. M.; Wu, D.; Song, L.; Xia, Y. K.; Wang, X. R., Perfluorooctane sulfonate (PFOS) affects hormone receptor activity, steroidogenesis, and expression of endocrine-related genes in vitro and in vivo. *Environ Toxicol Chem* 2013, 32, (2), 353-360.
- DuPont. Applied Chemistry and Fluoro-Products. DuPont, URL: <u>http://www.dupont.cn/corporate-functions/our-company/businesses/chemicals-and-fluoroproducts.html</u> (November 1, 2017).
- DuPont. DuPontTM GenX Processing Aid forMaking Fluoropolymer Resins. URL: <u>http://www2.dupont.com/Industrial_Bakery_Solutions/en_GB/assets/downloads/DuPont_GenX_Brochure_Final</u> <u>_07July2010.pdf</u> (May 23, 2017).
- ECCC. 5-year Environmental Performance Agreement. Environment and Climae Change Canada (ECCC), URL: <u>http://ec.gc.ca/epe-epa/default.asp?lang=En&n=AE06B51E-1</u> (Septermber, 23, 2016).
- ECCC. Regulations Amending the Prohibition of Certain Toxic Substances Regulations, 2012. Environmet and Climate Change Canada (ECCC), URL: <u>http://www.ec.gc.ca/lcpe-cepa/eng/regulations/detailReg.cfm?intReg=226</u>
- ECHA. Candidate List of Substances of Very High Concern for Authorisation. European Chemical Agency (ECHA), URL: <u>https://echa.europa.eu/candidate-list-table</u> (Accessed: June 2, 2017).
- ECHA. European Chemicals Agency (ECHA) Registered substances. URL: <u>http://echa.europa.eu/information-on-chemicals/registered-substances</u> (April 15, 2017).
- ECHA. Pentadecafluorooctanoic Acid (PFOA) as A Substances of Very High Concern Because of Its CMR and PBT Problems; European Chemicals Agency (ECHA): 2013.
- EFSA., Scientific opinion on the safety evaluation of the substance, perfluoro[(2-ethyloxy-ethoxy)acetic acid],

ammonium salt, CAS No. 908020-52-0, for use in food contact materials. ESFA J 2011, 9, (6), 11.

- Ehresman, D. J.; Froehlich, J. W.; Olsen, G. W.; Chang, S. C.; Butenhoff, J. L., Comparison of human whole blood, plasma, and serum matrices for the determination of perfluorooctanesulfonate (PFOS), perfluorooctanoate (PFOA), and other fluorochemicals. *Environ. Res.* **2007**, *103*, (2), 176-84.
- ENVIRON. Assessment of POP Criteria for Specific Short-Chain Perfluorinated Alkyl Substances: Prepared for FluoroCouncil; ENVIRON International Corporation: Arlington, Virginia, USA, 2014.
- Eriksson, U.; Mueller, J. F.; Toms, L. L.; Hobson, P.; Karrman, A., Temporal trends of PFSAs, PFCAs and selected precursors in Australian serum from 2002 to 2013. *Environ Pollut* 2017, *220*, (Pt A), 168-177.
- ESFA., Scientific Opinion on the safety evaluation of the substance perfluoro acetic acid, α-substituted with the copolymer of perfluoro-1, 2-propylene glycol and perfluoro-1, 1-ethylene glycol, terminated with chlorohexafluoropropyloxy groups, CAS No. 329238–24-6 for use in food contact materials. European Food Safety Authority (ESFA). *ESFA J* **2010**, *8*, (2), 1519-30.
- EU. Amending for the 30th Time Council Directive 76/769/EEC on the Approximation of the Laws, Regulations and Administrative Provisions of the Member States Relating to Restrictions on the Marketing and Use of Certain Dangerous Substances and Preparations: Perfluorooctane Sulfonates; European Parliament and the Council of the European Union (EU): 2006; pp 372-34.
- Feng, P. C. C., Soil transformation of acetochlor via glutathione conjugation. *Pesticide Biochemistry and Physiology* **1991**, *40*, (2), 136-142.
- Field, J. A.; Thurman, E. M., Glutathione conjugation and contaminant transformation. *Environ Sci Technol* **1996**, 30, (5), 1413-1418.
- Flaherty, J. M.; Connolly, P. D.; Decker, E. R.; Kennedy, S. M.; Ellefson, M. E.; Reagen, W. K.; Szostek, B., Quantitative determination of perfluorooctanoic acid in serum and plasma by liquid chromatography tandem mass spectrometry. *J Chromatogr B Analyt Technol Biomed Life Sci* 2005, *819*, (2), 329-38.
- Fromme, H.; Tittlemier, S. A.; Volkel, W.; Wilhelm, M.; Twardella, D., Perfluorinated compounds-exposure assessment for the general population in Western countries. *Int J Hyg Environ Health* **2009**, *212*, (3), 239-70.
- Fu, J.; Gao, Y.; Cui, L.; Wang, T.; Liang, Y.; Qu, G.; Yuan, B.; Wang, Y.; Zhang, A.; Jiang, G., Occurrence, temporal trends, and half-lives of perfluoroalkyl acids (PFAAs) in occupational workers in China. *Sci Rep* 2016, 6, 38039.
- Furdui, V. I.; Stock, N. L.; Ellis, D. A.; Butt, C. M.; Whittle, D. M.; Crozier, P. W.; Reiner, E. J.; Muir, D. C.; Mabury, S. A., Spatial distribution of perfluoroalkyl contaminants in lake trout from the Great Lakes. *Environ Sci Technol* 2007, 41, (5), 1554-9.
- G.W., G.; S., R.; S., R., Fluorinated Imidazoles and Benzimidazoles. In *Fluorine in Heterocyclic Chemistry Volume 1*, V., N., Ed. Springer, Cham: 2014.
- Gebbink, W. A.; Bossi, R.; Riget, F. F.; Rosing-Asvid, A.; Sonne, C.; Dietz, R., Observation of emerging per- and polyfluoroalkyl substances (PFASs) in Greenland marine mammals. *Chemosphere* **2016**, *144*, 2384-91.
- Gebbink, W. A.; Glynn, A.; Berger, U., Temporal changes (1997-2012) of perfluoroalkyl acids and selected precursors (including isomers) in Swedish human serum. *Environ Pollut* **2015**, *199*, 166-73.
- Gebbink, W. A.; Letcher, R. J., Linear and branched perfluorooctane sulfonate isomer patterns in herring gull eggs from colonial sites across the Laurentian Great Lakes. *Environ Sci Technol* **2010**, *44*, (10), 3739-45.
- Gebbink, W. A.; Sonne, C.; Dietz, R.; Kirkegaard, M.; Riget, F. F.; Born, E. W.; Muir, D. C.; Letcher, R. J., Tissuespecific congener composition of organohalogen and metabolite contaminants in East Greenland polar bears (*Ursus maritimus*). *Environ Pollut* 2008, 152, (3), 621-9.
- Gebbink, W. A.; van Asseldonk, L.; van Leeuwen, S. P. J., Presence of emerging per- and polyfluoroalkyl substances (PFASs) in river and drinking water near a fluorochemical production plant in the Netherlands. *Environ Sci Technol* **2017**, *51*, (19), 11057-11065.
- Genuis, S. J.; Curtis, L.; Birkholz, D., Gastrointestinal Elimination of Perfluorinated Compounds Using Cholestyramine and Chlorella pyrenoidosa. *ISRN toxicology* **2013**, *2013*, 657849.
- Ghulam Musharraf, S.; Goher, M.; Hussain, A.; Choudhary, M. I., Electrospray tandem mass spectrometric analysis of a dimeric conjugate, salvialeriafone and related compounds. *Chem Cent J* **2012**, *6*, (1), 120.
- Giesy, J. P.; Kannan, K., Global distribution of perfluorooctane sulfonate in wildlife. *Environ Sci Technol* 2001, 35, (7), 1339-42.

- Giesy, J. P.; Kannan, K., Perfluorochemical surfactants in the environment. *Environ Sci Technol* 2002, *36*, (7), 146A-152A.
- Glynn, A.; Berger, U.; Bignert, A.; Ullah, S.; Aune, M.; Lignell, S., Perfluorinated alkyl acids in blood serum from primiparous women in Sweden: serial sampling during pregnancy and nursing, and temporal trends 1996–2010. *Environ Sci Technol* 2012, 46, (16), 9071-9.
- Gordon, S. C., Toxicological evaluation of ammonium 4,8-dioxa-3H-perfluorononanoate, a new emulsifier to replace ammonium perfluorooctanoate in fluoropolymer manufacturing. *Regul Toxicol Pharmacol* **2011**, *59*, (1), 64-80.
- Greaves, A. K.; Letcher, R. J., Linear and branched perfluorooctane sulfonate (PFOS) isomer patterns differ among several tissues and blood of polar bears. *Chemosphere* **2013**, *93*, (3), 574-80.
- Gribble, M. O.; Bartell, S. M.; Kannan, K.; Wu, Q.; Fair, P. A.; Kamen, D. L., Longitudinal measures of perfluoroalkyl substances (PFAS) in serum of Gullah African Americans in South Carolina: 2003-2013. *Environ Res* 2015, 143, (Pt B), 82-8.
- Grimm, F. A.; He, X.; Teesch, L. M.; Lehmler, H. J.; Robertson, L. W.; Duffel, M. W., Tissue distribution, metabolism, and excretion of 3,3'-dichloro-4'-sulfooxy-biphenyl in the rat. *Environ Sci Technol* 2015, 49, (13), 8087-95.
- Grimm, F. A.; Hu, D.; Kania-Korwel, I.; Lehmler, H. J.; Ludewig, G.; Hornbuckle, K. C.; Duffel, M. W.; Bergman, A.; Robertson, L. W., Metabolism and metabolites of polychlorinated biphenyls. *Crit Rev Toxicol* 2015, 45, (3), 245-72.
- Grimm, F. A.; Lehmler, H. J.; He, X.; Robertson, L. W.; Duffel, M. W., Sulfated metabolites of polychlorinated biphenyls are high-affinity ligands for the thyroid hormone transport protein transthyretin. *Environ. Health Perspect.* 2013, 121, (6), 657-662.
- Grimm, F. A.; Lehmler, H. J.; He, X.; Robertson, L. W.; Duffel, M. W., Sulfated metabolites of polychlorinated biphenyls are high-affinity ligands for the thyroid hormone transport protein transthyretin. *Environ Health Perspect* 2013, 121, (6), 657-62.
- Grimm, F. A.; Lehmler, H. J.; Koh, W. X.; DeWall, J.; Teesch, L. M.; Hornbuckle, K. C.; Thorne, P. S.; Robertson, L. W.; Duffel, M. W., Identification of a sulfate metabolite of PCB 11 in human serum. *Environ Int* 2017, 98, 120-128.
- GS. Reports about Shandong Dongyue Federation; Guolian Securities (GS): December, 20, 2015, 2015.
- Gustavson, K.; Jonsson, P., Some halogenated organic compounds in sediments and blue mussel (*Mytilus edulis*) in Nordic seas. *Marine Poll Bull* **1999**, *38*, (8), 723-736.
- Gutleb, A. C.; Cenijn, P.; Velzen, M. v.; Lie, E.; Ropstad, E.; Skaare, J. U.; Malmberg, T.; Bergman, Å.; Gabrielsen, G. W.; Legler, J., In vitro assay shows that PCB metabolites completely saturate thyroid hormone transport capacity in blood of wild polar bears (*Ursus maritimus*). *Environ Sci Technol* 2010, *44*, (8), 3149-3154.
- Gutzkow, K. B.; Haug, L. S.; Thomsen, C.; Sabaredzovic, A.; Becher, G.; Brunborg, G., Placental transfer of perfluorinated compounds is selective - a Norwegian mother and child sub-cohort study. *Int J Hyg Envir Heal* 2012, 215, (2), 216-219.
- Gyllenhammar, I.; Benskin, J. P.; Lignell, S.; Karsrud, A.; Sandblom, O.; Glynn, A. *Temporal Trends of Poly- and Perfluoroalkyl Substances (PFASs) in Serum from Children at 4, 8, and 12 Years of Age, in Uppsala 2008-2015*; Swedish Environmental Protection Agency: 2016.
- Hagen, D. F.; Belisle, J.; Johnson, J. D.; Venkateswarlu, P., Characterization of fluorinated metabolites by a gas chromatographic-helium microwave plasma detector-the biotransformation of 1H, 1H, 2H, 2H-perfluorodecanol to perfluorooctanoate. *Anal Biochem* **1981**, *118*, (2), 336-43.
- Han, X.; Nabb, D. L.; Russell, M. H.; Kennedy, G. L.; Rickard, R. W., Renal elimination of perfluorocarboxylates (PFCAs). *Chem Res Toxicol* **2012**, *25*, (1), 35-46.
- Hansen, K. J.; Clemen, L. A.; Ellefson, M. E.; Johnson, H. O., Compound-specific, quantitative characterization of organic fluorochemicals in biological matrices. *Environ Sci Technol* **2001**, *35*, (4), 766-70.
- Hanssen, L.; Rollin, H.; Odland, J. O.; Moe, M. K.; Sandanger, T. M., Perfluorinated compounds in maternal serum and cord blood from selected areas of South Africa: results of a pilot study. *J Environ Monit* 2010, *12*, (6), 1355-61.
- Haraguchi, K.; Kato, Y.; Koga, N.; Degawa, M., Metabolism of polychlorinated biphenyls by Gunn rats:

identification and serum retention of catechol metabolites. Chem Res Toxicol 2004, 17, (12), 1684-91.

- Haraguchi, K.; Kuroki, H.; Masuda, Y., Determination of hydroxy methylsulfone metabolites of PCB in Yusho patients. *Chemosphere* **1987**, *16*, (8), 2033-2038.
- Harding-Marjanovic, K. C.; Houtz, E. F.; Yi, S.; Field, J. A.; Sedlak, D. L.; Alvarez-Cohen, L., Aerobic biotransformation of fluorotelomer thioether amido sulfonate (lodyne) in AFFF-amended microcosms. *Environ Sci Technol* 2015, 49, (13), 7666-74.
- Harner, T.; Wiberg, K.; Norstrom, R., Enantiomer Fractions Are Preferred to Enantiomer Ratios for Describing Chiral Signatures in Environmental Analysis. *Environ Sci Technol* **2000**, *34*, (1), 218-220.
- Hatch, E. E.; Nelson, J. W.; Stahlhut, R. W.; Webster, T. F., Association of endocrine disruptors and obesity: perspectives from epidemiological studies. *Int J Androl* 2010, 33, (2), 324-32.
- Haug, L. S.; Thomsen, C.; Becher, G., Time trends and the influence of age and gender on serum concentrations of perfluorinated compounds in archived human samples. *Environ Sci Technol* **2009**, *43*, (6), 2131-6.
- He, X.; Li, J.; Gao, H.; Qiu, F.; Hu, K.; Cui, X.; Yao, X., Identification of a rare sulfonic acid metabolite of andrographolide in rats. *Drug Metab Dispos* **2003**, *31*, (8), 983-5.
- Health Canada Second Report on Human Biomonitoring of Environmental Chemicals in Canada-Results of the Canadian Health Measures Survey Cycle 2 (2009-2011); Minister of Health: Ottawa, ON, Canada, 2013.
- Health Canada. Report on Human Biomonitoring of Environmental Chemicals in Canada-Results of the Canadian Health Measures Survey Cycle 1 (2007-2009); Minister of Health: Ottawa, ON, Canada, 2010.
- Hellou, J.; Lebeuf, M.; Rudi, M., Review on DDT and metabolites in birds and mammals of aquatic ecosystems. *Environ Rev* **2012**, *21*, (1), 53-69.
- Hens, P. V. Analysis of the unknown pool of PFAS: total xxidizable precursors (TOP), PFOS precursor (PreFOS) and telomer degradation; Orebro University: 2017.
- Holcapek, M.; Jirasko, R.; Lisa, M., Basic rules for the interpretation of atmospheric pressure ionization mass spectra of small molecules. J Chromatogr A 2010, 1217, (25), 3908-21.
- Hole, M. Highyl fluorinated quinoline. Durham University, 1966.
- Holt, R. Alternatives to Long-chains. FluoroCouncil: The Global Industry Council for FluoroTechnology. DuPont URL: <u>https://www.oecd.org/env/ehs/risk-management/47651662.pdf</u>
- Hong, A. C.; Young, C. J.; Hurley, M. D.; Wallington, T. J.; Mabury, S. A., Perfluorotributylamine: A novel longlived greenhouse gas. *Geophysical Research Letters* 2013, 40, (22), 6010-6015.
- Houde, M.; Czub, G.; Small, J. M.; Backus, S.; Wang, X.; Alaee, M.; Muir, D. C., Fractionation and bioaccumulation of perfluorooctane sulfonate (PFOS) isomers in a Lake Ontario food web. *Environ Sci Technol* 2008, 42, (24), 9397-403.
- Houde, M.; De Silva, A. O.; Muir, D. C. G.; Letcher, R. J., Monitoring of perfluorinated compounds in aquatic biota: an updated review PFCs in aquatic biota. *Environ Sci Technol* **2011**, *45*.
- Houde, M.; Douville, M.; Despatie, S. P.; De Silva, A. O.; Spencer, C., Induction of gene responses in St. Lawrence River northern pike (*Esox lucius*) environmentally exposed to perfluorinated compounds. *Chemosphere* 2013, 92, (9), 1195-200.
- Houde, M.; Martin, J. W.; Letcher, R. J.; Solomon, K. R.; Muir, D. C., Biological monitoring of polyfluoroalkyl substances: A review. *Environ Sci Technol* 2006, 40, (11), 3463-73.
- Houtz, E. F.; Higgins, C. P.; Field, J. A.; Sedlak, D. L., Persistence of perfluoroalkyl acid precursors in AFFFimpacted groundwater and soil. *Environ Sci Technol* **2013**, *47*, (15), 8187-95.
- Houtz, E. F.; Sedlak, D. L., Oxidative conversion as a means of detecting precursors to perfluoroalkyl acids in urban runoff. *Environ Sci Technol* 2012, 46, (17), 9342-9.
- Houtz, E. F.; Sutton, R.; Park, J. S.; Sedlak, M., Poly- and perfluoroalkyl substances in wastewater: Significance of unknown precursors, manufacturing shifts, and likely AFFF impacts. *Water Res* **2016**, *95*, 142-9.
- Hovander, L.; Malmberg, T.; Athanasiadou, M.; Athanassiadis, I.; Rahm, S.; Bergman, A.; Wehler, E. K., Identification of hydroxylated PCB metabolites and other phenolic halogenated pollutants in human blood plasma. *Arch Environ Contam Toxicol* 2002, 42, (1), 105-17.
- Hu, W.; Jones, P. D.; DeCoen, W.; King, L.; Fraker, P.; Newsted, J.; Giesy, J. P., Alterations in cell membrane properties caused by perfluorinated compounds. *Comp Biochem Physiol C Toxicol Pharmacol* 2003, 135, (1), 77-88.

- Hu, W.; Jones, P. D.; Upham, B. L.; Trosko, J. E.; Lau, C.; Giesy, J. P., Inhibition of gap junctional intercellular communication by perfluorinated compounds in rat liver and dolphin kidney epithelial cell lines in vitro and Sprague-Dawley rats in vivo. *Toxicol Sci* 2002, 68, (2), 429-36.
- Huang, J.; Yu, G.; Mei, S. In PFOS in China: Production, Application and Altrnatives, Fluoros2015: An International Symposium on Fluorinated Organics in the Environment, Golden, CO, USA, July 13, 2015, 2015.
- Huber, S.; Ahrens, L.; Bardsen, B. J.; Siebert, U.; Bustnes, J. O.; Vikingsson, G. A.; Ebinghaus, R.; Herzke, D., Temporal trends and spatial differences of perfluoroalkylated substances in livers of harbor porpoise (Phocoena phocoena) populations from Northern Europe, 1991-2008. *Sci Total Environ* **2012**, *419*, 216-24.
- Hughey, C. A.; Hendrickson, C. L.; Rodgers, R. P.; Marshall, A. G.; Qian, K., Kendrick mass defect spectrum: a compact visual analysis for ultrahigh-resolution broadband mass spectra. *Anal Chem* **2001**, *73*, (19), 4676-81.
- Jackson, A. H.; Jackson, A. H.; Artico, M.; Anderson, H. J.; Loader, C. E.; Gossauer, A.; Nesvadba, P.; Dennis, N., Reactivity of the 1H-Pyrrole Ring System. In *Reactivity of the 1H-Pyrrole Ring System, in Chemistry of Heterocyclic Compounds: Pyrroles, Part One: The Synthesis and the Physical and Chemical Aspects of the Pyrrole Ring.*, Jones, R. A., Ed. John Wiley & Sons, Inc.: NJ, USA, 1990; Vol. 48, pp 460-462.
- Jackson, D. A.; Mabury, S. A., Polyfluorinated amides as a historical PFCA source by electrochemical fluorination of alkyl sulfonyl fluorides. *Environ Sci Technol* **2013**, *47*, (1), 382-9.
- Jacobs, P. L.; Ridder, L.; Ruijken, M.; Rosing, H.; Jager, N. G.; Beijnen, J. H.; Bas, R. R.; van Dongen, W. D., Identification of drug metabolites in human plasma or serum integrating metabolite prediction, LC-HRMS and untargeted data processing. *Bioanalysis* 2013, *5*, (17), 2115-28.
- Jansson, B.; Jensen, S.; Olsson, M.; Renberg, L.; Sundstr; xf; m, G.; Vaz, R., Identification by GC-MS of phenolic metabolites of PCB and p,p-DDE isolated from baltic guillemot and seal. *Ambio* **1975**, *4*, (2), 93-97.
- Jensen, A. A.; Leffers, H., Emerging endocrine disrupters: perfluoroalkylated substances. *Int J Androl* 2008, *31*, (2), 161-169.
- Jensen, S.; Jansson, B., Anthropogenic substances in seal from the Baltic: methyl sulfone metabolites of PCB and DDE. *Ambio* **1976**, *5*, (5/6), 257-260.
- Jin, H.; Zhang, Y.; Zhu, L.; Martin, J. W., Isomer profiles of perfluoroalkyl substances in water and soil surrounding a chinese fluorochemical manufacturing park. *Environ Sci Technol* **2015**, *49*, (8), 4946-54.
- Jin, Y.; Saito, N.; Harada, K. H.; Inoue, K.; Koizumi, A., Historical trends in human serum levels of perfluorooctanoate and perfluorooctane sulfonate in Shenyang, China. *Tohoku J Exp Med* 2007, 212, (1), 63-70.
- Jobst, K. J.; Shen, L.; Reiner, E. J.; Taguchi, V. Y.; Helm, P. A.; McCrindle, R.; Backus, S., The use of mass defect plots for the identification of (novel) halogenated contaminants in the environment. *Anal Bioanal Chem* 2013, 405, (10), 3289-3297.
- Jones, P. D.; Hu, W.; De Coen, W.; Newsted, J. L.; Giesy, J. P., Binding of perfluorinated fatty acids to serum proteins. *Environ Toxicol Chem* 2003, 22, (11), 2639-49.
- Ju, K. S.; Parales, R. E., Nitroaromatic compounds, from synthesis to biodegradation. *Microbiol Mol Biol Rev* 2010, 74, (2), 250-72.
- June-Soo, P.; Olga, K.; Dianne, K.; Myrto, P., Polychlorinated biphenyls (PCBs) and their hydroxylated metabolites (OH-PCBs) in livers of harbor seals (*Phoca vitulina*) from San Francisco Bay, California and Gulf of Maine. *Mar Environ Res* 2009, 67, (3), 129.
- Kalkhoff, S. J.; Kolpin, D. W.; Thurman, E. M.; Ferrer, I.; Barcelo, D., Degradation of chloroacetanilide herbicides: the prevalence of sulfonic and oxanilic acid metabolites in Iowa groundwaters and surface waters. *Environ Sci Technol* **1998**, *32*, (11), 1738-1740.
- Kalyadin, V. G.; Sirlibaev, T. S., Emulsion polymerization of vinyl fluoride in the presence of fluorine-containing surfactants. in: Tashk.Gos.Univ., ed. Uzbekskii Khimicheskii Zhurnal. USSR; 1. Uzb. Khim. Zh. 1987, 4, 36-40.
- Kannan, K.; Corsolini, S.; Falandysz, J.; Fillmann, G.; Kumar, K. S.; Loganathan, B. G.; Mohd, M. A.; Olivero, J.; Van Wouwe, N.; Yang, J. H.; Aldoust, K. M., Perfluorooctanesulfonate and related fluorochemicals in human blood from several countries. *Environ Sci Technol* 2004, *38*, (17), 4489-95.
- Kannan, K.; Kawano, M.; Kashima, Y.; Matsui, M.; Giesy, J. P., Extractable organohalogens (EOX) in sediment and biota collected at an estuarine marsh near a former chloralkali facility. *Environmental Science & Technology* 1999, 33, (7), 1004-1008.
- Kärrman, A.; Elgh-Dalgren, K.; Lafossas, C.; Møskeland, T., Environmental levels and distribution of structural

isomers of perfluoroalkyl acids after aqueous fire-fighting foam (AFFF) contamination. *Environ Chem* **2011**, *8*, (4), 372-380.

- Kärrman, A.; Ericson, I.; van Bavel, B.; Darnerud, P. O.; Aune, M.; Glynn, A.; Lignell, S.; Lindström, G., Exposure of perfluorinated chemicals through lactation: levels of matched human milk and serum and a temporal trend, 1996–2004, in Sweden. *Environ Health Perspect* 2007, *115*, (2), 226-230.
- Karrman, A.; Langlois, I.; van Bavel, B.; Lindstrom, G.; Oehme, M., Identification and pattern of perfluorooctane sulfonate (PFOS) isomers in human serum and plasma. *Environ Int* **2007**, *33*, (6), 782-8.
- Kato, K., PFASs in the general population. In *Toxicological Effects of Perfluoroalkyl and Polyfluoroalkyl Substances*, DeWitt, J. C., Ed. Humana Press: 2015.
- Kato, K.; Wong, L. Y.; Jia, L. T.; Kuklenyik, Z.; Calafat, A. M., Trends in exposure to polyfluoroalkyl chemicals in the U.S. Population: 1999-2008. *Environ Sci Technol* 2011, 45, (19), 8037-45.
- Kawano, M.; Hasegawa, J.; Enomoto, T.; Onishi, H.; Nishio, Y.; Matsuda, M.; Wakimoto, T., Hydroxylated polychlorinated biphenyls (OH-PCBs): recent advances in wildlife contamination study. *Environ Sci* 2005, *12*, (6), 315-24.
- Kendrick, E., A mass scale based on CH2 = 14.0000 for high resolution mass spectrometry of organic compounds. *Anal Chem* **1963**, *35*, (13), 2146-2154.
- Kerstner-Wood, C.; Coward, L.; Gorman, G.; Washington, D. Protein Binding of Perfluorohexane Sulfonate, Perfluorooctane Sulfonate and Perfluorooctanoate to Plasma (Human, Rat, and Monkey), and Various Human-Derived Plasma Protein Fractions; Southern Research Institute: 2003.
- Kim, S.; Choi, K.; Ji, K.; Seo, J.; Kho, Y.; Park, J.; Kim, S.; Park, S.; Hwang, I.; Jeon, J.; Yang, H.; Giesy, J. P., Trans-placental transfer of thirteen perfluorinated compounds and relations with fetal thyroid hormones. *Environ Sci Technol* 2011, 45, (17), 7465-72.
- Kim, S. K.; Lee, K. T.; Kang, C. S.; Tao, L.; Kannan, K.; Kim, K. R.; Kim, C. K.; Lee, J. S.; Park, P. S.; Yoo, Y. W.; Ha, J. Y.; Shin, Y. S.; Lee, J. H., Distribution of perfluorochemicals between sera and milk from the same mothers and implications for prenatal and postnatal exposures. *Environ Pollut* 2011, 159, (1), 169-74.
- Kind, T.; Fiehn, O., Seven Golden Rules for heuristic filtering of molecular formulas obtained by accurate mass spectrometry. *BMC Bioinformatics* **2007**, *8*, 105-105.
- Kind, T.; Fiehn, O., Advances in structure elucidation of small molecules using mass spectrometry. *Bioanal Rev* **2010**, *2*, (1), 23-60.
- Klitzke, C. F.; Corilo, Y. E.; Siek, K.; Binkley, J.; Patrick, J.; Eberlin, M. N., Petroleomics by ultrahigh-resolution time-of-flight mass spectrometry. *Energy & Fuels* **2012**, *26*, (9), 5787-94.
- Knox, S. S.; Jackson, T.; Javins, B.; Frisbee, S. J.; Shankar, A.; Ducatman, A. M., Implications of early menopause in women exposed to perfluorocarbons. J. Clin. Endocrinol. Metab. 2011, 96, (6), 1747-53.
- Korkowski, P.; Kestner, T., Chemical characterization of FOSA & PFOSA samples by 1H and 19F NMR spectroscopy. In 3M Company: 1999.
- Korkowski, P.; Kestner, T. Chemical characterization of FOSA & PFOSA samples by 1H and 19F NMR spectroscopy; 3M Company (3M): 1999.
- Kosjek, K.; Health, E., Halogenated heterocycles as pharmaceuticals. In *Halogenated Heterocycles: Synthesis, Application and Environment*, Iskra, J., Ed. Springer Science & Business Media: 2012.
- Kovarova, J.; Svobodova, Z., Perfluorinated compounds: occurrence and risk profile. *Neuro Endocrinol Lett* **2008**, *29*, (5), 599-608.
- Krauss, M.; Singer, H.; Hollender, J., LC-high resolution MS in environmental analysis: from target screening to the identification of unknowns. *Anal Bioanal Chem* **2010**, *397*, (3), 943-51.
- Kricheldorf, H. R.; Nuyken, O.; Swift, G., Polyvinyl Ethers, Esters, and Halogenides. In *Handbook of Polymer Synthesis*, 2 ed.; Dekker, M., Ed. CRC Press N: New York, NY, USA, 2005.
- Kuklenyik, Z.; Reich, J. A.; Tully, J. S.; Needham, L. L.; Calafat, A. M., Automated solid-phase extraction and measurement of perfluorinated organic acids and amides in human serum and milk. *Environ Sci Technol* 2004, 38, (13), 3698-704.
- Lacey, M. J.; Macdonald, C. G.; Shannon, J. S., Loss of CH2O and H2O by stepwise mechanisms in mass spectrometry. J Mass Spectrom 1971, 5, (12), 1391-1397.
- Laganà, A.; Fago, G.; Fasciani, L.; Marino, A.; Mosso, M., Determination of diphenyl-ether herbicides and

metabolites in natural waters using high-performance liquid chromatography with diode array tandem mass spectrometric detection. *Analytica Chimica Acta* **2000**, *414*, (1–2), 79-94.

- Lam, J. C.; Lyu, J.; Kwok, K. Y.; Lam, P. K., Perfluoroalkyl substances (PFASs) in marine mammals from the South China Sea and their temporal changes 2002-2014: concern for alternatives of PFOS? *Environ Sci Technol* 2016, *50*, (13), 6728-36.
- Lamoureux, G. L.; Rusness, D. G., Propachlor metabolism in soybean plants, excised soybean tissues, and soil. *Pest Biochem Physiol* 1989, 34, (3), 187-204.
- Land, M.; de Wit, C. A.; Cousins, I. T.; Herzke, D.; Johansson, J.; Martin, J. W., What is the effect of phasing out long-chain per- and polyfluoroalkyl substances on the concentrations of perfluoroalkyl acids and their precursors in the environment? A systematic review protocol. *Environ Evid* 2015, 4, (1), 3.
- Langlois, I.; Oehme, M., Structural identification of isomers present in technical perfluorooctane sulfonate by tandem mass spectrometry. *Rapid Commun Mass Spectrom* **2006**, *20*, (5), 844-50.
- Lau, C., Perfluorinated Compounds: An Overview. In *Toxicological Effects of Perfluoroalkyl and Polyfluoroalkyl Substances*, DeWitt, J. C., Ed. Springer International Publishing: Cham, 2015; pp 1-21.
- Lau, C.; Anitole, K.; Hodes, C.; Lai, D.; Pfahles-Hutchens, A.; Seed, J., Perfluoroalkyl acids: a review of monitoring and toxicological findings. *Toxicol Sci* 2007, 99, (2), 366-94.
- Lau, C.; Butenhoff, J. L.; Rogers, J. M., The developmental toxicity of perfluoroalkyl acids and their derivatives. *Toxicol Appl Pharmacol* **2004**, *198*, (2), 231-41.
- Lau, C.; Thibodeaux, J. R.; Hanson, R. G.; Narotsky, M. G.; Rogers, J. M.; Lindstrom, A. B.; Strynar, M. J., Effects of perfluorooctanoic acid exposure during pregnancy in the mouse. *Toxicol Sci* 2006, 90, (2), 510-518.
- Lau, C.; Thibodeaux, J. R.; Hanson, R. G.; Rogers, J. M.; Grey, B. E.; Stanton, M. E.; Butenhoff, J. L.; Stevenson, L. A., Exposure to perfluorooctane sulfonate during pregnancy in rat and mouse. II: postnatal evaluation. *Toxicol Sci* 2003, 74, (2), 382-92.
- Lee, H.; D'Eon, J.; Mabury, S. A., Biodegradation of polyfluoroalkyl phosphates as a source of perfluorinated acids to the environment. *Environ Sci Technol* **2010**, *44*, (9), 3305-10.
- Lee, H.; Mabury, S. A., A pilot survey of legacy and current commercial fluorinated chemicals in human sera from United States donors in 2009. *Environ Sci Technol* **2011**, *45*, (19), 8067-74.
- Lehmler, H.-J.; Robertson, L. W., Synthesis of hydroxylated PCB metabolites with the Suzuki-coupling. *Chemosphere* **2001**, *45*, 1119-1127.
- Lehmler, H. J.; He, X.; Li, X.; Duffel, M. W.; Parkin, S., Effective synthesis of sulfate metabolites of chlorinated phenols. *Chemosphere* **2013**, *93*, 1965-1971.
- Lentfer, J. W. *Environmental Contaminants in Polar Bears; Job No. 5.5R*; Alaska Department of Fish and Game: Fairbanks: 1976; p 22.
- Lerner, S. Under Dupont Bridge: The Teflon Toxin Goes to China. URL: <u>https://theintercept.com/2016/09/15/the-teflon-toxin-goes-to-china/</u> (Accessed: November 1, 2017).
- Lescord, G. L.; Kidd, K. A.; De Silva, A. O.; Williamson, M.; Spencer, C.; Wang, X.; Muir, D. C., Perfluorinated and polyfluorinated compounds in lake food webs from the Canadian high Arctic. *Environ Sci Technol* 2015, 49, (5), 2694-702.
- Letcher, R. Temporal and spatial trends in organic and metal contaminants in Canadian polar bears: 2006-2007 NCP Project summary report.; Government of Nunavut, Department of Environment: 2007.
- Letcher, R. J.; Bustnes, J. O.; Dietz, R.; Jenssen, B. M.; Jorgensen, E. H.; Sonne, C.; Verreault, J.; Vijayan, M. M.; Gabrielsen, G. W., Exposure and effects assessment of persistent organohalogen contaminants in arctic wildlife and fish. *Sci Total Environ* 2010, 408, (15), 2995-3043.
- Letcher, R. J.; Gebbink, W. A.; Sonne, C.; Born, E. W.; McKinney, M. A.; Dietz, R., Bioaccumulation and biotransformation of brominated and chlorinated contaminants and their metabolites in ringed seals (*Pusa hispida*) and polar bears (*Ursus maritimus*) from East Greenland. *Environ Int* 2009, 35, (8), 1118-24.
- Letcher, R. J.; Klasson-Wehler, E.; Bergman, A., Methyl Sulfone and Hydroxylated Metabolites of Polychlorinated Biphenyls. In *The Handbook of Environmental Chemistry Vol. 3 Part K New Types of Persistent Halogenated Compounds*, Paasivirta, J., Ed. pringer-Verlag Berlin 2000; Vol. 3.
- Letcher, R. J.; Li, H. X.; Chu, S. G., Determination of hydroxylated polychlorinated biphenyls (HO-PCBs) in blood plasma by high-performance liquid chromatography-electrospray ionization-tandem quadrupole mass

spectrometry. J Anal Toxicol 2005, 29, (4), 209-16.

- Letcher, R. J.; Norstrom, R. J.; Bergman, A., Geographical distribution and identification of methyl sulphone PCB and DDE metabolites in pooled polar bear (*Ursus maritimus*) adipose tissue from western hemisphere arctic and subarctic regions. *Sci Total Environ* **1995**, *160-161*, 409-20.
- Letcher, R. J.; Norstrom, R. J.; Muir, D. C. G., Biotransformation versus bioaccumulation: sources of methyl sulfone PCB and 4,4'-DDE metabolites in the polar bear food chain. *Environ Sci Technol* **1998**, *32*, (11), 1656-1661.
- Li, H.; Drouillard, K. G.; Bennett, E.; Haffner, G. D.; Letcher, R. J., Plasma-associated halogenated phenolic contaminants in benthic and pelagic fish species from the Detroit River. *Environ Sci Technol* 2003, 37, (5), 832-9.
- Li, L.; Liu, J.; Hu, J.; Wania, F., Degradation of fluorotelomer-based polymers contributes to the global occurrence of fluorotelomer alcohol and perfluoroalkyl carboxylates: a combined dynamic substance flow and environmental fate modeling analysis. *Environ Sci Technol* 2017, 51, (8), 4461-70.
- Li, L.; Zhai, Z.; Liu, J.; Hu, J., Estimating industrial and domestic environmental releases of perfluorooctanoic acid and its salts in China from 2004 to 2012. *Chemosphere* **2015**, *129*, 100-9.
- Li, X.; Parkin, S.; Duffel, M. W.; Robertson, L. W.; Lehmler, H.-J., An efficient approach to sulfate metabolites of polychlorinated biphenyls. *Environ. Int.* 2010, 36, 843-848.
- Lignell, S.; Aune, M.; Darnerud, P. O.; Cnattingius, S.; Glynn, A., Persistent organochlorine and organobromine compounds in mother's milk from Sweden 1996-2006: compound-specific temporal trends. *Environ Res* 2009, 109, (6), 760-7.
- Lim, T. C.; Wang, B.; Huang, J.; Deng, S.; Yu, G., Emission inventory for PFOS in China: review of past methodologies and suggestions. *Sci World J* 2011, 11, 1963-80.
- Lin, S.; Gan, N.; Zhang, J.; Qiao, L.; Chen, Y.; Cao, Y., Aptamer-functionalized stir bar sorptive extraction coupled with gas chromatography-mass spectrometry for selective enrichment and determination of polychlorinated biphenyls in fish samples. *Talanta* 2016, 149, 266-74.
- Lin, Y.; Ruan, T.; Liu, A.; Jiang, G., Identification of novel hydrogen-substituted polyfluoroalkyl ether sulfonates in environmental matrices near metal-plating facilities. *Environ Sci Technol* **2017**.
- Liu, J.; Li, J.; Liu, Y.; Chan, H. M.; Zhao, Y.; Cai, Z.; Wu, Y., Comparison on gestation and lactation exposure of perfluorinated compounds for newborns. *Environ Int* 2011, 37, (7), 1206-12.
- Liu, W.; Qin, H.; Li, J.; Zhang, Q.; Zhang, H.; Wang, Z.; He, X., Atmospheric chlorinated polyfluorinated ether sulfonate and ionic perfluoroalkyl acids in 2006 to 2014 in Dalian, China. *Environ Toxicol Chem* 2017.
- Liu, Y.; Pereira Ados, S.; Martin, J. W., Discovery of C5-C17 poly- and perfluoroalkyl substances in water by inline SPE-HPLC-Orbitrap with in-source fragmentation flagging. *Anal Chem* **2015**, *87*, (8), 4260-8.
- Liu, Y.; Pereira, A. S.; Beesoon, S.; Vestergren, R.; Berger, U.; Olsen, G. W.; Glynn, A.; Martin, J. W., Temporal trends of perfluorooctanesulfonate isomer and enantiomer patterns in archived Swedish and American serum samples. *Environ Int* 2015, 75, 215-22.
- Lloyd, A. S.; Bailey, V. A.; Hird, S. J.; Routledge, A.; Clarke, D. B., Mass spectral studies towards more reliable measurement of perfluorooctanesulfonic acid and other perfluorinated chemicals (PFCs) in food matrices using liquid chromatography/tandem mass spectrometry. *Rapid Commun Mass Spectrom* 2009, 23, (18), 2923-38.
- Loi, E. I.; Yeung, L. W.; Taniyasu, S.; Lam, P. K.; Kannan, K.; Yamashita, N., Trophic magnification of poly- and perfluorinated compounds in a subtropical food web. *Environ Sci Technol* 2011, 45, (13), 5506-13.
- Loi, E. I. H.; Yeung, L. W. Y.; Taniyasu, S.; Lam, P. K. S.; Kannan, K.; Yamashita, N., Trophic magnification of poly- and perfluorinated compounds in a subtropical food web. *Environ Sci Technol* **2011**, *45*.
- Loken, K. Determination of OH-PCBs and OH.PBDEs in biological matrices : Method development, identification and quantification. University of Oslo, 2006.
- Lopez-Espinosa, M. J.; Mondal, D.; Armstrong, B. G.; Eskenazi, B.; Fletcher, T., Perfluoroalkyl substances, sex hormones, and insulin-like growth factor-1 at 6-9 years of age: a cross-sectional analysis within the C8 health project. *Environ Health Perspect* **2016**, *124*, (8), 1269-75.
- Lu, Z.; Kania-Korwel, I.; Lehmler, H. J.; Wong, C. S., Stereoselective formation of mono- and dihydroxylated polychlorinated biphenyls by rat cytochrome P450 2B1. *Environ Sci Technol* **2013**, *47*, (21), 12184-92.

Luebker, D. J.; Case, M. T.; York, R. G.; Moore, J. A.; Hansen, K. J.; Butenhoff, J. L., Two-generation reproduction and cross-foster studies of perfluorooctanesulfonate (PFOS) in rats. *Toxicology* 2005, 215, (1-2), 126-148.

Luebker, D. J.; Hansen, K. J.; Bass, N. M.; Butenhoff, J. L.; Seacat, A. M., Interactions of flurochemicals with rat

liver fatty acid-binding protein. Toxicology 2002, 176, (3), 175-185.

- Luebker, D. J.; York, R. G.; Hansen, K. J.; Moore, J. A.; Butenhoff, J. L., Neonatal mortality from in utero exposure to perfluorooctanesulfonate (PFOS) in Sprague-Dawley rats: dose-response, and biochemical and pharamacokinetic parameters. *Toxicology* 2005, 215, (1-2), 149-69.
- Lunn, N. J.; Servanty, S.; Regehr, E. V.; Converse, S. J.; Richardson, E.; Stirling, I., Demography of an apex predator at the edge of its range: impacts of changing sea ice on polar bears in Hudson Bay. *Ecol Appl* 2016, 26, (5), 1302-1320.
- Mann, M.; Kelleher, N. L., Precision proteomics: the case for high resolution and high mass accuracy. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 2008, 105, (47), 18132-8.
- Mao, Y. Application of FT-ICR mass spectrometry in study of proteomics, petroleomics and fragmentomics. PhD Thesis, The Florida State University 2013.
- Marchi, I.; Viette, V.; Badoud, F.; Fathi, M.; Saugy, M.; Rudaz, S.; Veuthey, J. L., Characterization and classification of matrix effects in biological samples analyses. J Chromatogr A 2010, 1217, (25), 4071-8.
- Marchi, I.; Viette, V.; Badoud, F.; Fathi, M.; Saugy, M.; Rudaz, S.; Veuthey, J. L., Characterization and classification of matrix effects in biological samples analyses. *J Chromatogr A* **2010**, *1217*, (25), 4071-4078.
- Marek, R. F.; Martinez, A.; Hornbuckle, K. C., Discovery of hydroxylated polychlorinated biphenyls (OH-PCBs) in sediment from a lake Michigan waterway and original commercial aroclors. *Environ Sci Technol* 2013, 47, (15), 8204-10.
- Marek, R. F.; Thorne, P. S.; Herkert, N. J.; Awad, A. M.; Hornbuckle, K. C., Airborne PCBs and OH-PCBs inside and outside urban and rural U.S. schools. *Environ Sci Technol* 2017, 51, (14), 7853-7860.
- Martin, J. W.; Asher, B. J.; Beesoon, S.; Benskin, J. P.; Ross, M. S., PFOS or PreFOS? Are perfluorooctane sulfonate precursors (PreFOS) important determinants of human and environmental perfluorooctane sulfonate (PFOS) exposure? J Environ Monit 2010, 12, (11), 1979-2004.
- Martin, J. W.; Mabury, S. A.; Solomon, K. R.; Muir, D. C. G., Bioconcentration and tissue distribution of perfluorinated acids in rainbow trout (*oncorhynchus mykiss*). *Environ Toxicol Chem* 2003, 22, (1), 196-204.
- Martin, J. W.; Mabury, S. A.; Solomon, K. R.; Muir, D. C. G., Dietary accumulation of perfluorinated acids in juvenile rainbow trout (*oncorhynchus mykiss*). *Environ Toxicol Chem* 2003, 22.
- Martin, J. W.; Smithwick, M. M.; Braune, B. M.; Hoekstra, P. F.; Muir, D. C.; Mabury, S. A., Identification of longchain perfluorinated acids in biota from the Canadian Arctic. *Environ Sci Technol* 2004, 38, (2), 373-80.
- Maslankiewicz, A.; Marciniec, K.; Pawlowski, M.; Zajdel, P., From haloquinolines and halopyridines to quinolineand pyridinesulfonyl chilorides and sulfonamides. *Heterocycles* 2007, 71, (9), 1975-90.
- McGuire, M. E.; Schaefer, C.; Richards, T.; Backe, W. J.; Field, J. A.; Houtz, E.; Sedlak, D. L.; Guelfo, J. L.; Wunsch, A.; Higgins, C. P., Evidence of remediation-induced alteration of subsurface poly- and perfluoroalkyl substance distribution at a former firefighter training area. *Environ Sci Technol* **2014**, *48*, (12), 6644-52.
- McLean, M. R.; Bauer, U.; Amaro, A. R.; Robertson, L. W., Identification of catechol and hydroquinone metabolites of 4-monochlorobiphenyl. *Chem Res Toxicol* **1996**, *9*, (1), 158-64.
- McLean, M. R.; Bauer, U.; Amaro, A. R.; Robertson, L. W., Identification of catechol and hydroquinone metabolites of 4-monochlorobiphenyl. *Chem. Res. Toxicol.* **1996**, *9*, 158-164.
- Meissner, E.; Twardochleb, B.; Milchert, E.; Wroblewsks, A.; Szymanowski, J., Estimation of foam forming properties and surface tension of fire extinguishing agents. *Tenside Surfact Det* **2003**, *40*, (6), 353-60.
- Mislan, P.; Derocher, A. E.; St. Louis, V. L.; Richardson, E.; Lunn, N. J.; Janz, D. M., Assessing stress in Western Hudson Bay polar bears using hair cortisol concentration as a biomarker. *Ecological Indicators* 2016, 71, 47-54.
- Miyake, Y.; Yamashita, N.; Rostkowski, P.; So, M. K.; Taniyasu, S.; Lam, P. K. S.; Kannan, K., Determination of trace levels of total fluorine in water using combustion ion chromatography for fluorine: A mass balance approach to determine individual perfluorinated chemicals in water. J Chromatgr A 2007, 1143, (1), 98-104.
- Moe, M. K.; Huber, S.; Svenson, J.; Hagenaars, A.; Pabon, M.; Trumper, M.; Berger, U.; Knapen, D.; Herzke, D., The structure of the fire fighting foam surfactant Forafac(R)1157 and its biological and photolytic transformation products. *Chemosphere* 2012, *89*, (7), 869-75.
- Mol, H. G.; Zomer, P.; de Koning, M., Qualitative aspects and validation of a screening method for pesticides in vegetables and fruits based on liquid chromatography coupled to full scan high resolution (Orbitrap) mass spectrometry. *Anal Bioanal Chem* **2012**, *403*, (10), 2891-908.

- Muir, D. C.; Norstrom, R. J.; Simon, M., Organochlorine contaminants in arctic marine food chains: accumulation of specific polychlorinated biphenyls and chlordane-related compounds. *Environ Sci Technol* **1988**, *22*, (9), 1071-9.
- Muller, C. E.; Spiess, N.; Gerecke, A. C.; Scheringer, M.; Hungerbuhler, K., Quantifying diffuse and point inputs of perfluoroalkyl acids in a nonindustrial river catchment. *Environ Sci Technol* 2011, 45, (23), 9901-9.
- Myers, A. L.; Jobst, K. J.; Mabury, S. A.; Reiner, E. J., Using mass defect plots as a discovery tool to identify novel fluoropolymer thermal decomposition products. *J Mass Spectrom* **2014**, *49*, (4), 291-296.
- Myers, A. L.; Jobst, K. J.; Mabury, S. A.; Reiner, E. J., Using mass defect plots as a discovery tool to identify novel fluoropolymer thermal decomposition products. *J Mass Spectrom* **2014**, *49*, (4), 291-6.
- NDRC., Catalogue for the Guidance of Industrial Structure Adjustment In National Development and Reform Commission of China (NDRC): 2011.
- Nenajdenko, V., Fluorine in Heterocyclic Chemistry Volume 2 : 6-Membered Heterocycles. Springer: New York, 2014.
- NEPA. Forbidding PFOA in Nrowegian Consumer Products. Norwegian Environmental Protection Agency (NEPA), URL: <u>http://www.miljodirektoratet.no/no/Nyheter/Nyheter/Old-klif/2013/juni-2013/Forbyr-PFOA-i-norske-forbrukerprodukter/</u> (Accessed: July 25, 2016).
- Newsome, W. H.; Andrews, P.; Conacher, H. B.; Rao, R. R.; A., C., Total organochlorine content of fish from the Great Lakes. *J AOAC Int* **1993**, *76*, (4), 703-6.
- Newton, S.; McMahen, R.; Stoeckel, J. A.; Chislock, M.; Lindstrom, A.; Strynar, M., Novel polyfluorinated compounds identified using high resolution mass spectrometry downstream of manufacturing facilities near Decatur, Alabama. *Environ Sci Technol* 2017, 51, (3), 1544-1552.
- NICNAC. Environment Tier II Assessment for Direct precursors to perfluorooctanesulfonate (PFOS); National Industrial Chemicals Notification and Assessment Scheme (NICNAS): Sydney, Australia., 2015.
- NICNAC. Environment Tier II Assessment of Perfluorooctanoic Acid (PFOA) and Its Direct Precursors; National Industrial Chemicals Notification and Assessment Scheme (NICNAS): Sydney, Australia, 2015.
- Nie, Y.; Albinus, T. Comparison of EG-silicone-SBSE and derivatization-PDMS-SBSE for the analysis of phenolic compounds and off-flavors in water; Gerstel GmbH: Germany, 2012.
- Norstrom, R. J.; Simon, M.; Muir, D. C.; Schweinsburg, R. E., Organochlorine contaminants in arctic marine food chains: identification, geographical distribution and temporal trends in polar bears. *Environ Sci Technol* **1988**, *22*, (9), 1063-71.
- Nosova, E. V.; Mochul'skaya, N. N.; Kotovskaya, S. K.; Lipunova, G. N.; Charushin, V. N., Fluorinated benzazoles and benzazines. *Heteroatom Chemistry* **2006**, *17*, (6), 579-594.
- Nost, T. H.; Breivik, K.; Fuskevag, O. M.; Nieboer, E.; Odland, J. O.; Sandanger, T. M., Persistent organic pollutants in Norwegian men from 1979 to 2007: intraindividual changes, age-period-cohort effects, and model predictions. *Environ Health Perspect* 2013, *121*, (11-12), 1292-8.
- O'Brien, H. T.; Gagne, D.; Blanchet, R.; Lauziere, J.; VEzina, C.; Ayotte, P. In *Temporal trends of legacy and emerging persistent organic pollutants in Inuit preschoolers from Nunavik, Quebec, Canada*, 2nd World Congress on New Technologies (NewTech 2016), Budapest, Hungary, August 18-19, 2016, 2016.
- O'Brien, J. M.; Kennedy, S. W.; Chu, S.; Letcher, R. J., Isomer-specific accumulation of perfluorooctane sulfonate in the liver of chicken embryos exposed in ovo to a technical mixture. *Environ Toxicol Chem* **2011**, *30*, (1), 226-31.
- Ochoa-Herrera, V.; Field, J. A.; Luna-Velasco, A.; Sierra-Alvarez, R., Microbial toxicity and biodegradability of perfluorooctane sulfonate (PFOS) and shorter chain perfluoroalkyl and polyfluoroalkyl substances (PFASs). *Environ Sci Process Impacts* 2016, 18, (9), 1236-1246.
- OECD. Synthesis Paper on Per- and Polyfluorinated Chemicals (PFCs); Organisation for Economic Cooperation and Development (OECD): Paris, France, 2013.
- OECD. Risk Reduction Approaches for PFASs: A Cross-Country Analysis; The Organisation for Economic Cooperation and Development (OECD): Paris, France., 2015.
- OECD. Working Towards A Global Emission Inventory of PFASs: Status Quo and the Way Forward; Organization for Economic Cooperation and Development (OECD): Paris, France, 2015.
- Olsen GW; Mair D; Reagen W; Ellefson ME; Ehresman DJ; Butenhoff JL; L., Z. Pilot Study to Assess Serum

Fluorochemical Concentrations in American Red Cross Blood Donors, 2006 Final Report; 3M Medical Department: 2006.

- Olsen, G. W.; Burris, J. M.; Ehresman, D. J.; Froehlich, J. W.; Seacat, A. M.; Butenhoff, J. L., Half-life of serum elimination of perfluorooctanesulfonate, perfluorohexanesulfonate, and perfluorooctanoate in retired fluorochemical production workers. *Environ Health Perspect* **2007**, *115*.
- Olsen, G. W.; Burris, J. M.; Ehresman, D. J.; Froehlich, J. W.; Seacat, A. M.; Butenhoff, J. L.; Zobel, L. R., Half-life of serum elimination of perfluorooctanesulfonate, perfluorohexanesulfonate and perfluorooctanoate in retired fluorochemical production workers. *Environ Health Perspect* 2007, 115, (9), 1298-1305.
- Olsen, G. W.; Butenhoff, J. L.; Zobel, L. R., Perfluoroalkyl chemicals and human fetal development: an epidemiologic review with clinical and toxicological perspectives. *Reprod Toxicol* **2009**, *27*, (3-4), 212-30.
- Olsen, G. W.; Church, T. R.; Miller, J. P.; Burris, J. M.; Hansen, K. J.; Lundberg, J. K.; Armitage, J. B.; Herron, R. M.; Medhdizadehkashi, Z.; Nobiletti, J. B.; O'Neill, E. M.; Mandel, J. H.; Zobel, L. R., Perfluorooctanesulfonate and other fluorochemicals in the serum of American Red Cross adult blood donors. *Environ Health Perspect* 2003, 111, (16), 1892-901.
- Olsen, G. W.; Huang, H. Y.; Helzlsouer, K. J.; Hansen, K. J.; Butenhoff, J. L.; Mandel, J. H., Historical comparison of perfluorooctanesulfonate, perfluorooctanoate, and other fluorochemicals in human blood. *Environ Health Perspect* 2005, 113, (5), 539-45.
- Olsen, G. W.; Lange, C. C.; Ellefson, M. E.; Mair, D. C.; Church, T. R.; Goldberg, C. L.; Herron, R. M.; Medhdizadehkashi, Z.; Nobiletti, J. B.; Rios, J. A.; Reagen, W. K.; Zobel, L. R., Temporal trends of perfluoroalkyl concentrations in American Red Cross adult blood donors, 2000-2010. *Environ Sci Technol* 2012, 46, (11), 6330-8.
- Olsen, G. W.; Mair, D. C.; Church, T. R.; Ellefson, M. E.; Reagen, W. K.; Boyd, T. M.; Herron, R. M.; Medhdizadehkashi, Z.; Nobiletti, J. B.; Rios, J. A.; Butenhoff, J. L.; Zobel, L. R., Decline in perfluorooctanesulfonate and other polyfluoroalkyl chemicals in American Red Cross adult blood donors, 2000-2006. Environ Sci Technol 2008, 42, (13), 4989-95.
- Olsen, G. W.; Mair, D. C.; Lange, C. C.; Harrington, L. M.; Church, T. R.; Goldberg, C. L.; Herron, R. M.; Hanna, H.; Nobiletti, J. B.; Rios, J. A.; Reagen, W. K.; Ley, C. A., Per- and polyfluoroalkyl substances (PFAS) in American Red Cross adult blood donors, 2000-2015. *Environ Res* 2017, 157, 87-95.
- Pan, Y.; Zhu, Y.; Zheng, T.; Cui, Q.; Buka, S. L.; Zhang, B.; Guo, Y.; Xia, W.; Yeung, L. W.; Li, Y.; Zhou, A.; Qiu, L.; Liu, H.; Jiang, M.; Wu, C.; Xu, S.; Dai, J., Novel chlorinated polyfluorinated ether sulfonates and legacy per-/polyfluoroalkyl substances: placental transfer and relationship with serum albumin and glomerular filtration rate. *Environ Sci Technol* **2017**, *51*, (1), 634-644.
- Park, J. S.; Kalantzi, O. I.; Kopec, D.; Petreas, M., Polychlorinated biphenyls (PCBs) and their hydroxylated metabolites (OH-PCBs) in livers of harbor seals (*Phoca vitulina*) from San Francisco Bay, California and Gulf of Maine. *Mar Environ Res* 2009, 67, (3), 129-35.
- Park, J. S.; Petreas, M.; Cohn, B. A.; Cirillo, P. M.; Factor-Litvak, P., Hydroxylated PCB metabolites (OH-PCBs) in archived serum from 1950-60s California mothers: a pilot study. *Environ Int* **2009**, *35*, (6), 937-42.
- Parkinson, A.; Ogilvie, B. W., Glutathione Conjugation. In Casarett and Doull's Toxicology: the Basic Science of Poisons, 7th ed.; Klaasse, C. D., Ed. McGraw-Hill Medical Publishing Divison: 2008; pp 284-93.
- Paul, A. G.; Jones, K. C.; Sweetman, A. J., A first global production, emission, and environmental inventory for perfluorooctane sulfonate. *Environ Sci Technol* 2009, 43, (2), 386-92.
- Pavia, D. L.; Lampman, G. M.; Kriz, G. S.; Vyvyan, J. R., Fragmentation patterns of other nitrogen compounds. In Introduction to spectroscopy, Fifth edition., Stamford, CT: Cengage Learning: 2015.
- PBI. Indigenous eople and polar bears. Polar Bears International: Polar Bear Facts & Conservation (PBI). . URL: <u>https://polarbearsinternational.org/polar-bears/indigenous-people-polar-bears/</u> (Accessed: October 24, 2017).
- Peng, H.; Chen, C.; Cantin, J.; Saunders, D. M.; Sun, J.; Tang, S.; Codling, G.; Hecker, M.; Wiseman, S.; Jones, P. D.; Li, A.; Rockne, K. J.; Sturchio, N. C.; Cai, M.; Giesy, J. P., Untargeted screening and distribution of organoiodine compounds in sediments from lake Michigan and the Arctic Ocean. *Environ Sci Technol* 2016, 50, (18), 10097-105.
- Peng, H.; Chen, C.; Cantin, J.; Saunders, D. M.; Sun, J.; Tang, S.; Codling, G.; Hecker, M.; Wiseman, S.; Jones, P. D.; Li, A.; Rockne, K. J.; Sturchio, N. C.; Giesy, J. P., Untargeted screening and distribution of organo-bromine

compounds in sediments of Lake Michigan. Environ Sci Technol 2016, 50, (1), 321-30.

- Peng, H.; Chen, C.; Saunders, D. M.; Sun, J.; Tang, S.; Codling, G.; Hecker, M.; Wiseman, S.; Jones, P. D.; Li, A.; Rockne, K. J.; Giesy, J. P., Untargeted identification of organo-bromine compounds in lake sediments by ultrahigh-resolution mass spectrometry with the data-independent precursor isolation and characteristic fragment method. *Anal Chem* 2015, *87*, (20), 10237-46.
- Peng, H.; Saunders, D. M.; Sun, J.; Jones, P. D.; Wong, C. K.; Liu, H.; Giesy, J. P., Mutagenic azo dyes, rather than flame retardants, are the predominant brominated compounds in house dust. *Environ Sci Technol* **2016**, *50*, (23), 12669-12677.
- Perez, F.; Nadal, M.; Navarro-Ortega, A.; Fabrega, F.; Domingo, J. L.; Barcelo, D.; Farre, M., Accumulation of perfluoroalkyl substances in human tissues. *Environ Int* **2013**, *59*, 354-62.
- Perkins, R. G.; Butenhoff, J. L.; Kennedy, G. L.; Palazzolo, M. J., 13-week dietary toxicity study of ammonium perfluorooctanoate (APFO) in male rats. *Drug Chem Toxicol* **2004**, *27*, (4), 361-378.
- Pihlaja, K., Mass Spectra of Sulfoxides and Sulfones. In *Sulphones and Sulphoxides (1988)*, John Wiley & Sons, Ltd: 2006; pp 125-164.
- Pihlaja, K.; Ovcharenko, V. V.; Zakrzewski, A.; Gawinecki, R., Electron impact induced fragmentation of (psubstituted phenyl)-(4'-methylphenacyl) sulfones: contribution of sulfinate ester rearrangements. *Rapid Commun Mass Spectrom* 2000, 14, (18), 1674-6.
- Place, B. J.; Field, J. A., Identification of novel fluorochemicals in aqueous film-forming foams used by the US military. *Environ Sci Technol* **2012**, *46*, (13), 7120-7.
- POPRC. In *Consideration of New Information on Perfluorooctane Sulfonate (PFOS)*, UNEP/POPS/POPRC.4/INF/17; Stockholm Convention on Persistent Organic Pollutants, 2008.
- Powley, C. R.; George, S. W.; Russell, M. H.; Hoke, R. A.; Buck, R. C., Polyfluorinated chemicals in a spatially and temporally integrated food web in the Western Arctic. *Chemosphere* 2008, 70, (4), 664-72.
- Pretsch, E.; Buhlman, P.; Badertscher, M., Nitro Compounds. In *Structure Determination of Organic Compounds: Tables of Spectral Data*, Springer Science & Business Media: 2009; pp 364-366.
- Pretsch, E.; Buhlman, P.; Badertscher, M., Summary Tables. In *Structure Determination of Organic Compounds: Tables of Spectral Data*, Springer Science & Business Media: 2009; pp 35-39.
- Prevedouros, K.; Cousins, I. T.; Buck, R. C.; Korzeniowski, S. H., Sources, fate and transport of perfluorocarboxylates. *Environ Sci Technol* 2006, 40, (1), 32-44.

Priestly, B. Literature Review and Report on the Potential Health Effects of Perfluoroalkyl Compounds, Mainly Perfluorooctane Sulfonate (PFOS): An Update of A Review Initially Prepared in 2010 and 2015; Monash University: Melbourne, Australia, 2016.

- Purkey, H. E.; Palaninathan, S. K.; Kent, K. C.; Smith, C.; Safe, S. H.; Sacchettini, J. C.; Kelly, J. W., Hydroxylated polychlorinated biphenyls selectively bind transthyretin in blood and inhibit amyloidogenesis: rationalizing rodent PCB toxicity. *Chem Biol* 2004, 11, (12), 1719-28.
- Qin, Z.; McNee, D.; Gleisner, H.; Raab, A.; Kyeremeh, K.; Jaspars, M.; Krupp, E.; Deng, H.; Feldmann, J., Fluorine speciation analysis using reverse phase liquid chromatography coupled off-line to continuum source molecular absorption spectrometry (CS-MAS): identification and quantification of novel fluorinated organic compounds in environmental and biological samples. *Anal Chem* 2012, *84*, (14), 6213-9.
- Rayne, S.; Forest, K., Modeling the hydrolysis of perfluorinated compounds containing carboxylic and phosphoric acid ester functions and sulfonamide groups. *J Environ Sci Health A Tox Hazard Subst Environ Eng* 2010, 45, (4), 432-46.
- Rayne, S.; Forest, K., Modeling the hydrolysis of perfluorinated compounds containing carboxylic and phosphoric acid ester functions and sulfonamide groups. J. Environ. Sci. Health. A. Tox. Hazard. Subst. Environ. Eng. 2010, 45, (4), 432-46.
- Rayne, S.; Forest, K.; Friesen, K. J., Congener-specific numbering systems for the environmentally relevant C4 through C8 perfluorinated homologue groups of alkyl sulfonates, carboxylates, telomer alcohols, olefins, and acids, and their derivatives. *J Environ Sci Health Part A Toxic/Hazard Subst Environ Eng* 2008, 43, (12), 1391-401.
- Reagen, W. K.; Jacob, C. B.; Purcell, R. G.; Kestner, T. A.; Payfer, R. M.; Miller, J. W. In *Environmental* characterization of 3M electrochemical fluorination derived perfluoroctanoate and perfluorocctanesulfonate,

Society of Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry 28th Annual Meeting, Milwaukee, WI, USA, November 11-15 2007.

- Reagen, W. K.; Jacoby, C. B.; Purcell, R. G.; Kestner, T. A.; pAYFER, r. m.; miller, j. w., in environmental characterization of 3M electrochemical fluorination derived perfluoroctanoate and perfluorocctanesulfonate. In 35th Annual Society of Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry, Milwaukee, USA, 2008.
- Renner, R., The long and the short of perfluorinated replacements. Environ Sci Technol 2006, 40, (1), 12-3.
- Ricci, A.; Piccolella, S., From the collisionally induced dissociation to the enzyme-mediated reactions: the electron flux within the lignan furanic ring. In *Tandem Mass Spectrometry - Applications and Principles*, Prasain, J. K., Ed. Andreina Ricci and Simona Piccolella: 2012.
- Riddell, N.; Arsenault, G.; Benskin, J. P.; Chittim, B.; Martin, J. W.; McAlees, A.; McCrindle, R., Branched perfluorooctane sulfonate isomer quantification and characterization in blood serum samples by HPLC/ESI-MS(/MS). *Environ Sci Technol* 2009, 43, (20), 7902-8.
- Ritter, R.; Scheringer, M.; MacLeod, M.; Moeckel, C.; Jones, K. C.; Hungerbuhler, K., Intrinsic human elimination half-lives of polychlorinated biphenyls derived from the temporal evolution of cross-sectional biomonitoring data from the United Kingdom. *Environ. Health Perspect.* **2011**, *119*, (2), 225-31.
- Rochester, C. H.; Symonds, J. R., Thermodynamic studies of fluoroalcohols. Part 1.-Vapour pressures and enthalpies of vaporization. *J Chem Soc, Faraday Trans 1* **1973**, *69*, 1267-1273.
- Rodriguez, E. A.; Li, X.; Lehmler, H. J.; Robertson, L. W.; Duffel, M. W., Sulfation of lower chlorinated polychlorinated biphenyls increases their affinity for the major drug-binding sites of human serum albumin. *Environ. Sci. Technol.* **2016**, *50*, (10), 5320-5327.
- Ross, M. S.; Wong, C. S.; Martin, J. W., Isomer-specific biotransformation of perfluorooctane sulfonamide in Sprague-Dawley rats. *Environ Sci Technol* **2012**, *46*, (6), 3196-203.
- Rotander, A.; Karrman, A.; Toms, L. M.; Kay, M.; Mueller, J. F.; Gomez Ramos, M. J., Novel fluorinated surfactants tentatively identified in firefighters using liquid chromatography quadrupole time-of-flight tandem mass spectrometry and a case-control approach. *Environ Sci Technol* 2015, 49, (4), 2434-42.
- Rotander, A.; Karrman, A.; van Bavel, B.; Polder, A.; Riget, F.; Auethunsson, G. A.; Vikingsson, G.; Gabrielsen, G.
 W.; Bloch, D.; Dam, M., Increasing levels of long-chain perfluorocarboxylic acids (PFCAs) in Arctic and North Atlantic marine mammals, 1984-2009. *Chemosphere* 2012, *86*, (3), 278-85.
- Ruan, T.; Lin, Y.; Wang, T.; Liu, R.; Jiang, G., Identification of novel polyfluorinated ether sulfonates as PFOS alternatives in municipal sewage sludge in China. *Environ Sci Technol* **2015**, *49*, (11), 6519-27.
- Ruebsam, F.; Webber, S. E.; Tran, M. T.; Tran, C. V.; Murphy, D. E.; Zhao, J.; Dragovich, P. S.; Kim, S. H.; Li, L.-S.; Zhou, Y.; Han, Q.; Kissinger, C. R.; Showalter, R. E.; Lardy, M.; Shah, A. M.; Tsan, M.; Patel, R.; LeBrun, L. A.; Kamran, R.; Sergeeva, M. V.; Bartkowski, D. M.; Nolan, T. G.; Norris, D. A.; Kirkovsky, L., Pyrrolo[1,2b]pyridazin-2-ones as potent inhibitors of HCV NS5B polymerase. *Bioorganic Med Chem Lett* **2008**, *18*, (12), 3616-3621.
- Rykowska, I.; Wasiak, W., Advances in stir bar sorptive extraction coating: A review. *Acta Chromatographica* **2013**, *25*, (1), 27-46.
- Rylander, C.; Brustad, M.; Falk, H.; Sandanger, T. M., Dietary predictors and plasma concentrations of perfluorinated compounds in a coastal population from northern Norway. *J Environ Public Health* 2009, 2009, 268219-29.
- Rylander, C.; Phi, D. T.; Odland, J. O.; Sandanger, T. M., Perfluorinated compounds in delivering women from south central Vietnam. *J Environ Monit* **2009**, *11*, (11), 2002-8.
- Sacco, J. C.; James, M. O., Glucuronidation in the polar bear (Ursus maritimus). *Mar Environ Res* **2004**, *58*, (2-5), 475-9.
- Sacco, J. C.; James, M. O., Sulfonation of environmental chemicals and their metabolites in the polar bear (*Ursus maritimus*). *Drug Metab Dispos* **2005**, *33*, (9), 1341-1348.
- Sacco, J. C.; Lehmler, H. J.; Robertson, L. W.; Li, W.; James, M. O., Glucuronidation of polychlorinated biphenylols and UDP-glucuronic acid concentrations in channel catfish liver and intestine. *Drug Metab Dispos* 2008, 36, (4), 623-30.
- Saez, M.; de Voogt, P.; Parsons, J. R., Persistence of perfluoroalkylated substances in closed bottle tests with municipal sewage sludge. *Environ Sci Pollut Res Int* 2008, 15, (6), 472-7.

- Sakiyama, T.; Yamamoto, A.; Kakutani, N.; Fukuyama, J.; Okumura, T., Hydroxylated polychlorinated biphenyls (OH-PCBs) in the aquatic environment: levels and congener profiles in sediments from Osaka, Japan. Organohalogen Comp 2007, 69, 1380-83.
- Salihovic, S.; Karrman, A.; Lindstrom, G.; Lind, P. M.; Lind, L.; van Bavel, B., A rapid method for the determination of perfluoroalkyl substances including structural isomers of perfluorooctane sulfonic acid in human serum using 96-well plates and column-switching ultra-high performance liquid chromatography tandem mass spectrometry. *J Chromatogr A* 2013, *1305*, 164-70.
- Sandala, G. M.; Sonne-Hansen, C.; Dietz, R.; Muir, D. C.; Valters, K.; Bennett, E. R.; Born, E. W.; Letcher, R. J., Hydroxylated and methyl sulfone PCB metabolites in adipose and whole blood of polar bear (*Ursus maritimus*) from East Greenland. *Sci Total Environ* 2004, 331, (1-3), 125-41.
- Sandau, C. D. Analytical chemistry of hydroxylated metabolites of PCBs and other halogenated phenolic compounds in blood and their relationship to thyroid hormone and retinol homeostasis in humans and polar bears. Carleton University Ottawa, ON, Canada, 2000.
- Sandau, C. D.; Ayotte, P.; Dewailly, E.; Duffe, J.; Norstrom, R. J., Analysis of hydroxylated metabolites of PCBs (OH-PCBs) and other chlorinated phenolic compounds in whole blood from Canadian inuit. *Environ Health Perspect* 2000, 108, (7), 611-6.
- Sandau, C. D.; Meerts, I. A. T. M., Identification of 4-hydroxyheptachlorostyrene in polar bear plasma and its binding affinity to transhyretin: a metabolite of octachlorostyrene. *Environ Sci Technol* **2000**, *34*, (18), 3871.
- Sato, I.; Kawamoto, K.; Nishikawa, Y.; Tsuda, S.; Yoshida, M.; Yaegashi, K.; Saito, N.; Liu, W.; Jin, Y. H., Neurotoxicity of perfluorooctane sulfonate (PFOS) in rats and mice after single oral exposure. *J Toxicol Sci* 2009, 34, (5), 569-574.
- Scheringer, M.; Trier, X.; Cousins, I. T.; de Voogt, P.; Fletcher, T.; Wang, Z.; Webster, T. F., Helsingor statement on poly- and perfluorinated alkyl substances (PFASs). *Chemosphere* **2014**, *114*, 337-9.
- Scheringer, M.; Trier, X.; Cousins, I. T.; de Voogt, P.; Fletcher, T.; Wang, Z.; Webster, T. F., Helsingør Statement on poly- and perfluorinated alkyl substances (PFASs). *Chemosphere* **2014**, *114*, 337-339.
- Schiff, J. A.; Hodson, R. C., The metabolism of sulfate. Annu Rev Plant Physiol 1973, 24, (1), 381-414.
- Schollee, J. E.; Schymanski, E. L.; Avak, S. E.; Loos, M.; Hollender, J., Prioritizing Unknown Transformation Products from Biologically-Treated Wastewater Using High-Resolution Mass Spectrometry, Multivariate Statistics, and Metabolic Logic. Anal Chem 2015, 87, (24), 12121-9.
- Schroter-Kermani, C.; Muller, J.; Jurling, H.; Conrad, A.; Schulte, C., Retrospective monitoring of perfluorocarboxylates and perfluorosulfonates in human plasma archived by the German Environmental Specimen Bank. *Int J Hyg Environ Health* **2013**, *216*, (6), 633-40.
- Schwarzenbach, R. P.; Escher, B. I.; Fenner, K.; Hofstetter, T. B.; Johnson, C. A.; von Gunten, U.; Wehrli, B., The challenge of micropollutants in aquatic systems. *Science* **2006**, *313*, (5790), 1072-7.
- Schymanski, E. L.; Jeon, J.; Gulde, R.; Fenner, K.; Ruff, M.; Singer, H. P.; Hollender, J., Identifying small molecules via high resolution mass spectrometry: communicating confidence. *Environ Sci Technol* 2014, 48, (4), 2097-8.
- Schymanski, E. L.; Singer, H. P.; Longree, P.; Loos, M.; Ruff, M.; Stravs, M. A.; Ripolles Vidal, C.; Hollender, J., Strategies to characterize polar organic contamination in wastewater: exploring the capability of high resolution mass spectrometry. *Environ Sci Technol* 2014, 48, (3), 1811-8.
- Seghatchian, J.; de Sousa, G., An overview of unresolved inherent problems associated with red cell transfusion and potential use of artificial oxygen carriers and ECO-RBC: current status/future trends. *Transfus Apher Sci* 2007, *37*, (3), 251-9.
- Senthil Kumar, K.; Zushi, Y.; Masunaga, S.; Gilligan, M.; Pride, C.; Sajwan, K. S., Perfluorinated organic contaminants in sediment and aquatic wildlife, including sharks, from Georgia, USA. *Mar Pollut Bull* 2009, 58, (4), 621-9.
- Shankar, A.; Xiao, J.; Ducatman, A., Perfluoroalkyl chemicals and chronic kidney disease in US adults. *Am J Epidemiol* **2011**, *174*, (8), 893-900.
- Sharpe, R. L.; Benskin, J. P.; Laarman, A. H.; Macleod, S. L.; Martin, J. W.; Wong, C. S.; Goss, G. G., Perfluorooctane sulfonate toxicity, isomer-specific accumulation, and maternal transfer in zebrafish (Danio rerio) and rainbow trout (Oncorhynchus mykiss). *Environ Toxicol Chem* 2010, 29, (9), 1957-66.

- Shaul, N. J.; Dodder, N. G.; Aluwihare, L. I.; Mackintosh, S. A.; Maruya, K. A.; Chivers, S. J.; Danil, K.; Weller, D. W.; Hoh, E., Nontargeted biomonitoring of halogenated organic compounds in two ecotypes of bottlenose dolphins (Tursiops truncatus) from the Southern California Bight. *Environ Sci Technol* 2015, 49, (3), 1328-38.
- Sheng, N.; Li, J.; Liu, H.; Zhang, A.; Dai, J., Interaction of perfluoroalkyl acids with human liver fatty acid-binding protein. *Arch Toxicol* **2016**, *90*, (1), 217-27.
- Shi, G.; Cui, Q.; Pan, Y.; Sheng, N.; Sun, S.; Guo, Y.; Dai, J., 6:2 Chlorinated polyfluorinated ether sulfonate, a PFOS alternative, induces embryotoxicity and disrupts cardiac development in zebrafish embryos. *Aquat Toxicol* 2017, 185, 67-75.
- Shi, Y.; Vestergren, R.; Xu, L.; Zhou, Z.; Li, C.; Liang, Y.; Cai, Y., Human exposure and elimination kinetics of chlorinated polyfluoroalkyl ether sulfonic acids (Cl-PFESAs). *Environ Sci Technol* **2016**, *50*, (5), 2396-404.
- Shi, Y.; Vestergren, R.; Zhou, Z.; Song, X.; Xu, L.; Liang, Y.; Cai, Y., Tissue distribution and whole body burden of the chlorinated polyfluoroalkyl ether sulfonic acid F-53B in crucian carp (*Carassius carassius*): evidence for a highly bioaccumulative contaminant of emerging concern. *Environ Sci Technol* 2015, 49, (24), 14156-65.
- Sibley, P. K.; Ellis, D. A.; Fineberg, N. A.; Mabury, S. A.; Solomon, K. R.; Muir, D. C. G.; Hanson, M. L.; Shahid, T., The fate and persistence of trifluoroacetic and chloroacetic acids in pond waters. *Chemosphere* 2001, 42, (3), 309.
- Simon, E.; van Velzen, M.; Brandsma, S. H.; Lie, E.; Loken, K.; de Boer, J.; Bytingsvik, J.; Jenssen, B. M.; Aars, J.; Hamers, T.; Lamoree, M. H., Effect-directed analysis to explore the polar bear exposome: identification of thyroid hormone disrupting compounds in plasma. *Environ Sci Technol* 2013, 47, (15), 8902-12.
- Sinclair, E.; Kannan, K., Mass loading and fate of perfluoroalkyl surfactants in wastewater treatment plants. *Environ* Sci Technol 2006, 40, (5), 1408-14.
- Singh, A. K.; Singh, A.; Engelhardt, M., The lognormal distribution in environemental applications. In Office of Solid Waste and Emergency Response, the United States Environmental Protection Agency (the U.S. EPA): Washington, D.C., 1997.
- SIOCCAS, Preparation of F-53 and its application in chrome mist suppression. Shanghai Institute of Organic Chemistry at Chinese Academy of Sciences (SIOCCAS). *Mater Prot* **1976**, *3*, (3), 27.
- Snedeker, S. M., Pesticides and breast cancer risk: a review of DDT, DDE, and dieldrin. *Environ Health Perspect* **2001**, *109 Suppl 1*, 35-47.
- Solla, S. R.; De Silva, A. O.; Letcher, R. J., Highly elevated levels of perfluorooctane sulfonate and other perfluorinated acids found in biota and surface water downstream of an international airport, Hamilton, Ontario, Canada. *Environ Int* **2012**, *39*, (1), 19-26.
- Solvay. Plant Locations. Solvay, URL: https://www.solvay.cn/en/locations/index.html (November 1, 2017).
- Sonne, C.; Dietz, R.; Letcher, R. J., Chemical cocktail party in East Greenland: A first time evaluation of human organohalogen exposure from consumption of ringed seal and polar bear tissues and possible health implications. *Toxicol Environ Chem* **2013**, *95*, (5), 853-859.
- Spada, F.; Kent, B. L., Process for manufacturing a dispersion of a vinylidene fluoride polymer. In Google Patents: 2012.
- Spahn, D. R., Blood substitutes. Artificial oxygen carriers: perfluorocarbon emulsions. Crit Care 1999, 3, (5), R93-7.
- Stockholm Convention. The Nine New POPs: An Introduction to the Nine Chemicals Added to the Stockholm Convention by the Conference of the Parties at its Fourth Meeting; Stockholm Convention: Geneva, Switzerland, 2009.
- Strynar, M.; Dagnino, S.; McMahen, R.; Liang, S.; Lindstrom, A.; Andersen, E.; McMillan, L.; Thurman, M.; Ferrer, I.; Ball, C., Identification of novel perfluoroalkyl ether carboxylic acids (PFECAs) and sulfonic Acids (PFESAs) in natural waters using accurate mass time-of-flight mass spectrometry (TOFMS). *Environ Sci Technol* 2015, 49, (19), 11622-30.
- Suja, F.; Pramanik, B. K.; Zain, S. M., Contamination, bioaccumulation and toxic effects of perfluorinated chemicals (PFCs) in the water environment: a review paper. *Water Sci Technol* **2009**, *60*, (6), 1533-44.
- Tampal, N.; Lehmler, H. J.; Espandiari, P.; Malmberg, T.; Robertson, L. W., Glucuronidation of hydroxylated polychlorinated biphenyls (PCBs). *Chem Res Toxicol* 2002, 15, (10), 1259-66.
- Tan, B.; Wang, T.; Wang, P.; Luo, W.; Lu, Y.; Romesh, K. Y.; Giesy, J. P., Perfluoroalkyl substances in soils around the Nepali Koshi River: levels, distribution, and mass balance. *Environ Sci Pollut Res Int* 2014, 21, (15),

9201-11.

- Taniyasu, S.; Senthilkumar, K.; Yamazaki, E.; Yeung, L. W.; Guruge, K. S.; Kannan, K.; Yamashita, N., Perfluoroalkyl substances in the blood of wild rats and mice from 47 prefectures in Japan: use of samples from nationwide specimen bank. *Arch Environ Contam Toxicol* 2013, 65, (1), 149-70.
- Taves, D. R., Evidence that there are two forms of fluoride in human serum. Nature 1968, 217, (5133), 1050-1051.
- Taves, D. R.; Grey, W. S.; Brey, W. S., Organic fluoride in human plasma: its distribution and partial identification in Abstracts of papers for the Fifteenth Annual Meeting of the Society of Toxicology, Atlanta, Georgia March 14–18, 1976. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol 1976, 37, (1), 120-121.
- Tehrani, R.; Van Aken, B., Hydroxylated polychlorinated biphenyls in the environment: sources, fate, and toxicities. *Environ Sci Pollut Res Int* **2014**, *21*, (10), 6334-45.
- Thibodeaux, J. R.; Hanson, R. G.; Rogers, J. M.; Grey, B. E.; Barbee, B. D.; Richards, J. H.; Butenhoff, J. L.; Stevenson, L. A.; Lau, C., Exposure to perfluorooctane sulfonate during pregnancy in rat and mouse. I: maternal and prenatal evaluations. *Toxicol Sci* 2003, 74, (2), 369-81.
- Thomsen, C.; Haug, L. S.; Stigum, H.; Froshaug, M.; Broadwell, S. L.; Becher, G., Changes in concentrations of perfluorinated compounds, polybrominated diphenyl ethers, and polychlorinated biphenyls in Norwegian breastmilk during twelve months of lactation. *Environ Sci Technol* 2010, 44, (24), 9550-6.
- Thurman, E. M.; Ferrer, I.; Pozo, O. J.; Sancho, J. V.; Hernandez, F., The even-electron rule in electrospray mass spectra of pesticides. *Rapid Commun Mass Spectrom* 2007, 21, (23), 3855-3868.
- Toms, L. M.; Thompson, J.; Rotander, A.; Hobson, P.; Calafat, A. M.; Kato, K.; Ye, X.; Broomhall, S.; Harden, F.; Mueller, J. F., Decline in perfluorooctane sulfonate and perfluorooctanoate serum concentrations in an Australian population from 2002 to 2011. *Environ Int* 2014, 71, 74-80.
- Tomy, G. T.; Tittlemier, S. A.; Palace, V. P.; Budakowski, W. R.; Braekevelt, E.; Brinkworth, L.; Friesen, K., Biotransformation of N-ethyl perfluorooctanesulfonamide by rainbow trout (*Onchorhynchus mykiss*) liver microsomes. *Environ Sci Technol* 2004, 38, (3), 758-62.
- Trier, X.; Granby, K.; Christensen, J. H., Polyfluorinated surfactants (PFS) in paper and board coatings for food packaging. *Environ Sci Pollut Res Int* **2011**, *18*, (7), 1108-20.
- Trier, X.; Nielsen, N. J.; Christensen, J. H., Structural isomers of polyfluorinated di- and tri-alkylated phosphate ester surfactants present in industrial blends and in microwave popcorn bags. *Environ Sci Pollut Res Int* 2011, 18, (8), 1422-32.
- Tucci, F. C.; Zhu, Y.-F.; Guo, Z.; Gross, T. D.; Connors Jr, P. J.; Struthers, R. S.; Reinhart, G. J.; Wang, X.; Saunders, J.; Chen, C., A novel synthesis of 7-aryl-8-fluoro-pyrrolo[1,2-a]pyrimid-4-ones as potent, stable GnRH receptor antagonists. *Bioorganic Med Chem Lett* **2002**, *12*, (23), 3491-3495.
- Ucan-Marin, F.; Arukwe, A.; Mortensen, A. S.; Gabrielsen, G. W.; Letcher, R. J., Recombinant albumin and transthyretin transport proteins from two gull species and human: chlorinated and brominated contaminant binding and thyroid hormones. *Environ Sci Technol* 2010, 44, (1), 497-504.
- Ueno, D.; Darling, C.; Alaee, M.; Campbell, L.; Pacepavicius, G.; Teixeira, C.; Muir, D., Detection of hydroxylated polychlorinated biphenyls (OH-PCBs) in the abiotic environment: surface water and precipitation from Ontario, Canada. *Environ Sci Technol* 2007, 41, (6), 1841-8.
- Ullah, S.; Alsberg, T.; Berger, U., Simultaneous determination of perfluoroalkyl phosphonates, carboxylates, and sulfonates in drinking water. *J Chromatogr A* 2011, *1218*, (37), 6388-95.
- Ullah, S.; Alsberg, T.; Vestergren, R.; Berger, U., Determination of perfluoroalkyl carboxylic, sulfonic, and phosphonic acids in food. *Anal Bioanal Chem* **2012**, *404*, (8), 2193-201.
- Ullah, S.; Huber, S.; Bignert, A.; Berger, U., Temporal trends of perfluoroalkane sulfonic acids and their sulfonamide-based precursors in herring from the Swedish west coast 1991-2011 including isomer-specific considerations. *Environ Int* **2014**, *65*, 63-72.
- UNEP. The Montreal Protocol on Substances that Deplete the Ozone Layer. United Nations Environment Programme (UNEP), URL; <u>http://ozone.unep.org/en/treaties-and-decisions/montreal-protocol-substances-deplete-ozone-layer?sec_id=5</u> (Accessed: May 2, 2017).
- UNEP. Technical Paper On the Identification and Assessment of Alternatives To the Use of Perfluorooctane Sulfonic Acid in Open Applications; United Nations Environment Programme (UNEP): 2012.
- USEPA. New Chemicals Program Review of Alternatives for PFOA and Related Chemicals. URL:

https://www.epa.gov/assessing-and-managing-chemicals-under-tsca/new-chemicals-program-reviewalternatives-pfoa-and (Accessed: March 3, 2017).

- USEPA. Toxicity Estimation Software Tool (TEST). The United States Environmental Protection Agency (US EPA). URL: <u>https://www.epa.gov/chemical-research/toxicity-estimation-software-tool-test</u> (Accessed: Jan 6, 2017).
- USEPA. EPA and 3M Announce Phase-out of PFOS. United States Environmental Protection Agency (USEPA), URL: <u>https://yosemite.epa.gov/opa/admpress.nsf/0/33aa946e6cb11f35852568e1005246b4</u> (Accessed: May 13, 2016).
- USEPA. Perfluoroalkyl Sulfonates: Significant New Use Rule. United States Environmental Protection Agency (USEPA), URL: <u>https://www.gpo.gov/fdsys/pkg/FR-2002-12-09/pdf/02-31011.pdf</u> (Accessed: May 20, 2017).
- USEPA. Draft Risk Assessment of the Potential Human Health Effects Associated with Exposure to Perflouroctanoic Acids and Its Salts; U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (USEPA): 2005.
- USEPA. 2010/2015 PFOA Stewardship Program. United States Environmental Protection Agency, URL: <u>https://www.epa.gov/assessing-and-managing-chemicals-under-tsca/fact-sheet-20102015-pfoa-stewardship-program</u> (Accessed: September 10, 2015).
- USEPA. Long-Chain Perfluorinated Chemicals Action Plan; United States Environmental Protection Agncy (USEPA): 2009.
- USEPA. 2010/2015 PFOA Stewardship Program 2014 Annual Progress Reports. United States Environmental Protection Agency (USEPA), URL: <u>https://www.epa.gov/assessing-and-managing-chemicals-under-tsca/20102015-pfoa-stewardship-program-2014-annual-progress</u> (Accessed: May 20, 2017).
- USEPA. *Health Effects Document for Perfluorooctane Sulfonate (PFOS)*; United States Environmental Protection Agency (USEPA): Washington, DC, USA, 2014.
- USEPA. *Health Effects Documet for Perfluorooctanoic Acid (PFOA)*; United States Environmental Protection Agency (USEPA): Washington, DC, USA, 2014; pp 83-89.
- USEPA. Presidential Green Chemistry Challenge: 2014 Designing Greener Chemicals Award. United States Environmental Protection Agency (USEPA), URL: <u>https://www.epa.gov/greenchemistry/presidential-green-chemistry-challenge-2014-designing-greener-chemicals-award</u> (Accessed: September 29, 2016).
- USEPA. Significant New Use Rules: Long-Chain Perfluoroalkyl Carboxylate and Perfluoroalkyl Sulfonate Chemical Substances. United States Environmental Protection Agency (USEPA). URL: https://www.regulations.gov/document?D=EPA-HQ-OPPT-2013-0225-0001 (Accessed: May 25, 2017).
- USEPA. Drinking Water Health Advisory for Perfluorooctanoic Acid (PFOA); U.S. Environmental Protection Agency (USEPA): Washington, DC, USA, 2016.
- USEPA. *Health Effects Support Document for Perfluorooctane Sulfonate (PFOS)*; United States Environmental Protection Agency (USEPA): Washington, DC, USA, 2016; pp 3-13.
- van den Berg, K. J., Interaction of chlorinated phenols with thyroxine binding sites of human transthyretin, albumin and thyroid binding globulin. *Chem Biol Interact* **1990**, *76*, (1), 63-75.
- Verreault, J.; Gabrielsen, G. W.; Chu, S.; Muir, D. C.; Andersen, M.; Hamaed, A.; Letcher, R. J., Flame retardants and methoxylated and hydroxylated polybrominated diphenyl ethers in two Norwegian Arctic top predators: glaucous gulls and polar bears. *Environ Sci Technol* **2005**, *39*, (16), 6021-8.
- Vestergren, R.; Berger, U.; Glynn, A.; Cousins, I. T., Dietary exposure to perfluoroalkyl acids for the Swedish population in 1999, 2005 and 2010. *Environ Int* **2012**, *49*, 120-7.
- Vestergren, R.; Cousins, I. T.; Trudel, D.; Wormuth, M.; Scheringer, M., Estimating the contribution of precursor compounds in consumer exposure to PFOS and PFOA. *Chemosphere* **2008**, *73*, (10), 1617-24.
- Villaverde-de-Saa, E.; Racamonde, I.; Quintana, J. B.; Rodil, R.; Cela, R., Ion-pair sorptive extraction of perfluorinated compounds from water with low-cost polymeric materials: polyethersulfone vs polydimethylsiloxane. *Anal Chim Acta* **2012**, *740*, 50-7.
- Vorkamp, K.; Riget, F. F., A review of new and current-use contaminants in the Arctic environment: evidence of long-range transport and indications of bioaccumulation. *Chemosphere* 2014, 111, 379-95.
- Wan, Y.; Jones, P. D.; Wiseman, S.; Chang, H.; Chorney, D.; Kannan, K.; Zhang, K.; Hu, J. Y.; Khim, J. S.; Tanabe, S.; Lam, M. H.; Giesy, J. P., Contribution of synthetic and naturally occurring organobromine compounds to bromine mass in marine organisms. *Environ Sci Technol* 2010, *44*, (16), 6068-73.

- Wang, M.; Park, J. S.; Petreas, M., Temporal changes in the levels of perfluorinated compounds in California women's serum over the past 50 years. *Environ Sci Technol* 2011, 45, (17), 7510-6.
- Wang, P.; Lu, Y.; Wang, T.; Meng, J.; Li, Q.; Zhu, Z.; Sun, Y.; Wang, R.; Giesy, J. P., Shifts in production of perfluoroalkyl acids affect emissions and concentrations in the environment of the Xiaoqing River Basin, China. *J Hazard Mater* 2016, 307, 55-63.
- Wang, P.; Wang, T.; Giesy, J. P.; Lu, Y., Perfluorinated compounds in soils from Liaodong Bay with concentrated fluorine industry parks in China. *Chemosphere* **2013**, *91*, (6), 751-7.
- Wang, S.; Huang, J.; Yang, Y.; Hui, Y.; Ge, Y.; Larssen, T.; Yu, G.; Deng, S.; Wang, B.; Harman, C., First report of a Chinese PFOS alternative overlooked for 30 years: its toxicity, persistence, and presence in the environment. *Environ Sci Technol* 2013, 47, (18), 10163-70.
- Wang, Y.; Arsenault, G.; Riddell, N.; McCrindle, R.; McAlees, A.; Martin, J. W., Perfluorooctane sulfonate (PFOS) precursors can be metabolized enantioselectively: principle for a new PFOS source tracking tool. *Environ Sci Technol* 2009, 43, (21), 8283-8289.
- Wang, Y.; Arsenault, G.; Riddell, N.; McCrindle, R.; McAlees, A.; Martin, J. W., Perfluorooctane sulfonate (PFOS) precursors can be metabolized enantioselectively: principle for a new PFOS source tracking tool. *Environ Sci Technol* 2009, 43, (21), 8283-9.
- Wang, Y.; Beesoon, S.; Benskin, J. P.; De Silva, A. O.; Genuis, S. J.; Martin, J. W., Enantiomer fractions of chiral Perfluorooctanesulfonate (PFOS) in human sera. *Environ Sci Technol* 2011, 45, (20), 8907-14.
- Wang, Y.; Vestergren, R.; Shi, Y.; Cao, D.; Xu, L.; Cai, Y.; Zhao, X.; Wu, F., Identification, Tissue Distribution, and Bioaccumulation Potential of Cyclic Perfluorinated Sulfonic Acids Isomers in an Airport Impacted Ecosystem. *Environ Sci Technol* 2016, 50, (20), 10923-10932.
- Wang, Z.; Cousins, I. T.; Scheringer, M.; Buck, R. C.; Hungerbühler, K., Global emission inventories for C4–C14 perfluoroalkyl carboxylic acid (PFCA) homologues from 1951 to 2030, Part I: production and emissions from quantifiable sources. *Environ Int* 2014, 70.
- Wang, Z.; Cousins, I. T.; Scheringer, M.; Hungerbuehler, K., Hazard assessment of fluorinated alternatives to longchain perfluoroalkyl acids (PFAAs) and their precursors: status quo, ongoing challenges and possible solutions. *Environ Int* 2015, 75, 172-9.
- Wang, Z.; Cousins, I. T.; Scheringer, M.; Hungerbuhler, K., Fluorinated alternatives to long-chain perfluoroalkyl carboxylic acids (PFCAs), perfluoroalkane sulfonic acids (PFSAs) and their potential precursors. *Environ Int* 2013, 60, 242-8.
- Wania, F., A global mass balance analysis of the source of perfluorocarboxylic acids in the Arctic Ocean. *Environ Sci Technol* 2007, 41, (13), 4529-35.
- Washington, J. W.; Ellington, J.; Jenkins, T. M.; Evans, J. J.; Yoo, H.; Hafner, S. C., Degradability of an acrylatelinked, fluorotelomer polymer in soil. *Environ Sci Technol* 2009, 43, (17), 6617-23.
- Weiss, J. M.; Andersson, P. L.; Lamoree, M. H.; Leonards, P. E.; van Leeuwen, S. P.; Hamers, T., Competitive binding of poly- and perfluorinated compounds to the thyroid hormone transport protein transthyretin. *Toxicol Sci* 2009, 109, (2), 206-16.
- White, S. S.; Fenton, S. E.; Hines, E. P., Endocrine disrupting properties of perfluorooctanoic acid. J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol 2011, 127, (1-2), 16-26.
- Wilfried, M. A., Ricardo A. Correa C., interpretation of MS-MS mass spectra of drugs and pesticides.
- Wilkerson, W. W.; Galbraith, W.; Gans-Brangs, K.; Grubb, M.; Hewes, W. E.; Jaffee, B.; Kenney, J. P.; Kerr, J.;
 Wong, N., Anti-inflammatory 4,5-Diarylpyrroles: Synthesis and QSAR. *J Med Chem* 1994, 37, (7), 988-998.
- Wolfenden, R.; Ridgway, C.; Young, G., Spontaneous hydrolysis of ionized phosphate monoesters and diesters and the proficiencies of phosphatases and phosphodiesterases as catalysts. *J Am Chem Soc* **1998**, *120*, (4), 833-834.
- Wolfenden, R.; Ridgway, C.; Young, G., Spontaneous Hydrolysis of Ionized Phosphate Monoesters and Diesters and the Proficiencies of Phosphatases and Phosphodiesterases as Catalysts. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **1998**, *120*, (4).
- Wolkers, H.; van Bavel, B.; Derocher, A. E.; Wiig, O.; Kovacs, K. M.; Lydersen, C.; Lindstrom, G., Congenerspecific accumulation and food chain transfer of polybrominated diphenyl ethers in two arctic food chains. *Environ Sci Technol* 2004, 38, (6), 1667-74.
- Wu, Z.; Rodgers, R. P.; Marshall, A. G., Two- and three-dimensional van krevelen diagrams: a graphical analysis complementary to the kendrick mass plot for sorting elemental compositions of complex organic mixtures based

on ultrahigh-resolution broadband fourier transform ion cyclotron resonance mass measurements. *Anal Chem* **2004**, *76*, (9), 2511-6.

- Xu, D.; Zhong, W.; Deng, L.; Chai, Z.; Mao, X., Levels of Extractable Organohalogens in Pine Needles in China. Environmental Science & Technology 2003, 37, (1), 1-6.
- Xu, G.; Huang, T., .; Zhang, J.; McClure, T. D.; Miao, S., Study of free radical fragment ions generated from ESI-CID-MS-MS Using LTQ and LTQ Orbitrap Mass Spectrometers. *LC GC Europe* 2008, 21, (12).
- Xu, Y.; Zhao, M.; Li, H.; Lu, W.; Su, X.; Han, Z., A novel fluorocarbon surfactant: synthesis and application in emulsion polymerization of perfluoroalkyl methacrylates. *Paint Coat Ind* 2011, 8, (41), 17-21.
- Yamashita, N.; Kannan, K.; Taniyasu, S.; Horii, Y.; Petrick, G.; Gamo, T., A global survey of perfluorinated acids in oceans. *Mar Pollut Bull* 2005, 51.
- Ye, F.; Tokumura, M.; Islam, M. S.; Zushi, Y.; Oh, J.; Masunaga, S., Spatial distribution and importance of potential perfluoroalkyl acid precursors in urban rivers and sewage treatment plant effluent--case study of Tama River, Japan. *Water Res* 2014, 67, 77-85.
- Yeung, L. W.; Miyake, Y.; Taniyasu, S.; Wang, Y.; Yu, H.; So, M. K.; Jiang, G.; Wu, Y.; Li, J.; Giesy, J. P.; Yamashita, N.; Lam, P. K., Perfluorinated compounds and total and extractable organic fluorine in human blood samples from China. *Environ Sci Technol* **2008**, *42*, (21), 8140-5.
- Yeung, L. W.; Miyake, Y.; Wang, Y.; Taniyasu, S.; Yamashita, N.; Lam, P. K., Total fluorine, extractable organic fluorine, perfluorooctane sulfonate and other related fluorochemicals in liver of Indo-Pacific humpback dolphins (*Sousa chinensis*) and finless porpoises (*Neophocaena phocaenoides*) from South China. *Environ Pollut* 2009, 157, (1), 17-23.
- Yeung, L. W.; Robinson, S. J.; Koschorreck, J.; Mabury, S. A., Part I. A temporal study of PFCAs and their precursors in human plasma from two German cities 1982-2009. *Environ Sci Technol* **2013**, *47*, (8), 3865-74.
- Yeung, L. W.; Robinson, S. J.; Koschorreck, J.; Mabury, S. A., Part II. A temporal study of PFOS and its precursors in human plasma from two German cities in 1982-2009. *Environ Sci Technol* 2013, 47, (8), 3875-82.
- Yoshino, H.; Matsunaga, H.; Kaneko, H.; Yoshitake, A.; Nakatsuka, I.; Yamada, H., Metabolism of N-[4-chloro-2-fluoro-5-[(1-methyl-2-propynyl)oxy]phenyl]-3,4,5,6-tetrahydrophthalimide (S-23121) in the rat: I. Identification of a new, sulphonic acid type of conjugate. *Xenobiotica* **1993**, *23*, (6), 609-619.
- Yu, N.; Shi, W.; Zhang, B.; Su, G.; Feng, J.; Zhang, X.; Wei, S.; Yu, H., Occurrence of perfluoroalkyl acids including perfluorooctane sulfonate isomers in Huai River Basin and Taihu Lake in Jiangsu Province, China. *Environ Sci Technol* 2013, 47, (2), 710-7.
- Zhai, G.; Lehmler, H. J.; Schnoor, J. L., Sulfate metabolites of 4-monochlorobiphenyl in whole poplar plants. *Environ Sci Technol* **2013**, *47*, (1), 557-62.
- Zhang, H.; Chai, Z. F.; Sun, H. B.; Zhang, J. L., A survey of extractable persistent organochlorine pollutants in Chinese commercial yogurt. *J Dairy Sci* **2006**, *89*, (5), 1413-9.
- Zhang, L. Y.; Ren, X. M.; Guo, L. H., Structure-based Investigation on the interaction of perfluorinated compounds with human liver fatty acid binding protein. *Environ Sci Technol* 2013, 47, (19), 11293-11301.
- Zhang, X.; Chen, L.; Fei, X. C.; Ma, Y. S.; Gao, H. W., Binding of PFOS to serum albumin and DNA: insight into the molecular toxicity of perfluorochemicals. *BMC Mol Biol* **2009**, *10*, 16.
- Zhang, Y.; Beesoon, S.; Zhu, L.; Martin, J. W., Biomonitoring of perfluoroalkyl acids in human urine and estimates of biological half-life. *Environ Sci Technol* 2013, 47, (18), 10619-27.
- Zhang, Y.; Beesoon, S.; Zhu, L.; Martin, J. W., Isomers of perfluorooctanesulfonate and perfluorooctanoate and total perfluoroalkyl acids in human serum from two cities in North China. *Environ Int* **2013**, *53*, 9-17.
- Zhang, Y.; Jiang, W.; Fang, S.; Zhu, L.; Deng, J., Perfluoroalkyl acids and the isomers of perfluorooctanesulfonate and perfluorooctanoate in the sera of 50 new couples in Tianjin, China. *Environ Int* **2014**, *68*, 185-91.
- Zhao, P.; Xia, X.; Dong, J.; Xia, N.; Jiang, X.; Li, Y.; Zhu, Y., Short- and long-chain perfluoroalkyl substances in the water, suspended particulate matter, and surface sediment of a turbid river. *Sci Total Environ* 2016, 568, 57-65.
- Zhou, Z.; Liang, Y.; Shi, Y.; Xu, L.; Cai, Y., Occurrence and transport of perfluoroalkyl acids (PFAAs), including short-chain PFAAs in Tangxun Lake, China. *Environ Sci Technol* **2013**, *47*, (16), 9249-57.
- Zhou, Z.; Shi, Y.; Vestergren, R.; Wang, T.; Liang, Y.; Cai, Y., Highly elevated serum concentrations of perfluoroalkyl substances in fishery employees from Tangxun lake, china. *Environ Sci Technol* **2014**, *48*, (7),

3864-74.